# PREVE NTION GAP



### PREVENTION GAP REPORT

UNAIDS | 2016

PORT

### PREVENTION GAP REPORT

UNAIDS | 2016

### CONTENTS

\_\_\_\_

04	Introduction	
16	Structural change	
30	Condoms	
40	Voluntary medical male circumcision	
44	Harm reduction	
54	Viral suppression	
64	Pre-exposure prophylaxis	
70	Social and behaviour change communication and demand generation	
76	Eliminating new HIV infections among children	
95	Regions in focus	
	Eastern and southern Africa	
	Western and central Africa	
	Asia and the Pacific	
	Latin America and the Caribbean	
	Middle East and North Africa	
	Eastern Europe and central Asia	
	Western and central Europe and North America	
200	Conclusion	
207	Annexes	
	Annex on methods	

HIV estimates

International assistance for the AIDS response in low- and middle-income countries as reported by donors, 2010–2015

Domestic public and international expenditure reported by countries to UNAIDS (2010–2015)

### INTRODUCTION

Tremendous progress against AIDS over the last 15 years have inspired a global commitment to end the epidemic by 2030. The United Nations General Assembly agreed in June 2016 that ending AIDS by 2030 requires a Fast–Track response to reach three milestones by 2020:

- Reduce new HIV infections to fewer than 500 000 globally by 2020.
- Reduce AIDS-related deaths to fewer than 500 000 globally by 2020.
- Eliminate HIV-related stigma and discrimination by 2020.

Remarkable scale up of antiretroviral therapy has put the world on track to reach the target on AIDS-related deaths. Intensive efforts to eliminate mother-to-child transmission of HIV have achieved steep declines in the annual number of new HIV infections among children, from 290 000 [250 000–350 000] in 2010 to 150 000 [110 000–190 000] in 2015.

However, problems remain with HIV prevention. Declines in new HIV infections among adults have slowed, threatening further progress towards the end of the AIDS epidemic. Since 2010, the annual number of new infections among adults (15+) has remained static at an estimated 1.9 million [2015 range of 1.7 million–2.2 million].

Efforts to reach fewer than 500 000 new HIV infections by 2020 are off track. This simple conclusion sits atop a complex and diverse global tapestry. Data from 146 countries show that some have achieved declines in new HIV infections among adults of 50% or more over the last 10 years, while many others have not made measurable progress, and yet others have experienced worrying increases in new HIV infections.

### New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), global, 2000–2015

### New HIV infections among children (aged 0–14 years), global, 2000–2015



#### Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), from 2005 to 2015



Sources: UNAIDS 2016 estimates; European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sweden, United Kingdom, Albania, Andorra, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Macedonia, Israel, Montenegro, San Marino, Serbia, Switzerland and Turkey); Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2014; vol. 26. http://www.cdc. gov/hiv/library/reports/surveillance/. Published November 2015. Accessed [10 July 2016]. Russian Federation 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting submission. China 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting submission.

### Gaps in coverage of key prevention services

Programmatic progress is also varied. The scale up of services to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV has not been matched in other key prevention areas, leaving sizable gaps in services. Progress in the provision and use of condoms has largely stalled; the gap in sub-Saharan Africa alone is about 3 billion male condoms a year, or 50% of the estimated need. Voluntary medical male circumcision has been rapidly expanded—reaching almost 11.7 million men in 14 priority countries in just a few years—but the annual numbers of circumcisions performed within eight of these countries declined in 2015 compared to 2014. Key harm reduction services are unavailable in most of the countries where injecting drug use has been documented. The promise of one of the newest tools in the HIV prevention arsenal—pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)—is only just beginning to be seen as a handful of countries move forward from successful demonstration projects to full regulatory approval and programme rollout.

Meanwhile, the preventative effect of antiretroviral therapy has been limited because 43% [38–47%] of people living with HIV do not know their HIV status and 62% [59–65%] of people living with HIV are not virally suppressed—well shy of the 90–90–90 target. Reaching the third 90—which translates to 73% of people living with HIV virally suppressed—can only achieve up to 50% of the incidence reduction required to end the AIDS epidemic by 2030 (1). In the past, present and far into the future, primary prevention is an essential component of the response.

**1 900 000** new HIV infections among adults 2015

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

Only 38% of people living with HIV are virally suppressed.

Condoms available in sub-Saharan Africa cover just 50% of the need.

Two-thirds of young people do not have correct and comprehensive knowledge of  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{HIV}}$ 

Condom use is much too low across all population groups at higher risk of infection.

43% of countries with documented injecting drug use do not have needle-syringe programmes in place.

The annual number of voluntary medical male circumcisions must nearly double to reach the 2020 target.

PrEP coverage is less than 5% of the 2020 target.

Fewer than 500 000 new HIV infections among adults in 2020

### Populations and locations in greatest need

The heterogeneity of the HIV epidemic underscores the importance of a location– population approach to efficient planning and programming of HIV prevention services.

Many populations continue to be left behind. Young women aged 15–24 years are at particularly high risk of HIV infection, accounting for 20% of new HIV infections among adults globally in 2015, despite accounting for just 11% of the adult population. In sub-Saharan Africa, young women accounted for 25% of new HIV infections among adults and women accounted for 56% of new HIV infections among adults. Gender inequalities, including gender-based violence, exacerbate women's and girls' physiological vulnerability to HIV and block their access to HIV services. Young people are denied the information and the freedom to make free and informed decisions about their sexual health, with most lacking the knowledge required to protect themselves from HIV. The impact of these barriers is strongest in high-prevalence settings, predominantly in eastern and southern Africa.

Key populations—including sex workers, people who inject drugs, transgender people, prisoners and gay men and other men who have sex with men—remain at much higher risk of HIV infection. Recent studies suggest that people who inject drugs are 24 times more likely to acquire HIV than adults in the general population, sex workers are 10 times more likely to acquire HIV and gay men and other men who have sex with men are 24 times more likely to acquire HIV. In addition, transgender people are 49 times more likely to be living with HIV and prisoners are five times more likely to be living with HIV than adults in the general population (2).



### The risk of HIV acquisition compared to adults (aged 15 years and older) in the general population

Globally, new infections among key populations and their sexual partners accounted for 36% of all new HIV infections in 2015. Criminalization and stigmatization of same-sex relationships, cross-dressing, sex work and drug possession and use block access to HIV prevention services and increases risky behaviours. Homophobia drives gay men and other men who have sex with men away from HIV testing and HIV prevention activities and is associated with lower adherence to treatment. Women in key populations face specific challenges and barriers, including violence and violations of their human rights.

The people in greatest need vary by location. Key populations tend to migrate to cities in search of safer and more secure communities (3). The incidence of HIV among adolescent girls and young women in eastern and southern Africa is highest in parts of South Africa and southern Mozambique, plus the whole of Swaziland and Lesotho.





\* Reflects only Asia and Pacific and Latin America regions.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methodology.

Subnational HIV incidence (%) among young women (aged 15–24 years), by age group, eastern and southern Africa, 2014–2015



Source: UNAIDS estimates, 2014–2016 plus additional source. See annex on methods for details.

The location-population approach also means that local stakeholders including local government, local civil society organizations and local communities—are at the centre of their own local responses. Analysis of local data on the level and trends in the epidemic, on the coverage of local programmes, and on bottlenecks created by local policies and practices, is critical to efficient and effective service delivery.

### **Combination HIV prevention**

Continued HIV testing and treatment scale up must be accompanied by a much stronger primary prevention response. Individual countries have shown that barriers to services can be removed and that prevention programmes can be brought to scale within a few years. South Africa built the world's largest condom programme in just a few years and doubled the amount of condoms distributed per male, per year in at least seven of nine provinces (4). Mozambique has increased the number of voluntary medical male circumcision performed from just 100 in 2009 to almost 200 000 in 2015, and India has showed the world how location–population approaches that engage beneficiaries in their design and implementation can result in a marked decrease in new infections when brought to scale (5).

However, few countries have consistently applied a combination HIV prevention approach, which provides packages of services—including behavioural, biomedical and structural components—tailored to priority population groups within their specific local contexts. For example, young people in high prevalence countries need more than condoms and behaviour change communications. They also require comprehensive sexuality education and access to effective HIV and sexual and reproductive health services without economic barriers, such as prohibitive costs, or structural barriers, such as parental consent laws. A combination package for gay men and other men who have sex with men should include easy access to condoms, lubricant and PrEP, as well as efforts to address homophobia; a package for people who inject drugs should feature comprehensive harm reduction services, including needlesyringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy (6).

All programmes require a strong community empowerment element and specific efforts to address legal and policy barriers, as well as the strengthening of health systems, social protection systems and actions to address gender inequality and stigma and discrimination.

### Five pillars for achieving less than 500 000 new infections by 2020

Getting back on track to reducing new infections to 500 000 by 2020 requires continued progress towards the 90–90–90 target and intensive focus on five prevention pillars delivered through a people-centred, combination approach:

- Combination prevention, including comprehensive sexuality education, economic empowerment and access to sexual and reproductive health services for young women and adolescent girls and their male partners in high-prevalence locations.
- Evidence-informed and human rights-based prevention programmes for key populations, including dedicated services and community mobilization and empowerment.
- 3. Strengthened national **condom programmes,** including procurement, distribution, social marketing, private-sector sales and demand creation.
- 4. Voluntary medical male circumcision in priority countries that have high levels of HIV prevalence and low levels of male circumcision, as part of wider sexual and reproductive health service provision for boys and men.
- 5. Pre-exposure prophylaxis for population groups at higher risk of HIV infection.

These pillars are reflected in the bold prevention targets for 2020 set by the United Nations General Assembly within the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS to ensure that 90% of people at risk of HIV infection access comprehensive prevention services, including harm reduction; to reduce below 100 000 per year the number of adolescent girls and young women aged 15–24 years newly infected with HIV globally; to make 20 billion condoms available annually in low-and middle-income countries; to reach 25 million additional young men in high HIV incidence areas with voluntarily medical male circumcision and to provide three million people at higher risk of HIV infection with PrEP.



#### Investment in effective prevention

Strengthened global political commitment to HIV prevention must be followed by strengthened financial commitment. The successes of the global AIDS response to date have been fuelled by extraordinary investment. The total amount of financial resources for AIDS responses in low- and middle-income countries<sup>1</sup> reached an estimated US\$ 19 billion in 2015, double the amount of resources available in 2006. However, international funding for in-country services in 2015 declined for the second year in a row to US\$ 8.2 billion—a 7% reduction from the US\$ 8.7 billion in 2014<sup>2</sup>. Public and private domestic investment increased by US\$ 0.4 billion over the same period, resulting in approximately similar total resource availability in 2014 and 2015.



#### Resources available for HIV by source of funding, 2000-2015

Source: UNAIDS estimates, June 2016; UNAIDS-Kaiser Family Foundation reports on Financing the Response to AIDS in Low- and Middle-Income Countries till 2015, OECD CRS last accessed June 2016.

Available data show that investments in HIV prevention have slightly increased over time in a number of countries. However, more rapid increases in expenditures for HIV treatment translate to a declining trend in the percentage of total resources dedicated for a wide range of prevention services, including the prevention of mother-to-child transmission, reaching about 20% in recent years—short of the commitment made within the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS to ensure that financial resources for HIV prevention are adequate and constitute no less than a quarter of AIDS spending globally.<sup>3</sup>

populations. <sup>3</sup> The percentage required for prevention varies by country. It might be lower than 25% in high-prevalence countries with large numbers of people needing antiretroviral therapy, and higher than 25% in countries with epidemics highly concentrated among key populations and low treatment needs. (Stover J, Bollinger L, Izazola JA, Loures L, DeLay P, Ghys PD, et al. (2016) What Is Required to End the AIDS Epidemic as a Public Health Threat by 2030? The Cost and Impact of the Fast-Track Approach. PLoS ONE 11(5):e0154893).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Excluding the following countries that recently transitioned into high-income brackets and remaining classified as high income at the time of this report: Argentina, Equatorial Guinea, Chile, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Russian Federation, St. Kitts and Nevis, Seychelles, Uruguay and Venezuela, The domestic and international investments in the AIDS responses of these countries have been included in previous UNAIDS estimates and global targets. Updates are expected pending the annual revisions by the World Bank on the income level classification of countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The decline in international funds is partially driven by the appreciation of the US dollar. However, when assessed in the currencies of origin, most donors decreased their funding. On the other hand, the Global Fund for AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) partially recovered from a 2014 decrease attributable to the roll out of its new funding model. PEPFAR has noted that a portion of US funds that were initially expected to be available in 2015 were rescheduled during annual planning and are expected to be used in 2016 partially to fund the DREAMS project and other initiatives such as the recent commitment of US\$ 100 million for services for key populations.

#### Spending on programmes specifically for key populations as a percentage of total prevention spending by source, 2010–2014



Source: Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting, 2010-2014.

For example, HIV prevention services accounted for 20–23% of the total resources provided by the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) from 2012 to 2014 (7). If expenditures for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission and voluntary HIV testing and counselling are excluded, the prevention share was 13–16% of the total, including 4% for services focused on key populations (8). Additional central funding for voluntary medical male circumcision or prevention among young women and girls through the DREAMS partnership is not fully accounted for in this analysis. PEPFAR remains the largest international donor of effective prevention. While a detailed expenditure analysis by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria was not available, a preliminary analysis conducted by the Global Fund Secretariat for this report indicates that about 14% of Global Fund expenditure in 2014 was on primary prevention.

As well as increased, investments must be rebalanced to address the limited amount number of resources currently available for the five pillars of effective and proven primary prevention. For example, HIV prevention for key populations in low- and middle-income countries accounted for less than 2% of total HIV resources in 2015, or around 9% of the resources for prevention. The majority of resources for services focused on key populations come from international donors, barring exceptions such as Brazil, Mexico and a few countries in Asia and the Pacific. In June 2016, PEPFAR announced a special key populations investment fund of US\$ 100 million that will help fill the funding gap, but not address the need for sustainable, country-owned financing sources.

An analysis of four countries from different regions, and with different epidemic patterns, found that funding of effective and focused primary prevention was insufficient—6% in Brazil, 4% in Cameroon, 15% in Myanmar and 10% in South Africa.

<sup>4</sup> Effective prevention programmes were defined as those with proven efficacy and are included within five pillars programmes for key populations (sex workers and their clients, gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender people, prisoners and people who inject drugs, including harm reduction); condom promotion and provision; voluntary medical male circumcision; pre-exposure prophylaxis, and comprehensive HIV prevention programmes focused on young women and adolescent girls, including cash transfers.

### Percentage of investments for effective prevention and other prevention categories, four countries, 2013–2014



Source: Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

### Closing the prevention gap

Building on the momentum established at the 2016 United Nations General Assembly High-Level Meeting on Ending AIDS requires translating the commitments within the Political Declaration into action. Global targets and milestones need to be translated into national and sub-national targets, as well as implementation plans to reach these targets that focus on the populations and locations in greatest need, and also address the legal, social and economic barriers to prevention service access and uptake. At the local level, stakeholders need to analyse and understand their local prevention needs and mount an appropriate combination prevention response.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Stover J, Bollinger L, Izazola JA, Loures L, DeLay P, Ghys PD. What Is required to end the AIDS epidemic as a public health threat by 2030? The cost and impact of the Fast-Track Approach. PLoS ONE 11(5): e0154893. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154893.
- UNAIDS. Special analysis, 2016; Baral SD, Poteat T, Strömdahl S, Wirtz AL, Guadamuz TE, Beyrer C. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious Disease. 13(3): 214–222 March 2013.
- United Nations Human Settlements Programme. Ending the urban AIDS epidemic. Nairobi. 2015.
- 4. UNAIDS. On the Fast-Track to end AIDS by 2030: Focus on location and population. Geneva. 2015.
- Kumar R, Mehendale SM, Panda S, Venkatesh S, Lakshmi PVM, Kaur M et al. Impact of targeted interventions on heterosexual transmission of HIV in India. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:549.
- World Health Organization, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/ AIDS. Technical guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users. Geneva. 2012. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014.
- 7. UNAIDS analysis of data from the PEPFAR dashboard (https://data.pepfar.net/global; accessed 1 July 2016).
- 8. PEPFAR submission for GARPR 2016.

Within the response to AIDS, leaving no one behind is both a moral and human rights imperative and a public health necessity. HIV-related vulnerabilities are fuelled by inequalities and prejudices entrenched within the legal, social and economic structures of society. Harmful cultural and social gender norms, criminalization of same-sex relationships, cross-dressing, sex work, and drug use, and laws that require third-party authorization for sexual and reproductive health services block HIV prevention and increase risky behaviour. Homophobia drives gay men and other men who have sex with men away from HIV testing and HIV prevention activities, and is associated with lower adherence to treatment.

Empowering women and girls, young people and key populations with the agency to claim their rights, receive a quality education, enjoy health lives and take measures to protect themselves from HIV is a requisite component of combination HIV prevention—structural change that reflects the interconnected nature of the Sustainable Development Goals.

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- Gender inequalities, including gender-based violence, exacerbate women and girls' vulnerability to HIV and block their access to HIV services.
- Third-party authorization requirements remain an important barrier to uptake of HIV and sexual and reproductive health services among adolescents and young people.
- Key populations face specific challenges and barriers, including violence and violations of their human rights, with women in key populations particularly affected.
- Homophobia is a barrier to HIV services for gay men and other men who have sex with men.
- Criminalization and stigmatization of same-sex relationships, cross-dressing, sex work and drug use blocks HIV prevention services and increases risky behaviours.
- Stigma and discrimination related to HIV and towards key populations in health-care settings undermine access to HIV prevention and other health services.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Strengthen legislation, law enforcement and programmes to end intimate partner violence.
- Increase girls' access to secondary education.

- Use cash transfers to empower women economically, to keep them in school and to enable them to make healthy partner choices.
- Remove third-party authorization requirements and other barriers to women and young people's access to HIV and sexual and reproductive health services.
- Decriminalize same-sex relationships, cross-dressing, sex work and drug possession and use for personal consumption.
- Bring to scale community empowerment and other programmes that have been proven to reduce stigma, discrimination and marginalization, including in health-care settings.

#### THE HOMOPHOBIC CLIMATE INDEX, 2016



Source: Lamontagne et al, 2016.

### Prevalence of recent intimate partner violence among ever-married or partnered women, aged 15–19 years, compared to those aged 15–49 years, 32 countries, 2010–2014





Reported by adolescent girls (aged 15–19 years)

Reported by women (aged 15–49 years)



Source: Population-based surveys, 2010–2014.

### Violence increases HIV risk for women

The fear of intimate partner violence has been shown to be an important barrier to the uptake of HIV testing and counselling, to the disclosure of HIV-positive status, and to treatment uptake and adherence, including among pregnant women living with HIV who are receiving antiretroviral therapy as part of services to prevent mother-to-child transmission (1). Experiences of physical and emotional intimate partner violence in settings with male controlling behaviour and HIV prevalence above 5% have been strongly associated with HIV infection in women (2). In some regions, women who experienced physical or sexual intimate partner violence were 1.5 times more likely to acquire HIV than women who had experienced violence (3).

Such violence can also disrupt HIV prevention services. For example, a study among African serodiscordant couples enrolled in a trial of oral daily PrEP suggests that recent intimate partner violence (physical, verbal and economic) reduces the seronegative partner's adherence to medication. Such recent intimate partner violence (within the previous three months) was associated with a 50% higher likelihood of low PrEP adherence, after adjusting for age, years of education, study site, any additional sex partners and time on study (4).

The 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS acknowledges the link between violence and HIV, and it calls for an end to all forms of violence and discrimination against women and girls. Globally, prevalence of recent intimate partner violence among ever-married or partnered women aged 15 to 49 years decreased between 2000 and 2014 in 12 of 17 countries that had data for more than one year. Despite these declines, however, global prevalence of recent intimate partner violence remained high, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa: the median prevalence of recent intimate partner violence among ever-married or partnered women aged 15 to 49 years in 21 sub-Saharan African countries was 26.1%.

Adolescent girls are more vulnerable to intimate partner violence. In 22 of the 32 countries with available data, young women reported experiencing more recent intimate partner violence than women in older age groups (5). Some of the intimate partner violence experienced by young women occurs within the context of child marriage. A violation of fundamental human rights, child marriage can severely compromise a girl's development, result in early pregnancy and social isolation, interrupt her schooling, and limit her opportunities for a career and vocational advancement (6).

# Percent of ever-married or partnered women (aged 15–49 years) reporting experiences of physical and/or sexual violence by a former or current male intimate partner in the past 12 months, most recent data, 2010–2014

20 – 40%	10 – 19%	0 – 9%
Cameroon	Cambodia	Burkina Faso
Colombia	Dominican Republic	Comoros
Côte d'Ivoire	Egypt	Gambia
Democratic Republic of the Congo	Haiti	Nicaragua
Gabon	Honduras	Philippines
Kenya	Jordan	South Africa
Malawi	Kyrgyzstan	
Mali	Nepal	
Mozambique	Nigeria	
Namibia	Pakistan	
Rwanda	Peru	
Sierra Leone	Tajikistan	
United Republic of Tanzania	Тодо	
Uganda		
Zambia		
Zimbabwe		

Source: Population-based surveys, 2010-2014.

#### Child marriage legislation, by country, 2015



Source: Women, business and the law 2016: getting to equal. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2016.

### Girls, education and HIV

Studies have shown that increasing educational achievement among women and girls is linked to better sexual and reproductive health outcomes, including lower rates of HIV infection, delayed childbearing, safer births and safer abortions, and other development outcomes (7, 8). The education and empowerment of women and girls also are fundamental to preventing gender-based violence (9). An analysis of data from 44 countries found that completing secondary education significantly reduces a woman's personal risk of partner violence (sexual or physical violence in the past 12 months), and that a girl's education is more strongly associated with reduced risk of partner violence in countries where spousal abuse is more common (10). Girls with at least six years of school education are more likely to be able to protect themselves from HIV and other diseases (11).

Cash transfers have been found to help girls remain in school, which in turn leads to reduced HIV prevalence and incidence. In several randomized control trials, school attendance and safer sexual health were directly incentivized through a cash transfer, and there was a positive effect on HIV outcomes *(12)*.

A study in South Africa found that financial support augmented with social support from parents or teachers increased HIV-prevention benefits over cash alone, with reductions in incidence of multiple and concurrent partners and other HIV-risk behaviours for both boys and girls (13). A follow-up study found that combining cash transfers with free education and psychosocial support interventions led to cumulative reductions in HIV risk behaviours among adolescents (13).

### Ensuring a coherent policy and legal framework for young people and women

In many settings, parental and other third-party consent requirements for access to HIV and sexual and reproductive health services remain an important barrier to their uptake. Adolescents often are reluctant to seek services that require the consent of a parent or guardian. Similarly, laws that restrict people's access to health services—for example, by requiring third-party authorization for accessing sexual and reproductive health services or by criminalizing certain consensual sexual behaviours—exclude people from the health information and services they need (14).

Laws that foster the wide dissemination of objective comprehensive sexuality information improve knowledge not only of what protects or damages sexual health, but also where and how to seek further information, counselling and treatment. Further efforts are needed to ensure that the legal framework is responsive and sensitive to the challenges that young people face when attempting to access HIV and sexual and reproductive health services. This includes striking down requirements for parental or spousal consent, which poses additional challenges, particularly for adolescent girls and young women. Young key populations also must be ensured a protective legal environment where their identities and the behaviour pertaining to their populations are not criminalized, and where their rights are respected, protected and promoted.

### Parental consent for sexual and reproductive health and HIV testing services for young people, 2016



Source: Sexual Rights Initiative. Sexual rights database (http://sexualrightsdatabase.org/map/25/Age%20of%20sexual%20consent%20-%20different%20sex, Accessed 23 June 2016).

### Criminalization, discrimination and marginalization of key populations

Punitive laws, policies and practices affecting key populations can block their access to HIV-related services. This is particularly true for the criminalization of drug use, sex work, same-sex sexual activity, cross-dressing or activities considered to be imitating the opposite sex. For example, when possession of injecting equipment or condoms is used by criminal justice systems as evidence of drug use or sex work, people at high risk of HIV infection are less likely to use these proven prevention tools (15–19).

As of June 2016, same-sex sexual acts were illegal in 73 countries and five entities. This is a decrease from 92 in 2006. The death penalty could be applied for same-sex sexual acts in 13 countries (or parts of countries), an increase from nine countries in 2006 (20)<sup>1</sup>. Such criminalization can deter men who have sex

 $\label{eq:linear} ^{1} The \ 2006 \ figures \ are \ taken \ from \ the \ video \ found \ at \ http://ilga.org/what-we-do/state-sponsored-homophobia-report/previous-editions/.$ 

with men from seeking out HIV prevention, testing and other services when they need them.

Across the world, many countries continued to criminalize some aspect of sex work in 2015 (21). The criminalization of drug use and people who use drugs also impedes access to HIV services (see the chapter on Harm reduction for more information). Transgender people are among the most marginalized people across the world, with many denied recognition of their gender and, by extension, the identity documents they need to access education, employment and appropriate health care. Cross-dressing or activities considered to be imitating the opposite sex also can be penalized. According to the activist organization Transrespect, 55 countries and territories (of 112 with available data) criminalized and/or prosecuted transgender people in 2015. A further seven countries and territories (of 110 with available data) criminalized crossdressing, and 12 countries and territories (of 111 with available data) prosecuted cross-dressing (22). In some countries, laws that criminalize transgender people exist but are not currently enforced. In others, prosecution occurs without the existence of a criminalizing law through the application of other laws, or it occurs without a legal basis (22).

Overly broad criminalization of HIV non-disclosure, exposure or transmission deters people from seeking to know their own status or from accessing HIV services, including prevention services and commodities. Overly broad criminalization of HIV non-disclosure, exposure or transmission refers to the application of criminal law in relation to HIV that (i) is not guided by the best available scientific and medical evidence relating to HIV, (ii) fails to uphold the principles of legal and judicial fairness<sup>2</sup>, and (iii) infringes upon the human rights of those involved in criminal law cases. Such application of the criminal law can be based on HIV-specific criminal statutes, or it can rely on the application of general criminal law provisions (*23*). By 2015, 72 countries had laws that specifically allowed for HIV criminalization, an increase from 61 in 2014 (*23*)<sup>3</sup>. Prosecutions for HIV non-disclosure, potential or perceived exposure and/or unintentional transmission had been reported in 61 countries, an increase from at least 49 in 2014 (*23*).

The Global Commission on HIV and the Law has shaped global actions to improve the links between legal environments and HIV responses since 2012 (24). Despite this, punitive laws, policies and practices continue to deny people access to effective services. HIV Justice Worldwide is a new initiative made up of global, regional and national civil society organizations—most of them led by people living with HIV—that is working to build a worldwide movement to end HIV criminalization. The initiative seeks to end HIV criminalization by empowering people living with HIV and those who advocate on their behalf to convince policy-makers, criminal justice actors and other relevant stakeholders to abolish existing laws and to oppose the passage of proposed laws designed to regulate, control and punish people living with HIV on the basis of their HIV status (25).

<sup>2</sup>This includes key criminal law principles of legality, foreseeability, intent, causality, proportionality and proof. <sup>3</sup>In 2014, UNAIDS reported 61 countries with laws allowing for HIV criminalization. Although this increase is partly due to methodological improvements, it is also due to new laws enacted in Botswana, Côte d'Ivoire, Nigeria and Uganda.

### The human and economic cost of homophobia

Despite recent progress in the acceptance of gay men and other men who have sex with men in society in many countries, homophobia and stigma and discrimination based on sexual orientation are still prevalent globally. This discrimination is a barrier to HIV services, lowers adherence to antiretroviral therapy and has a human and economic cost (26, 27).

A Homophobic Climate Index (HCI)—considering institutional, social and behavioural homophobia, and reflecting the laws and legislation and the level of acceptance in society—shows where efforts are needed to address homophobia and protect the rights of sexual minorities (see world map at the start of the chapter). The closer the HCI is to 1.0, the higher the homophobia, stigma and discrimination.

Stigma related to sexual orientation is also associated with lower economic output at country level (26, 28, 29). A recent country-by-country analysis found that the region with the highest cost of homophobia as a share of gross domestic product (GDP) in 2015 was the Middle East and North Africa, reaching 0.59% of GDP, and the lowest cost as a share of GDP was in western and central Europe and North America, at 0.13% of GDP. The highest total cost of homophobia was in Asia and the Pacific, at US\$88.3 billion annually.

#### 0.7 Middle East and North Africa US\$ 16.9 billion Cost of homophobia as share of GDP (percent, %) 0.6 Asia and the Pacific US\$ 88.3 billion 0.5 Eastern Europe and central Asia 0.4 US\$ 10.9 billion Sub-Saharan Africa US\$ 4.9 billion Western and central Europe and 0.3 North America US\$ 49.7 billion 02 Latin America and the Caribbean US\$ 8.0 billion 0.1 0 Level of homophobia

### Cost of homophobia as a share of GDP and in value, per region, per year

The size of the bubble represents the total cost of homophobia, per year, in billions of US dollars, per region.

Population of gay men and other men who have sex with men = 3% of males (aged 15-64 years). Elasticity of homophobia = 1.19; Regression fit curve R2 = 0.82.

Higher levels of homophobia within a country resulted in more than proportionate higher costs as a share of national GDP (*30*). The economic cost of homophobia among the 10 countries with the highest HCI reached 0.2–0.6% of GDP, which is more than 10 times the share in the 10 countries with the lowest HCI. The study also found that a higher HCI was associated with higher levels of human rights violations, gender inequality and negatively associated with the overall life satisfaction index of its citizens. This quantification of the human and economic costs of homophobia reinforces the importance of inclusive laws and policies for sexual minorities within efforts to improve economic and social development.

### Women in key populations: violence and access to services

Women in key populations face specific challenges and barriers, including violence and violations of their human rights in health care settings and from uniformed personnel.

Violence is especially prevalent in the lives of sex workers, who (irrespective of gender) are frequently subject to sexual and physical violence, and who are likely to be working and living in environments that deprived them of basic rights and protections (*31, 32*). The criminalization of sex work facilitates these rights violations (*33*). A modelling study estimated that eliminating sexual violence against sex workers could avert 17% of HIV infections in Kenya and 20% in Canada (*32*).

Women who inject drugs faced higher levels of stigma, discrimination and vulnerability to harm than their male counterparts (34). Those who had experienced sexual violence were more likely to be living with HIV than other women who inject drugs (35). Despite such evidence, services for women who have experienced violence and for people who use drugs are often disconnected, leading to a protection gap for women who inject drugs and experience intimate partner violence (36).

### Bringing proven approaches to scale

In the past 15 years, global progress against HIV and AIDS has been significant, thanks to scientific advancements, treatment access, human rights activism, global solidarity and the mobilization and activism of civil society. These gains, however, have been uneven. Throughout the world, stigma, discrimination and exclusion—as well as power imbalances and unequal gender relations—continue to make women and girls, young people and key populations vulnerable to HIV, hindering access to HIV prevention, treatment and care services. As HIV cannot be addressed only through bio-medical approaches, the response requires simultaneous advancements in terms of sexual and reproductive health and rights, access to education and employment, social justice and gender equality. Moving forward, isolated successes require replication, and small-scale programmes that have been proven to work need to be scaled up with sustainable funding and political commitment.

For example, strategic litigation is effective in upholding rights and changing the course of the response. In March 2015, a legal provision that criminalized any act that exposes another person to HIV and obliged people living with HIV in Kenya to

disclose their HIV status was declared unconstitutional by the High Court of Kenya (*37*). It was the first time anywhere in the world that such a legal provision was held unconstitutional.

Social support, protective social norms and social capital (including participation and inclusion) can enable key populations to protect themselves from the effects of HIV and address it (*38*). Community empowerment-based approaches to addressing HIV among sex workers also have been associated with increases in consistent condom use and reductions in HIV infections (*39*). Rights- and law-oriented education can contribute to all of these benefits. HIV and harm reduction training for police officers can improve rates of referral to harm reduction services, and it can reduce the intent to extrajudicially confiscate syringes (*40*).

Condoms are at the centre of a combination HIV prevention approach; they are also cost-effective tools for preventing other sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancies. An estimated 45 million HIV infections have been averted through condom use globally since 1990 (1). Achieving the global condom target for 2020 would avert 3.4 million new infections (1). The cost per infection averted would be approximately \$450, well below the lifetime cost of providing antiretroviral treatment (1).

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- Stagnation of international and domestic funds for condom procurement and programming.
- An annual gap of more than 3 billion male condoms in sub-Saharan Africa.
- Inconsistent condom use within many populations and locations in greatest need, including challenges for women to negotiate condom use.
- Insufficient availability of lubricants and female condoms.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Increase resources for condom procurement, distribution and promotion.
- Provide male and female condoms in combination prevention packages.
- Diversify condom products, including provision of female condoms alongside male condoms and lubricants.
- Develop new approaches to increase condom use and to enhance the positive perception of condoms among the various populations in need.
- Engage communities in condom provision and use innovative service provision mechanisms.



### NUMBER OF HIV INFECTIONS AVERTED THROUGH CONDOM USE, GLOBAL, 1990–2015

Source: John Stover, Avenir Health, 2016. The Contribution of Condoms to HIV Prevention. Data for Fast-Tracking Condom Programmes. Presented at of the Global Condom Steering Group 21-23 March 2016, Geneva.

In 2015, an estimated 1.9 million [1.7 million–2.2 million] adults (15+) were newly infected with HIV—the vast majority through sexual transmission—and an estimated 357 million people acquired chlamydia, gonorrhoea, syphilis or trichomoniasis (2). Every year, more than 200 million women have unmet needs for contraception, leading to approximately 80 million unintended pregnancies. Condoms effectively prevent all of these conditions.

Optimal condom programming is a key part of the ambitious global targets to provide access to comprehensive prevention services to 90% of people at risk of HIV infection and to reduce new HIV infections to fewer than 500 000 globally. In recognition of this, countries agreed in the 2016 Political Declaration on ending AIDS to increase the annual availability of condoms to 20 billion by 2020. This includes approximately eight billion condoms for sub-Saharan Africa annually and 30–50 condoms per male, per year in high-prevalence countries.

### **Condom availability**

In 2015, international donor investment in condom programmes was between US\$ 75–100 million globally—a level of investment that has remained stagnant since 2011 *(3)*. In some countries, donor investment in condoms declined. As a result, the total volume of condoms distributed by Population Services International, a leading condom social marketing organization, decreased from 1.3 billion in 2011 to 1.1 billion in 2015 *(4)*.

In 2015, in sub-Saharan Africa (5), an average of 10 male condoms was available for every man aged 15–64 years and just one female condom per eight women aged 15–64 years (6). The number of female condoms distributed was only 1.6% of the total condom distribution. Condom availability varied between as many as 40 condoms per man aged 15–64 years in Namibia and South Africa to fewer than five condoms per man aged 15–64 years in Angola and South Sudan. Condom distribution was particularly low in some countries in western and central Africa, such as Burundi, Chad, Guinea and Mali (7).

The estimated condom need in 47 countries in sub-Saharan Africa in 2015 was 6 billion male condoms, with a range of needs from 55.4 condoms per man aged 15–64 years per year in Botswana to 13.2 condoms per man per year in Ethiopia and fewer than five per man per year in Liberia<sup>1</sup>.

The needs of sex workers and their clients accounted for 37.8% of the total need; those of non-regular partners for 20.3%; and other users of condoms for family planning for 14.6%; those of HIV-affected couples for 13.7%; and those of men who have sex with men for 7.6% (8).

However, an estimated 3 billion condoms were distributed in sub-Saharan Africa in 2015, indicating that approximately half of the condom need was not met. In individual countries, the gaps ranged from more than 75% in 17 countries to a 6.3% surplus in South Africa. An estimated US\$ 97.6 million per year is needed to close the procurement gap—US\$ 22 million in Nigeria alone *(8)*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Based on a spreadsheet tool developed to generate national condom needs estimates by aggregating specific needs estimates for preventing HIV, sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancy for major sub-populations with exposure to infections, including sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men, people with non-regular partners, young people, people living with HIV and family planning clients who use condoms. For each sub-population, need is calculated using published data on population size, HIV prevalence, sexual behaviour and condom use targets (80–95%). Overlap between estimates for sub-populations are corrected and assumptions for wastage are included. The national condom gap is calculated using data on total annual male and female condom distribution.

### Condom use

In three countries with more than a 30% decline in new HIV infections since 2005, nationally representative population-based survey data show steady increases in condom use among men with multiple sexual partners.

However, in sub-Saharan Africa, overall levels of condom use remain low. In 23 of 25 countries in sub-Saharan Africa with available data, condom use at last sex among men with multiple sexual partners was lower than 50% (9). In 13 of the 25 countries with available data, women with multiple partners in the 12 months preceding the survey were more likely to use condoms than their male counterparts.

Among young people in sub-Saharan Africa condom use remained low. In 15 of 23 countries less than 60% of young men aged 15–24 with multiple partners used a condom during their last sexual intercourse. In 19 of 23 countries, less than 60% of young women with multiple partners reported condom use. In some countries, it is challenging for women, especially young women, to negotiate condom use with their male partners. Evidence from Asia suggests that women with greater autonomy in decision-making are more likely to negotiate safer sex, have higher HIV-related knowledge and to use condoms (10).

### Trends in the percent of men who report using a condom at last sexual intercourse among men with multiple partners, select countries, 2000–2015



Source; Demographic and Health Surveys, 2000-2015.

## Percent of men and women (aged 15–49 years) who report using a condom at last sexual intercourse among those with multiple partners in the 12 months prior to the survey, sub-Saharan Africa, most recent data, 2010–2015



### Percent of young women and men (aged 15–24 years) reporting use of a condom at last sex among those with multiple partners in the 12 months prior to the survey, sub-Saharan Africa, 2010–2015



Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2010-2015.
#### Condom use among key populations

Condom use among sex workers and their clients and other sexual partners must be 100% or combined with pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV transmission. PrEP availability is currently extremely limited, with recent modelling suggesting that typical antiretroviral therapy coverage will not be sufficient to slow HIV incidence among sex workers, and that antiretroviral therapy coverage at approximately 80% must be accompanied by increased condom use (11). These data reinforce the importance of combination HIV prevention strategies, including the integration of condoms throughout the continuum of HIV services and increased linkages between HIV and sexual and reproductive health services and the use of combination prevention strategies.

Of the 89 countries reporting on condom use with the last client by sex workers, 32 reported greater than 90% coverage. Condom use reported by sex workers in Asia Pacific is 90% or greater in five countries, including the two largest, China and India. Elsewhere, countries with important epidemics among sex workers, such as the Philippines, Indonesia and Pakistan, condom use with last commercial partner was suboptimal and dangerously low in Pakistan. Most other regions show a similar pattern, with a few countries doing reasonably well, but many others falling short—and some far short. Lesotho, where HIV prevalence among female sex workers was 72%, condom use with the last client was only 65%. Countries in the Middle East and North Africa generally have inadequate condom use to prevent HIV transmission to and from sex workers.

Gay men and other men who have sex with men, and who have multiple sexual partners also require consistent condom use. However, condom use in many countries is not occurring at sufficient levels to reduce HIV transmission rates. Overall, many countries report levels of condom use which are insufficient to curtail HIV transmission among men who have sex with men. Only three of 104 countries with available data reported greater than 90% condom use at last sexual intercourse. Data on other sexually transmitted infections among gay men and other men who have sex with men are further evidence of the insufficient use of condoms (12). Low condom use in high-income countries—where antiretroviral therapy coverage and condom availability are high—is consistent with evidence of complacency or condom fatigue (13).

Condom use with the most recent sex partner among people who inject drugs is almost universally low. No countries were above 90% and only five of 60 countries reported between 70% and 89% coverage. In areas with high prevalence of injection drug use and HIV, such as Manipur, India, non-injecting female partners exhibit very high HIV prevalence, in large part due to low condom use (14,15). A study in Viet Nam, where HIV prevalence is extremely high among people who inject drugs—as high as 46% in some cities—shows that there are high rates of serodiscordance in couples with one partner who injects drugs. More than 40% of women in two cities where the study was conducted did not know that their male sexual partner who injected drugs was also living with HIV. Data on condom use among transgender people are lacking, but there is evidence that condom use in this population is low. A study in Cambodia found that consistent condom use by transgender people was higher (40%) with female partners than with male partners (20–40%), with the lowest rates of consistent condom use with male partners when buying sex (16).

#### Percent of sex workers reporting condom use with last client, most recent data, 2013-2015

>90%	70-89%	<70%
Antigua and Barbuda	Algeria	Bangladesh
Armenia	Angola	Belize
Benin	Belarus	Burundi
Botswana	Bosnia and Herzegovina	Comoros
Bulgaria	Burkina Faso	Democratic Republic of the Congo
Central African Republic	Cambodia	Djibouti
Chile	Cameroon	Egypt
China	Cape Verde	Indonesia
Colombia	Congo	Iran
Ecuador	Costa Rica	Lesotho
Eritrea	Côte d'Ivoire	Mauritius
Fiji	Cuba	Micronesia (Federated States of)
Finland	Czech Republic	Pakistan
Georgia	Guyana	Seychelles
Guinea	Jamaica	Sierra Leone
India	Malawi	Somalia
Kazakhstan	Malaysia	Sudan
Kenya	Mexico	Switzerland
Kyrgyzstan	Mongolia	Tunisia
Lao People's Democratic Republic	Montenegro	Uganda
Lebanon	Myanmar	Uzbekistan
Mali	Nicaragua	Vanuatu
Nigeria	Niger	Yemen
Panama	Philippines	Zimbabwe
Paraguay	Republic of Moldova	
Peru	Romania	
Portugal	Senegal	
Serbia	South Africa	
Sri Lanka	Swaziland	
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia	Tajikistan	
Тодо	United Republic of Tanzania	
Ukraine	Viet Nam	
	Zambia	

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

# Percent of gay men and other men who have sex with men reporting condom use with last male partner, most recent data, 2013–2015

>90%	70-89%	<70%	
Benin	Antigua and Barbuda	Angola	Malaysia
South Africa	Botswana	Armenia	Mauritius
Uzbekistan	Burkina Faso	Australia	Montenegro
	Cambodia	Bangladesh	Morocco
	Cameroon	Barbados	Netherlands
	China	Belarus	Nicaragua
	Costa Rica	Belgium	Nigeria
	Côte d'Ivoire	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Panama
	Democratic Republic of the Congo	Bosnia and Herzegovina	Paraguay
	Ecuador	Bulgaria	Philippines
	Haiti	Burundi	Poland
	Honduras	Cape Verde	Republic of Moldova
	India	Central African Republic	Romania
	Indonesia	Colombia	Samoa
	Jamaica	Comoros	Serbia
	Japan	Congo	Sierra Leone
	Kazakhstan	Cook Islands	Singapore
	Kenya	Croatia	Sri Lanka
	Kyrgyzstan	Cuba	Sudan
	Lebanon	Dominican Republic	Swaziland
	Mali	Egypt	Sweden
	Mexico	El Salvador	The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
	Mongolia	Estonia	Тодо
	Myanmar	Fiji	Tonga
	Nepal	France	Trinidad and Tobago
	New Zealand	Georgia	Tunisia
	Niger	Germany	Tuvalu
	Portugal	Guyana	Uganda
	Senegal	Ireland	United Republic of Tanzania
	Spain	Italy	United States of America
	Switzerland	Lao People's Democratic Republic	Uruguay
	Tajikistan	Lesotho	Vanuatu
	Thailand	Liberia	Viet Nam
	Ukraine	Madagascar	

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

## Percent of people who inject drugs reporting condom use with last partner, most recent data, 2013–2015

>90%	70-89%	<70%	
	Cambodia	Afghanistan	Latvia
	France	Armenia	Liberia
	India	Australia	Madagascar
	Kenya	Azerbaijan	Malaysia
	Nigeria	Bangladesh	Mauritius
		Belarus	Mexico
		Belgium	Montenegro
		Benin	Morocco
		Bosnia and Herzegovina	Myanmar
		Brazil	Nepal
		Bulgaria	Pakistan
		China	Philippines
		Colombia	Senegal
		Cook Islands	Serbia
		Côte d'Ivoire	Seychelles
		Democratic Republic of the Congo	Sierra Leone
		Dominican Republic	Sri Lanka
		Egypt	Sweden
		Estonia	Switzerland
		Georgia	Tajikistan
		Germany	Thailand
		Greece	The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
		Hungary	Tunisia
		Indonesia	Ukraine
		Iran (Islamic Republic of)	United Republic of Tanzania
		Japan	Uzbekistan
		Kazakhstan	Viet Nam
		Kyrgyzstan	

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

In most countries laws, regulations or policies are obstacles for the distribution of condoms to people in prisons and other closed settings. In countries where they are available, condoms are often not easily accessible, lubricant is rarely provided and distribution is limited to a fraction of the prisons. Also, in many countries, access to condoms in prisons is limited to conjugal visiting rooms and not for use between prisoners. Access to female condoms is even lower.

#### Female condoms in combination prevention

Female condoms are currently the only widely available method giving women and adolescent girls greater control over protecting themselves from HIV, other sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancy (17). A growing body of evidence shows that effective female condom promotion to both women and men can increase the proportion of protected sex acts. Studies conducted in a variety of contexts show that the female condom is widely acceptable and a realistic alternative to the male condom. Increasing method choice can increase uptake and use of contraceptives, including condoms, with one study showing that providing a choice of condoms successfully increased acceptability (18).

The promotion of female condoms can be paired with biomedical technologies, such as PrEP and other forms of microbicides, to reduce HIV, other sexually transmitted infections and unwanted pregnancies. Integrating male and female condom promotion into other services, such as family planning, HIV counselling, testing and treatment, voluntary medical male circumcision and prevention of mother-to-child transmission, can also help to increase the demand for this method. Female condoms should be promoted as an additional option for both men and women, rather than as a replacement for the male condom (18).

## A new generation of comprehensive condom programmes

The challenge ahead is to invest in, and scale up, a new generation of datadriven and people-centred comprehensive condom programmes, including demand creation, community mobilization, supply chain management, planning, programme management and monitoring and evaluation. Comprehensive condom programmes should use a total market approach that includes the public and private sectors and social marketing.

Condom programming needs to be predicated on sexual and reproductive health and rights and gender equality. It must integrate—and be integrated into comprehensive sexuality education and efforts to promote respect for the right to the enjoyment of sex and to the expression of sexual identity. In order to be responsive to individual and context-specific needs, young people, people living with HIV, sex workers, men who have sex with men and people who inject drugs alongside other vulnerable populations—will need to be involved in the planning and implementation of condom programming. These populations should also contribute to efforts to improve data and increase innovation through programme science, market research, needs estimates, costing and monitoring and evaluation. National and community leadership will be essential to increasing domestic funding and ownership of national condom strategies and to moving away from programmes that are primarily funded and managed by international donors. Voluntary medical male circumcision is a cost-effective, one-time intervention that provides lifelong partial protection against female-to-male HIV transmission. Modelling studies have suggested that achieving 80% circumcision prevalence among men aged 15 to 49 years by 2015—and then sustaining it—would avert 3.4 million HIV infections by 2025 (1).

Since 2007, tremendous efforts have been made to scale up voluntary medical male circumcision in 14 priority countries in eastern and southern Africa that have high levels of HIV prevalence and low levels of male circumcision. By the end of 2015, nearly 11.6 million men in these countries had been medically circumcised.

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- Following years of rapid increase, annual numbers of circumcisions performed within eight of the 14 priority countries declined in 2015.
- The annual number of circumcisions performed in the 14 priority countries<sup>1</sup> must more than double to reach the 2020 target of 25 million additional young men in high-prevalence settings being circumcised.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Integrate vertical programmes within national health systems.
- Promote voluntary medical male circumcision as part of a core package of health services for men and boys, using approaches that are tailored for various age groups and locations.
- Increase domestic funding to ensure sustainability.
- Widen the use of new non-surgical circumcision devices.
- Develop new approaches for adolescent and early infant circumcision.
- Break down myths and misconceptions about circumcision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The 14 priority countries include Botswana, Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Rwanda, South Africa , Swaziland, United Republic of Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, Zimbabwe. The 2020 target also includes South Sudan.

### CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF VOLUNTARY MEDICAL MALE CIRCUMCISIONS, 14 PRIORITY COUNTRIES, 2009–2015



Sources: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

## ANNUAL NUMBER OF VOLUNTARY MEDICAL MALE CIRCUMCISIONS, 14 PRIORITY COUNTRIES, 2009–2015



Sources: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

Progress among priority countries varied widely between 2009 and 2015. Ethiopia, Kenya and the United Republic of Tanzania had surpassed their national coverage targets, and Mozambique, South Africa, Uganda and Zambia had achieved between 50% and 70% of their coverage targets by the end of 2015. In Botswana and Swaziland, however, coverage was around 45%, and in Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, Rwanda and Zimbabwe, coverage was under 35% in 2015.

The United Nations General Assembly set an ambitious target in the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS to provide voluntary medical male circumcision to an additional 25 million young men in high HIV incidence areas between 2016 and 2020.

## The drop in annual numbers of circumcisions is a cause for concern

A steady increase in the annual number of men voluntarily circumcised between 2008 and 2014 was followed in 2015 by a worrying decline in annual circumcisions within eight of the 14 priority countries. The cumulative number of circumcisions among all 14 priority countries dropped to 2.6 million in 2015 (compared to 3.2 million in 2014). In Ethiopia, South Africa and Swaziland, however, the number of circumcisions remained stable in 2015; in Kenya, Malawi and Namibia, the annual number of circumcisions increased.

Programme managers in the priority countries are examining the causes of this decline. Potential reasons may include reporting challenges, temporary disruptions caused by changes in procedures, reductions in funding and a natural decline after early adopters had been reached (2).

Among the nine priority countries with age-disaggregated data (Botswana, Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Mozambique, Rwanda, Swaziland, Zambia, Zimbabwe), uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision was highest among those aged 10–14 years, followed by those aged 15–19 years and 20–24 years. The analysis of disaggregated data by age or age bands allows for more precise monitoring of progress in each age band, and for taking action as needed to improve services.

#### Getting circumcision back on track

Achieving the 2020 target will require continued increases in the scale of programmes in the priority countries. Instead of less than 3 million male circumcisions annually, more than 5 million will need to be performed. In some countries, this will require the integration of vertical programmes within national health systems and the strengthening of the capacity of public health systems to manage these programmes at both the national and local levels. In addition, voluntary medical male circumcision should be part of a core package of health services for men and boys, using approaches that are tailored for various age groups and locations. Similarly, increases in domestic funding will be required to ensure the sustainability of programmes in countries that currently rely on international funding for the majority of their programme budgets.

Measures are already being taken to improve programme coverage and efficiency. In all 15 of the priority countries (including South Sudan), more nurses are being trained to provide voluntary medical male circumcision services. The introduction of male circumcision devices also is providing an alternative to conventional surgical circumcision methods that require greater surgical skill and clinical infrastructure, both of which are limited in resource-poor settings.

There also is a continuing need to break down myths and misconceptions about circumcision—and to navigate cultural sensitivities—through intensification of demand creation strategies. Innovation in service packages and provision also can address the concerns of potential clients. For example, male circumcision devices have been reported to increase the acceptability of voluntary medical male circumcision. As of the end of 2015, two such devices had been pre-qualified by the WHO for use.

Meanwhile, studies are underway to inform new approaches—including participatory ones—to provide comprehensive and sustainable services for adolescents, and to increase feasibility of early infant circumcision.

People who inject drugs are among the key populations most at risk to acquire or transmit HIV. Yet they are also among those with the least access to HIV prevention, care and treatment services because their drug use is often stigmatized and criminalized.

The tools and strategies required to improve the health and lives of people who use drugs are well known and readily available. Needle–syringe programmes reduce the spread of HIV, hepatitis C and other bloodborne viruses. Opioid substitution therapy and other evidence-informed forms of drug dependence treatment curb drug use, reduce vulnerability to infectious diseases, and improve uptake of health and social services.

The overwhelming body of evidence on the effectiveness of harm reduction, including in prisons and other closed settings, is the basis for a comprehensive package of interventions recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO), the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) and the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) for preventing the spread of HIV and reducing other harms associated with drug use. Few countries have achieved sufficient coverage of harm reduction services, however.

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- Needle-syringe programmes are available in only 90 of the 158 countries where injecting drug use has been documented. Only 8 countries have at least one programme in prisons.
- Only 12 countries provide the recommended threshold of 200 clean needles per person who injects per year.
- Less than 80% of people who inject drugs reported injecting with a clean needle the last time they injected in 22 of the 59 countries with available data.
- At least one opioid substitution therapy site is available in only 80 of the 158 countries where injecting drug use has been documented. Only 43 countries have programmes in prisons.
- HIV prevalence among women who inject drugs is often greater than their male peers, highlighting a need for gender-sensitive harm reduction interventions. In 24 of 35 countries reporting to the 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Report, median HIV prevalence among women was 50% higher, with a range of 2% to 530%.
- Criminalization of drug possession and use perpetuates risky forms of drug use, increases HIV risk, discourages people who use drugs from seeking health care, and reinforces the marginalization of people who use drugs. Presently, 11 countries have compulsory detention and 15 have death penalties for people who used drugs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This chapter contains excerpts from the UNAIDS report "Do no harm", published in April 2016 (1). Some estimates, programme data and country examples have been updated to reflect the latest round of Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (2).

#### WAY FORWARD

- Ensure that all people who inject drugs, including people in prisons and other closed settings, have access to harm-reduction services to prevent HIV infection.
- Ensure that all people who inject drugs and are living with HIV and/or hepatitis C have access to lifesaving treatment.
- Ensure all people who use drugs have access to non-coercive and evidenceinformed drug dependence treatment, including opioid substitution therapy, consistent with international human rights standards.
- Adapt and reform laws to ensure people who use drugs do not face punitive sanctions for the use of drugs or possession of drugs for personal consumption.
- Ensure widespread, community-based availability of naloxone as a lifesaving public health measure.
- Support and empower community and civil society organizations, including
  organizations and networks of people who use drugs, in the design and delivery
  of HIV prevention services.
- Combine treatment with other combination prevention approaches, e.g. preexposure prophylaxis and condom promotion for serodiscordant couples.

### AVAILABILITY OF NEEDLE–SYRINGE EXCHANGE PROGRAMMES AND OPIOID SUBSTITUTION THERAPY, 2014



Source: The global state of harm reduction 2014. London: Harm Reduction International; 2014 (http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/02/16/GSHR2014.pdf).

#### Insufficient harm reduction coverage

Efforts to criminalize and aggressively police and sanction the use of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances have had little or no impact on the number of people using drugs. Country data collected by UNODC show that the percentage of people who use illicit drugs has remained stable, fluctuating between 4.6% and 5.2% of adults, since at least 2006 (*3*). The rights-based public health alternative is harm reduction: services, programmes and policies that seek to reduce the health, social and economic harms of drug use to individuals, communities and societies.

In too many countries with large populations of people who inject drugs, however, harm reduction has not expanded beyond small-scale pilot schemes funded by external donors. In 2014 needle–syringe programmes were available in only 90 of the 158 countries where injecting drug use has been documented, and opioid substitution therapy was available in only 80 of these countries (4).

#### Needle-syringe programmes

Decades of experience within dozens of countries supports the effectiveness of needle-syringe programmes (4-6). Across eight countries in eastern Europe and central Asia, a tripling of needle-syringe programme coverage between 2005 and 2010 reduced injecting risk behaviour related to HIV and hepatitis C and reduced new infections (7). Many individual programmes have achieved outstanding results. Ten years of needle-syringe programming in Australia reduced the number of cases of HIV by up to 70% and reduced the number of cases of hepatitis C by up to 43% (8). In New York a sharp decrease in new HIV infections among people who inject drugs between 1992 and 2012 has been attributed to the implementation and expansion of syringe exchange since 1992 (9).

Costing US\$ 23–71 per person per year, needle–syringe programmes are relatively inexpensive to implement and are much more affordable than the lifetime health-care costs required to treat a person living with HIV (10). Conversely, the absence of needle–syringe programmes is a common feature in explosive increases in HIV incidence in communities that use drugs, for example in India, Philippines, and Indiana in the United States of America (11-13).

Of 60 countries that provided data on needle-syringe programming in 2015, however, only 13 reported more than the recommended threshold of 200 clean needles provided per person who injects per year (2).

In Asia and the Pacific, where distribution per country was the highest in the world, a regional median of 84% of people who inject drugs reported the use of sterile injecting equipment at last injection, and over 80% reported safe injecting practices in 9 of the 15 countries that reported (2).

## Percent of people who inject drugs who reported using a clean needle for last injection, select countries, most recent data, 2013–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

#### **Opioid substitution therapy**

Drug dependence is a chronic health condition. As with other chronic conditions, long-term and continued treatment is often required, and affected people remain vulnerable to relapse throughout their lifetime (*3*). Despite these challenges, systematic reviews of opioid substitution therapy (mostly methadone or buprenorphine maintenance therapy) have demonstrated its effectiveness in the reduction or complete cessation of the use of heroin and other opioids (*14,15*). This in turn yields individual and public health dividends. Methadone maintenance therapy has been associated with a 54% reduction in the risk of HIV infection within populations of people who inject drugs (*16*). It has been calculated that providing sufficient access to this critical component of harm reduction could prevent 130 000 new HIV infections outside sub-Saharan Africa every year (*17*).

Substitution therapy has also been shown to decrease the risk of hepatitis C infection (18), to increase adherence to antiretroviral therapy for HIV (19), to lower out-of-pocket health expenditures (20), and to reduce opioid overdose risk by almost 90% (21). The scale-up of methadone maintenance therapy in diverse country contexts, including Portugal (20), Viet Nam (22) and New Zealand (23), has also been associated with a decrease in crimes committed by people who use drugs.

### Median percent of people with opioid dependence use receiving opioid substitution therapy, 2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting; UNODC. World Drug Report 2016.

Global coverage of opioid substitution therapy, however, remained inadequate to reduce injection and thereby reduce HIV transmission: among the 72 countries reporting opioid treatment data, median coverage was 17% of people who use drugs. In eastern Europe and central Asia, opioid substitution therapy was available in all countries except the Russian Federation, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan but capacity to provide such therapy remained low in many settings.

Available data from Asia and the Pacific also indicated low coverage in 2015, with an estimated 120 000 people who used drugs enrolled in opioid substitution therapy and coverage in the 12 countries that reported data ranging from 0.5% of people who inject drugs in Afghanistan to 24% among people who inject drugs in Malaysia (2). In China a free voluntary methadone programme served more than 184 000 people (nearly 10% of the country's people who inject drugs) in 2015 (24). Combined with the national needle–syringe programme, this service has resulted in dramatic reductions in the proportion of new HIV diagnoses among people who inject drugs (25).

In the Middle East and North Africa, opioid substitution therapy was wellestablished in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Lebanon and Morocco. Over 24 000 of an estimated 200 000 people who inject drugs in the Islamic Republic of Iran received opioid substitution therapy in communities and prisons in 2015, and the number of newly reported cases of HIV among these people dropped significantly. In Morocco 820 people who inject drugs received treatment at new drug dependence treatment centres, including in one prison. In Lebanon more than 1500 people were receiving community treatment in 2015.

#### **Overdose treatment**

Opioid overdose claims the lives of an estimated 70 000–100 000 people each year (21). Naloxone is an extremely effective treatment for opioid drug overdose (26). Naloxone is relatively inexpensive, and using it may result in a life saved. In most countries, however, naloxone is accessible only by prescription or through hospitals and ambulance crews, who may not reach a person in need until it is too late. WHO recommends that people likely to witness an opioid overdose including people who use opioids, and their family and friends, especially for people just released from prison, should have access to naloxone and be instructed in its use for emergency management of suspected opioid overdose.

#### **Barriers to harm reduction**

The exclusion and marginalization of people who use drugs has been acknowledged as one of several unfortunate consequences of the international drug control system (27). Civil society organizations of people who use drugs describe pejorative terms such as "junkie" and "addict" commonly used in news media as hate speech that dehumanizes and stereotypes them as unpredictable, violent, and unable to exercise agency and self-determination (28). Such beliefs weaken human rights safeguards and create barriers to employment, health care and social services. These barriers are even larger when people who use drugs internalize societal stigma. Judgemental feelings among health-care providers have been linked to lower-quality health care and lower health outcomes (29,30). In many countries, laws, policies, pratices and other structural barriers facilitate discrimination of people with a history of drug use and create barriers to HIV prevention services. Criminal justice systems that use possession of drug paraphernalia or drug residue within injecting equipment as evidence of illegal drug possession or use are particularly disruptive to needle–syringe programmes (*31*). Syringe confiscation has been associated with increases in HIV infection among female sex workers who inject drugs (*32*). In parts of eastern Europe and central Asia, nongovernmental organizations report that police may consider needle–syringe distribution as promotion of illegal drug use, which leads to a high rate of turnover among outreach workers who fear they may be arrested for carrying injecting equipment (*32*). Police crackdowns on drug use, random urine drug screens, and police surveillance of health-care and harm-reduction service providers discourage people who use drugs from accessing these services (*31*).

Laws and policies that make drug use a criterion for loss of child custody, forced or coerced sterilization or abortion, and denial of welfare benefits have a disproportionate impact on women who use drugs (33,34). In some countries, such as the Russian Federation, opioid substitution therapy is unavailable or illegal, and in other countries, even though it may be available, police reportedly target people accessing treatment for drug arrests (35).

The threat of being sent to a compulsory detention centre is a powerful deterrent to accessing harm reduction services in at least 17 countries in Asia and Latin America *(36,37)*. The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the United Nations Special Rapporteur on Torture and the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Right to Health have raised serious concerns regarding the decision-making process for sending people to compulsory drug detention facilities, the conditions within the centres, and the forms of treatment provided *(38-40)*.

Legislation that criminalizes possession and use of drugs for personal consumption is one of the most formidable barriers to the provision of harm-reduction services. Criminalization has been shown to perpetuate risky forms of drug use, to increase the risk of illness (including from HIV infection) among people who use drugs, to discourage people who use drugs from seeking health care, and to reinforce the marginalization by society of people who use drugs (*38*).

#### **Decriminalization and depenalization**

A large body of evidence shows that alternatives to incarceration such as community-based drug dependence treatment are more cost effective at reducing health, social and economic harms of drug use (41). Several countries are moving away from criminalization of drug use. Armenia, Belgium, Chile, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Mexico and Portugal are among the countries that have adopted some form of decriminalization policy since 2000 (41).

The Czech Republic's decriminalization of the use and possession of small quantities of drugs combined with relatively high coverage of needle–syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy have been credited with the country's remarkably low rates of HIV among people who inject drugs, especially when compared with other countries in central and eastern Europe (42). HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in 2012 was estimated to be 0.1% in the Czech Republic (43).

Among the best-documented policy changes is Portugal's. In 2000 Portugal passed a new drug law that downgraded purchase, possession and consumption of small amounts of narcotic drugs from criminal to administrative offences. Under the law an individual can possess a 10-day supply of drugs before facing criminal charges as a drug dealer. The law also put in place a wide range of drug use prevention measures focused on high-risk groups and areas and systematic application of harm-reduction measures, including needle–syringe distribution and drug dependence treatment (44).

The 10 years after Portugal's law was enacted saw a decline in the rate of crimes related to drug consumption, especially petty thefts (45). There is evidence of reductions in problematic drug use, drug-related harms and criminal justice overcrowding, and the number of people entering drug dependence treatment programmes in Portugal increased from just over 5000 in 2008 to 40 000 in 2010 (45). Since 2000 there has been a steady decrease in the number of people who inject drugs being newly infected with HIV in Portugal, and a huge decrease in the percentage of people who inject drugs representing new HIV infections (45). In 2013 a total of 78 new HIV cases were related to drug use, compared with 1430 in 2010 (46). A similar downward trend has been observed for hepatitis C and hepatitis B among people attending drug treatment centres, despite an increase in the number of people seeking treatment (46).

### Number of people newly diagnosed with HIV in Portugal since the decriminalization of drug use, 2000–2013



Source: Domoslawski A. Drug Policy in Portugal: the benefits of decriminalization drug use. Warsaw: Open Society Foundations; 2011.

#### The combination approach

Individual harm reduction approaches are successful in reducing the harms related to drug use, but they are even more effective when delivered as a package, not only together but combined with other prevention services such as condom programmes and treatment (10). Condom provision within harm-reduction programmes can help to reduce the transmission of HIV from people who inject drugs to their sexual partners (47). Ensuring HIV tests are offered routinely to people who access needle–syringe services and opioid substitution therapy helps to identify people living with HIV as soon as possible after infection and the immediate initiation of antiretroviral therapy (1). People living with HIV who inject drugs are more likely to remain on antiretroviral therapy if they are also accessing opioid substitution therapy; in addition, early initiation of treatment contributes to the suppression of viral load and maximizes the prevention benefits of such treatment (16, 48). Increasing the provision of such combined approaches—including those that incorporate pre-exposure prophylaxis for people who inject drugs at particularly high risk, and for their sexual partners—will enhance the benefits of harm reduction.

#### **Community engagement**

Peer- and community-driven provision of harm-reduction services has been proven to increase uptake of services. These approaches provide a vital way to ensure that people who inject drugs can access programmes, and the approaches should be scaled up and expanded.

In one district in Viet Nam where 75% of the people living with HIV were people who inject drugs, programming moved from a traditional approach (using behaviour change communication, commodities provision and voluntary counselling and testing referral) to a peer-driven intervention approach with webbased outreach. Two outreach workers (one from an HIV outpatient clinic and one from a methadone maintenance therapy clinic) recruited people who inject drugs, providing them with "coupons" and other incentives and referrals for HIV testing services (and, where necessary, care and treatment). These initial recruits (or "seeds") pass coupons to other people in their own networks, including other people who inject drugs and their sexual partners. The programme resulted in improvements in tracking people through the cascade of services, and increases in testing and diagnosis—from 94 people tested (3.2% of whom tested positive) in 2013 to 483 people (6.8% of whom tested positive) in 2015. In 2016, of the 10.9% of people tested who were living with HIV, 41.6% were enrolled in treatment (*49*).

In Ukraine community outreach workers increased the uptake of methadone maintenance therapy and antiretroviral therapy among people who inject drugs by 36% (almost 200 and 1000 people, respectively) in 10 months (*50*). The Government of Belarus plans to directly contract nongovernmental organizations to provide HIV services (*51*). In the Islamic Republic of Iran nongovernmental organizations provide comprehensive harm-reduction services—including needle exchange, methadone maintenance, general medical care, voluntary counselling and testing for HIV, and the provision of food, clothes and other basic needs—through drop-in centres and referrals to public health care facilities (*52*).

### VIRAL SUPPRESSION

Strong adherence to antiretroviral therapy suppresses viral load to undetectable levels within people living with HIV, greatly reducing the risk of transmitting the virus to others (1-3). When large proportions of people living with HIV within a community are on treatment, it has been shown to have a preventive effect within that community (4, 5). This preventive effect of treatment has been heralded as a game-changer within the global response to HIV. Achievement of the 90–90–90 target by 2020 alongside high coverage of other HIV prevention interventions can make the end of the AIDS epidemic a reality by 2030 (6).

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- An estimated 38% [35–41%] of people living with HIV worldwide are not virally suppressed.
- More than 15.6 of the 36.7 million people living with HIV do not know their HIV status.
- Access to treatment and viral suppression levels are lower among key populations compared to the general population in many countries, and lower among men compared to women.
- Gaps in access to HIV testing and treatment are largest in western and central Africa and the Middle East and North Africa.
- Stigma, discrimination and other human rights violations deter people from seeking testing and treatment and compromise sustained adherence to antiretroviral treatment.
- The preventative benefits of treatment are not being realized fully due to failure to reach people soon after infection, when viral load levels are high.
- Disruptions of viral suppression of those on treatment, due to lack of adherence or viral resistance, limit the potential gains of treatment.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Expand innovative HIV testing strategies, such as self-testing and partnersupported testing services.
- Use cash transfers to increase HIV testing uptake and treatment adherence.
- Increase community engagement in HIV testing and treatment programmes.
- Implement human rights programmes to remove structural barriers to testing and treatment.
- Adopt the 2015 WHO guidelines that call for the immediate offer of antiretroviral therapy following diagnosis.
- Reduce cost and increase coverage of viral load testing.
- Combine treatment with other combination prevention approaches, including pre-exposure prophylaxis and condom promotion for serodiscordant couples.

#### **RECOMMENDED ANTIRETROVIRAL TREATMENT INITITATION THRESHOLD AMONG** PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV PER MINISTRY OF HEALTH GUIDELINES, MID-2016



Source: World Health Organization, 2016.

#### PROGRESS TOWARDS 90-90-90 TARGET, GLOBAL, 2015



<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 87 countries, which accounted for 73% of people living with HIV worldwide. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 86 countries. Worldwide, 22% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

The scale-up of treatment is among the greatest successes of the global AIDS response to date. In the past two years the number of people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy has increased by about a third, reaching 17.0 million people. These gains are largely responsible for a 26% decline in AIDS-related deaths globally since 2010, from an estimated 1.5 million [1.3 million–1.7 million] in 2010 to 1.1 million [940 000–1.3 million] in 2015. In the world's most affected region, eastern and southern Africa, the number of people on treatment has more than doubled since 2010, reaching nearly 10.3 million people, and AIDS-related deaths have decreased by 36% since 2010.

Analysis of the available data validated by UNAIDS in partnership with UNICEF and WHO,<sup>1</sup> however, suggests that much greater progress in the areas of testing and treatment is required to reach the 2020 target of fewer than 500 000 new HIV infections in 2020. In 2015, of the 36.7 million [34.0 million–39.8 million] people living with HIV globally, an estimated 57% [53–62%] knew their HIV status, 46% [43–50%] were on antiretroviral therapy, and 38% [35–41%] had achieved viral suppression.

The global gap to achieving the 90–90–90 target in 2015 was around 11.9 million people living with HIV who did not know their status, 12.7 million people in need of antiretroviral therapy, and 13.0 million people living with HIV who were not virally suppressed.



#### 90-90-90 target cascade, global, 2015

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 87 countries, which accounted for 73% of people living with HIV worldwide.

<sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 86 countries. Worldwide, 22% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

<sup>1</sup> A full description of the methods for deriving the 90–90–90 measures are provided in the annex to this report.

## Access to treatment among key populations remains a challenge

Studies indicate that access to antiretroviral therapy coverage among key populations compared to the general population continues to be lower in many countries, with uptake hampered by punitive legal environments, the stigma surrounding HIV testing and fear that a diagnosis of HIV may be disclosed to others without consent. Among gay men and other men who have sex with men, in 7 of 10 countries with available data, treatment coverage was considerably lower than coverage among all men living with HIV. Treatment coverage levels among people who inject drugs were more similar to coverage among men generally, but differences were still observed in 4 of 8 countries. Female sex workers were also less likely to access treatment than the general adult female population, with just 3 of 12 countries having similar levels of coverage. In Cambodia, transgender people had higher treatment coverage than female sex workers but lower than the general adult female population.

### Antiretroviral therapy coverage among select key population groups and the general adult male population (aged 15 years and older), matched by survey year, 2013–2015



📕 Gay men and other men who have sex with men 🛛 📕 People who inject drugs 🔹 🔹 Adult males (aged 15 years and older)

Source: UNAIDS, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and the World Health Organization. Key Population Atlas. In press. 2016.



### Antiretroviral therapy coverage among select key population groups and the general adult female population (aged 15 years and older), matched by survey year, 2013–2015

Source: UNAIDS, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and the World Health Organization. Key Population Atlas. In press. 2016.

#### Regional cascades reveal variations in progress

Western and central Europe and North America were the closest to achieving the first 90, with 86% [78–95%] of people living with HIV knowing their status, followed by Latin America and the Caribbean at 75% [64–87%]. Coverage of antiretroviral therapy in western and central Europe and North America was similarly highest at 59% [54–66%] of all people living with HIV, closely followed by Latin America at 55% [47–64%] and eastern and southern Africa at 55% [50–58%]. These regions also made measurable progress toward achieving high viral load suppression coverage in the population. Nearly half, or 47% [43–52%] of people living with HIV in western and central Europe and North America were virally suppressed. Coverage was 45% [42–49%] in eastern and southern Africa and 41% [35–47%] in Latin America and the Caribbean.

Considerable work remains in the other regions to reach the 90–90–90 target by 2020. In the Middle East and North Africa and western and central Africa regions, just over a third of people living with HIV are aware of their status, and nearly 9 in 10 people living with HIV have not achieved viral suppression. Viral suppression levels in Eastern Europe are also very low at 19% [17–20%], explained in part by the fact that only 1 in 5 people living with HIV are on antiretroviral treatment.

Of note, the availability of reported data on viral load testing and suppression in 2015 was extremely limited in many regions, especially in western and central Africa and in eastern and southern Africa, with test results available for around 2% and 14%, respectively, of the population on antiretroviral therapy. As a result, it is difficult to generalize results to the overall population in these regions in particular.



#### Progress toward the 90–90–90 target, by region, 2015

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

#### Improving knowledge of HIV status

Rapid increases in the proportion of people living with HIV who have been diagnosed requires expansion of innovative testing strategies. Self-testing kits are both discreet and convenient for people who may be reluctant to take a test at a health facility or who live in places where health facilities are inaccessible. Self-testing may be particularly valuable for members of key populations, who may fear HIV-related or behaviour-related stigma and discrimination in health care settings, and other vulnerable groups, such as adolescents and young people who may require parental permission to access sexual and reproductive health services (*7, 8*).

Self-tests are a screening tool, however, and results need to be confirmed by a health worker (7). The accuracy and sensitivity of some self-test kits is high (over 90% for saliva-based tests), but because they are used by untrained people the level of user error can also be high (0.37–5.4%) (7).

Self-testing services are increasingly being used by countries throughout the world, including Australia, Brazil, France, Moldova, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. In 2015 Kenya announced plans to introduce self-test kits and began evaluating distributors. A two-year project to scale up self-testing in Malawi, Zambia and Zimbabwe

was launched by UNITAID and PSI in 2015, focused on places and people where access to testing is restricted (in rural and peri-urban areas and among female sex workers and gay men and other who have sex with men) (9).

There is evidence that incentivizing people, including with monetary incentives, for HIV and sexually transmitted infection testing can lead to higher rates of uptake of HIV counselling and testing (10). In rural districts in Malawi the retrieval of test results was on average 43% points higher among participants in a study who were offered door-to-door HIV testing and who received a voucher for up to US\$ 3 when they went to a clinic to collect their results. For every additional dollar of incentive provided, there was an increase of 9% (11). At an urban clinic in the United States, monetary incentives of US\$ 5 and US\$ 10 increased test acceptance rates by 12% and nearly 13%, respectively, although lower incentives (US\$ 1) had no impact. Incentives were particularly successful among people reporting HIV risk factors, with increased acceptance rates from 62% to 66% (12). In South Africa a food voucher worth US\$ 5 for households increased the probability of HIV testing consent during home visits by 29% (13).

Assisting people diagnosed with HIV to inform their sexual partners of the result may also increase the uptake and yield of HIV testing services. "Assisted partner services" used within a randomized control trial in Kenya led to a four-fold increase in the rates of testing of the sexual partners of people living with HIV, and a similar increase in the number of people testing positive and enrolling into HIV care (14). A partner-referral study in the United Republic of Tanzania enrolled 390 index clients who were diagnosed with HIV through self-initiated and provider-initiated voluntary testing services. Of the 438 sexual partners identified by the index clients, 238 were tested for HIV following referral from either the index client or a health-care provider, and 147 tested positive for HIV (15).

#### **Community-led services**

In 2015, the LINKAGES project, funded by the United States Agency for International Development, introduced a number of innovative approaches to their traditional, group-based "hot-spot" outreach model in order to improve HIV testing, care and treatment services for gay men, other men who have sex with men and transgender women in four high-prevalence provinces of Thailand.

Using an enhanced outreach model, community-based supporters conduct structured outreach focused on individual risk assessments. Clients are registered, offered monetary incentives to act as peer mobilizers and asked to recruit and refer their friends and sexual partners for rapid HIV testing at community-led drop-in HIV service delivery centres. People who test positive are provided with point-of-care CD4 testing and referred for immediate treatment initiation, with ongoing support and follow-up by community-based supporters and case managers. People who test negative but are at high risk of infection can access free pre-exposure prophylaxis, and they are contacted regularly for repeat HIV testing.

The enhanced model also includes a mobile data-collection platform, eCascade, which links outreach activities to community-based HIV testing to clinic-based

antiretroviral therapy via a smartphone application and a cloud-based database. This platform enables implementing partners to track referrals across services in real time, respond to client drop-out, adapt outreach approaches to target efforts where they are needed, and follow-up with clients via SMS messaging.

Programme data from the first nine months of implementation in the city of Chiang Mai–between July 2015 and March 2016–indicated that the enhanced model can lead to significantly higher rates of HIV testing uptake (77%) compared with traditional group-based outreach (31%), although overall numbers of people reached was lower.

The data also showed that a relatively small number of motivated peer mobilizers can contribute significantly to project reach and improved health outcomes: 115 peer motivators successfully recruited 608 new clients. Clients reached via this method were more likely to receive an HIV test (94%) than those reached with traditional "hot-spot" recruitment (54%). In addition, among clients who tested positive for HIV, those reached via social network recruitment were more likely to initiate antiretroviral therapy (77% compared with 38%).

### Comparison of models to reach gay men and other men who have sex with men and transgender women with HIV testing, Chiang Mai, Thailand, July 2015–March 2016



Source: LINKAGES Thailand, 2016.

### HIV testing and treatment initiation by outreach model type, all sites, Thailand, July 2015–March 2016



Source: LINKAGES Thailand, 2016.

# Adoption of World Health Organization treatment guidelines

Earlier initiation of treatment could be made through wider adoption of World Health Organization (WHO) treatment guidelines that call for the immediate offer of antiretroviral therapy following diagnosis. Of the 148 countries with information about national treatment policies or plans, approximately one-quarter have already adopted a "treatment for all" approach and 44 countries plan to do so by the end of 2016. Of the remaining countries, 11 continue to limit treatment to people living with HIV who have a CD4 count of 350 cells/mm3 or lower.

## Increased access to and use of routine viral load testing

The goal of antiretroviral therapy is viral suppression—a viral load that is so low that it cannot be detected by viral load tests. A person living with HIV who is virally suppressed is not only less prone to HIV-related illness but also much less likely to transmit the virus.

Periodic viral load tests are the most accurate way of determining whether antiretroviral therapy is working to suppress replication of the virus. A low viral load in a person on treatment indicates that treatment is effective; a high viral load indicates either that the medication is not being taken properly or that the virus is becoming resistant to the medication. Regular viral load testing helps health-care workers to identify these challenges early and to intervene to provide adherence support in the first instance, potentially delaying the need to switch people to more costly second- and third-line medicines. Continued high viral loads despite this support may indicate the need to change medication. Viral load testing is far more sensitive than CD4 tests and therefore more likely to detect treatment failure early. As a result, people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy with routine viral load monitoring have better health outcomes than people monitored with CD4 testing alone, including lower rates of loss to follow-up and death and may be more motivated to stay in care and adhere to treatment. In 2013 WHO recommended viral load testing as the preferred monitoring tool for diagnosing and confirming antiretroviral therapy failure, and early infant diagnosis with a viral load test four to six weeks after birth for infants born to mothers living with HIV.

Unfortunately, the cost and complexity of currently available technologies limit the availability of viral load testing in resource-poor settings. In 2015 the national guidelines of 47 out of 54 low- and middle-income countries recommended routine viral load monitoring for people on treatment. In reality, however, viral load testing was available only in Cameroon, Kenya, Malawi, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Thailand and Uganda (16). South Africa discontinued routine CD4 monitoring for people living with HIV who are virally suppressed in 2013, with anticipated savings of US\$ 68 million by 2017 (17).

Viral load testing systems are rapidly becoming cheaper, more robust and simpler to use. The UNAIDS Diagnostic Initiative has an agreement with Roche Pharmaceuticals to establish a price ceiling for viral load tests in 83 low- and middle-income countries (18), while in 2015 the Global Fund announced framework agreements with seven manufacturers that were expected to lower all-inclusive prices for viral load tests (19). Point-of-care viral load testing technologies and increases in volume are expected to lower costs further (20). The widespread implementation of routine viral load testing may result in overall cost savings for HIV programmes because people may be able to stay on first-line therapy longer (21).

Greater political will and funding are needed to scale up capacity in low- and middleincome countries, and civil society has a major role to play in advocacy—for the scaleup of viral load testing, affordable testing systems, and research and development.

## Enabling prevention through human rights programmes

Stigmatizing attitudes and behaviours on the part of health workers have been widely documented and found to constitute an important barrier to seeking, using and adhering to HIV prevention services and treatment, as well as disclosure of HIV status (22). A programme designed specifically to address prejudice among health workers toward gay men and other men who have sex with men in Kenya has shown that a number of participants felt the training helped them to normalize their interactions with gay men and other men who have sex with men or "compartmentalize" their fears and prejudices to provide good care to this population; they also felt that other health workers needed similar training to overcome denial and prejudice (23). An additional assessment undertaken two years later showed that some participants felt the training helped them greatly in their work, and they said that similar training should be provided to all health workers, police, religious leaders and others in the community (24).

Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) is the latest addition to efforts to expand combination prevention options for people at high risk of HIV infection. The number and scope of PrEP activities is increasing globally, while the scale and coverage outside the United States of America remain limited. In June 2016 an estimated 60 000 people were enrolled on PrEP, the majority of whom were in the United States. A significant but unquantifiable number of people are accessing PrEP through less regulated means, for example via the internet. The rapid establishment of government-regulated programmes will improve the monitoring and evaluation of PrEP's use and its impact on the epidemic. Considerable additional effort will be needed to attain the new global target of reaching three million people at substantial risk of HIV infection with PrEP by 2020.

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- PrEP is just getting off the ground: progress towards the 2020 PrEP target stands at 2%.
- Availability and awareness is limited.
- Regulatory approval is limited to seven countries.
- PrEP provision should be sensitive to the context of the populations at risk including stigmatization, criminalization and intimate partner violence.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Regulatory approval in all countries with optimal use of TRIPS flexibilities and price negotiation to improve access.
- National guidelines and roll-out of national programmes.
- Awareness-raising among populations at higher risk of HIV
- Advocacy for PrEP in collaboration with the priority populations and sensitive to their legislative environment and health seeking options.
- Integration of PrEP provision to strengthen combination prevention programmes.

#### COUNTRIES THAT HAVE DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS OR HAVE APPROVED **TENOFOVIR DISOPROXYL FUMARATE/EMTRICITABINE FOR PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS, AS OF JUNE 2016**



Regulatory approval of PrEP\*

Ongoing and planned demonstration projects\*\*

Completed demonstration projects

\*These countries also have completed, ongoing and/or planned demonstration projects. \*\* These projects investigate different aspects of PrEP provision and impact including acceptability, safety, adherence, effect, appropriate service delivery, integration in combination preven-tion services, costing and associated behavioural aspects. Their aim is to increase access to PrEP for those people who could benefit most from it, especially in situations of stigma, marginal-ization and criminalization.

Sources: AVAC, Ongoing and Planned PrEP Open Label, Demonstration and Implementation Projects, as of June 2016 (http://www.avac.org/sites/default/files/resource-files/PrEP\_Trials\_Dem-Sources: AVAC, Ongoing and Planned Prane Preper Debel, Demonstration and implementation Projects, as of June 2016 (http://www.avac.org/sites/default/hies/resource-hies/Prep\_Intais\_Dem-onstration\_Projects\_June\_2016,pdf); http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm312210.htm; Registrar of Medicines, Medicines Control Council, Department of Health, Republic of South Africa. Press release: Medicines Control Council approves fixed-dose combination of tenofovir disoproxyl fumarate and emtricitabine for pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV. 3 December 2015; http://ansm.sante.fr/S-informer/Points-d-information-Points-d-information/L-ANSM-etablit-la-RTU-de-Truvada-dans-la-prophylaxie-pre-exposition-au-VIIH-Point-d-infor-mation; http://www.mccza.com/documents/2e4b3a5310.11\_Media\_release\_ARV\_FDC\_PrEP\_Nov15\_v1.pdf; http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/prodpharma/rds-sdr/drug-med/rds-sdr-truvada-187173-eng.php; https://www.avert.org/news/peru-latest-country-approve-prep; VACC. South Africa and Kenya Approval of Oral PrEP Should Spur Rollout. 17 December 2015 (http://www. avac.org/blog/south-africa-and-kenya-approval-oral-prep); Australian Government Therapeutics Goods Administration, Prescription medicines: new or extended uses, or new combinations of registered medicines, 7 July 2016( https://www.tga.gov.au/prescription-medicines-new-or-extended-uses-registered-medicines)

### Cumulative number of completed, ongoing and planned PrEP open-label, demonstration and implementation projects, 2011–2016



Source: AVAC, Ongoing and Planned PrEP Open Label, Demonstration and Implementation Projects, as of June 2016 (http://www.avac.org/sites/default/files/resource-files/PrEP\_Trials\_ Demonstration\_Projects\_June\_2016.pdf).

PrEP empowers individuals with limited personal prevention options to discreetly take control of their own HIV risk. Randomized control trials have confirmed the efficacy of daily oral PrEP. Demonstration projects, offering PrEP as a choice through user-friendly services, have shown its potential value in diverse settings, as well as strong demand and adherence among people at high risk of HIV infection, including HIV-negative partners within serodiscordant couples, gay men and other men who have sex with men, and some young women and female sex workers.

Based on the evidence, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends effering the use of daily oral PrEP containing tenofovir disoproxil fumarate as an additional prevention choice for all population groups at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of a combination HIV prevention programme. Priority populations for PrEP rollout should be people at substantial risk of HIV infection, broadly identified as populations with an HIV incidence of about 3 per 100 person-years or higher (1).

The United States approved the use of PrEP in 2012 and clinical guidelines were issued in 2014 (2). France began offering PrEP within its national health-care system in January 2016, following the issue of a temporary recommendation for use in November 2015 (3). By mid-2016, 60 clinics were offering the service in France and 437 people had started taking PrEP through the public health system (4). In December 2015 South Africa became the first country in sub-Saharan Africa to issue full regulatory approval of PrEP (5) and to include PrEP in the national HIV programme followed swiftly by Kenya (6). Regulatory authorities in Australia, Canada and Peru have also approved PrEP. At least 26 countries have planned or ongoing demonstration projects for PrEP (7), and in some countries

<sup>1</sup> The use of a medicine for a purpose other than what is indicated on its label—in this case, the use of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate-based pills labelled for antiretroviral therapy for PrEP." Please see the original text sent for layout.

"off-label use"<sup>1</sup> is facilitated by the health system or individual health-care providers.

#### Key evidence on PrEP

- Randomized controlled trials of the effectiveness of oral PrEP have been conducted among serodiscordant couples, heterosexual men, women, gay men and other men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs and transgender women (1).
- PrEP works—when taken. The level of protection was strongly correlated with adherence (1).
- PrEP has a very good safety profile. Rates of any adverse events did not differ between PrEP and a placebo (1).
- Risk of drug resistance is low when given to people not infected with HIV, occurring in approximately 1 in 1000 people using PrEP in clinical trials (1).
- No evidence for risk compensation in sexual practices, such as decreased condom use or more sexual partners, has emerged in any PrEP studies or programmes (1).
- PrEP can be used with hormonal contraception. Recommended PrEP regimens do not appear to alter the effectiveness of hormonal contraception (1).
- PrEP can be used during pregnancy. No increase occurred in adverse pregnancy-related events among women taking PrEP in early pregnancy (1).
- PrEP is acceptable when provided as a choice that is sensitive to the context of the population at risk of HIV. Various populations report that they find PrEP acceptable, and individuals have shown substantial interest in PrEP as an additional choice for HIV prevention (1).
- Adherence can be maintained. Demonstration projects and experience in everyday settings are proving that people can adhere to daily oral PrEP (1).
- Early efforts to monitor the scale-up of PrEP have been through tracking new prescriptions that have been filled and patient numbers reported by demonstration projects. Drug manufacturers have registered a total of 50 000 new PrEP starts in the United States from 2012 to the end of 2015 (11). Along with the demonstration projects being conducted around the world, the total global number of people registered on PrEP is estimated at 60 000, with the majority in the United States. Additional private off-label prescribing and other less regulated means, such as internet purchasing, obscure a significant but unquantifiable proportion of PrEP use. The establishment of additional government-regulated programmes will improve the monitoring and evaluation of the use of PrEP and its impact on the epidemic.

PrEP delivery is best integrated within combination HIV prevention services, including a comprehensive and non-stigmatising assessment of the risk of HIV acquisition, regular and quality-assured HIV testing, and tailored HIV prevention choices. Ensuring the full participation of communities is critical to developing

and implementing services, including the monitoring of adherence. Advocacy and awareness-raising for PrEP must be in collaboration with priority populations and must be sensitive to structural barriers and stigma and discrimination within their environment.

Different population groups require different types of PrEP service provision and adherence support. Several innovations in PrEP are being explored, including intermittent use—taking PrEP before and after sexual activity (8) and the use of a vaginal ring that slowly releases the antiretroviral dapivirine (9). Other PrEP formulations including long-acting injections and topical gels are under active research. (10).

The cost of PrEP is an important concern, even in high-income countries. A survey of 31 western and eastern European countries conducted by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control found that 21 countries considered the cost of PrEP drugs a highly important limiting factor; the second most important limiting factor was the cost of service delivery (4). Currently, 112 low- and middle-income countries can access generic TDF/FTC through voluntary licensing agreements that allow the marketing and purchase of the generic product. Approval of the use of antiretroviral medication as prevention is required at country level, possibly through sharing of approval data from stringent regulatory authorities. In the short term an off-label clinical approval could also be considered. The use of other PrEP regimens containing generic TDF, including the more widely available TDF/3TC and TDF alone, is currently under consideration. PrEP is expected to be cost-effective where the incidence of HIV is greater than 3 per 100 person-years and perhaps also at lower incidences (1). Ultimately the cost-effectiveness of PrEP will be determined by the cost of PrEP medication, how efficiently it can be delivered to the people in greatest need, and its impact.

Behaviour change communication and demand generation form a basic component of combination prevention. They are an inclusive way of addressing the cultural contexts within which risk behaviours occur, and of stimulating uptake of HIV prevention services. These programmes entail a range of activities, from individual counselling to community awareness-raising to communications through mass media. They also feature intensive approaches involving a combination of activities to address multiple outcomes, including knowledge, risk perception, norms, skills, sexual behaviours and HIV service demand.

Multi-media, school-based and broader community mobilization activities complement the delivery of HIV services such as condom distribution, voluntary medical male circumcision, HIV testing and PrEP. As new biomedical tools are rolled out, effective social-behavioural and structural programmes help maximize their efficacy, for example by mitigating the potential emergence of risk compensation.

#### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- Most young people lack the knowledge required to protect themselves from HIV.
- There has been little progress on partner reduction in sub-Saharan Africa.
- Investments in programmes that promote abstinence and faithfulness are not cost effective.
- Systematic implementation of behaviour and social change communication and demand generation has not taken place.

#### WAY FORWARD

- Ensure that the design and implementation of behaviour change programmes are based on solid evidence of what works.
- Widely disseminate objective, comprehensive information on sexuality, including through comprehensive sexuality education.
- Leverage the global revolution in information and communications technology to improve behaviour change communications and link people at risk of HIV infection to services.
## CORRECT AND COMPREHENSIVE KNOWLEDGE ABOUT HIV AMONG YOUNG PEOPLE (AGED 15–24 YEARS), SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA, 2000–2008 COMPARED TO 2009–2015



Source: Population-based surveys, 2000-2015.

## Struggles to improve knowledge, risk perception and partner reduction

The latest available data show that most young people lack the knowledge required to protect themselves from HIV. In sub-Saharan Africa, survey data from 35 countries show that only 36% of young men and 30% of young women correctly identified ways of preventing the sexual transmission of HIV and rejected major misconceptions about HIV transmission (1). In 23 countries outside of sub-Saharan Africa, just 13.8% of young men and 13.6% of young women had correct and comprehensive knowledge about HIV (1).

Analysis of comparable surveys conducted in sub-Saharan Africa from 2000 to 2008 and from 2009 to 2015 show that rates of correct and comprehensive knowledge increased by 6.8 percentage points among young men and by 4.4 percentage points among young women. Knowledge of new interventions such as PrEP and voluntary medical male circumcision is not included in the above analysis, and may be lower (1).

There are also considerable gaps in comprehensive basic knowledge among adolescent girls and young women (2). Knowledge on specific risk factors such as transmission in sexual networks, risk of age-disparate sex and anal sex, newer biomedical prevention methods such PrEP or links between HIV and genderbased violence is also likely to be low. Furthermore, there are gaps in personal risk perception. In one survey, a significant proportion of young adults living with HIV who did not yet know their HIV status, said they did not perceive themselves at high risk of HIV (3). Similarly, young women at high risk of HIV participating in a clinical trial for PrEP did not take the medication regularly due to low risk perception (4). Conversely, perception of HIV risk has been shown to be associated with higher use of PrEP among young women at high risk of HIV (4), as well as two to five times higher use of condoms among adolescents aged 12–19 (5).

There has been no significant change in the number of sexual partners reported at the aggregate level in sub-Saharan Africa, suggesting that behaviour change communication programmes aiming at this particular outcome have largely failed. Population-based surveys show that the proportion of adults (aged 15–49 years) with multiple sexual partners in the 12 months prior to the survey has declined slightly among women and increased slightly among men. As with other aspects of combination prevention, aggregate data on partner reduction may not do full justice however, and a more granular analysis informing local responses may be required. Some countries, including prominently South Africa, have retained social and behaviour change communication within their national strategies to promote such changes.

Programmes that promote abstinence and faithfulness have not achieved population-level reductions in numbers of sexual partners reported in the last year, age at sexual debut and teen-age pregnancy (6). The results suggest that alternative funding priorities for HIV prevention—including the promotion of condom use, voluntary medical male circumcision and treatment, combined with structural approaches—may yield greater health benefits.

## Reinvigorating behaviour and social change communication

Although behaviour change communication programmes are difficult to evaluate, a range of evidence suggests that they can make a significant contribution to other prevention approaches if they are designed and implemented well. Early declines in HIV incidence in sub-Saharan Africa were associated with changes in behaviour. In Uganda in the early 1990s and in Zimbabwe in the late 1990s, incidence decline occurred before the emergence of effective biomedical prevention tools, at times when people started to intensively speak about HIV in their social networks and large increases in interpersonal communication about HIV were recorded (7, 8). A meta analysis demonstrated the effectiveness of social and behaviour change programmes in increasing condom use and other HIV-related outcomes (9). Large-scale multi-channel programmes that achieved high coverage and measurable effects on attitudes, condom use and uptake of HIV testing services included the LoveLife multi-media campaign in South Africa (10), Zimbabwe's national behaviour change programme and the multi-country One Love campaign in southern Africa (11, 12).

Intensive inter-personal communication approaches have also been shown to be effective. The SHARE<sup>1</sup> project in Rakai, Uganda, achieved reductions in HIV incidence and intimate partner violence and increases in disclosure of HIV status through the addition of a community-level mobilization intervention to change attitudes, social norms and behaviours related to intimate partner violence, and a screening and brief intervention to promote safe HIV disclosure and risk reduction in women seeking HIV counselling and testing services (13). The SASA! programme in Kampala, Uganda, combined community mobilization on HIV and intimate partner violence prevention, which reduced sexual concurrency reported by men by over 40% and changed norms around intimate partner violence (14). It has also been shown that school-based sex education is an effective strategy for reducing HIV-related risk. Students who received school-based sex education interventions had significantly greater HIV knowledge and condom use, fewer sexual partners and delayed sexual debut (15).

Despite the evidence, systematic implementation of behaviour and social change communication and demand generation has not taken place. On the contrary, there has been a worrying pattern of deprioritization and discontinuation of these programmes in recent years. However, the evidence from initiatives like SHARE, SASA! and Stepping Stones has rekindled interest in these programmes, with critical elements being incorporated into new, large-scale programmes, such as DREAMS<sup>2</sup>, which provides HIV services to young women and girls and addresses structural drivers that increase their HIV risk, including poverty, gender inequality, sexual violence and a lack of education, in 10 countries of eastern and southern Africa<sup>3</sup>.

### Comprehensive sexuality education

The objective of comprehensive sexuality education is to ensure that young people receive comprehensive, life skills-based sexuality education, and that they gain the knowledge and skills to make conscious, healthy and respectful choices about relationships and sexuality. Comprehensive sexuality education can therefore be considered a specific form of social and behaviour change communication programme involving young people in the school setting. It is firmly grounded in human rights, including the rights of the child and the empowerment of children and young people (*16*). There is clear evidence that comprehensive sexuality education can facilitate the adoption of safer sexual behaviours, such as delayed sexual debut and increased condom use, and thereby contribute to reducing sexually transmitted infections, HIV transmission and unintended pregnancy (*15*, *17–19*). In addition, comprehensive sexuality education programmes that have an explicit focus on gender rights and gender power dynamics have been shown to be more effective than those that do not (*20*).

When governments do not provide comprehensive sexuality education, they limit the chances that young people have to acquire quality information and skills that could help them make informed decisions about their health and sexuality.

<sup>2</sup>Determined, Resilient, Empowered, AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe women

<sup>3</sup>Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, South Africa, Swaziland, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Safe Homes and Respect for Everyone

Some political and religious groups continue to oppose comprehensive sexuality education, and it has historically faced resistance from some governments in global decision-making forums. By 2015, however, many countries had embraced the concept of comprehensive sexuality education and were engaged in strengthening its implementation at the national level (16, 21). In 2015, UNAIDS and the African Union included comprehensive, age-appropriate sexuality education as one of five key recommendations to Fast-Track the HIV response and end the AIDS epidemic among young women and girls across Africa (22). Meanwhile, many countries in Asia and the Pacific, West Africa and Europe were revising their policies and approaches to scale up sexuality education (16). Despite this, a major gap remains between global and regional policies and the actual implementation of comprehensive sexuality education on the ground. Comprehensive sexuality education is also only effective if it allows increased knowledge, self-esteem and skills of sexually active young people to translate into access to HIV and sexual and reproductive health services.

### New media

The global revolution in information and communications technology, which has dramatically altered the ways in which people network, interact, communicate and share information, offers new opportunities to expand and reinvigorate social-behavioural and prevention demand creation programming. While standalone media approaches are unlikely to yield the desired results, the leveraging of new information tools, such as the integration of mobile telecommunications within health programmes, has been shown to improve service delivery.

The steady scale up and improvement of services to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV has reduced the annual number of new infections among children globally by 56% since 2010 and by 70% since 2000. Since 1995, an estimated 1.6 million new HIV infections among children have been averted due to the provision of antiretroviral medicines to women living with HIV during pregnancy or breastfeeding. The vast majority of these infections (1.3 million) were averted between 2010 and 2015.

### **PREVENTION GAPS**

- The number of new infections among women of reproductive age (aged 15 to 49 years) has not declined over the past five years.
- A widespread unmet need for family planning exists in many countries.
- Over 300 000 women did not receive antiretroviral medicines to prevent motherto-child transmission in 2015.
- Treatment drop-out rates among women who are pregnant and breastfeeding remain high, leading to increased risk of transmission to their children.

### WAY FORWARD

- Focus combination HIV prevention initiatives on women and girls in highprevalence settings, including primary prevention among young women and identification and treatment for serodiscordant couples.
- Help women living with HIV avoid unintended pregnancies by ensuring they have access to sexual and reproductive health services, including contraception.
- Scale up programmes and initiatives that support and advocate for male and intimate partner engagement in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission.
- Strengthen community engagement, community service-delivery models and community support as well as rights-based approaches to prevention of mother to child transmission.
- Scale up the provision of early diagnosis, treatment and care for infants and children.

### NATIONALLY RECOMMENDED ANTIRETROVIRAL REGIMEN FOR PREVENTING MOTHER-TO-CHILD TRANSMISSION OF HIV, MID-2016



Source: World Health Organization, 2016.

New HIV infections among children (aged 0–14 years) with and without the provision of antiretroviral medicines to prevent mother-to-child transmission, global, 1995–2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

The world has committed to establishing an AIDS-free generation. This commitment follows unprecedented achievements driven by the *Global Plan towards the elimination of new HIV infections among children by 2015 and keeping their mothers alive* (the Global Plan)<sup>1</sup>. The dramatic declines in new child infections and AIDS-related deaths over the past five years were primarily due to the wide-spread expansion of antiretroviral medicines for mothers living with HIV, both during and after their pregnancies. The provision of these services has averted 1.6 million HIV infections among children since 2000. As of June 2016, four countries have been certified by the World Health Organization to have eliminated mother to child transmission: Armenia, Belarus, Cuba, and Thailand.

Less progress, however, was made in other areas. There has been little change in the rate of new HIV infections among women, and there is still a widespread unmet need for family planning in many countries (1). Globally, new infections among young women aged 15 to 24 years decreased by 6% between 2010 and 2015, and by 2% among women of reproductive ages (15 to 49 years). There were an additional 5.2 million women of reproductive age newly infected between 2010 and 2015, including 1.2 million in South Africa. The burgeoning cohort of adolescents about to commence their reproductive careers means that these numbers are likely to continue growing unless intensive primary prevention efforts succeed. As a result, the substantial need for services for preventing mother-to-child transmission among women of reproductive age will continue for the foreseeable future.

## Percent of women receiving antiretroviral medicines to prevent vertical transmission, by region, 2010–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting and UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

<sup>1</sup> For more information, see the final progress report of the Global Plan—On the Fast-Track to an AIDS-free generation—on the UNAIDS website (www.unaids.org).

## Rapid increase in services to prevent mother-to-child transmission

The use of antiretroviral medicines during pregnancy and breastfeeding prevents onward transmission of HIV. In eastern and southern Africa, seven countries had greater than 90% coverage of services to prevent mother-to-child transmission, including South Africa, which is home to 25% of the region's pregnant women living with HIV. Considerable gaps in coverage remained across the world, however, especially in western and central Africa, Asia and the Pacific, and the Middle East and North Africa. An estimated 45% of new HIV infections among children in 2015 occurred in western and central Africa: the 31% reduction in new child HIV infections in western and central Africa between 2010 and 2015 was considerably lower than the 66% reduction in eastern and southern Africa.

The situation was particularly challenging in Nigeria, which in 2015 had the second largest HIV epidemic in the world. Nigeria had the greatest number of new HIV infections among children in the world—an estimated 41 000 [28 000–57 000] — roughly equivalent to the next eight countries combined. There has only been a 21% decline in new paediatric HIV infections in Nigeria since 2009, compared to the 60% average among the other Global Plan priority countries (1).

## Remaining Countries Nigeria India Zambia Malawi Zimbabwe Indonesia South Africa

### Distribution of new HIV infections among children (aged 0-14 years) by country, 2015



### Mother-to-child trasmission rate by region, 2010 and 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

## Threefold decrease in mother-to-child transmission rate

As a result of increased coverage and improved regimens, rates of HIV transmission from mothers to infants during pregnancy and breastfeeding have decreased around the world. The largest decline was in eastern and southern Africa, where it fell from 18% of infants born to mothers living with HIV in 2010 to 6% in 2015—a threefold decrease. The region that showed the least amount of progress was the Middle East and North Africa, where nearly one third of women living with HIV pass the virus on to their children. The mother-to-child transmission rates in Asia and the Pacific and western and central Africa also were well above the global average of 10%.



## Antiretroviral medicine regimen used in preventing mother-to-child transmission, global, 2010–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting and UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

## Transition to immediate and lifelong treatment

One reason for the impressive declines in HIV transmission rates was the improvement in prophylaxis regimens over the past five years. In 2010, the majority of pregnant women were provided with antiretroviral medicines that had limited effectiveness and were used solely to prevent onward transmission to the child. Scientific advancements and operational experience have shown that immediate and lifelong antiretroviral therapy for pregnant women diagnosed with HIV is more effective than on-again, off-again approaches. In 2015, the WHO recommended that all pregnant women be provided with Option B+, which involves immediate offer of lifelong antiretroviral therapy—going beyond pregnancy, delivery and breastfeeding—regardless of CD4 count. In 2015, the global roll-out of Option B+ improved suppression of viral loads during both the breastfeeding period and afterwards, making future pregnancies safer. By 2015, 91% of the 1.1 million women receiving antiretroviral therapy.

## Family planning

Some gains also were made in the efforts to prevent unintended pregnancies in countries with large numbers of paediatric HIV infections. Between the periods of 2000–2004 and 2010–2014, unmet needs for family planning among married women declined by more than 10 percentage points in Ethiopia, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi and Rwanda. Among the countries with available data in sub-Saharan Africa, Zimbabwe had the lowest unmet need for family planning among married women (10%) (2). There is, however, still a lack of information about the use of contraception among many women in sub-Saharan Africa, specifically at the national level for women living with HIV. Some earlier studies have suggested that women living with HIV may be more motivated to use contraception and therefore have different unmet needs than other women, but there is still a knowledge gap in this area (3).

### Trends in unmet need for family planning among married women, select countries, 2000–2015



2000–2004 2005–2009 2010–2015

Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2000–2015.

### Community engagement and support

A major contributor to the successful increase in treatment coverage for pregnant women living with HIV was the involvement of communities. Entry and retention in care were improved through community engagement and support, and through community service-delivery models. Networks and support groups of women living with HIV were particularly valuable in boosting outreach activities and service delivery, providing counselling, supporting treatment adherence, educating women about their reproductive rights, encouraging them to seek care and HIV testing, and providing psychosocial support to women coming to terms with a new diagnosis of HIV.

In many countries, community health workers were trained and enlisted in providing basic services, strengthening referral systems and supporting mothers and their families. At the end of 2015, more than half the countries in sub-Saharan Africa used community health workers to provide and support key HIV services, including antiretroviral therapy provision and the prevention of mother-to-child transmission (1). New methods of community engagement were implemented to bring services to remote communities, mobilize opinion leaders and deliver decentralized health care.

Community organizations were most effective when they received adequate support from the formal health system and when their capabilities and expertise were recognized. It will be important to ensure continued support for them going forward.

### Involving men

Engaging male partners and fathers as parents who also desire healthy children and healthy families is vital to continued success. Successfully engaging men in testing and treatment to prevent HIV transmission reduces the number of new infections in women, and the greater engagement of men would improve results at every step of the cascade for elimination.

Men need to be involved in family planning, with reproductive health positioned as the domain of both sexes, and more emphasis should be placed on promoting and facilitating couples testing. When men test positive for HIV, partner testing also is needed to identify HIV-negative women in serodiscordant relationships, and to diagnose women living with HIV and initiate treatment as soon as possible.

## Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free

The Start Free, Stay Free, AIDS Free initiative, which was launched in 2016 and is led by UNAIDS and PEPFAR, aims to build on the progress achieved under the Global Plan through a super Fast-Track approach to the scale up of HIV prevention, treatment, care and support services for children, adolescents and young women (4). The initiative aims to elevate and amplify efforts that are already accelerating progress, including the DREAMS Partnership, the Accelerating Children's HIV/AIDS Treatment (ACT) Initiative and ALL-IN.

The initiative has three parts.

- Start Free aims to complete the job started by the Global Plan by reaching and sustaining 95% of pregnant women living with HIV with lifelong HIV treatment by 2018, and by reducing the number of newly infected children to fewer than 40 000 by 2018 and 20 000 by 2020.
- Stay Free has the objective of ensuring that children with an HIV-free start stay HIV-free throughout their childhood. It will do this by intensifying the focus on reaching and empowering adolescent girls and young women and engaging men and boys. Stay Free includes the targets of the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS to reduce the number of new HIV infections among adolescents and young women to fewer than 100 000 by 2020. It also seeks to provide voluntary medical male circumcision for HIV prevention to 25 million additional men globally by 2020, including 11 million men in the geographic areas of highest HIV burden (with a focus on young men aged 15 to 29 years).
- Finally, AIDS Free targets the children and adolescents living with HIV who often are left behind by HIV responses. The initiative aims to provide 1.6 million children (aged 0 to 14 years) and 1.2 million adolescents (aged 15 to 19 years) living with HIV with antiretroviral therapy by 2018.

#### Structural change

- Medley A et al. Fear of IPV has been identified as an important barrier to uptake of HIV testing and counselling, disclosure of HIV-positive status and treatment uptake and adherence, including among pregnant women living with HIV receiving prophylaxis to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2004;82(4).
- Durevall D, Lindskog A. Intimate partner violence and HIV in ten sub-Saharan African countries: what do the Demographic and Health Surveys tell us? Lancet Global Health. 2015;3(1):e34–43. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70343-2. Epub 2014 Nov 21.
- 3. WHO, LSHTM, SAMRC. Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. Geneva: WHO; 2013.
- 4. Roberts ST et al. Intimate partner violence and adherence to HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) in African women in HIV serodiscordant relationships: a prospective cohort study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016 May 26. [Epub ahead of print].
- 5. Population-based surveys 2010-2014.
- Child marriage. In: UNICEF data: monitoring the situation of children and women [website]. UNICEF; June 2016 (http://data.unicef.org/child-protection/child-marriage html, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 7. UNFPA state of the world population 2013. Motherhood in childhood: facing the challenges of adolescent pregnancy. New York: UNFPA; 2013.
- DeNeve JW et al. Length of secondary schooling and risk of HIV infection in Botswana: evidence from a natural experiment. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3(8):e470– 77. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00087-X (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/26134875, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 9. García-Moreno C et al. Addressing violence against women: a call to action. Lancet. 2015;385:1685–95.
- 10. Heise LL et al. Cross-national and multilevel correlates of partner violence: an analysis of data from population-based surveys. Lancet Glob Health. 2015;3:e332–40.
- Goal: promote gender equality and empower women. In: UNICEF—Millennium Development Goals [website]. New York: UNICEF (http://www.unicef.org/mdg/index\_ genderequality.htm, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Taaffe J, Cheikh N, Wilson D. (2016). The use of cash transfers for HIV prevention are we there yet? AJAR-AFRICAN JOURNAL OF AIDS RESEARCH, 15(1), 17-25. doi:10.298 9/16085906.2015.1135296.
- Cluver L, Orkin MF, Yakubovich AR, Sherr L. Combination social protection for reducing HIV-risk behavior amongst adolescents in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2016.
- 14. Sexual health, human rights and the law. Geneva: WHO; 2015 (http://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/10665/175556/1/9789241564984\_eng.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 15. Jürgens R, Csete J, Amon JJ et al. People who use drugs, HIV, and human rights. Lancet. 2010;376(9739):475-85.
- 16. Strathdee SA, Beletsky L, Kerr T. HIV, drugs and the legal environment. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2015;26 Suppl 1:S27–32.
- 17. Decker MR, Crago AL, Chu SK et al. Human rights violations against sex workers: burden and effect on HIV. Lancet. 2015;385(9963):186–99.
- Criminalizing condoms. Open Society Foundations (https://www. opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/criminalizing-condoms-20120717.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Gurnani V, Beattie TS, Bhattacharjee P, Mohan HL, Maddur S, Washington R et al. An integrated structural intervention to reduce vulnerability to HIV and sexually transmitted infections among female sex workers in Karnataka state, south India. BMC Public Health. 2011;11:755.
- ILGA. State-sponsored homophobia—a world survey of sexual orientation laws: criminalization, protection and recognition. 11th Edition. Geneva: ILGA; 2016 (http://ilga.org/downloads/02\_ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2016\_ENG\_ WEB\_150516.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Map of sex work law. In: Sexuality, poverty and law programme [website]. UKAID and Institute of Development Studies (http://spl.ids.ac.uk/sexworklaw, accessed 6 July 2016). The 2006 figures are taken from the video found at http://ilga.org/what-we-do/ state-sponsored-homophobia-report/previous-editions/.

- Comparative research data on 190 countries worldwide. In: Transrespect versus transphobia worldwide [website]. TGEU and Carsten Balzer; 2016 (http://transrespect. org/, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Advancing HIV justice 2: building momentum in global advocacy against HIV criminalisation. Brighton and Amsterdam; HIV Justice Network and GNP+; 2016.
- Global Commission on HIV and the Law, UNDP. Global Commission on HIV and the law: risks, rights and health. New York: UNDP; 2012 (http://www.hivlawcommission.org/ resources/report/FinalReport-Risks,Rights&Health-EN.pdf, accessed 24 June 2016).
- 25. HIV justice worldwide. In: www.hivjusticeworldwide.org [website] (http://www. hivjusticeworldwide.org, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 26. Lamontagne E, D'Elbee M, Loures L. Fighting against discrimination: a new measure for the homophobic climate at country level. 2016a (under review for publication).
- 27. Pachankis JE, Hatzenbuehler ML, Hickson F, Weatherburn P, Berg RC, Marcus U, et al. Hidden from health: structural stigma, sexual orientation concealment, and HIV across 38 countries in the European MSM Internet Survey. AIDS. 2015;29(10):1239-46.
- Badgett MVL, Nezhad, S, Waaldijk, K, van der Meulen Rodgers, Y. The Relationship between LGBT Inclusion and Economic Development: An Analysis of Emerging Economies. Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law; 2014.
- Ross MW, Berg RC, Schmidt AJ, Hospers HJ, Breveglieri M, Furegato M, et al. Internalised homonegativity predicts HIV-associated risk behavior in European men who have sex with men in a 38-country cross-sectional study: some public health implications of homophobia. BMJ Open. 2013b;3(2).
- Lamontagne E, D'Elbee M. The economic cost of homophobia: a model for all high-, middle- and low-income countries. 2016b (under review for publication).
- 31. Decker MR, Crago AL, Chu SK et al. Human rights violations against sex workers: burden and effect on HIV. Lancet. 2015;385(9963):186–99.
- Shannon K, Strathdee SA, Goldenberg SM, Duff P, Mwangi P, Rusakova M et al. Global epidemiology of HIV among female sex workers: influence of structural determinants. Lancet. 2015;385(9962):55–71.
- Bhattacharjya M, Fulu E, Murthy L, Seshu MS, Cabassi J, Vallejo-Mestres M. The right(s) evidence—sex work, violence and HIV in Asia: a multi-country qualitative study. Bangkok: UNFPA, UNDP, APNSW; 2015.
- Azim T, Bontell I, Strathdee SA. Women, drugs and HIV. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26(Suppl 1):S16–21.
- Braitstein P, Li K, Tyndall M, Spittal P, O'Shaughnessy MV, Schilder A et al. Sexual violence among a cohort of injection drug users. Soc Sci Med. 2003;57:561–9.
- Briefing paper on violence against women who use drugs and access to domestic violence shelters. Vilnius: Harm Reduction International; 2013 (http://www.ihra. net/files/2013/03/19/Briefing\_Paper\_-\_Access\_to\_Shelters\_-\_with\_correct\_ fonts\_07.03\_.13\_.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Aids Law Project v Attorney General & 3 others [2015] eKLR (http://kenyalaw.org/ caselaw/cases/view/107033/).
- Baral S, Holland CE, Shannon K et al. Enhancing benefits or increasing harms: community responses for HIV among men who have sex with men, transgender women, female sex workers, and people who inject drugs. JAIDS. 2014;66:S319–S28.
- Kerrigan D, Kennedy CE, Morgan-Thomas R et al. A community empowerment approach to the HIV response among sex workers: effectiveness, challenges, and considerations for implementation and scale-up. Lancet. 385(9963):172–85.
- Beletsky L, Thomas R, Shumskaya N, Artamonova I, Smelyanskaya M. Police education as a component of national HIV response: lessons from Kyrgyzstan. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 2013;132(Suppl 1):S48–52.

#### Condoms

- 1. Stover J. Avenir Health. The contribution of condoms to HIV prevention. Presentation made at Global Condom Steering Group meeting, 21–23 March 2016, Geneva.
- Newman et al. Global Estimates of the Prevalence and Incidence of Four Curable Sexually Transmitted Infections in 2012 Based on Systematic Review and Global Reporting. Plos One, 8 December, 2015.
- 3. UNFPA. Contraceptives and condoms for family planning and STI/HIV prevention. External procurement support reports 2007, 2010, 2012, 2014).
- 4. Hasen N. Population Service International. Condom Social Marketing. Presentation at the UNAIDS Global Prevention Focal Point meeting. May 2016, Geneva.
- 5. Individual country Global AIDS Response Progress Reports, 2016.

- 6. USAID. Technical Issue Brief: The female condom is safe and effective. 2015.
- 7. Individual country Global AIDS Response Progress Reports, 2016.
- Van Renterghem et al. Estimating condom needs and gaps for fast-tracking peoplecentred condom programming in sub—Saharan Africa. International AIDS Conference, July 2016. Session D73 Condom and lubricant availability, accessibility, distribution and social marketing.
- 9. Demographic and Health Survey data, 2000–2015, from statcompiler.com
- Atteraya MS, Kimm H, Song IH. Women's autonomy in negotiating safer sex to prevent HIV: findings from the 2011 Nepal Demographic and Health Survey. AIDS Educ Prev. 2014 Feb;26 (1):1–12.
- Low A, Nagot N, Konate I, Meda N, Segondy M, Van de Perre P, et al. Potential impact of existing interventions and of antiretroviral use in female sex workers on transmission of HIV in Burkina Faso: a modeling study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015 Mar 1;68 Suppl 2:S180–8.
- 12. Clement ME, Hicks CB. Syphilis on the Rise: What Went Wrong? JAMA. 2016;315(21):2281–2283
- Truong HM, Kellogg T, Klausner JD, Katz MH, Dilley J, Knapper K, et al. Increases in sexually transmitted infections and sexual risk behaviour without a concurrent increase in HIV incidence among men who have sex with men in San Francisco: a suggestion of HIV serosorting? Sex Transm Infect. 2006;82(6):461–6.
- Armstrong G, Medhi GK, Mahanta J, Paranjape RS, Kermode M. Undiagnosed HIV among people who inject drugs in Manipur, India. AIDS Care. 2015;27(3):288–92.
- Mishra RK, Ganju D, Ramesh S, Lalmuanpuii M, Biangtung L, Humtsoe C, et al. HIV risk behaviors of male injecting drug users and associated non-condom use with regular female sexual partners in north-east India. Harm Reduct J. 2014 Feb 13;11:5.
- Weissman A, Ngak S, Srean C, Sansothy N, Mills S, Ferradini L. HIV Prevalence and Risks Associated with HIV Infection among Transgender Individuals in Cambodia. 2016 http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0152906 Accessed on 1 July 2016
- 17. UNFPA. Comprehensive Condom Programming: A Key Tool for HIV Prevention. July 2010.
- 18. USAID. Technical Issue Brief: The Female Condom is Safe and Effective. 2015.

#### Voluntary medical male circumcision

- 1. Njeuhemeli E et al. Voluntary medical male circumcision: modeling the impact and cost of expanding male circumcision for HIV prevention in eastern and southern Africa. PLOS Med. 2011;8(11).
- 2. Private communication, UN and PEPFAR technical experts in the eastern and southern Africa region, June 2016.

#### Harm reduction

- Do no harm: health, human rights and people who use drugs. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016 (http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2016/do-no-harm).
- 2. Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- World drug report 2015. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2015 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/wdr2015/World\_Drug\_Report\_2015.pdf).
- 4. The global state of harm reduction 2014. London: Harm Reduction International; 2014.
- Harm reduction: evidence, impacts and challenges. Luxembourg: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction; 2010 (http://www.emcdda. europa.eu/system/files/publications/555/EMCDDA-monograph10-harm\_reduction\_ final\_205049.pdf).
- 6. Return on investment in needle and syringe programs in Australia: report. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing; 2002.
- Wilson D, Zhang L, Kerr C, Kwon A, Hoare A, Williams-Sherlock M, et al. The costeffectiveness of needle-syringe exchange programs in Eastern Europe and Central Asia: costing, data synthesis, modeling and economics for eight case study countries. Presented at the XIX International AIDS Conference, 22–27 July 2012, Washington, DC (http://pag.aids2012.org/Abstracts.aspx?AID=8215).
- 8. Kwon JA, Anderson J, Kerr CC, Thein HH, Zhang L, Iversen J, et al. Estimating the costeffectiveness of needle-syringe programs in Australia. AIDS. 2012;26:2201-2210.

- Comprehensive harm reduction reverses the trend in new HIV infections. New York: New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute; 2014 (https://www.health.ny.gov/ diseases/aids/providers/reports/docs/sep\_report.pdf).
- Wilson DP, Donald B, Shattock AJ, Wilson D, Fraser-Hurt N. The cost-effectiveness of harm reduction. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26:S5–S11.
- United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Community outbreak of HIV infection linked to injection drug use of oxymorphone—Indiana, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64;443–444.
- Solomon SS, Mehta SH, Srikrishnan AK, Laeyendecker O, Shanmugam S, McFall A et al. Community viral load and HIV incidence: a multi-city study of high-risk populations in India. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, Boston, MA, USA, 22–25 February 2016 (http://www.croiconference.org/sites/all/abstracts/994.pdf, accessed 6 April 2016).
- AF de Jesus, MP Calimag, MCA Gonzales, FI Rey. 2012. Unsafe Injecting Drug Use, a Growing Source of HIV Transmission in the Philippines: Implications to Policy. Manila.
- Mattick RP Breen C, Kimber J, Davoli M. Methadone maintenance therapy versus no opioid replacement therapy for opioid dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2003;(2):CD002209.
- Rankin J, Mattick RP. Review of the effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment and analysis of St Mary's Clinic, Sydney. Technical report no. 45. Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales; 1997.
- MacAthur GJ, Minozzi S, Martin N, Vickerman P, Deren S, Bruneau J, et al. Opiate substitution treatment and HIV transmission in people who inject drugs: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2012;345:e5945.
- Improving access to medications controlled under international drug conventions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2009 (http://www.who.int/medicines/areas/quality\_ safety/ACMP\_BrNoteGenrl\_EN\_Feb09.pdf).
- Alavian S-M, Mirahmadizadeh A, Javanbakht M, Keshtkaran A, Heidari A, Mashayekhi A, et al. Effectiveness of methadone maintenance treatment in prevention of hepatitis C virus transmission among injecting drug users. Hepat Mon. 2013;13:e12411.
- Nosyk B, Min JE, Colley G, Lima VD, Yip B, Milloy MJ, et al. The causal effect of opioid substitution treatment on HAART medication refill adherence. AIDS. 2015;29:965–973.
- Domosławski A. Drug policy in Portugal: the benefits of decriminalizing drug use. Warsaw: Open Society Foundations; 2011 (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/ files/drug-policy-in-portugal-english-20120814.pdf).
- Opioid overdose: preventing and reducing opioid overdose mortality. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2013 (https://www.unodc.org/docs/treatment/ overdose.pdf).
- Study shows success in methadone treatment in Hai Phong, Vietnam. Press release, 24 July 2014. Durham, NC: FHI360 (http://www.fhi360.org/news/study-shows-successmethadone-treatment-hai-phong-vietnam).
- Sheerin I, Green T, Sellman D, Adamson S, Deering D. Reduction in crime by drug users on a methadone maintenance therapy programme in New Zealand. N Z Med J. 2004;117:U795.
- 24. 2015 China AIDS response progress report. Beijing: National Health and Family Planning Commission, 2015.
- Halving HIV transmission among people who inject drugs. UNAIDS/PCB (35)/14.27. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/ files/media\_asset/20141125\_Background\_Note\_Thematic\_Segment\_35PCB.pdf).
- Preventing fatal overdoses: a systematic review of the effectiveness of take-home naloxone. Luxembourg: European Monitoring Centre or Drugs and Drug Addiction; 2015 (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/emcdda-papers/naloxone-effectiveness).
- 27. Making drug control "fit for purpose": building on the UNGASS decade. Report by the Executive Director of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime as a contribution to the review of the twentieth special session of the General Assembly. E/CN.7/2008/CRP.17. In: Fifty-first Commission on Narcotic Drugs session, Vienna, 7 May 2008. Vienna: Commission on Narcotic Drugs; 2008 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/commissions/CND/CND\_Sessions/CND\_51/1\_CRPs/E-CN7-2008-CRP17\_E.pdf).
- Drug user peace initiative: stigmatising people who use drugs. London: International Network of People Who Use Drugs; 2014 (https://www.unodc.org/documents/ ungass2016//Contributions/Civil/INPUD/DUPI-Stigmatising\_People\_who\_Use\_Drugs-Web.pdf).
- Skinner N, Feather NT, Freeman T, Roche AM. Stigma and discrimination in healthcare provision to drug users: the role of values, affect, and deservingness judgments. J Appl Soc Psychol. 2007;37:163–186.

- Treloar C, Rance J, Backmund M. Understanding barriers to hepatitis C virus care and stigmatization from a social perspective. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57 (Suppl. 2):S51–S55.
- Strathdee SA, Beletsky L, Kerr T. HIV, drugs and the legal environment. Int J Drug Policy. 2015;26:S27–S32.
- 32. Strathdee SA, Lozada R, Martinez G, Vera A, Rusch M, Nguyen L, et al. Social and structural factors associated with HIV infection among female sex workers who inject drugs in the Mexico–US border region. PLoS One. 2011;6:e19048.
- Pinkham S, Malinowska-Sempruch K. Women, harm reduction and HIV. Reprod Health Matters. 2008;16:168–181.
- 34. Policy brief: women who inject drugs and HIV—addressing specific needs. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, UN Women, World Health Organization and International Network of People Who Use Drugs; 2014 (http://www.unodc.org/ documents/hiv-aids/publications/WOMEN\_POLICY\_BRIEF2014.pdf).
- Pokrovsky VV, Ladnaya NN, Tushino OI, EV Buratsova. [HIV infection: newsletter no. 40.] Moscow: Federal Scientific and Methodological Center for Prevention and Control of AIDS; 2015.
- Punitive laws hindering the HIV response in Asia and the Pacific. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, United Nations Population Fund and United Nations Development Programme; 2014 (http:// www.aidsdatahub.org/sites/default/files/publication/poster/UNAIDS-Punitive-Lawsposter-v34-5.pdf).
- Compulsory rehabilitation in Latin America: an unethical, inhumane and ineffective practice. London: International Drug Policy Consortium; 2014 (http://idhdp.com/ media/1236/idpc-advocacy-note\_compulsory-rehabilitation-latin-america\_english. pdf).
- Study on the impact of the world drug problem on the enjoyment of human rights. A/HRC/30/65. Geneva: United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights; 2015.
- Amon J, Pearshouse R, Cohen J, Schleifer R. Compulsory drug detention centers in China, Cambodia, Vietnam, and Laos: health and human rights abuses. Health Hum Rights. 2013;15:124–137.
- 40. Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health. A/65/255. New York: United Nations General Assembly; 2010 (http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ Water/ContributionsStigma/others/SPhealthl.pdf).
- Rosmarin A, Eastwood N. A quiet revolution: drug decriminalisation policies in practice across the globe. London: Release; 2012 (http://www.countthecosts.org/ sites/default/files/release-quiet-revolution-drug-decriminalisation-policies.pdf).
- Csete J. A balancing act: policymaking on illicit drugs in the Czech Republic. New York: Open Society Foundations; 2012 (https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/ sites/default/files/A\_Balancing\_Act-03-14-2012.pdf).
- Country progress report: the Czech Republic—country progress report the Czech Republic Global AIDS Response Progress Report 2014. Prague: Ministry of Health, Czech Republic; 2015 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/country/documents/ CZE\_narrative\_report\_2015.pdf).
- 44. Hughes CE, Stevens A. What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs? Br J Criminol. 2010;50:999–1022.
- 45. Relatório annual 2013: a situação do país em material de drogas e toxicodependências. [Annual report 2013: state of the country in drugs and drug addiction.] Lisbon: Serviço de Intervenção nos Comportamentos Aditivos e nas Dependências; 2014 (http://www.sicad.pt/BK/Publicacoes/Lists/SICAD\_ PUBLICACOES/Attachments/72/RelatórioAnual\_2013\_A\_Situação\_do\_País\_em\_ matéria\_de\_drogas\_e\_toxicodependências.pdf).
- Murkin M. Drug decriminalisation in Portugal: setting the record straight. Bristol: Transform; 2014 (http://www.tdpf.org.uk/resources/publications/drugdecriminalisation-portugal-setting-record-straight).
- 47. Des Jarlais DC, Arasteh K, McKnight C, Feelemyer J, Hagan H, Cooper HL, et al. Combined HIV prevention, the New York City condom distribution program, and the evolution of safer sex behaviour among persons who inject drugs in New York City. AIDS Behav. 2014;18:443–451.
- Nosyk B, Min JE, Evans E, Li L, Liu L, Lima VD, et al. The effects of opioid substitution treatment and highly active antiretroviral therapy on the cause-specific risk of mortality among HIV-positive people who inject drugs. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61:1157–1165.
- 49. Using the peer-driven intervention model to increase HIV/AIDS case finding in Mai Son district, Son La province. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and

Prevention; 2016 (http://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/countries/vietnam/stories/hiv-case-finding.html).

- Tokar A, Shulga L, Varban M, Smyrnov P. Scale up access to ART for injection drug users in Ukraine. Presented at the 20th International AIDS Conference, 20–25 July 2014, Melbourne, Australia (http://pag.aids2014.org/Abstracts.aspx?AID=10027).
- Country coordination mechanism of Belarus: HIV concept note. Geneva: Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2015 (http://www.theglobalfund.org/ ProgramDocuments/BLR/ConceptNotes/2015/BLR-H\_ConceptNote\_0\_en.pdf).
- 52. Alam-mehrjerdi Z, Abdollahi M, Higgs P and K Dolan. Drug use treatment and harm reduction programs in Iran: A unique model of health in the most populated Persian Gulf country. Asian Journal of Psychiatry. August 2015; 16: 78–83.

#### Viral suppression

- Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:493–505.
- Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:399–410.
- Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, Smith DK, Rose CE, Segolodi TM, et al. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:423–434.
- Solomon SS, Mehta SH, McFall AM, Srikrishnan AK, Saravanan S, Laeyendecker O, et al. Community viral load, antiretroviral therapy coverage, and HIV incidence in India: a cross-sectional, comparative study. Lancet HIV. 2016;3:183–190.
- Das M, Chu PL, Santos GM, Scheer S, Vittinghoff E, McFarland W, Colfax GN. Decreases in community viral load are accompanied by reductions in new HIV infections in San Francisco. PLOS One. 2010;5:e11068
- Fast-Track update on investments needed in the AIDS response. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016 (http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/ documents/2016/unaids\_fast-track\_update\_investments\_needed).
- A short technical update on self-testing for HIV. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media\_ asset/JC2603\_self-testing\_en\_0.pdf).
- Self-testing helps combat HIV in adolescents. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/features/2015/hiv-self-testing/en/).
- Population Services International and UNITAID launch the largest effort ever to catalyze self-testing in Africa. Washington, DC: UNITAID; 2015 (http://unitaid.org/en/ statements/1501-population-services-international-and-unitaid-launch-the-largesteffort-ever-to-catalyze-hiv-self-testing-in-africa).
- Ramon L, Cui RR, Muessig KE, Thirumurthy H, Tucker JD. Incentivizing HIV/STI testing: a systematic review of the literature. AIDS Behav. 2014;18:905–912.
- 11. Thornton RL. The demand for, and impact of, learning HIV status. Am Econ Rev. 2008;98:1829–1863.
- Montoy JC, Kaplan BC, Dow WH. Can a universal HIV screening policy accomplish targeted testing? Results from a trial of monetary incentives. Ann Emerg Med. 2012;60:S82.
- McGovern ME, Herbst K, Tanser F, Mutevedzi T, Canning D, Gareta D, et al. A household food voucher increases consent to home-based HIV testing in rural KwaZulu-Natal. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, 23–26 February 2015, Seattle, WA (http://www.croiconference.org/ sessions/household-food-voucher-increases-consent-home-based-hiv-testing-ruralkwazulu-natal).
- Cherutich P, Golden MR, Wamuti B, Richardson BA, Ásbjörnsdóttir KH, Otieno FA, et al. Effectiveness of partner services for HIV in Kenya: a cluster randomized trial. Presented at the Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, 23–26 February 2015, Seattle, WA (http://www.croiconference.org/sessions/effectivenesspartner-services-hiv-kenya-cluster-randomized-trial).
- 15. Plotkin P, Kahabuka C, Kisendi R. A partner notification approach is effective and feasible in increasing HIV testing among partners of newly HIV-diagnosed persons in Tanzania. Washington, DC: United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (https://aidsfree.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/aidsfree.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/ events/presentations/marya\_aidsfree\_webinar\_slides\_4.20.2016\_v6.pdf)

- Putting HIV and HCV to the test: a product guide for point-of-care CD4 and laboratory-based and point-of-care virological HIV and HCV tests. Geneva: Médecins Sans Frontières; 2015 (http://www.msfaccess.org/sites/default/files/HIV\_HCV\_ Report\_Diagnostic\_Guide\_2015.pdf).
- 17. Stevens W, Ford N. Time to reduce CD4+ monitoring for the management of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected individuals. S Afr Med J. 2014;104:559–560.
- Landmark HIV diagnostic access program will save \$150m and help achieve new global goals on HIV. Press release, 25 September 2014. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2014/ september/20140925prviralload).
- New approach on HIV viral load testing. Press release, 10 June 2015. Geneva: Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2015 (http://www.theglobalfund.org/ en/news/2015-06-10\_New\_Approach\_on\_HIV\_Viral\_Load\_Testing/).
- 20. The need for routine viral load testing: questions and answers. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- Estille J, Egger M, Blaser N, Salazar Vizcaya L, Garone D, Wood R, et al. Costeffectiveness of point-of-care viral load monitoring of ART in resource-limited settings: mathematical modelling study AIDS. 2013;27:10.

#### **Pre-exposure prophylaxis**

- WHO expands recommendation on oral pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV infection (PrEP). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/prep/ policy-brief-prep-2015/en/).
- FDA approves first drug for reducing the risk of sexually acquired HIV infection: July 16th 2012. (http://www.fda.gov/NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ ucm312210.htm)
- Cairns G. L'ANSM établit la RTU de Truvada dans la prophylaxie pré-exposition au VIH - Point d'information. ANSM, 1 December 2015 (http://ansm.sante.fr/S-informer/ Points-d-information-Points-d-information/L-ANSM-etablit-la-RTU-de-Truvada-dans-laprophylaxie-pre-exposition-au-VIH-Point-d-information).
- Cairns G. First data on PrEP programme in France. Aidsmap, 3 June 2016 (http:// www.aidsmap.com/Cost-is-biggest-barrier-to-PrEP-in-Europe-ECDC-report-declares/ page/3060924/).
- Medicines Control Council approves fixed-dose combination of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate and emtricitabine for pre-exposure prophylaxis of HIV. Press release, 3 December 2015. Pretoria: Medicines Control Council; 2015 (http://www.mccza.com/ documents/2e4b3a5310.11\_Media\_release\_ARV\_FDC\_PrEP\_Nov15\_v1.pdf).
- South Africa and Kenya approval of oral PrEP should spur rollout. Press release, 17 December 2015. Pretoria: Medicines Control Council; 2015 (http://www.avac.org/blog/ south-africa-and-kenya-approval-oral-prep).
- Ongoing and planned PrEP open label, demonstration and implementation projects, as of June 2016. New York: AVAC; 2016 (http://www.avac.org/sites/default/files/resourcefiles/PrEP\_Trials\_Demonstration\_Projects\_June\_2016.pdf)
- Molina J-M, Capitant C, Spire B, Pialoux G, Cotte L, Charreau I, et al. On-demand preexposure prophylaxis in men at high risk for HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med. 2015;373:2237–2246.
- Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Brown ER, Schwartz K, Soto-Torres LE, Govender V, et al. Use of a vaginal ring containing dapivirine for HIV-1 prevention in women. N Engl J Med. 2016;DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1506110.
- Markowitz, M; Frank I; Grant R; Mayer K; David A. Margolis D; Hudson K, et al, ÉCLAIR: Phase 2A Safety and PK Study of Cabotegravir LA in HIV-Uninfected Men. 22 February 2016. Boston: CROI; 2016 (http://www.croiconference.org/sessions/%C3%A9clairphase-2a-safety-and-pk-study-cabotegravir-la-hiv-uninfected-men).
- Bush, Staci, Magnuson D, Rawlings M.K., Hawkins, T, McCallister S, Mera Giler, R. Racial Characteristics of FTC/TDF for Pre-exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) Users in the US. Boston: ASM; 2016 (2016http://www.natap.org/2016/HIV/062216\_02.htm).

#### Social and behaviour change communication and demand generation

- 1. Population-based surveys, 2009–2015.
- Idele P, Gillespie A, Porth T, et al. Epidemiology of HIV and AIDS among adolescents: current status, inequities, and data gaps. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014 Jul 1;66 Suppl 2:S144-53. doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000000176.
- 3. Zimbabwe National AIDS Council, UNFPA. National behavior change survey 2007/8. Harare, 2009.

- Corneli A, Wang M, Agot K et al. for the FEM-PrEP Study Group. Perception of HIV risk and adherence to a daily, investigational pill for HIV prevention in FEM-PrEP. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014 Dec 15;67(5):555-63. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000000362.
- Cederbaum JA, Gilreath TD, Barman-Adhikari A. Perceived risk and condom use among adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa: a latent class analysis. Afr J Reprod Health. 2014 Dec;18(4):26-33.
- Lo NC, Lowe A, Bendavid E. Abstinence Funding Was Not Associated With Reductions In HIV Risk Behavior In Sub-Saharan Africa. Health Aff May 2016 35:5856-863; doi:10.1377/ hlthaff.2015.0828.
- Stoneburner RL, Low-Beer D. Population-level HIV declines and behavioral risk avoidance in Uganda. Science. 2004 Apr 30;304(5671):714-8.
- Muchini B, Benedikt C, Gregson S, Gomo E, Mate R, et al. Local Perceptions of the Forms, Timing and Causes of Behavior Change in Response to the AIDS Epidemic in Zimbabwe. AIDS and behavior. 2011;15(2):487-498. doi:10.1007/s10461-010-9783-z.
- Scott-Sheldon LA, Huedo-Medina TB, Warren MR, Johnson BT, Carey MP. Efficacy of behavioral interventions to increase condom use and reduce sexually transmitted infections: A meta-analysis, 1991 to 2010. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2011 Dec 15;58(5):489-98. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e31823554d7.
- Taylor M, Dlamini SB, Meyer-Weitz A, Sathiparsad R, Jinabhai CC, Esterhuizen T. Changing sexual behaviour to reduce HIV transmission - a multi-faceted approach to HIV prevention and treatment in a rural South African setting. AIDS Care. 2010 Nov;22(11):1395-402. doi: 10.1080/09540121003720960.
- Buzdugan R, Benedikt C, Langhaug L, Copas A, Mundida O, et al. Population-level impact of Zimbabwe's National Behavioural Change Programme. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014 Dec 15;67(5):e134-41. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000000361.
- 12. Soul City Institute. The One Love Campaign in Southern Africa. What has been achieved so far? Interim Evaluation. Johannesburg, 2012.
- 13. Wagman JA, Gray RH, Campbell JC, Thoma M, Ndyanabo A, et al. Effectiveness of an integrated intimate partner violence and HIV prevention intervention in Rakai, Uganda: analysis of an intervention in an existing cluster randomised cohort. Lancet Glob Health 2015; 3: e23–33. Published Online November 28, 2014.
- Abramsky T, Devries K, Kiss L, Nakuti J, Kyegombe N, et al.: Findings from the SASA! Study: a cluster randomized controlled trial to assess the impact of a community mobilization intervention to prevent violence against women and reduce HIV risk in Kampala, Uganda. BMC Medicine 2014 12:122. DOI: 10.1186/s12916-014-0122-5.
- Fonner VA, Armstrong KS, Kennedy CE, O'Reilly KR, Sweat MD (2014) School Based Sex Education and HIV Prevention in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS ONE 9(3): e89692. doi:10.1371/journal.
- 16. UNFPA. Emerging evidence, lessons and practice in comprehensive sexuality education. Paris: UNESCO; 2015.
- 17. UNFPA state of the world population 2013. Motherhood in childhood: facing the challenges of adolescent pregnancy. New York: UNFPA; 2013.
- García-Moreno C et al. Addressing violence against women: a call to action. Lancet. 2015;385:1685-95.
- 19. International technical guidance on sexuality education: an evidence-informed approach for schools, teachers and health educators. Paris: UNESCO; 2009.
- Haberland NA. The case for addressing gender and power in sexuality and HIV education: a comprehensive review of evaluation studies. International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health. 2015;41(1):31–42.
- Ministerial Declaration: prevention through education. First Meeting of Ministers of Health and Education to Stop HIV and STIs in Latin America and the Caribbean; 2010 (http://www.unesco.org/new/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/FIELD/Santiago/pdf/ declaration-preventing-education-english.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 22. UNAIDS and the African Union. Empower young women and adolescent girls: Fast-Tracking the end of the AIDS epidemic in Africa. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2015.

#### Eliminating new infections among children

- 1. On the Fast-Track to an AIDS-free generation. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016.
- 2. Demographic and Health Surveys (www.statcompiler.com, accessed 7 July 2016).
- Johnson KB, Akwara P et al. Fertility preferences and the need for contraception among women living with HIV: the basis for a joint action agenda. AIDS. 2009;23(Suppl 1):S7–S17.
- 4. On the Fast-Track to end AIDS. In: free.unaids.org [website]. UNAIDS, PEPFAR and partners (http://free.unaids.org, accessed 7 July 2016).

"EFFORTS TO REACH THE TARGET OF FEWER THAN 500 000 NEW INFECTIONS BY 2020 ARE OFF TRACK. THIS SIMPLE CONCLUSION SITS ATOP A COMPLEX AND DIVERSE GLOBAL TAPESTRY. THE HETEROGENEITY OF THE HIV EPIDEMIC UNDERSCORES THE IMPORTANCE OF A LOCATION-POPULATION APPROACH TO EFFICIENT PLANNING AND PROGRAMMING OF HIV PREVENTION SERVICES."

## **REGIONS IN FOCUS**

CUS

Eastern and southern Africa has only 6.2% of the world's population but is home to half of the world's people living with HIV. The region made progress in reducing new HIV infections between 2010 and 2015, particularly among children, but new HIV infections among adults are not declining fast enough. Women accounted for 59% of all adults living with HIV, and more than 20% of new infections in 2014 were among key populations and their sexual partners. The rate of new HIV infections remained high among young women in particular. In some countries there were high levels of transactional sex and age-disparate sexual relationships. Programmes and initiatives to address societal and structural barriers faced by young people, especially for young girls and women, gained momentum in 2015. Programming for key populations was insufficient, however. Other challenges include the marginalization of key populations due to legal barriers to accessing services or because of stigma and discrimination, and heavy reliance on international resources to fund responses to HIV.

.....

### **TRENDS AND TARGETS** .....

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), eastern and southern Africa, 2010–2015

New HIV infections among children (aged 0-14 years), eastern and southern Africa, 2010–2015



#### Progress towards the 90-90-90 target, eastern and southern Africa, end-2015



who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

who are on antiretroviral treatment

Percentage of people living with HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 12 countries, which accounted for 85% of people living with HIV in the region. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 8 countries. Regionally, 14% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.



### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, eastern and southern Africa, 2015

## Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), eastern and southern Africa, from 2010 to 2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.



Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, eastern and southern Africa, 2014

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

## HIV epidemic in eastern and southern Africa

Although eastern and southern Africa has only 6.2% of the world's population, it is home to half of the world's people living with HIV. The region continued to be the hardest hit by the HIV epidemic, with 46% of the world's new HIV infections in 2015. Nearly 40% of new HIV infections in the region in 2015 were in South Africa, and another 50% occurred in eight countries: Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

New HIV infections decreased marginally in eastern and southern Africa between 2010 and 2015. New HIV infections among adults declined by 4% to an estimated 910 000 [790 000–1 100 000]. New paediatric infections declined by 66% between 2010 and 2015 to an estimated 56 000 [40 000–76 000]. This impressive decline in paediatric infections is due to the rapid increase in coverage of services for prevention of mother-to-child transmission from 61% [55–67%] in 2010 to 90% [82–>95%] in 2015. With committed efforts paediatric infections could reach the region's 2020 target, but adult infections are not declining fast enough.

Progress varied among countries. Between 2010 and 2015 annual numbers of new HIV infections among adults declined by more than 20% in Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Uganda and the United Republic of Tanzania, but the annual number of new HIV infections among adults increased by more than 20% in Eritrea and Madagascar.

Women accounted for 59% of all adults aged 15 years and older living with HIV in the region, and the rate of new HIV infections remained high among young women aged 15–24 years. There were approximately 4500 new HIV infections weekly among young women in the region, which is double the number seen in young men.

More than 20% of new infections in 2014 were among gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, people who inject drugs and the sexual partners of key populations (1).

HIV prevalence among these populations is often extremely high. For example, in South Africa, surveillance data published in 2015 estimated HIV prevalence among sex workers was 72% in Johannesburg, 40% in Cape Town and 54% in Durban (2). Prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men ranged from 9.9% to 32.9% in country surveys conducted between 2013 and 2015 (3). Age-specific data from Kenya, Mauritius, Seychelles and the United Republic of Tanzania in 2013 showed that many people who inject drugs acquire HIV before they reach the age of 25 years (3).



#### HIV prevalence among sex workers, eastern and southern Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.



## HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men, eastern and southern Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.





Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

## Progress and gaps in prevention

#### Young women and girls and their male partners

Correct and comprehensive knowledge regarding HIV prevention among young people aged 15–24 years in the region improved between the 2000–2008 period and the 2009–2015 period, especially among young women. Still less than half, however, had comprehensive knowledge—37% and 41% among young women and young men, respectively, in surveys conducted in recent years (4). The proportion of young people who reported having their first sexual experience before age 15 years decreased by 20% over the same time period to 11% of young men and 12% of young women surveyed (4).

Rapid assessments conducted in Botswana, Swaziland and Zimbabwe for the ALL IN initiative to end AIDS among adolescents found high levels of reported occurrences of transactional sex in Botswana and age-disparate sexual relationships in Swaziland (5). Data on sexual and reproductive adolescent health revealed high rates of sexually transmitted infections and teenage pregnancy (5).

Programmes and initiatives launched to scale up HIV prevention services for young people, especially for young girls and women, gathered pace in 2015. These included DREAMS for young girls and women (supported by the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and the Nike Foundation), ALL IN for adolescents (supported by United Nations agencies and partners), and various programmes supported by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS,

## Comprehensive knowledge of HIV prevention among young people (aged 15–24 years), 2000–2015



Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2000-2015

Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund). The implementation of gender-transformative HIV programming to address the structural and knowledge barriers was also gaining momentum. These interventions include keeping girls in school and providing comprehensive sexuality education, a commitment made by ministers of health and education from 20 countries in eastern and southern Africa in 2013 *(6)*, and providing girl-friendly sexual and reproductive health services, eliminating gender-based violence, eliminating female genital mutilation, scaling up male involvement in the HIV response, empowering women economically, ensuring the involvement of women in leadership structures and processes, and promulgating and implementing protective laws.

Several priority countries in eastern and southern Africa, including Ethiopia, Malawi, Swaziland and Zimbabwe, have held dedicated national prevention consultations in recent months to explore how prevention responses can be revitalized. Government representatives of Kenya, Zimbabwe and South Africa have met to plan the development of a regional roadmap to accelerate scale up of combination HIV prevention services at local levels and increased investments for combination HIV prevention.

## Percent change in young people (aged 15–24 years) reporting sexual debut before the age of 15, select countries in eastern and southern Africa, 2000-2008 compared to 2009-2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

#### **Key populations**

In 2015 UNAIDS and the World Bank synthesized available quantitative and qualitative data on four key populations (sex workers, gay men and other men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs and transgender people) from 18 countries in eastern and southern Africa. Key findings from this regional synthesis include the following:

- All 18 countries identify female sex workers in national AIDS plans or strategies as being essential to reach with effective programme implementation.
- Seventeen of the 18 countries identified men who have sex with men as a key population in their national AIDS plans or strategies.
- In many countries the prioritization of key populations within national AIDS plans and strategies has not resulted in sufficient financial allocation and programme implementation to address their needs.
- Dedicated programmes for female sex workers, including service delivery and community mobilization, are more common than for the other three key populations.
- Programmes for men who have sex with men are particularly constrained by widespread homophobia.
- Female sex workers had more accurate knowledge of HIV than people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men, although the extent of comprehensive knowledge throughout the region remains insufficient among all four populations.
- Consistent condom use varied widely, and nowhere was it above 80% across all partner types for any of the four populations, indicating inadequate protection from HIV and other sexually transmitted infections.
- Data and information on transgender people in the 18 countries are extremely limited.
- None of the 18 countries had extensive community mobilization for the four key populations, but community networks are emerging. Regional networks are in place for female sex workers and men who have sex with men.
- The overall legal and social environment for all four key populations is challenging, with some aspect of sex work criminalized in 17 countries and same-sex relationships criminalized in 15 countries.

Kenya, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mozambique, South Africa and the United Republic of Tanzania are all home to significant populations of people who inject drugs. Although limited in scope, surveys among people who inject drugs in sub-Saharan Africa suggest high HIV prevalence. In Kenya, where HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in 2011 was 18% versus 5.6% in the general population, low condom use and unsafe injecting practices exacerbate transmission (7). Needle and syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy is being scaled up in the United Republic of Tanzania and in Kenya.

#### **Risky sexual behaviours and condom use**

Nationally representative population-based surveys conducted in the region suggest that sexual risk behaviours among men and women are still common. On average 13% of men in the most recent surveys reported multiple sexual partnerships during the 12 months before the survey (8). The proportion of adult women reporting multiple sexual partnerships was much lower, at 2%, and declined between the 2000–2008 time period and the 2009–2015 time period (4). Trends varied between countries. Ethiopia, Malawi, Rwanda and Zimbabwe saw increases in multiple partnerships among both men and women, while the proportion of men and women with multiple partners in Zambia and Madagascar declined.

# Trends in proportion of adults (aged 15–49 years) reporting multiple sexual partnerships in the previous 12 months, select countries in eastern and southern Africa, 2000–2008 compared to 2009–2015



Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2000-2015.

Condom availability for men aged 15–64 years varied widely by country, with only 5 of the region's 15 countries meeting the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) regional benchmark of 30 male condoms distributed per man per year (2011–2014) (9). Namibia had the highest level of availability of male condoms, with 54 available per man per year, followed by Swaziland (51), Botswana (50), Zimbabwe (33) and Lesotho (31); in Angola and South Sudan only 5 and 0.4 condoms per man per year were available, respectively (9). Women in the region were even more underserved: female condoms accounted for a small fraction of the condoms procured in 2015 (10).

This lack of condom availability contributed to levels of condom use that were not high enough to significantly curtail rates of HIV, sexually transmitted infections or unintended pregnancies. Population-based surveys conducted between 2009 and 2015 indicate that condom use at last sex among adults aged 15–49 years who had sexual intercourse with more than one partner within the past 12 months was only 23% among men and 33% among women. There was substantial variation among countries, ranging from as low as 7% among men in Madagascar to 69% among women in Namibia and 83% among men in Swaziland. Demographic and Health Surveys conducted between 2008 and 2015 found that condom use among men who paid for sexual intercourse in the preceding 12 months was higher, at about 60% on average (*11*).





Source: Population-based surveys 2009–2015.
In response to the insufficient levels of condom use, a regional "condom push" initiative in 2015 resulted in seven countries developing action plans. Production of female condoms in the region was discussed with manufacturers, with South Africa championing local production. These initiatives aim to contribute to the UNFPA goal of ensuring that 10% of condoms procured in each country are female condoms (10).

#### Voluntary male medical circumcision

There was tremendous progress in the uptake of voluntary male medical circumcision between 2008 and 2014. Following several years of nearly exponential increase, however, the number of men circumcised in 2015 was lower in 8 out of 14 priority countries (Botswana, Ethiopia, Lesotho, Rwanda, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe). An estimated 2.6 million males were circumcised in 2015, compared with 3.1 million males in 2014 (although challenges remain in compiling data on male circumcisions).

Progress varied across countries. Countries such as Kenya, Ethiopia and the United Republic of Tanzania have achieved or exceeded targets to reach 80% of the estimated number of eligible men. Mozambique, South Africa, Uganda and Zambia reached 50–79% of eligible men. In Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, Rwanda and Zimbabwe, however, less than 35% of eligible men have been circumcised.

#### Pre-exposure prophylaxis

In December 2015 South Africa became the first country in sub-Saharan Africa to issue full regulatory approval of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), followed swiftly by Kenya (see Pre-exposure prophylaxis chapter). Pre-exposure prophylaxis is also included within the Kenya HIV Prevention Revolution Road Map and the South Africa National Sex Worker Plan 2016–2019. Kenya, South Africa and Zimbabwe have ongoing demonstration or research projects that are investigating the uptake and impact of PrEP specifically with young women and girls in high-incidence areas. Their focus includes service delivery, adherence, gender-based violence and preferred choice of PrEP formulation.

#### **Viral suppression**

A key determinant to viral suppression among people living with HIV is knowledge of status. An estimated 56% [52–60%] of people living with HIV in eastern and southern Africa in 2015 knew their HIV status, and about 54% [50–58%] were on antiretroviral therapy. Considerable gaps in the treatment cascade remained in many countries. Achieving the 90–90–90 target required diagnosing more than 6.4 million people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, starting an additional 5.2 million people on antiretroviral therapy, and ensuring an additional 5.3 million people living with HIV achieved viral suppression. As a result of these gaps, only 45% [42–49%] of all people living with HIV in eastern and southern Africa had achieved the viral suppression necessary to prevent HIV transmission. However, viral suppression data in the region are extremely limited. Only 14% of the total population of people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy had a viral load testing result.

Low rates of HIV testing weaken the links between prevention, treatment and care services in the region (12). To address this challenge, Kenya, Malawi, South Africa and

Uganda have adopted innovative approaches to HIV testing in recent years, including provider-initiated testing, moonlight testing, targeted community-based HIV testing and door-to-door testing campaigns. Many countries, including Namibia, Malawi, Rwanda, Botswana, South Africa and Swaziland, are piloting HIV self-testing. In Namibia, for example, pharmacies sell over-the-counter rapid test kits for HIV self-testing.

Countries in eastern and southern Africa have made remarkable progress in the scaleup of antiretroviral therapy reaching 54% [50-58%] of people living with HIV. Paediatric treatment in particular had improved since 2010, with regional coverage reaching 63% [56–71%] and Botswana and Namibia achieving coverage of over 95% of children living with HIV. However, gaps still remain in the provision of treatment to populations who are affected by humanitarian emergencies, who face disruptions in HIV treatment, heightened exposure to HIV vulnerability and risks and limited access to quality health care and nutritious food.

By the end of 2015 all countries in the region were at least implementing the 2013 World Health Organization (WHO) treatment guidelines, expanding eligibility for antiretroviral therapy and ensuring that antiretroviral drugs were used within a broad continuum of care (13). Yet the population effect of antiretroviral treatment on reduced transmission depends on high coverage of antiretroviral treatment among all people living with HIV. Many countries, including Kenya, Malawi, Namibia and Uganda, had begun adopting the 2015 WHO recommendation to immediately offer treatment to people diagnosed with HIV. Lesotho officially adopted and began the roll-out of "test and treat" guidelines in April 2016, Botswana launched a "treat all" strategy in June 2016, and South Africa plans to start offering treatment immediately following diagnosis before the end of 2016. Weak health and community systems, however, continue to undermine scale-up of testing and treatment.

Although viral load testing in the region was unavailable to the majority of people on antiretroviral therapy, many countries, including Botswana, Namibia, Malawi, Kenya, South Africa, Swaziland and Uganda, had ongoing pilot and research projects on viral load testing. Key challenges include inadequate viral load testing equipment, transportation of samples, and human capacity within laboratory systems to undertake the considerable volume of testing required. An estimated 45% [42-48%] of people living with HIV in eastern and southern Africa had suppressed viral loads in 2015.

## Challenges

Girls and young women have to be placed at the centre of the response if the region is to end AIDS by 2030. In 2015 two-thirds of new HIV infections among young people aged 15–24 years occurred among adolescent girls and young women. These high levels of infection are driven largely by high prevalence in the community, gender inequality and inequity, traditions, and limited educational opportunities.

Extremely high levels of sexual abuse and violence against female children, including underage, child and forced marriage, undermine regional development goals and the HIV response. The region had seven million child brides in 2015 *(14)*. A positive change in Malawi was the passage in April 2015 of a new Marriage Act that increased the age of marriage to 18 years.

Despite 15 of 19 countries in the region having domestic violence and sexual offences laws, more than 30% of ever married or partnered women aged 15–24 years experienced physical or sexual violence from a male intimate partner in the previous 12 months in Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe; this figure was 50% among girls aged 15–19 years in Namibia (3).

Key populations are often marginalized due to legal barriers to accessing services or because of stigma and discrimination and had not received adequate attention from national programmes (15). Serious challenges remain, including the criminalization of same-sex sexual relations, drug use and sex work; insufficient implementation of harm-reduction programmes; and insufficient protection of men and women from discrimination, harassment, and sexual and physical violence and abuse arising from their perceived or actual sexual orientation or gender identities (15).

Strategic information is lacking for a number of countries in the region. Weak national systems for case-based surveillance hinder the ability to report routine, localized data and for monitoring of prevention and treatment cascades. Most countries do not have systems for unique identification of individuals, which makes tracking them across prevention and treatment services difficult, leading to inaccuracies in the reported data. There is a lack of technical capacity, human resource availability or coordination in some countries for collecting or reporting standardized, sex- and age-disaggregated programmatic data at the subnational level. With the increasing focus on prioritizing locations and populations most in need, this makes granular data collection difficult.

Countries in eastern and southern Africa remained heavily reliant on international resources to fund their responses to HIV. The exception is South Africa, where approximately 80% of the national response is financed through domestic resources. Insufficient financial resources, combined with the lack of strategic information, led to many high-impact HIV prevention programmes not being implemented to the necessary standard or scale.

## **Opportunities**

#### Investments and sustainable financing

By December 2015 Botswana, Ethiopia, Kenya, Mauritius, South Africa, Swaziland, Uganda and Zimbabwe had produced national HIV investment cases that promote effective, efficient and sustainable investments in their HIV responses by targeting specific locations and populations. Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia used the investment approach to develop national strategic plans and inform their concept notes for Global Fund grants.

As a result of South Africa's high-level epidemic and the Government's commitment to fund lifelong treatment for existing patients, the total cost of the HIV programme will increase in coming years. According to South Africa's investment case, if the appropriate investments and programme scale-up are made to reach the 90–90–90 treatment targets, annual resource needs will begin to decline in 15–20 years. By comparison, more gradual scale-up will result in larger future budgets and an increase in overall long-term spending (16). The analysis helped to convince the South African Treasury to increase budget allocations for HIV (17).

The recent drought due to El Niño has caused additional challenges for people living with HIV in southern Africa. Food insecurity requires coping strategies that might increase risky behaviour. In addition food insecurity might reduce adherence to antiretroviral therapy leading to drug resistance and increases in transmission.

Regional dialogue has underscored the need to determine how much low- and middle-income countries can contribute to their HIV programmes, given the rapid economic growth across the region, and how international assistance can best contribute to efforts to end AIDS as a public health threat by 2030 (18). To advance the African Union Roadmap for Shared Responsibility and Global Solidarity and promote sustainability of responses, the regional economic communities (East African Community and South African Development Community) undertook financing analyses to explore the fiscal space for health and HIV and innovative options for financing AIDS responses. As a result, both communities have endorsed action frameworks on sustainable financing that commit countries to increase domestic spending, address inefficiencies in health services, and explore innovative financing mechanisms in the next five years.

#### Using evidence to inform programming

In the context of declining international resources for AIDS, it is increasingly important to gather and use strategic information to guide the efficient delivery of services to the locations and populations in greatest need. All of the region's countries routinely update estimates of HIV infections and treatment coverage, and report on global indicators. With international support, most have further generated subnational HIV estimates of people living with HIV and new infections and AIDS-related deaths, linking them to data on treatment and other service provision within maps to identify geographical gaps in service coverage. Kenya also launched a "Situation Room" that uses a tablet-based application to provide policy-makers and programme-planners with real-time monitoring of the latest strategic information and evidence to inform their decision-making.

#### **Engaging communities**

Civil society and communities are vital to the region's achievement of the targets in the 2016 Political Declaration on ending AIDS. In Botswana, Communities Acting Together to Control HIV (CATCH) facilitated community-driven activities through household consultations, joint planning and community-led implementation and monitoring. During a two-month period 1656 households were reached in five villages by a team of trained CATCH facilitators. This has resulted in invitations for engagement from other villages and schools (19).

The Community Health Alliance Uganda conducted a two-month pilot programme to help address challenges faced by pregnant and breastfeeding women living with HIV, including by providing funds for transport to clinics, and by recruiting and training volunteers through the local association of people living with HIV to conduct counselling, run awareness campaigns and mobilize local community leaders. The number of monthly clinic visits by pregnant and breastfeeding women increased during the project period (20). Models such as these that leverage civil society to bring HIV services closer to communities need to be expanded and sustained.

National and regional support for such efforts grew in 2015, with increasing interest from several governments in understanding the unique contributions of community groups, cost their efforts and define how useful approaches could be scaled up. Malawi undertook a mapping of community-based service delivery models to inform its national dialogue on scaling up the antiretroviral therapy programme. Zimbabwe defined a national operational plan for scaling up community treatment action groups linked to health facilities.

#### Integrating sexual and reproductive health and HIV services

A multilaterally funded pilot project to support linkages between sexual and reproductive health and HIV services had been in place in Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, Swaziland, Zambia and Zimbabwe since 2011. By the end of 2015 a total of 52 health facilities across these 7 countries had provided integrated sexual and reproductive health and HIV services and increased both access and uptake. In Botswana and Zimbabwe client satisfaction had risen, with 57% and 60% of service users, respectively, citing a reduced number of visits as a benefit of integrated services, and 41% and 34%, respectively, reporting that integrated services provided a good opportunity to access additional services (*21,22*). Challenges remained, however, with competing interests, changes in leadership, multiple and parallel initiatives, and a shortage of health-care workers impeding the integration of services.

Knowledge about HIV among young people in western and central Africa was alarmingly low, with a significant gap in sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents and young people, including HIV prevention services. New infections among key populations and their sexual partners accounted for more than a quarter of all new infections in 2014, and HIV prevalence among key populations was significantly higher than that among the general population. Condom use at last sexual intercourse varied, with indications that use was high among sex workers. There were condom use increases among women but not among men in the past 15 years. Uptake of HIV testing services in the general population was low, but there was relatively high testing coverage among female sex workers. Despite an increase in the availability of antiretroviral therapy in the region between 2010 and 2015, coverage remained well below the global average, contributing to low levels of viral suppression. Challenges include high levels of stigma and discrimination (including the denial of health services), high rates of gender-based violence (including in conflict and emergency situations) and gender inequities.

## TRENDS AND TARGETS

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), western and central Africa, 2010–2015

New HIV infections among children (aged 0–14 years), western and central Africa, 2010–2015



Progress towards the 90-90-90 target, western and central Africa, 2015



Percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

Percentage of people living with HIV who are on antiretroviral treatment

Percentage of people living with HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 12 countries, which accounted for 73% of people living with HIV in the region. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 7 countries. Regionally, 2% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details ,see annex on methods.



### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, western and central Africa, 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

# Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), western and central Africa, from 2010 to 2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.



Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, western and central Africa, 2014

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

## HIV epidemic in western and central Africa

Western and central Africa's 25 countries had a combined population of approximately 425 million people in 2015. The average HIV prevalence among adults was 2.2% [1.8–2.7%]. An estimated 6.5 million people were living with HIV in the region in 2015, of whom 500 000 [400 000–630 000] were children. Women accounted for 54% of adults aged 15 years and older living with HIV. There was wide variation both between and within countries, with national adult prevalence ranging from 0.5% [0.4–0.6%] in Niger and Senegal to 4.9% [4.4–5.3%] in Equatorial Guinea.

There were an estimated 410 000 [310 000–530 000] new infections, of which 66 000 [47000–87 000] were among children and 200 000 [150 000–260 000] were among women. New infections among children decreased by 31% since 2010, reflecting the scale-up of coverage of prevention of mother-to-child transmission services from 23% [19–28%] to 48% [40–58%]. Among adults there was no decline in new infections since 2010, with the number remaining static at 350 000 [270 000–450 000] per year.

An estimated 60% of new HIV infections in the region in 2015 occurred in Nigeria, and another 30% occurred in seven countries: Cameroon, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Guinea and Mali.

There were 650 000 [500 000–850 000] young people aged 15–24 years living with HIV in the region in 2015. The number of new infections among young people aged 15–24 years decreased between 2010 and 2015, from 120 000 [92 000–150 000] to 110 000 [88 000–150 000], including a reduction from 37 000 [30 000–47 000] to 36 000 [30 000–47 000] among adolescents aged 15–19 years.

Sixty-four per cent of new infections among young people in western and central Africa were among young women. Gender inequalities and gender-based violence in the region made girls and young women more vulnerable than boys and young men to HIV infection. Girls and women faced high levels of gender-based violence and in conflict situations sexual violence against women and girls is commonly used as a strategy of war. In emergencies, women and girls are particularly vulnerable and have specific needs that are often ignored, including services for safe pregnancy and childbirth and protection from gender-based violence. Additionally, emergencies often cause a disruption to HIV treatment and services, increased food insecurity and destruction of livelihoods as well as heightened exposure to HIV vulnerability and risks (1).

New infections among key populations and their sexual partners accounted for more than a quarter of all new infections in the region in 2014 (2). HIV prevalence among sex workers, people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men was significantly higher than the prevalence in the general population.

## HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men, western and central Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting



#### HIV prevalence among sex workers in western and central Africa, most recent data, 2011–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

In 2015 HIV prevalence was 17% among men who have sex with men, 16.5% among sex workers and 6.5% among people who inject drugs (*3*). HIV prevalence among women who inject drugs is much higher than among men who inject drugs. For example in Nigeria HIV prevalence among female and male injecting drug users was 14% and 3% respectively. Similarly, in Senegal HIV prevalence among female and male injecting drug users was 28% and 7%, respectively.

HIV prevalence among these key populations also varied by country. In the 12 countries that reported data in 2015, HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men ranged from 3.6% in Burundi to 37.2% in Cameroon. In the 15 countries that reported data in 2015, HIV prevalence among female sex workers ranged from 4% in Mauritania to 24% in Mali.

## Progress and gaps in prevention

#### Young women and girls and their male partners

Knowledge about HIV among young people in the region continued to be alarmingly low: data from recent household surveys suggest that only 24% of young women aged 15–24 years and 31% of young men of the same age had comprehensive and correct knowledge of how to prevent HIV.



## Trends in comprehensive, correct knowledge of HIV among young men and women (ages 15–24 years), western and central Africa, 2000–2008 to 2009–2014

Source: Population based surveys 2000-2014.

Western and central Africa also had poor educational outcomes more generally, especially for adolescent girls. School completion rates continued to be very low. The United Nations Children's Fund estimates that 18.8 million children in the region were not in school (4). Girls were particularly disadvantaged: just over half (54%) of young women aged 15–24 years in the region are literate (4).

Although there is a lack of reliable age- and sex-disaggregated data on adolescents' and young people's sexual and reproductive health in the region, available evidence indicates a significant gap in service availability. The lack of targeted, youth-friendly HIV prevention services for young people and adolescents was due to systemic factors, including insufficiently trained health workers; legal factors, including restrictive laws and regulations, such as on the age of consent; and social factors, including a cultural perception of adolescents and young people as sexually inactive children, all of which creates a barrier to their involvement in decision-making around their sexual health. Population growth among young people and adolescents in western and central Africa was also the highest in the world (5), creating an additional burden on health and education services. Urgent attention must be paid to prevention-related solutions that can be scaled up easily.

Additional efforts are needed to reach men in this region with HIV prevention messages and behaviour change initiatives that promote gender equality.

#### **Key populations**

Key populations were prioritized in HIV responses across the region, with almost all countries carrying out size estimations, programmatic mapping and integrated biological behavioural surveys to improve and tailor programmes.

There were also a number of regional programmes providing multi-country combination prevention solutions. The Abidjan-Lagos Corridor Organization provided sex workers, men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs and truck drivers in Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Togo, Benin and Nigeria with behavioural change communication, condoms and lubricants, testing, management of sexually transmitted infections, and referral to treatment. The Projet Frontières et Vulnérabilités au VIH en Afrique de l'Ouest (Project on Borders and Vulnerability to HIV in West Africa) provided men who have sex with men and sex workers in Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Gambia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger and Senegal with capacity-building initiatives, awareness-raising, testing and treatment. The Regional HIV/AIDS Prevention Project in Western and Central Africa (PACTE - VIH) provided female sex workers and their clients and men who have sex with men in Burkina Faso and Togo with comprehensive prevention and support, an enabling environment and technical assistance. The Health Policy Project provided sex workers and men who have sex with men in Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Niger and Togo with an enabling environment for evidence-based programming. Needle and syringe programmes and opioid substitution therapy are only nationally available in Senegal.

#### **Condom programmes**

Condom programmes were a priority prevention intervention across the region. Social marketing, including through civil society organizations and in health facilities, was the main strategy for distribution. Few countries had comprehensive condom programming plans, however, and often where they did exist they were not implemented.

Available data for 2010–2014 from 18 countries indicated that condom use at last sex with a non-marital, non-cohabiting partner was higher among men than among women *(6)*. Most countries in the region reported having more than 80% condom use at last sex among sex workers in 2013–2015.

The most recently available survey data suggested that condom use among female sex workers remained high within most countries in the region, while among men who have sex with men it varied between 32% in Sierra Leone and 85% in Benin.

#### **Viral suppression**

Viral suppression in the region is very low due to low testing uptake and low antiretroviral coverage. An estimated 36% [30–44%] of people living with HIV in western and central Africa in 2015 knew their HIV status, and about 28% [23–34%] were on antiretroviral therapy. Achieving the 90–90–90 target in 2015 required



# Percent of women and men (aged 15–49 years) using a condom at last sexual intercourse with a non-marital partner in the year before the survey, most recent data, 2010–2014

Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2010–2014.

## Condom use at last sexual intercourse among gay men and other men who have sex with men, western and central Africa, most recent data, 2012–2015

<50%	50%-75%	>75%
Burundi	Senegal	Benin
Central African Republic	Cape Verde	Burkina Faso
Gambia	Congo	Cameroon
Guinea	Côte D'Ivoire	Democratic Republic of Congo
Liberia	Ghana	Mali
Sierra leone	Nigeria	
Тодо		

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

diagnosing more than 3.5 million people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, starting an additional 3.4 million people on antiretroviral therapy, and ensuring an additional 3.9 million people living with HIV achieved viral suppression. As a result of these gaps, only 12% [10–15%] of all people living with HIV in western and central Africa had achieved the viral suppression necessary to prevent HIV transmission. However, viral suppression data in the region are extremely limited. Only 2% of the total population of people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy had a viral load testing result.

Most countries in the region implemented provider-initiated testing and counselling in health facilities targeting the general population. The most recently available survey data suggest that uptake of HIV testing services in the general population is low, and that more women than men, and more adults aged 25 years and older than young people, know their status. By contrast, the involvement of civil society organizations and the use of peer-led community approaches led to relatively high testing coverage among female sex workers, with the majority of countries having coverage of 60% or above.

### Challenges

#### Human rights

Data from 16 People Living with HIV Stigma Index surveys conducted in the region between 2011 and 2015 showed that stigma and discrimination against people living with HIV remained high. People living with HIV reported verbal violence in the form

## Percent of men and women (aged 15–49 years) who received an HIV test and the results in the year before the survey, most recent data, 2010–2014



Source: Demographic and Health Surveys, 2010-2014.



### HIV testing coverage among female sex workers, western and central Africa in 2013 and 2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

of insults, harassment and threats, with the proportion who had suffered ranging from 15% in Sierra Leone to 70% in Cameroon.

Many people also reported being forced to change their place of residence or being unable to rent accommodation (53% of those interviewed in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, 12% in Ghana, 10% in Mali). People had been denied access to health services and reproductive health services because of their HIV status, with the proportion of interviewees reporting such discrimination ranging from 1% in Benin to 21% in Nigeria. The proportion of people living with HIV who reported selfstigmatizing ranged from 16% in Chad to 67% in Liberia.

Using the Stigma Index data to inform national action plans to reduce stigma and discrimination at national and regional levels was also a challenge. Although Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau and Niger had begun to implement the recommendations of their national Stigma Index surveys, funding was limited.

#### Women and girls

Gender assessments of national epidemics and responses were conducted in Burundi, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Chad, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Gabon, Nigeria and Senegal. These reinforced that women and girls in the region are more vulnerable to HIV—in part due to laws and policies that maintain traditional gender roles—and that women in key populations had limited access to services.

Rates of gender-based violence were high: 9.3% of ever-married or partnered women in Burkina Faso (and over 40% of female sex workers), 31.4% in Cameroon and 31.5% in Gabon had experienced physical and/or sexual violence from an intimate partner in the previous 12 months.

The responsiveness of HIV programmes and strategies to women's needs was uneven. HIV-related data were often not disaggregated by sex, age, sexual orientation or gender identity. Although Nigeria had several strategies on gender equality and HIV, budget allocations for these interventions were less than 1% of the total expenditure on HIV. Innovative HIV testing strategies are needed, including self-testing options, community-based testing, provider-initiated testing and counselling for priority groups. These strategies should be informed by epidemiological data, should include case-finding via family-centred approaches and a special focus on men.

## **Opportunities**

#### **Fast-Track Cities initiative**

Nine of the 15 cities identified in the region as priorities for the Fast-Track Cities initiative (Abidjan, Abuja, Accra, Cotonou, Douala, Lagos, Libreville, Lomé, Yaoundé) were implementing city action plans on HIV. Abidjan, Bamenda, Douala and Yaounde conducted mapping exercises to identify hotspots for sex work and access of sex workers to treatment and prevention of mother-to-child transmission services. In Benin and Togo, other cities were also involved in the initiative. Over 200 mayors in the region had signed the Paris Declaration on HIV and committed to ending the AIDS epidemic as a public health threat in cities by 2030.

As part of these efforts, tripartite memoranda of understanding were signed in 2015 between Microsoft, the Global Alliance of Mayors and Leaders of Africa and of African Descent and the Accra Metropolitan Assembly and Senegalese Mayors' Association. Microsoft's CityNext programme aims to assist cities in building "centres of excellence" and in the remote provision of clinical services, and to support e-learning, e-citizen and e-health initiatives. The programme will also enable cities to reduce costs without reducing services and provide real-time information to improve services and involve citizens (7). The overall goal of the initiative is to contribute to more sustainable, secure, smart and healthy cities in which every individual and every company will do better.

#### Improving the efficiency and sustainability of HIV programmes

Western and central African countries, with their diverse epidemics and responses, and in the context of declining international resources, worked with international partners to improve HIV programmes efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability.

Pilots of innovative financing mechanisms, such as taxes on imports, tobacco, transport, hotels and tourism and levies on telephone calls, were undertaken. Studies

were established in Burundi, Cameroon, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Nigeria and Togo using the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) Sustainability Index and Dashboard and the UNAIDS investment approach to establish a baseline from which to measure national progress towards sustainable HIV responses.

Côte d'Ivoire, Senegal and Togo conducted modelling exercises of their epidemics and responses, which informed realignments of their national strategic plans and oriented resources to achieve the 90–90–90 treatment target. Nigeria began developing investment cases for its six most affected states to mobilize domestic resources and make state-level responses more effective. Other actions to improve the use of funds in the region included prioritizing interventions in locations and for populations where they would have the most impact.

.....

Asia and the Pacific has the second highest number of people living with HIV in the world. The region's HIV epidemic is concentrated among key populations and their intimate partners. Progress in reducing new HIV infections has slowed in recent years, and there are rising epidemics in some countries. Insufficient coverage of harm reduction services threatens further progress. Condom use was low among gay men and other men who have sex with men in several countries, and across the region among people who inject drugs. Prevention programmes often struggle to reach young key populations. Other challenges include the criminalization and incarceration of key populations, stigma and discrimination (particularly in healthcare settings), lack of innovation in service delivery models, slow pace of introducing new technologies, and strong dependence on international financing for effective prevention measures.

### **TRENDS AND TARGETS**

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), Asia and the Pacific, 2010–2015

New HIV infections among children (aged 0-14 years), Asia and the Pacific, 2010-2015



Progress towards the 90-90-90 target, Asia and the Pacific, 2015



HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

who are on antiretroviral treatment

HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 16 countries, which accounted for 93% of people living with HIV in the region.

<sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 15 countries. Regionally, 29% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.



## Distribution of new HIV infections by country, Asia and the Pacific, 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

# Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), Asia and the Pacific, from 2010 to 2015







Source: Cambodia AIDS Epidemic Model (AEM) - Spectrum 2016, submitted for the Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting and HIV Estimation 2016.



Source: Ministry of Health Malaysia. (2015). AIDS Epidemic Model Malaysia (1980–2030).



Source: National HIV and STI Surveillance and Strategic Information Unit, National Epidemiology Center, Department of Health, Philippines. (2016). Philippines HIV Estimates 1990–2015.



THAILAND



Source: Thailand Working Group on HIV/AIDS Projection (2015).

Remaining population

\*heterosexual casual sex among general population

\*\*female sex workers and clients \*\*\*spousal transmission from husband living with HIV to wife (serodiscordant couple) \*\*\*\*spousal transmission from wife living with HIV to husband (serodiscordant couple)

### The HIV epidemic in Asia and the Pacific

Asia and the Pacific is the region with the second highest number of people living with HIV in the world, with an estimated 5.1 million [4.4–5.9 million] people in 2015. Within the region, women accounted for 36% of all adults living with HIV.

There were an estimated 300 000 [240 000–380 000] new HIV infections in the region in 2015, with young people aged 15 to 24 years accounting for 37% of all new HIV infections.

Asia and the Pacific has made progress in reducing new infections, with a 5% decline between 2010 and 2015. An encouraging decline in new HIV infections among children also was registered: 30% between 2009 and 2015. Reductions in new infections are occurring more slowly than they did over the previous 10 years, however, and this is concerning.

While the decline in new infections was significant in many countries that have mature epidemics (such as Cambodia, India and Thailand), these gains were offset by rising epidemics in other countries, such as Indonesia, Pakistan and the Philippines. Ten countries—China, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, the Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam—accounted for 96% of the region's new HIV infections in 2015.

The HIV epidemic in Asia and the Pacific is concentrated among key populations (gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers, people who inject drugs and transgender people) and their intimate partners, and low national prevalence masks much higher prevalence in specific places, particularly urban areas. This underscores the need for a location and population approach that maximizes the impact of scarce resources.

Transmission patterns vary, both from country to country and within individual countries over time. In Malaysia and Thailand, for example, the percentage of new infections through injecting drug use steadily decreased between 1995 and 2015; in the Philippines and Thailand, the percentage of new infections through male-to-male sex dramatically increased over the same period *(1)*.

HIV prevalence among female sex workers was over 5% in three of the 21 countries that provided data (Indonesia, Malaysia and Myanmar). In urban areas, HIV prevalence was much higher: in Ha Noi, Viet Nam, it was 18% (almost seven times the national average), and in Yangon, Myanmar, it was 25% (almost twice the national average). National HIV prevalence among male sex workers was higher than 5% in three of the eight countries that provided data between 2012 and 2015 (Indonesia, Nepal and Thailand).

HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men in 2015 was higher than 5% in nine of the 19 countries that reported data. HIV prevalence was particularly high in many cities and urban areas: it was 28.6% in Bangkok (Thailand), 26.6% in Yangon (Myanmar) and 20.3% in Yogyakarta (Indonesia).

## HIV prevalence among key populations, select geographical locations in Asia and the Pacific, most recent data, 2013-2015

Cambodia, Siem Reap (2014) India, Andhra Pradesh (2014-15) Viet Nam, Ho Chi Minh City (2015) Philippines, Cebu City (2015) Mongolia, Ulaanbaatar (2014) China, Chengdu (2013) Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur (2014) Myanmar, Yangon (2015) Thailand, Bangkok (2014) Nepal, eastern Terai (2015) India, Delhi & Rajasthan (2014-15) Viet Nam, Thai Nguyen (2015) Cambodia, Phnom Penh (2012) Philippines, Cebu City (2015) Myanmar, Muse (2014) Malaysia, Kelantan (2014) Pakistan, Faisalabad (2014) Indonesia, Pontianak (2013) Viet Nam, Ho Chi Minh City (2015) India, Maharashtra (2014-15) Indonesia, Makassar (2013) Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur (2014) Indonesia, Mimika (2013) Viet Nam, Hanoi (2015) Myanmar, Yangon (2015) Indonesia, Samarinda (2013) Thailand, Bangkok (2014) Indonesia, Makassar (2013) Philippines, Cebu City (2015) Thailand, Chiang Mai (2014) Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur (2014)



Source: HIV sentinel surveillance reports and integrated biological and behavioural surveillance reports and 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

HIV prevalence among young gay men and other men who have sex with men (aged 15 to 24 years) was higher than 5% in six of the 13 countries that provided data. High incidence of HIV among young gay men and other men who have sex with men in urban areas also is a concern. Findings from an HIV incidence cohort study in China indicate that the incidence of HIV among young men who have sex with men (aged 18 to 25 years) was as high as 18.9, 10.6 and 5.6 per 100 person years in Guiyang, Beijing and Shanghai, respectively (2). Similarly, a study in Bangkok showed an overall high HIV incidence among younger cohorts of men who have sex with men compared to their older peers: HIV incidence was 8.8 per 100 person years among those aged 18 to 21 years and 3.7 per 100 person years among men over 30 years of age (3).

Asia and the Pacific is home to one third of the world's population of people who inject drugs, and 14% of all people who are living with HIV (4). In 2015, national HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs was higher than 5% in 11 of the 15 countries that provided data; among young people who inject drugs (those aged 15 to 24 years), national HIV prevalence was over 5% in four of the ten countries that provided age-disaggregated data. The incarceration rate of people who inject drugs is very high and they represent an important part of the prison population. For example, in Indonesia, with HIV prevalence among prisoners reported at 3%, a survey among prisoners incarcerated for drug-related crimes, showed that more than one-third had injected heroin. (5)

There were geographical areas with extremely high HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the region: Kota Pontianak, Indonesia (60.7%); Faisalabad, Pakistan (47.4%); Kelantan, Malaysia (44.7%); Muse, Myanmar (43%); and Cebu City, Philippines (42.8%). In Afghanistan, Myanmar, Pakistan and Viet Nam, people who inject drugs accounted for 20–65% of all new HIV infections among adults aged 15 to 49 in 2015 *(6)*.

Data on national HIV prevalence among transgender people remain limited, but available subnational data indicate high HIV prevalence in certain locations, for example, 30.8% in Jakarta, Indonesia and 19.3% in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

## Progress and gaps in prevention

#### **Key populations**

There are multiple challenges to reaching sex workers with HIV prevention services, including migration and mobility, a shift towards online and freelance sex work, drug use (including injecting drug use), and punitive laws, policies and law-enforcement approaches. These factors increase vulnerability to violence and HIV among sex workers. Despite these challenges, behavioural surveys show that condom use at last commercial sex by female sex workers reached a median of 81% in Asia and the Pacific, with five countries surpassing 90%. High condom use correlates with reports of declining HIV infections among sex workers in the region.





#### CAMBODIA, 1999–2011

#### MAHARASHTRA, INDIA, 2001-2011



Consistent condom use with clients during the last week
HIV prevalence





POKHARA, NEPAL, 2004–2011



HIV prevalence

HIV prevalence

133

## HIV testing among key populations, Asia and the Pacific, most recent data, 2010–2015

<50%	50% - 75%	>75%		
PEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS				
Afghanistan	Bangladesh			
Australia	China			
Cambodia	India			
Indonesia	Thailand			
Malaysia				
Myanmar				
Nepal				
Pakistan				
Philippines				
Sri Lanka				
Viet Nam				
FEMALE SEX WORKERS				
Afghanistan	Cambodia	India		
Bangladesh	China			
Fiji	Mongolia			
Indonesia	Nepal			
Lao People's Democratic Republic	Thailand			
Malaysia				
Myanmar				
Pakistan				
Philippines				
Sri Lanka				
Vanuatu				
Viet Nam				
MALE SEX WORKERS				
Pakistan	Bangladesh			
Papua New Guinea	Nepal			
Philippines	Thailand			
GAY MEN AND MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN				
Afghanistan	Australia	Cambodia		
Bangladesh	China			
Japan	India			
Lao People's Democratic Republic	Indonesia			
Malaysia	Mongolia			
Nepal	Myanmar			
New Zealand	Papua New Guinea			
Philippines				
Singapore				
Sri Lanka				
Thailand				
Viet Nam				

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

Behavioural surveys in the region indicate that around half of the surveyed gay men and other men who have sex with men were under 25 years of age. Compared to their older counterparts, fewer young men who have sex with men were being reached by HIV prevention programmes, fewer had access to HIV testing services and fewer were using condoms. Overall, 62% of men used a condom at last anal sex with a man (regional median). No country reported condom use at 90% or higher, although five countries—Cambodia, China, India, Nepal and Thailand reported condom use over 80%. In Afghanistan, only 17% of men reported using a condom at last anal sex with a man.

Overall, 85% of people who inject drugs (regional median) reported use of sterile injecting equipment at last injection; over 80% reported safe injecting practices in nine of the 15 responding countries. In several countries where HIV prevalence is high among people who inject drugs, the coverage of needle-syringe programmes was still low, with fewer than 100 clean needles and syringes provided per person in need per year.

## Sterile injecting equipment distributed by harm reduction programmes, Asia and the Pacific, most recent data, 2014–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting; UNAIDS. Do No Harm - Health, Human Rights and People who Use Drugs (2016).

Available data on opioid substitution therapy programmes indicate low coverage in 2015. In the eight countries that reported data (Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar and Viet Nam), an estimated 120 000 people who used drugs were enrolled in opioid substitution therapy, with coverage ranging from 0.5% of people who inject drugs in Afghanistan to 24% in Malaysia.

Opioid substitution therapy is available in prisons in Indonesia and Malaysia and one Indian prison. Needle and syringe programs are not available in any prison in the region.

For the region as a whole, only 55% of people who inject drugs reported using a condom the last time they had sex.

#### **Viral suppression**

An estimated 64% [55–74%] of people living with HIV in Asia and the Pacific in 2015 knew their HIV status, and about 41% [35–47%] of those who knew their status were on antiretroviral therapy. Considerable gaps in the treatment cascade remained in many countries. Achieving the 90–90–90 target by 2020 requires diagnosing 1.3 million people living with HIV who do not know their HIV status, starting an additional 2 million people on antiretroviral therapy and ensuring that an additional 1.9 million people living with HIV achieve viral suppression in the next 5 years. The gaps in diagnosis and treatment led to just 34% [29-39%] of all people living with HIV in Asia and the Pacific achieving the viral suppression necessary to prevent HIV transmission.

HIV testing data from across the region show that 1.9 million people living with HIV did not know their HIV status in 2015. Importantly, HIV testing rates remained suboptimal among key populations in many countries. Fewer than one in three people [8–73% in 15 countries] who inject drugs had tested for HIV in the past 12 months and knew the results, while about half of female sex workers [5–91% in 18 countries], male sex workers [5–68% in six countries] and men who have sex with men [14–87% in 20 countries] surveyed in the region knew their HIV status.

Out of the 39 countries in the region, just 15 reported data on viral load testing in 2015. The percentage of people among those tested who were virally suppressed ranged from 58% in Pakistan and 63% in Viet Nam, to more than 90% in Cambodia, China, Mongolia, Nepal, the Philippines and Thailand.

#### Challenges

To enable Asia and the Pacific to reach its Fast-Track targets, countries must address chronic bottlenecks that continue to hamper the scale-up of effective programmes that include community members, especially those among key populations. Challenges that need to be overcome include the criminalization of key populations, stigma and discrimination (particularly in health care settings), a lack of innovation in service delivery models, and the slow pace of introducing and adapting new technologies at a scale that will make a difference.

A common response to drug use in the region is the confinement of people who inject drugs in compulsory treatment and rehabilitation centres. In total, 455 814 people who use drugs were incarcerated in 948 centres in seven countries in 2014. The number of people confined in these centres has decreased by only 4% since 2012 (7).



#### Punitive laws in 38 countries in Asia and the Pacific that hamper the HIV response

Source: UNAIDS, Punitive laws hindering the HIV response in Asia and the Pacific (as of June 2016).

### The vicious cycle of compulsory detention centres



Source: Based on Kamarulzaman A and McBrayer JL. Compulsory drug detention centres in East and southeast Asia. International Journal of Drug Policy. 2015;26(1):S33–37.

## Percent distribution of prevention spending by financing source, Asia and the Pacific, most recent data, 2009–2014



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

A significant proportion of key populations use social media and mobile applications to network, and national programmes are failing to implement new approaches to reaching them with effective HIV services. For example, in the Philippines in 2011, 21% of surveyed gay men and other men who have sex with men were members of social networking sites; by 2015, this had increased to 80%, and nearly 40% [16-92%] found at least one sex partner through these sites (8, 9).

In 2014, an estimated US\$ 2.4 billion was spent on HIV responses in Asia and the Pacific. The region's upper-middle-income countries were almost fully funding their responses: China (99% domestically funded), Malaysia (94% domestically funded) and Thailand (89% domestically funded). Despite this, the strong dependence on international financing for prevention—and the limited fiscal space and political will of countries to invest in effective combination prevention programmes for key populations—remains a major impediment to the response.

#### **Opportunities**

A Fast-Track response in Asia and the Pacific will require countries to seize key opportunities. This includes introducing and scaling up new approaches and

### Countries in Asia and the Pacific where community-based HIV testing is piloted



Source: Information based on communications with national HIV programmes and UNAIDS country offices.

technologies like task-shifting, active case finding and management, reanimating combination prevention including pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and communitybased treatment alternatives and services for people who use drugs, and the smart use of social media for HIV prevention.

PrEP is an additional prevention option that should be used widely in the region in conjunction with other appropriate combination prevention interventions, including sexual and reproductive health services. PrEP for gay men and other men who have sex with men is currently being piloted in five sites in Thailand, and there is an ongoing study on its use among female sex workers in India (10). The Philippines and Viet Nam also are in the process of designing pilot studies on PrEP for gay men and other men who have sex with men in Manila and Ho Chi Minh City, respectively.

In the Philippines, the community-based organization LoveYourself has implemented an innovative Platinum service that provides confidential HIV counselling and testing for young gay professional men in discreet but accessible locations, delivering the results on the same day *(11)*.

Achieving the 90-90-90 target will require innovation and a mix of strategies to expand HIV testing for key populations and their intimate partners (including

community-based and community-led HIV testing), early treatment initiation and retention, and application of routine viral load testing. It also will require peer support across the continuum of prevention, treatment and care. Efforts to support countries to protect and use Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) flexibilities to ensure sustained access to affordable medicines, diagnostics and commodities—including second- and third-line antiretroviral therapy regimens, and tuberculosis and hepatitis C medications—must be intensified.

It is important to promote an investment approach that supports countries in the implementation of evidence-based programming, including the development of transitional financing plans and the use of universal health coverage schemes to ensure the sustainability of the AIDS response.

The Asia–Pacific Regional Framework for Action to End AIDS by 2030—the regional framework adopted by 53 Member States of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific—continues to guide national efforts towards accelerating action and investment in the HIV response to end the AIDS epidemic as a public health threat by 2030.

## LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

New HIV infections among children across Latin America and the Caribbean declined as a result of strong programmes to prevent mother-to-child transmission. Among adults, however, rates of new HIV infections slowly but steadily rose by 3% between 2010 and 2015. This rise was in contrast to a sharp 20% decline during the previous decade. The HIV epidemic is concentrated among key populations, particularly gay men and other men who have sex with men. Young people in the Caribbean are also disproportionately vulnerable to HIV. Prevention is inadequately funded across the region, although some countries were beginning to implement combination prevention, including pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). Other challenges include; insuring the rights of key populations, especially lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex (LGBTI) people, are recognized; eliminating widespread discrimination in the provision of health and other social services and discriminatory and punitive laws and policies against people living with HIV; and removing barriers that prevent adolescents and young people from accessing sexual and reproductive health and HIV services and commodities.

.....
#### **TRENDS AND TARGETS** .....

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010–2015

New HIV infections among children (aged 0-14 years), Latin America and the Caribbean, 2010–2015



#### Progress towards the 90-90-90 target, Latin America and the Caribbean, 2015



Percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

Percentage of people living with HIV who are on antiretroviral treatment

Percentage of people living with HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 15 countries, which accounted for 76% of people living with HIV in the region. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 21 countries. Regionally, 77% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.



### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, Latin America and the Caribbean, 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

## Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), Latin America and the Caribbean, from 2010 to 2015



## Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, Latin America and the Caribbean, 2014



Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016.

### The HIV epidemic in Latin America and the Caribbean

In Latin America and the Caribbean, the rate of new HIV infections remained stable between 2010 and 2015 at about 100 000 [86 000–120 000] annually. This overall trend, however, masked differences between Latin America and the Caribbean, and between adults and children and in contrast to the previous decade.

Among adults in Latin America, the annual number of new HIV infections has slowly risen since 2000, reaching about 91 000 [76 000–109 000] in 2015. Increases were greatest, above 20%, between 2010 and 2015 in select countries in Central America, including Belize, Nicaragua, and Guatemala. Steady albeit smaller increases were observed for the same time period in Mexico and Panama (8%), Chile (6%), Colombia (5%) and Brazil (4%). Among adults in the Caribbean, years of steady declines in new HIV infections between 2000 and 2012—primarily due to early prevention efforts in Haiti—have slowed and then reversed in recent years. The annual number of new HIV infections in the Caribbean was estimated at 9000 [7500–11 000] in 2015. While the rates of new infections among adults in the two subregions in 2015 were similar, there were 10 times as many new HIV infections in Latin America as in the Caribbean in 2015, reflecting the much larger population size of Latin America.



## HIV prevalence among sex workers, Latin America and the Caribbean, most recent data, 2013–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

New HIV infections among children declined across Latin American and the Caribbean by more than 50%, down from an estimated 4700 [3500–6400] in 2010 to 2100 [1600–2900] in 2015. Progress was greatest in the Caribbean, where new infections among children plummeted from an estimated 2300 [1600–3000] in 2010 to 400 [200–700] in 2015. The Caribbean's share of new infections among children in the region declined from 48% to 19%.

Brazil alone accounted for more than 40% of all new HIV infections in the region, and an additional 41% of total new infections occurred in seven countries: Argentina, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Colombia, Cuba, Guatemala, Mexico and Peru. The HIV epidemic remained predominately concentrated among key populations. Gay men and other men who have sex with men accounted for nearly one third of new HIV infections in 2014, while all key populations and their sexual partners accounted for nearly two thirds of new infections (1).

HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men was particularly high in urban areas. For example, a sero-behavioural surveillance survey conducted in São Paulo in 2012 found an HIV prevalence of 15.4% among gay men and other men who have sex with men who were over the age of 18 years (30). Among those aged 18 to 24 years, HIV prevalence was already 6.4%.

Transgender women have some of the highest HIV prevalence rates in countries where data are collected on this key population. Data reported to UNAIDS by countries based on special surveys among key populations between 2011 and 2015 also show much higher HIV prevalence among transgender women sex workers than among male and female sex workers.

Two million [1.7 million–2.3 million] people were living with HIV in the region, of whom 670 000 [570 000–800 000] were adult women and 32 000 [27 000–38 000] were children under the age of 15.

### Progress and gaps in prevention

Across Latin America and the Caribbean, prevention is inadequately funded and does not reach sufficient percentages of key populations (*32*). Although all 17 Latin American countries provided free male condoms through the public health service, only six provided free female condoms (Brazil, Ecuador, Mexico, Peru, the Plurinational State of Bolivia and Uruguay) (*2*, *3*).

Condom use among key populations in the region varied. Among gay men and other men who have sex with men, condom use during last anal sex ranged from 40% to 88%, with five countries reaching 80% or higher. An additional 13 countries reached at least 60%.

Among sex workers, condom use during their last transactional sex ranged from 57% in Belize to greater than 95% in Panama and Antigua and Barbuda. In the 16 countries that reported data to UNAIDS, condom use among transgender people ranged from 63% to greater than 95%.

Although reported condom use among key populations appeared relatively high, improved linkages across HIV prevention, testing and treatment services and greater access to PrEP are needed to further reduce new HIV infections. Data from Mexico illustrate the challenge: continuum of care cascades for general and key populations show that the percentage of people living with HIV who have been diagnosed is lower among people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men. As a result, fewer people from key populations living with HIV are receiving treatment to suppress the virus (4). Mexico is exploring through a demonstration project how to increase use of PrEP.

Condom use at last sexual intercourse among gay men and other men who have sex with men, Latin America and the Caribbean, most recent data, 2013–2015

<50%	50% - 75%	>75%
Dominican Republic	Barbados	Antigua and Barbuda
Peru	Belize	Argentina
	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Bahamas
	Brazil	Costa Rica
	Chile	Ecuador
	Colombia	Saint Kitts and Nevis
	Cuba	
	El Salvador	
	Guatemala	
	Guayana	
	Haiti	
	Honduras	
	Jamaica	
	Mexico	
	Nicaragua	
	Panama	
	Paraguay	
	Saint Vincent	
	Suriname	
	Trinidad and Tobago	
	Uruguay	

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.



### HIV continuum of care cascade among the general population and key populations, Mexico, 2013

Source: National Center for HIV and AIDS Prevention and Control, Mexico 2014.

#### **Pre-exposure prophylaxis**

As part of its efforts to implement combination prevention, Brazil conducted a study of PrEP among men who have sex with men and transgender women. The study showed a 51% uptake of PrEP among all those who were potentially eligible to receive it, including 67% uptake among potentially eligible transgender women and 78% uptake among potentially eligible people who had self-referred. Rates of uptake were increased when those eligible had a steady partner (58%), assessed themselves as being at high risk of acquiring HIV (61%) and had an HIV test in the previous year (58%).

These data suggest that the higher an individual's perceived risk of HIV, the more likely they were to seek and use PrEP (5). Other research showed that Brazil's universal health care system and the range of prevention and care services that are already available to transgender women, people living with HIV and gay men and other men who have sex with men would be major facilitators in the implementation of PrEP, but that increasing awareness of the availability of PrEP, improving the frequency of testing and creating greater awareness of risk perception among these key populations—especially among transgender women—is required (6).

#### Young people

Young people, and especially among key populations, in Latin America and the Caribbean are disproportionately at risk of HIV infection, and they face greater barriers to accessing prevention services. Specific to young women, survey data from Barbados, Belize, Costa Rica, Cuba, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guyana, Panama and Uruguay show that between 5–16% of young women aged 15 to 24 years report they became sexually active before the age of 15. Despite this, girls in these countries need parental consent or accompaniment to access sexual and reproductive health care services.

In the Caribbean, young women who are in sexual relationships with older men may be at higher risk of HIV infection. Survey data from the Caribbean show that 9–24% of women aged 15 to 24 years reported having sex with a man at least 10 years older than themselves within the last 12 months. Other risk factors—such as multiple sexual partners and inconsistent condom use—compound the risk of age mixing in these countries.

#### **Viral suppression**

An estimated 77% [65–91%] of people living with HIV in Latin America in 2015 knew their HIV status, and 55% [47–64%] of people living with HIV were on antiretroviral therapy and around 43% [36–51%] of all people living with HIV in Latin America had achieved viral suppression. Achieving the 90–90–90 target in 2015 would have required diagnosing nearly 220 000 people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, starting an additional 430 000 people on antiretroviral therapy and ensuring that an additional 510 000 people living with HIV achieved viral suppression.

In the Caribbean, an estimated 62% [53–74%] of people living with HIV in 2015 had been diagnosed, meaning an additional 78 000 people needed to be diagnosed to

# HIV testing in key populations, Latin America and the Caribbean, most recent data, 2013–2015

<50%	50% - 75%	>75%		
GAY MEN AND OTHER MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN				
Argentina	Bahamas	Antigua and Barbuda		
Barbados	Belize	Panama		
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Costa Rica	Saint Kitts and Nevis		
Brazil	Ecuador	Suriname		
Chile	El Salvador			
Colombia	Haiti			
Cuba	Honduras			
Dominicia	Jamaica			
Dominican Republic	Nicaragua			
Guatemala	Trinidad and Tobago			
Guyana				
Mexico				
Paraguay				
Peru				
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines				
Uruguay				
FEMALE SEX WORKERS				
Cuba	Belize	Costa Rica		
Peru	Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Ecuador		
Uruguay	Chile	Mexico		
	Colombia	Panama		
	Guyana			
	Honduras			
	Jamaica			
	Nicaragua			
	Paraguay			
TRANSGENDER SEX WORKERS				
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Mexico	Honduras		
Bolivia (Plurinational State of) Colombia	Mexico	Honduras Paraguay		
	Mexico			
Colombia	Mexico	Paraguay		

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

have achieved the first 90 in 2015. Among all people living with HIV, 50% [43–59%] were on treatment.

Estimates of viral suppression were much lower in the Caribbean than they were in Latin America, at 27% [24–44%] of all people living with HIV. Starting an additional 86 000 people living with HIV on treatment and achieving viral suppression in over 120 000 people living with HIV was required to achieve the 90–90–90 target in 2015.

Survey data indicate that periodic HIV testing and knowledge of HIV status were particularly low among key populations. HIV testing in the last 12 months among gay men and other men who have sex with other men ranged from 5% to 70%, showing large differences in access to testing services between countries in the region. Testing coverage among sex workers was higher among female sex workers (ranging from 39% to 98%) than among male sex workers (ranging from 17% to 70%). Among countries that reported on transgender sex workers, HIV testing was between 28% and 85%.

Smaller-scale studies on HIV testing produced similar results. In Buenos Aires, Argentina, a 2014 survey found that 52% of gay men and other men who have sex with men had never been tested for HIV, and 20% had only been tested once. Among the 17% of study participants who were found to be living with HIV, almost half were

## HIV testing among sex workers, Latin America and the Caribbean, most recent data, 2013–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

unaware of their status (7). In another study in Brazil, almost half of gay men and other men who have sex with men surveyed in 2009 had never been tested for HIV (8).

Progress in scaling up treatment services was uneven across the region. In the Caribbean, antiretroviral therapy coverage increased from 20% [16–25%] in 2010 to 50% [43–59%] in 2015. Progress was slower in Latin America, although the overall coverage in 2015 was higher: it rose from 34% [29–40%] in 2010 to 56% [47–66%] in 2015. Brazil, Barbados and Chile were able to achieve very high levels of viral load suppression among people on treatment of 90%, 88% and 84%, respectively, while also reaching relatively high levels of antiretroviral therapy coverage (55%, 43% and 87%, respectively). In 2013, approximately 71% of patients receiving antiretroviral therapy were on a first-line regimen, indicating that an estimated 29% of patients had already experienced a treatment failure (10).

Treatment in Latin America was largely funded by domestic sources, but in the Caribbean, 11 out of 16 countries were highly (75–100%) dependent on external sources (9). The sustainability of the scale-up and achievement of sustained viral suppression was threatened by the relatively high cost of antiretroviral medicines. Middle-income countries in Latin America (such as Argentina and Brazil) paid higher prices for a number of second- and third-line treatments (11).

### Challenges

#### **Rights of key populations**

Some countries in the region have made significant progress in recognizing the rights of LGBTI people. Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Mexico and Uruguay allow marriage or civil unions between people of the same sex (2, 3).

Despite this progress, there were still high rates of violence against LGBTI people across the region (12). According to the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights Registry of Violence against LGBTI people—which documented violence against LGBTI persons in member states of the Organization of American States<sup>1</sup> during a 15-month period in 2013 and 2014 (13)—gay men and other men who have sex with men and transgender women represented the majority of the victims of killings and acts of police abuse, and lesbian women and bisexual persons were particularly affected by intrafamily and sexual violence (12).

Between 2008 and the end of 2015, more than 2000 murders of transgender and gender-diverse people were reported in 65 countries worldwide. Of these, more than 1500 were reported in Central and South America. Brazil and Mexico had the highest absolute numbers of such murders in the world (802 and 229, respectively), while the numbers in Colombia (105), the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (98) and Honduras (79) also were higher than anywhere else in the world apart from the United States (132) *(14)*.

<sup>1</sup> Argentina, Barbados, Belize, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, the Plurinational State of Bolivia, the United States of America and Uruguay. The vast majority of killings and acts of violence against LGBTI people went unpunished. Obstacles to access to justice included fear of filing complaints, inaction or abuse by government authorities, and flawed investigations (*12*). In fact, a 2012 government survey in Argentina found that 83% of transgender women surveyed had been victims of grave acts of violence and discrimination perpetrated by police (*15*). A 2014 study from the Dominican Republic found that 36% of transgender sex workers had been forced to perform "sexual favours" for police officers to avoid being arrested (*15*).

Eleven Caribbean countries have discriminatory laws against same-sex sexual acts. The penalty in most of these countries is imprisonment for 10 years. In Belize, Dominica, Jamaica, Saint Kitts and Nevis, and Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, the penalty for same-sex sexual acts is imprisonment for up to 14 years (16). Although these laws tend not to be enforced, their existence is used to hassle, persecute, harass and threaten persons with different sexual orientations or gender identity or expressions, and they contribute to a context that condones discrimination, stigma and violence against LGBTI people (12, 16).

#### Stigma and discrimination

Discrimination in health and other social services was widespread, and discriminatory and punitive laws and policies further limited access to services. Key populations and women living with HIV were subject to practices such as forced sterilization and denial of health services (17–19).

Nicaragua and Paraguay had restrictions on the permanent stay of people living with HIV who had been in the country longer than three months. In both countries, resident permits were withdrawn in the case of a positive HIV test. In Paraguay, an exception was made if individuals could prove they had sufficient resources to pay for their own treatment.

In the Caribbean, small island states face challenges in ensuring the confidentiality of people living with HIV, and people living with HIV and members of sexual minorities can be easily identified for harassment and violence (20).

#### Young people

Across the region, there were a number of barriers preventing adolescents and young people, especially among key populations, from accessing sexual and reproductive health and HIV services and commodities (2, 3). The provision of comprehensive sexual education also varies widely across the region, and in some countries, it continued to be provided at the discretion of educational centres and teachers (21).

For most countries in Latin America, the average age of consent for heterosexual intercourse was 14. In the Caribbean, it was 16 (22). In many countries, young people who had reached the age of consent but had not attained the age of majority (i.e. they were not legally considered to be adults) required parental or guardian consent to access HIV and sexual and reproductive health services (2, 3). This meant that sexually active young people were being denied services, leaving them vulnerable to unwanted pregnancy and sexually transmitted infections (2, 3).

Similar barriers existed for HIV testing. In nine of 17 countries, minors required parental or guardian consent to take an HIV test and find out the results. A few countries in the Caribbean have developed policies allowing minors to access HIV testing without parental consent, either allowing it at any age (such as in Guyana) or above the age of 14 (as in Trinidad and Tobago) (23, 24). In Mexico and Panama, adolescents had to be accompanied by a parent, a legal guardian or other state-recognized individuals responsible for the well-being of adolescents in order to receive their test results. In Paraguay, health staff could request authorization to conduct an HIV test in the absence of parents or guardians.

### **Opportunities**

#### Self-testing

In 2015, Brazil began providing self-testing kits to the general population. These kits were made available free of charge from pharmacies, medication distribution centres, health services and government health programmes, as well as through the mail. The oral self-testing kits featured clear instructions and a telephone helpline (25).

From January 2015 to March 2016, more than 4000 HIV tests were performed by four testing units in Curitiba, Brazil. More than 72 000 people accessed the online platform "A Hora e Agora" and around 2900 self-testing HIV kits were distributed (*26*).

#### **Regional support for a Fast-Track approach**

The Second Latin American and Caribbean Forum on the Continuum of HIV Care issued a call to action—including regional Fast-Track prevention targets for 2020 and 2030—with an emphasis on combination prevention packages for gay men and other men who have sex with men, transgender women, sex workers, people who use drugs and young people (*27*). These targets are consistent with the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS, which calls for a reduction of the annual number of people newly infected with HIV in the region to 40 000 adults and fewer than 500 children by 2020.

The Central American Regional Coordination Mechanism—the HIV advisory body of the Central American Health Ministers Commission—is strongly committed to the 90–90–90 target and the Fast-Track initiative, and was implementing a regional sustainability strategy. The objective of the strategy was to accelerate progress towards meeting the commitment to universal access, the Sustainable Development Goals and the Rio Call to Action in prevention, care, treatment and support for HIV. This was to be accomplished by orienting efforts and increased resources to the most effective interventions in Central America, including strengthening primary health care systems (*31*).

The region also has strong inter-institutional and civil society networks. These include the Horizontal Technical Cooperation Group (HTCG), REDLACTRANS (a regional network of transgender people), REDTRASEX (a regional network of sex workers), ICW Latina (the International Community of Women living with HIV) and REDCA+ (a Central American network of people living with HIV) in Latin America. In the Caribbean, CVC COIN (a coalition of community leaders and nongovernmental organizations working with vulnerable populations), Caribbean Sex Workers Coalition, CARIFLAGS (a forum for Liberation and Acceptance of Genders and Sexualities) and CRN+ (a regional network of HIV-positive people) are among the lead civil society organizations that work in close collaboration with the Pan Caribbean Partnership against HIV & AIDS (PANCAP).

## Ensuring respect for the rights of people living with HIV, women at risk and key populations

The second Latin American and Caribbean Forum on the Continuum of HIV resulted in the Rio Call to Action, which set targets for combination prevention and zero discrimination, along with a number of priorities for achieving these targets. Those priorities include the following:

- Basing all commitments and subsequent actions on respect for—and promotion and assurance of—human rights with a gender perspective.
- Increasing actions aimed at reducing prejudice, violence, stigma and discrimination associated with HIV or against persons living with HIV and key populations (gay men and other men who have sex with men, female and male sex workers, transgender persons, drug users, persons in prisons, and women and girls) and other populations left behind by the response. This was to be done through actions such as eliminating legal and political barriers, reducing discrimination in health care settings, addressing the specific needs of women and girls, reducing violence and guaranteeing access to justice.
- Strengthening national strategic information systems to ensure appropriate monitoring of progress (27).

PANCAP is working closely with UNDP and UNAIDS to document and address gaps in human rights throughout the region. This work is bringing together stakeholders and the leadership in the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) to advocate for attaining the Fast-Track targets by 2020.

The Organization of American States and its human rights body, the Inter-American Commission of Human Rights (the Commission), is providing legal protection for people living with and affected by HIV according to its 2013 resolution on HIV and the promotion and protection of human rights in the HIV response. For example, as part of a 2015 case in Mexico that involved the discriminatory treatment and forced retirement of soldiers living with HIV, the Commission recommended that the country provide the victims with any comprehensive health services needed, make complete reparations to the victim (including financial and moral reparations, and an agreement to reinstate the petitioners in the army), and implement training in the armed services on nondiscrimination against people living with HIV. Mexico complied with all of the recommendations (*28*).

The Commission also continued to monitor violence against LGBTI people, including by publishing a report on such violence and publicly denouncing it (29). It also monitored gender equality, women's rights, women's access to information, violence against women and the administration of justice.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> For examples of reports on these subjects, please visit http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/reports/thematic.asp.

.....

Although the Middle East and North Africa was the region with the lowest HIV prevalence, at 0.1% [<0.1-0.2] among adults aged 15-49 years, new infections in the region increased by 4% between 2010 and 2015. More than 95% of new HIV infections in the Middle East and North Africa occurred among key populations and their sexual partners. Harm reduction services were established practice in four countries, two of which have high HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs. Prevention services were available for gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers and migrants in some countries, while many countries have included prisoners in their HIV programming. Across the region, however, there were major gaps in HIV prevention programming. Access to and uptake of HIV testing services were limited, with only 37% [26-54%] of people living with HIV in the region aware of their status in 2015. Coverage of antiretroviral therapy was 17% [12-24%] in 2015, far below the global average, contributing to low viral suppression of only 11% [8–16%] of all people living with HIV. Challenges in the region include the criminalization of drug use, sex work and same-sex sexual behaviour, with penalties including imprisonment and death. Prevention programmes for gay men and other men who have sex with men and sex workers rarely receive support from domestic resources or through public services. Conflicts and humanitarian emergencies have disrupted health and social services and responses to HIV.

#### **TRENDS AND TARGETS** .....

40 3 500 35 3 000 30 2 500 Number (thousand) 25 2 000 Number 20 1 500 15 1 000 10 500 5 0 0 2010 2015 2020 2010 2015 2020 New HIV infections New HIV infections Target Target Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates. Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), Middle East and North Africa, 2010-2015

Progress towards the 90–90–90 target, Middle East and North Africa, 2015



HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

who are on antiretroviral treatment

HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

New HIV infections among children (aged 0-14 years),

Middle East and North Africa, 2010–2015

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 7 countries, which accounted for 77% of people living with HIV in the region.

<sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 8 countries. Regionally, 41% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.



### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, Middle East and North Africa, 2015

### Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older) by country, Middle East and North Africa, from 2010 to 2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.



## Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, Middle East and North Africa, 2014

## HIV epidemic in the Middle East and North Africa

In 2015 the Middle East and North Africa was home to about 445 million people, of whom 233 million were aged 15 years and older. Although there are sociocultural similarities across the countries in the region, there are also vast differences in terms of economic and development status affecting both national HIV epidemics and responses.

There were an estimated 230 000 [160 000–330 000] adults and children living with HIV in the Middle East and North Africa, making it the region with the world's lowest HIV prevalence —0.1% [<0.1–0.2%] among adults aged 15–49 years. Six countries were home to more than 90% of the estimated people living with HIV in the region, with almost 75% living in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Sudan and Somalia, and a further 20% living in Morocco, Egypt and Djibouti. Between 2010 and 2015 new infections in the Middle East and North Africa increased by 4%, with an estimated 21 000 [12 000–37 000] new infections in 2015 compared with 20 000 [15 000–29 000] in 2010. This increase occurred among both men and women but was greater among men.

About 95% of the new HIV infections in 2015 occurred in only five countries: the Islamic Republic of Iran, Sudan, Somalia, Egypt, Morocco and Yemen. Since 2010 new infections among adults have increased by more than 40% in Egypt and by more than 30% in Lebanon and Yemen. Algeria and Morocco experienced declines in new HIV infections of 46% and 31%, respectively.

## HIV prevalence among gay men and other men who have sex with men, Middle East and North Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

## HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs, Middle East and North Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.



## HIV prevalence among sex workers, Middle East and North Africa, most recent data, 2013–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

More than 95% of new HIV infections occurred among key populations (predominantly people who inject drugs, gay men and other men who have sex with men and female sex workers) and their sexual partners. HIV prevalence was considerably higher among these key populations compared with the general population, although there was much variation among countries. Approximately 6 out of 10 of the region's people living with HIV were men and boys, reflecting the predominantly male profile of two of the region's three key populations.

## Progress and gaps in prevention

Effective prevention of HIV in the region depends on reaching and engaging with key populations and tailoring prevention packages to meet national and local needs.

In 2014 Egypt conducted a first comprehensive review of size estimates for gay men and other men who have sex with men, sex workers and people who inject drugs in 5 of its 27 administrative districts. The size estimation exercise was followed by scaling up services in these districts and a focus on "hotspots", resulting in a significant increase in coverage of prevention services. As an example, the number of sex workers who received an HIV test through the outreach services and linkage increased from 72 in 2014 to 295 in 2015. Provision of these services was led by a consortium of civil society organizations, which offered a comprehensive programme of activities, including condom promotion, needle and syringe distribution, targeted education, and voluntary counselling and testing for all individuals reached by the programme. About 3 000 people who inject drugs had been reached in 2015. Sudan continued to make considerable progress in supporting the scale-up of comprehensive HIV prevention activities for key populations, conducting integrated biological and behavioural surveillance of these populations in 2015. The surveys provide detailed state-by-state figures on condom use, testing and HIV prevalence among sex workers and gay men and other men who have sex with men. Condom use among sex workers and gay men and other men who have sex with men increased to 35% and 27% in 2015, compared with 23% and 20% in 2013, respectively; HIV testing coverage figures were 29% and 17% in 2015, showing an increase from the 2013 figures of 9% and 5%, respectively.

In Morocco subregional and city-level programmes were also expanding. In Agadir, Casablanca, Marrakech and Tangier, gay men and other men who have sex with men have been reached with HIV prevention services, resulting in condom use figures above 50% in all but Marrakech (46%) and HIV testing coverage of above 50% in all but Marrakech (43%). Migrant populations (identified as a vulnerable population in the country) benefited from a comprehensive and targeted HIV programme. By the end of 2015, from an estimated number of 30 000 migrants, more than 10 000 had been tested for HIV and reached with combined prevention programmes delivered by nongovernmental organizations; approximately 300 migrants were receiving free antiretroviral therapy.

#### People who inject drugs

There is moderate HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in the region but much higher prevalence in the Islamic Republic of Iran and Morocco. In these countries, opioid substitution therapy was established practice (albeit on a far smaller scale in Morocco). In 2015 in the Islamic Republic of Iran, from an estimated number of 200 000 people who inject drugs, more than 24 000 were receiving opioid substitution therapy in communities and in prisons.

In Morocco new opioid substitution treatment centres were opened, including in one prison, and the number of people who inject drugs receiving treatment reached 820 in 2015. Two rehabilitation centres providing harm-reduction services for people who inject drugs were also opened. Needle and syringe programmes were key to increasing safe injection practices in both the Islamic Republic of Iran and Morocco, with needles and syringes distributed or available for purchase from pharmacies. Together these programmes resulted in rates of safe injection of 82% and 80% in the Islamic Republic of Iran (2014) and Morocco (2015), respectively.

In Lebanon, which has a much lower HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs, opioid substitution therapy programmes have been established. In 2015 more than 1500 people were receiving this service in communities. Safe injection practices have been reported by more than 90% of people who inject drugs in Beirut.

In Tunisia, although opioid substitution therapy programmes have not yet started, needle and syringe programmes have resulted in safe injection in more than 88% of people who inject drugs.

In Tripoli, Libya, where the HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs was reported to be above 80%, the current conflict situation has made it difficult to establish any programme for this population.

#### Gay men and other men who have sex with men

A UNAIDS-supported project to address the vulnerabilities of gay men and other men who have sex with men in Egypt helped to achieve significant growth in reach and geographical coverage of related services from 2013. Innovations included outreach to men in slum areas through community-based organizations and awareness outreach and prevention services for the female sexual partners of gay men and other men who have sex with men. A third approach, online outreach, was particularly effective, as police action against this population had intensified, making street outreach more challenging. Following online outreach, meetings are arranged with beneficiaries to deliver condoms and lubricants; the project also facilitates access to good-quality, stigma-free health services and psychosocial and legal support. In the period 2014– 2015 in Alexandria, the project reached around 1000 beneficiaries, distributed more than 3100 condoms and lubricants packages and facilitated 300 visits to project services. In Gharbya governorate, to which the project was expanded in 2015, nearly 300 beneficiaries were reached and over 500 preventive packages were distributed.

In Lebanon a programme for men who have sex with men reached impact-level coverage in Beirut, where a study in 2014 showed testing coverage and condom use above 75%.

#### **Sex workers**

In Sudan a 2015 evaluation of interventions focused on key populations showed that peer education efforts had been effective: of the more than 1000 men who have sex with men and female sex workers who had received peer education, 92% had been tested for HIV at least once and about 70% reported using condoms both in the past six months and during last sexual intercourse.

#### **Prisoners**

Many countries in the region have developed HIV programmes to offer prevention services to prisoners, mostly for those who inject drugs. Among the countries that have reported HIV prevalence among the prisoner population, the Islamic Republic of Iran has the highest prevalence of 1.4%; Morocco, Oman and Saudi Arabia reported prevalence ranging from 0.3–0.8%. and Tunisia reported a prevalence of 0.1%.

#### Transgender people

For most of the countries in the region, transgender people have not been acknowledged as a separate key population. Accordingly, there are very limited data available on this key population. The Islamic Republic of Iran has identified maleto-female transgender people as a high-risk population and in 2014 conducted a study establishing a 2% HIV prevalence among this group. Large-scale programmes, however, are yet to be established.

Lebanon's national AIDS programme has acknowledged transgender people as a high-risk population, although no data have been published on this group.

## Summary of behavioural data among key populations, most recent data, 2013–2015

<50%	50% - 75%	>75%			
CONDOM USE					
Sex workers					
Egypt	Djibouti	Algeria			
Somalia	Morocco	Lebanon			
Sudan	Tunisia				
Ga	Gay men and other men who have sex with men				
Egypt	Tunisia	Lebanon			
Sudan	Могоссо				
	People who inject drugs				
Algeria	Iran (Islamic Republic of)				
Egypt					
Lebanon					
Morocco					
Tunisia					
	HIV TESTING				
	Sex workers				
Egypt	Lebanon	Algeria			
Morocco		Djibouti			
Somalia					
Sudan					
Tunisia					
Ga	y men and other men who have sex with	men			
Egypt	Morocco	Algeria			
Sudan		Lebanon			
Tunisia					
	People who inject drugs				
Egypt		Algeria			
Iran (Islamic Republic of)		Lebanon			
Morocco					
Oman					
Syrian Arab Republic					
Tunisia					
SAFE INJECTION PRACTICE					
People who inject drugs					
Algeria		Iran (Islamic Republic of)			
Egypt		Lebanon			
		Morocco			
		Tunisia			

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

#### Viral suppression

An estimated 37% [26–54%] of people living with HIV in the Middle East and North Africa in 2015 knew their HIV status, about 17% [12–24%] were on antiretroviral therapy and only 11% [8–16%] had achieved viral suppression. Considerable gaps to reach the 90–90–90 target remained for this region in particular cascade remained. To achieve the 90–90–90 target in 2015 required diagnosing nearly 122 000 people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, starting an additional 148 000 people on antiretroviral therapy, and ensuring an additional 142 000 people living with HIV achieved viral suppression.

With only a little over a third of people aware of their HIV status in 2015, the most important barrier to achieving the 90–90–90 target in the Middle East and North Africa was limited access to and uptake of HIV testing services. Although the primary approach to service provision in the region is health facility-based voluntary counselling and testing, in some countries testing programmes are focused on premarital screening and preemployment screening of migrants. In some cases this screening is conducted without informed and unforced consent, for example as a prerequisite for renewing a work permit or for issuing a marriage certificate. These practices are a violation of human rights and contrary to World Health Organization (WHO) and UNAIDS recommendations to ensure that all HIV tests are done confidentially and with informed consent (1).

Efforts have been made to increase testing coverage within a human rights framework. For example, several countries have expanded community support for testing and treatment programmes among key populations and in key locations. Algeria, Djibouti, Egypt, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Morocco and Sudan conducted community testing campaigns. In Morocco, where less than 40% of people living with HIV were aware of their status, HIV testing targets were revised to increase the focus on vulnerable populations and regions with higher HIV burden. In 2014, community testing, with HIV counselling and testing provided by non-clinical peer educators, was introduced by the Association de Lutte contre le Sida in Agadir, Casablanca, Marrakech and Rabat as part of a pilot prevention programme for key populations. External evaluation of the initiative was under way in preparation for potential scale-up. At the same time, efforts were made to integrate HIV testing services into basic health-care facilities. As a result, by 2015, nearly half of people living with HIV were aware of their status.

In Algeria more than 770 000 HIV tests were conducted in more than 2000 testing sites, resulting in an increase in estimated coverage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status from around 77% to more than 90%. In Djibouti more than 21 000 HIV tests were provided in 2015, pushing the proportion of people living with HIV who know their status to 70%. In Egypt, the Islamic Republic of Iran and Sudan the figures are still below 50%. These latter three countries and other countries of the region gathered together in December 2015 in a regional meeting and developed roadmaps for Fast-Tracking HIV testing and linkage to services to reach the 90–90–90 target. The meeting resulted in the Algiers Declaration on Fast-Tracking HIV Testing in the Middle East and North Africa. In the Declaration countries called for investment in strategic information to guide actions to increase HIV testing and set annual testing targets; implement strategic approaches for innovative, rights-based and participatory community-based testing; scale up services for key populations; increase resources for HIV testing; and reinforce partnerships between governments, civil society, the private sector and academia to Fast-Track testing.

Coverage of antiretroviral therapy in the Middle East and North Africa was 17% [12–24%] in 2015, far below the global average, in major part due to low levels of HIV testing and diagnosis. Like rates of testing, however, coverage had increased by 37% between 2013 and 2015 in the region as a whole, and by more than 50% in Algeria and Egypt. If other countries replicate the pace of Algeria and Egypt, then the region will be able to reach its target of 81% treatment coverage among people living with HIV by 2020.

In Morocco national guidelines on antiretroviral therapy were reviewed in 2015 to ensure a "treat all" approach could be delivered across treatment facilities. A review of service delivery and care for people living with HIV was also conducted in this year. Combined with increased decentralization of the care system and increased testing, and attempts to address the challenges identified in a 2014 cascade analysis at main treatment sites, these efforts meant that the coverage of antiretroviral therapy among adults rose from 13% [11–15%] in 2013 to 35% [30–41%] in 2015.

In Egypt a similar approach of expanding testing sites and community testing resulted in a 46% increase in treatment coverage from 2013 to 2014 and another 25% increase from 2014 to 2015, although the treatment coverage is still lower than 20%. There is an urgent need to increase the pace.

In the Islamic Republic of Iran and Sudan the national strategic plans explicitly incorporated the 90–90–90 target.

Although only an estimated 11% [8–16%] of people living with HIV in the region have suppressed viral loads, it appears that the vast majority of people who know their status and initiate antiretroviral therapy remain on treatment. More than 80% of people on antiretroviral therapy in the region were retained in treatment after 12 months according to available data, but fewer countries have passed 90% retention on the first year. For the few countries with viral load suppression data from more than 75% of people on treatment, the figures vary widely: 90% in Jordan and Saudi Arabia, 80% in Lebanon, 75% in Oman and 53% in Algeria.

Egypt revised its clinical care guidelines in May 2014 and undertook a cascade analysis, which highlighted key gaps, including in retention on treatment. It then introduced innovative approaches to improve adherence during the first year of treatment (during which the highest dropout rates were identified). These approaches included enlisting civil society support, scaling up psychosocial counselling, implementing a "buddy system" of social workers for people living with HIV, and reviewing all case records to identify people whose access to treatment had been interrupted and to identify potential barriers to access and adherence. In addition, remote treatment centres were authorized to prescribe medication and provide follow-up to patients to improve adherence in remote locations. A referral protocol was established between the national AIDS programme and Cairo University hospitals to facilitate the exchange of information and strengthen the links between people newly diagnosed with HIV and the continuum of care. The outcome of these changes can be seen over the past 2 years, when the 12-month retention on treatment has increased from 73% in 2013 to 80% in 2015.

In Yemen until 2015, despite civil and political instability and intermittent power,

treatment sites continued to deliver services and to collect data.<sup>1</sup> International assistance was provided for peer support and patient transport. As a result, adherence improved and the number of patients lost to follow-up decreased. In 2014, 68% of people who had previously interrupted treatment restarted. New software was instrumental in improving follow-up, particularly of people who missed appointments.

### Challenges

#### Legal and policy environment

In all of the countries in the Middle East and North African, members of at least one of the key populations can face criminal charges because of their sexual orientation, gender, identity, occupation or behaviours. Drug use is criminalized in all countries, and in some countries carrying even a small amount of drugs can lead to long-term imprisonment. Many countries have specific laws against sex work and sex outside marriage, with penalties that include capital punishment. Gay men and other men who have sex with men can face severe legal sanctions, with penalties that include death in many countries. Meanwhile, mandatory HIV testing of refugees and asylum seekers without pre- and post-test counselling and without guarantee for privacy is also a reality in a number of countries.

#### Investment in HIV prevention among key populations

Prevention programmes for gay men and other men who have sex with men and sex workers rarely received support from domestic resources or through public services. Even though these populations have been included in many national strategic plans, public funding is rarely used for specific programmes for them, and it is usually grants from the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria or smaller-scale grants from other donors that provide the necessary resources for the relevant programmes. HIV testing and some other services that are provided through public health services do receive funding from public resources.

#### **HIV in humanitarian settings**

Several of the countries in the region were challenged by conflict or humanitarian emergencies, with rapidly changing environments, violence, displacement of people within and across borders, resource constraints, and disruption of already stretched health and social services. These situations also disrupt responses to HIV. The protection of people who are affected by humanitarian emergencies, including refugees, asylum seekers and internally displaced people, and their human rights should be prioritised.

### **Opportunities**

#### Leadership, commitment and partnerships

The political leadership of the League of Arab States and UNAIDS resulted in the development and endorsement of the Arab AIDS Strategy in March 2014 and the

Council of Arab Health Ministers following up the implementation of the Strategy in all Member States in February 2015. This leadership is also clearly reflected in the Algiers Call for Action on Advancing Gender Equality and the HIV Response that followed the High-Level Meeting of Women Leaders in the region, held jointly by the League of Arab State, UNAIDS, UN Women and the Government of Algeria in November 2014.

In October 2015 Djibouti was the first Arab country to ratify the Arab Convention on Preventing HIV and Protecting the Rights of People Living with HIV, which was adopted in 2012 by the Arab Parliament and provides a legal framework for countries to apply human rights principles in their responses to HIV (2). Djibouti's First Lady also took the lead in promoting the elimination of mother-to-child transmission and female genital mutilation. The First Lady of Sudan, meanwhile, worked to engage multi-stakeholder commitment to the elimination of motherto-child transmission, the acceleration of prevention, testing and treatment, and challenging stigma and discrimination against people living with HIV. The First Lady of Sudan is also pushing for law reform to raise the legal age of marriage for girls in Sudan to 18 years.

In an unprecedented step for civil society in the region, the Regional Arab Network Against AIDS signed a Memorandum of Agreement in December 2014 with the League of Arab States on the role of civil society in the implementation of the Arab AIDS Strategy. This represents the first partnership within the region between civil society and such a significant intergovernmental body.

People living with HIV and civil society organizations, including MENARosa (the first regional network dedicated to supporting women living with HIV), played key roles in supporting access to and retention in treatment through therapeutic education programmes, psychosocial support and income-generating activities.

In Lebanon, a circular by Lebanese Internal Security Forces (ISF) requesting emergency rooms to report any drug-related emergency to the police has been recently reversed by the Ministry of Public Health. Skoun, the Lebanese Addiction Centre, along with its key partners played a catalytic role in advocating for the policy change. Prior to the revocation, fear of arrest and prosecution deterred people who use drugs from accessing emergency services.

#### Domestic financing, shared responsibility and regional solidarity

Limited amounts of international funding are available for AIDS responses in the region. Among the middle-income countries in the region, Algeria and the Islamic Republic of Iran financed more than 80% of their national HIV programmes. Jordan and Lebanon also financed more than 80% of their national HIV programmes, although their programmes were much smaller. Morocco has developed an ambitious plan to reach 70% national financing by 2018. Djibouti has developed a national strategy to implement the African Union Shared Responsibility and Global Solidarity roadmap to mobilize domestic resources for sustainable funding for the national response. In 2015 Somalia, Sudan and the Islamic Republic of Iran had their concept notes to the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria approved.

In 2015 the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) Fund for International Development contributed US\$ 1.2 million for strengthening innovative approaches to testing, treatment and the prevention of mother-to-child transmission in the region. The Fund covers six non-OPEC countries (Djibouti, Morocco, Somalia, Sudan, Tunisia and Yemen) and region-wide activities. .....

Eastern Europe and central Asia is the only region in the world where the HIV epidemic continued to rise rapidly. The epidemic is concentrated predominantly among key populations, and in particular people who inject drugs, and there is low coverage of harm-reduction and other HIV prevention programmes in key countries within the region. Although sexual partners of key populations are at elevated risk of HIV infection, condom use is inconsistent among key populations across the region. There were big gaps in the HIV testing and treatment cascade, and coverage of antiretroviral therapy in the region remained significantly lower than the global average, resulting in low levels of viral suppression. Stigma and discrimination towards people living with HIV and key populations remain high. New conservative legislation is placing additional restrictions on same-sex relationships, sex work and drug use and , which could entrench barriers to HIV services for key populations. Prevention programmes are under threat as international support for HIV responses decreases and domestic funding for HIV prevention fails to keep pace.

## TRENDS AND TARGETS

New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), eastern Europe and central Asia, 2010–2015



#### Progress towards the 90–90–90 target, eastern Europe and central Asia, 2015



Percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup> Percentage of people living with HIV who are on antiretroviral treatment

Percentage of people living with HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 11 countries, which accounted for 98% of people living with HIV in the region. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 11 countries. Regionally, 77% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.



### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, eastern Europe and central Asia, 2015

Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

## Percent change in new HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), eastern Europe and central Asia, from 2010 to 2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

## Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, eastern Europe and Central Asia, 2014



Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

## HIV epidemic in eastern Europe and central Asia

Eastern Europe and central Asia is the only region in the world where the HIV epidemic continued to rise rapidly. There was a 57% increase in annual new HIV infections between 2010 and 2015.

More than 80% of the region's new HIV infections in 2015 were in the Russian Federation, and an additional 15% occurred in Belarus, Kazakhstan, the Republic of Moldova, Tajikistan and Ukraine.

The epidemic is concentrated predominantly among key populations and their sexual partners, in particular people who inject drugs, who accounted for more than half of new HIV infections in 2015.

Low coverage of prevention programmes, in particular harm-reduction interventions among people who inject drugs, is largely to blame for this continued rise.

The vast majority of people living with HIV in the region resided in capitals or large cities where HIV prevalence among key populations is often extremely high. For example, a survey of people who inject drugs conducted in five Russian cities (Abakan, Barnaul, Volgograd, Naberezhnye Chelny, Perm) in 2015 found that one



## Prevalence of HIV among people who inject drugs in five cities of the Russian Federation, 2015

Source: Esvero. Report on results of bio-behavioural study among people who inject drugs in Abakan, Barnaul, Volgograd, Naberezhnye Chelny and Perm, 2015.

in three people who inject drugs were living with HIV. HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs was also high, exceeding 20% in some cities in Belarus (Svetlogorsk, Minsk, Pinsk) and 15 of 33 cities in Ukraine, but was under 10% in other countries in the region.

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission coverage in the region was more than 95%, and the transmission rate was less than 4% in seven of the region's 15 countries. In Belarus and Armenia the transmission rate was less than 2%, and all criteria have been met, allowing for validation of elimination of mother-to-child transmission.

### Progress and gaps in prevention

The scale of prevention programmes for key populations was insufficient to curb the region's surging epidemics. This was particularly true in the Russian Federation, home to the region's largest HIV epidemic and largest population of people who inject drugs (1.5 million) *(1)*.

#### Harm reduction

Opioid substitution therapy was available in all countries except the Russian Federation, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. Capacity to provide such therapy remained low; coverage was 5.3% in Belarus, 4.9% in Kyrgyzstan, 3.5% in Ukraine and 0.2% in Kazakhstan. Similarly, the sterile injecting equipment distributed through needle-syringe programmes was insufficient across the region, except in Kyrgyzstan, where 241 needles were provided per client per year (target is 200).



## Use of clean needles at last injection, select countries, eastern Europe and central Asia, most recent data, 2013–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

In most countries, people who use drugs reported high levels of use of clean needles at last injection. When the supply of clean syringes and needles via outreach workers and needle exchange points declines, however, there is a corresponding decline in the use of sterile injection equipment—for example, in Kazakhstan after a Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) grant ended. This trend must be urgently counteracted by all national AIDS programmes that transition from Global Fund support *(2)*.

A needle-syringe programme in prisons is only available in Kyrgyzstan, Moldova and one prison in Tajikistan. Access to opioid substitution therapy for maintenance treatment in prisons is much lower than in the community, where accessible, in Moldova, Kyrgyzstan, and some police detention centres in Ukraine. (3)

Expanded coverage with a comprehensive harm reduction package of interventions will be required to have any noticeable effect on reducing the harms associated with injecting drug use.

#### **Sexual transmission of HIV**

Unprotected sex is a cause of an ever growing number of new HIV infections. Sexual partners of key populations are at elevated risk of HIV infection. In certain countries key populations report high levels of condom use. For instance, selfreported condom use among gay men and other men who have sex with men ranged from 49% in the Republic of Moldova to 82% in Kyrgyzstan, among sex workers from 52% in Uzbekistan to 95% in Kazakhstan, and among people who inject drugs from 36% in Georgia to 60% in Belarus (4). Condom use is inconsistent, however, and levels of condom use vary between types of sexual



### Condom use among key populations, Kazakhstan, 2013-2015

Source: Ganina LY, et al. Review of HIV epidemic in Kazakhstan in 2013–2015. Almaty: 2016.

encounter. For instance, in Kazakhstan 95% of sex workers use condoms with clients but only 35% do so with stable partners; 84% of gay men and other men who have sex with men use condoms with occasional male partners but only 52% do so with regular male partners; and 77% of people who inject drugs use condoms with occasional sexual partners but only 35% do so with regular partners (2).

Drastically scaling up the number of people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy to suppress viral load in combination with consistent condom use can help reduce the number of sexually transmitted HIV infections.

#### **Viral suppression**

An estimated 67% [62–72%] of people living with HIV in eastern Europe and central Asia in 2015 knew their HIV status, and about 21% [20–23%] were on antiretroviral therapy. The gap to achieving the 90–90–90 target in 2015 was more than 354 500 people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, 917 000 people in need of antiretroviral therapy, and 832 400 people living with HIV who were not virally suppressed. As a result of these gaps, only 19% [17-20%] of all people living with HIV in eastern Europe and central Asia had achieved the viral suppression necessary to prevent HIV transmission.

Country and regional HIV testing and treatment data presented in cascades emphasize that the biggest gaps are the number of people living with HIV who remain undiagnosed, and the number of people living with HIV who know their HIV status but have not started treatment.

Large proportions of key population groups remain undiagnosed in the region, presenting a major obstacle to achieving 90–90–90. Status awareness among sex



### Treatment cascade of services for people living with HIV in Ukraine, 2015

Source: CDC Ukraine, 2016.

workers ranges from 22% in the Republic of Moldova and 35% in Uzbekistan to 80% in Kazakhstan. Testing coverage was generally higher among gay men and other men who have sex with men and lower among people who inject drugs. In Ukraine available survey data suggest that less than 60% of gay men and other men who have sex with men reported taking an HIV test and receiving the results within the previous 12 months. Among female sex workers in Ukraine and Kyrgyzstan, 59% had an HIV test and received the results. The highest recorded rate of HIV testing among people who inject drugs was 58%, in Kazakhstan. The proportion is lower in other countries in the region. HIV testing is offered in some prison systems, however, several countries in the region have mandatory HIV testing in prisons, which the UN does not condone. A major barrier to expanded ART coverage is the lack of continuity between treatment in the community and prison system (*5*).

Coverage of antiretroviral therapy in the region remained significantly lower than the global average. Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan reported less than 20% of sex workers living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy. Coverage among gay men and other men who have sex with men was lower. Kazakhstan and Ukraine reported 27% and 26% antiretroviral therapy coverage, respectively, among people who inject drugs, while coverage in Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan was below 20%. Almost all countries in the region had not revised their AIDS treatment guidelines to reflect the latest World Health Organization recommendations to offer antiretroviral therapy immediately after diagnosis.

The price of antiretroviral medications and the unit costs for treatment-related services also remained high in several countries with large numbers of people living with HIV, impeding scale-up.

On average, 82% of people on antiretroviral therapy have a suppressed viral load. The highest rate was in the Russian Federation (85.2% of people on antiretroviral therapy), followed by Ukraine (77.7% of people on antiretroviral therapy); the lowest rate was in Tajikistan (32%). Given that only 21% of people living with HIV were on treatment, however, the prevention effect of the suppressed viral load would have only a marginal effect on reduction in HIV incidence.

## Challenges

#### Lack of national commitment to combination prevention

Even the limited coverage by prevention programmes was under threat. The Global Fund has been the region's largest donor for HIV prevention among key populations since 2004. As of July 2013, however, the Russian Federation was classified by the World Bank as a high-income country; 7 of the other 14 countries are classified as lower-middle-income countries. As a result, international support to HIV programmes in the region is decreasing, and new domestic funding for HIV prevention is not keeping pace as the priority of HIV programmes in many countries is to increase coverage of antiretroviral treatment.

In the Russian Federation, 30 projects serving some 27 000 people who inject drugs were left without financial support after the Global Fund grant ended in 2014. Although remaining projects in 16 cities continued to provide essential HIV services to people who inject drugs in 2015, their scale is not sufficient to change the trajectory of the HIV epidemic in the Russian Federation.



#### Cost of fixed-dose TDF/FTC/EFV per person per year, 2015

Source: Median prices from the 2014 MSH/WHO International Drug Price Indicator Guide, 2014 edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/ en/m/abstract/Js21983en/).
#### Legislative barriers to access for key populations

A new wave of conservative legislation in the region places additional restrictions on same-sex relationships, sex work and drug use and risks entrenching the barriers to HIV services for key populations.

On several occasions in 2014 and 2015 the Parliament of Kyrgyzstan tried to pass a homophobic bill that would make creating a positive attitude to non-traditional sexual relations a criminal offence. In October 2015 the Parliament of Tajikistan doubled the fine for sex work; a sex worker can also be given up to 15 days of home arrest. In Belarus, in 2015, fines were introduced for non-medical drug use; second-time offenders within one year may be sentenced to a two-year prison term. In the Russian Federation a so-called "law on foreign agents" interrupted the work of community-based organizations that receive international funding to provide HIV prevention services to key populations in the absence of domestic funding for these purposes.

Stigma and discrimination towards people living with HIV and key populations also remained high. Over 50% of men and women aged 15–49 years in eight countries with available data reported they would not buy fresh vegetables from a shopkeeper living with HIV, a question used to measure discriminatory attitudes towards people living with HIV (*6*). People living with HIV surveyed as part of the People Living with HIV Stigma Index in 2015 reported experiencing stigma and discrimination in many aspects of their lives, including denial of health or dental services in the previous 12 months (17.6% in Kazakhstan, 8.0% in Kyrgyzstan, 17.0% in Tajikistan) and refusal of employment (5.8% in Kazakhstan, 9.3% in Kyrgyzstan, 14.8% in Tajikistan) (7).

#### Urban centres: high prevalence, large numbers of key populations

Moscow (Russian Federation), Kyiv (Ukraine), Almaty (Kazakhstan), Tashkent (Uzbekistan), Minsk (Belarus) and Chisinau (Republic of Moldova) are large urban centres and home to a considerable proportion of the region's key populations and people living with HIV. The city of Kyiv has signed the 2014 Paris Declaration on Fast-Track Cities, which committed cities to focusing on vulnerable and marginalized people, including key populations, in order to reduce vulnerability and foster tolerance and achieve the 90–90–90 treatment targets by 2020.

#### Services for vulnerable and marginalized women and children

Despite the overall progress in this area, access to prevention of mother-to-child transmission and other HIV services was still insufficient for the most vulnerable and socially marginalized groups of women, including irregular migrants and pregnant women who use drugs. This resulted in an increased risk of HIV transmission for these women and their infants. For instance, in Kyrgyzstan there is an increasing trend of denial of prevention of mother-to-child transmission services and antiretroviral therapy by women for religious reasons; such women choose not to be examined by a doctor or to discover their HIV status, and even if they do know their status refuse prevention of mother-to-child transmission services. They also refuse to have their children examined and treated for HIV. According to the 2015 mid-term evaluation of the state programme on HIV (*8*), 89 children were born to women living with HIV in 2012; only 59 children were tested for HIV (66.3%), and the status of the remaining 30 children was unclear.

In addition, children in the region who are living with HIV continue to need support as they become adolescents to attend school and ensure a smooth transition from paediatric to adult care.

#### **Opportunities**

#### **Potential efficiency gains**

Political commitment to Fast-Track the AIDS response by 2020 in the region remains uncertain, especially against the backdrop of limited government budgets and diminishing donor funding. Significant gains could still be made, however, through more efficient use of existing resources. An analysis of the allocation of existing resource in nine countries found that optimization of the use of these resources by focusing on the most effective HIV services among the populations and locations in greatest need could reduce new HIV infections by 6–36% (9–15).

Some countries in the region are already addressing this issue. In Belarus, one of the region's upper-middle-income countries, HIV prevalence among the estimated 67 000 people who inject drugs is 25%. The Government of Belarus has pledged to increase national funding for HIV services from 35% in 2016 to 62% in 2018, and to 100% following the cessation of Global Fund funding. Resourcing plans include using new social contracting mechanisms and local budgets to directly contract nongovernmental organizations to provide HIV services. Targets include expanding HIV prevention services to 60% of people, including needle–syringe distribution to 45 000 people who inject drugs and opioid substitution therapy to 4900 people, by the end of 2018 *(16)*.

#### **Innovative HIV testing strategies**

Increasing the number of people living with HIV who know their HIV status will require innovative strategies that focus on key populations who may feel uncomfortable or even afraid to access services at public health clinics. In the Republic of Moldova nongovernmental organizations are conducting salivabased HIV test for key populations and serodiscordant couples alongside harm-reduction and other HIV prevention services. Special regulation and bylaws have been approved by the Moldovan Ministry of Health to ensure the quality and legitimacy of these screening tests and referral to the health system for confirmatory diagnosis (*17*). Since May 2016 HIV self-testing kits have been available in Moldovan pharmacies for US\$ 25. A leaflet accompanies the test kit to explain the steps to be taken depending on the screening test result. A communication campaign on testing was simultaneously organized with the launch of the self-test to encourage uptake. Early evidence suggests that the self-test is well accepted and empowering for people who may otherwise not seek to learn their HIV status.

In 2015 there were an estimated 91 000 [89 000-97 000] new HIV infections in western and central Europe and North America, including fewer than 1000 new infections among children. The annual number of new adult HIV infections remained stable between 2010 and 2015, but there were considerable variations among key populations and modes of transmission in different countries. Nine out of 10 new HIV infections in 2014 were among key populations and their sexual partners. In western and central Europe long-term high coverage of harm reduction programmes has reduced the number of new infections among people who inject drugs, but there are indications that levels of condom use have not improved among gay men and other men who have sex with men. Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) was available in Canada, France and the United States of America, and 17 European countries had pre-exposure prophylaxis demonstration projects in process or planned. The number of HIV tests performed in western and central Europe and the United States has increased steadily. Testing levels were highest among gay men and other men who have sex with men, however, and there is evidence that diagnoses are often made several years after infection. A major challenge is the continued disproportionate effect of HIV on gay men and other men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, African American men and women, and migrants originating from high-endemic areas.

### TRENDS AND TARGETS



New HIV infections among adults (aged 15 years and older), western and central Europe and North America, 2010–2015

#### Progress towards the 90–90–90 target, western and central Europe and North America, 2015



Percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status<sup>1</sup>

Percentage of people living with HIV who are on antiretroviral treatment

Percentage of people living with HIV who are virally suppressed<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 14 countries, which accounted for 83% of people living with HIV in the region. <sup>2</sup> 2015 measure derived from data reported by 16 countries. Regionally, 44% of all people on antiretroviral therapy were reported to have received a viral load test during the reporting period.

Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

### Distribution of new HIV infections by country, western and central Europe and North America, 2015



Source: UNAIDS 2016 estimates.

### Percent change in new HIV diagnoses by mode of transmission, western and central Europe and North America, from 2010 to 2014



Source: UNAIDS analysis using data from: European Centre for Disease Prevention, WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014; United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2014; vol. 26; Public Health Agency of Canada. HIV and AIDS in Canada: Surveillance Report to December 31, 2014. Countries not included in the analysis: Estonia, Poland, Italy, Spain, Turkey, Israel and Switzerland.

### Distribution of new HIV infections among population groups, western and central Europe and North America, 2014



Source: UNAIDS special analysis, 2016; for more details, see annex on methods.

### HIV epidemic in western and central Europe and North America

There were an estimated 91 000 [89 000–97 000] new HIV infections in western and central Europe and North America in 2015, including fewer than 1000 new infections among children. More than half of all new HIV infections occurred in the United States of America, and more than a quarter occurred in six countries: France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Turkey and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (1).

The annual number of new HIV infections among adults in western and central Europe and North America remained stable between 2010 and 2015, raising concerns regarding the region's progress towards its 2020 target of 23 000 new HIV infections. Stability in the overall trend of new infections hides changes among key populations that accounted for the vast majority of new HIV infections. New diagnoses among gay men and other men who have sex with men increased by 17% in western and central Europe and by 8% in North America between 2010 and 2014 *(2,3)*. Over the same period, the annual number of new diagnoses among people who inject drugs in North America decreased by 26%. In western and central Europe several outbreaks of HIV among people who inject drugs caused new diagnoses within this population to increase in 2011 and 2012, following

several years of decline. Outbreaks related to injecting drug use in areas of Greece and Romania led to approximately a 20-fold increase in HIV diagnoses among people who inject drugs in these two countries between 2010 and 2012 and still had an effect on the number of new diagnoses in 2015 (4,5). The annual number of new diagnoses attributed to heterosexual transmission in North America declined by 16%, reflecting reductions in new HIV infections among women of African descent (3,5,22). However, in 2014 African American women accounted for 4654 new HIV diagnoses in the United States (2). In 2010 the rate of new HIV infections among African American women was estimated to be 20 times that of Caucasian women and nearly five times that of Hispanic women (22).

In western and central Europe the number of heterosexually acquired HIV diagnoses also decreased. This trend is mostly due to reduced number of diagnoses among migrants from high-endemic areas (1). Nonetheless, HIV diagnoses among migrants remain high accounting for 32% of all new HIV diagnoses in Europe in 2014. There is evidence that a considerable proportion of the infections were acquired post-migration (23).

A UNAIDS analysis of available data across western and central Europe and North America suggests that 9 out of 10 new HIV infections in 2014 were among key populations and their sexual partners, with gay men and other men who have sex with men accounting for nearly half of all infections. HIV testing data from 2014 show that gay men and other men who have sex with men accounted for more than two-thirds of HIV diagnoses in North America and more than half of HIV diagnoses in western Europe. In central Europe a larger proportion of new diagnoses were attributed to injecting drug use, including nearly a third of diagnoses in 2014 in the Baltic countries of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania *(2)*.

### Distribution of new HIV diagnoses by mode of transmission, western and central Europe and North America, 2014



Source: UNAIDS analysis using data from: European Centre for Disease Prevention, WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2014; vol. 26; Public Health Agency of Canada. HIV and AIDS in Canada: Surveillance Report to December 31, 2014.



#### Percent of new HIV diagnoses, by mode of transmission and country, EU/EEA, 2014

Source: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014.

There was considerable variation among countries in the proportion of new diagnoses by mode of transmission. In western and central Europe the percentage of new HIV diagnoses in 2014 among gay men and other men who have sex with men ranged from less than 10% in Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia to more than 80% in Hungary, Croatia and Slovenia.



### HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs, western and central Europe and North America, most recent data, 2011–2015

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.





Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

### HIV prevalence among male and female sex workers in Europe, select countries, most recent data, 2011–2015



Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

HIV prevalence remained considerably higher among key populations, again with large variations among countries. The highest prevalence of HIV infection among people who inject drugs in the region in 2015 was in Estonia (48%), followed by Latvia (27%) and Romania (21%). In the Czech Republic, where drug use is decriminalised and coverage of harm-reduction services is relatively high, HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs was 0.2% in 2013. In 2010 the rate of new HIV infections among African American women was estimated to be 20 times that of white women and nearly five times that of Hispanic women (22).

In 2014, 32% of all HIV diagnoses in Europe were among migrants. There is evidence that a considerable proportion of the infections were acquired after migration *(23)*.

#### Progress and gaps in prevention

#### **Key populations**

In western and central Europe high coverage of harm-reduction programmes for more than a decade has reduced the number of people who inject drugs newly diagnosed with HIV from 2161 in 2005 to 1126 in 2014 (2). In the United States heroin use increased among men and women in most age groups and across all income levels, with a total increase of 63% between 2002 and 2013. This trend coincided with an increase in hepatitis C virus infections and new outbreaks of HIV associated with injecting drug use (10).

Increases in the annual number of cases of sexually transmitted infections such as gonorrhea, syphilis and HIV diagnoses in the European Union and the United States (9) suggest that levels of condom use among gay men and other men who have sex with men have not improved.



### Median CD<sub>4</sub> cell count per mm<sup>3</sup> at HIV diagnosis, by mode of transmission, EU/EEA, 2005–2014

Source: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014.

#### Pre-exposure prophylaxis

In the United States PrEP has been recommended since 2012 for people at ongoing substantial risk of HIV infection, including HIV-negative people in a sexual relationship with a person living with HIV, people who inject drugs, and gay men and other men who have sex with men who do not consistently use condoms. Of the 1.2 million people who were eligible for PrEP, however, only an estimated 30 000 were prescribed it in 2015 *(11)*. Increasing PrEP coverage in the United States could prevent around 48 000 new infections within five years and up to 185 000 new infections in the same period if increased coverage were combined with expanded testing and treatment *(12)*. Canada approved the use of PrEP among adults at high risk of HIV infection in February 2016 *(13)*.

In France, following the issuing of temporary regulatory approval in November 2015, 60 clinics were offering PrEP by mid-2016, and 437 people were enrolled during the first three months of the programme, which represents around 2–4% of the 10 000–20 000 people at high risk of acquiring HIV (14). A survey conducted by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control found that 17 European countries had PrEP demonstration projects in process or planned. The survey found that national health systems view the relatively high cost of PrEP as the biggest barrier to full adoption of this HIV prevention option (15).

#### **Viral suppression**

An estimated 86% [78–95%] of people living with HIV in western and central Europe and North America in 2015 knew their HIV status, and about 59% [54–66%] were on antiretroviral therapy. In 2015 approximately 90% of the people who had initiated antiretroviral therapy remained on treatment after 12 months (6). Nearly half of all people living with HIV in western and central Europe and North America had achieved the viral suppression necessary to prevent HIV transmission (47% [43-52]). Achieving the 90–90–90 target required diagnosing around 102 000 people living with HIV who did not know their HIV status, starting an additional 521 800 people on antiretroviral therapy, and ensuring an additional 613 900 people living with HIV achieved viral suppression.

## HIV testing among key populations populations, western and central Europe and North America, most recent data, 2011–2015

GAY MEN AND OTHER MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MENCanadaBelgiumCrastiaBulgariaCrastiaBulgariaCrastin MenublicFranceEstoniaItalyGermanyNorwayLatviaPolandLithuariaPortugalLusembourgSloveniaMontenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlandsSaveniaRomaniaFarceSystenSaveniaStates of AmericaLatviaSystenEstoniaSystenEstoniaSystenCaendaSystenEstoniaSystenEstoniaSystenCaendaSystenEstoniaSystenGermanyGermanyGreeceHunganyLitviaSysteniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSuterlandEstoniaExterlandsSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaGermanyGreeceHunganyHunganyLitvianiaNaterlandsSoveniaSoveniaGermanyGreeceFanceLatviaEstoniaRomaniaFranceSerbiaGermanyGereceFortugalEstoniaGermanyGreeceFortugalSerbiaGermanyGereceFortugalSerbiaGermanyGereceFortugalSerbiaGermany	<50%	50% - 75%	>75%	
CreatiaBulgariaBulgariaCreato RepublicFranceExtoniaNorwayExtoniaNorwayLatviaPolandLithuaniaPortugalLuxembourgUnited States of AmericaNontenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlandsFranceSorbiaSoroiaSorbiaFranceSorbiaEnvertoSorbiaEnvertoSorbiaEnvertoSorbiaCanadaSorbiaSoroiaSorbiaBulgariaCarda RepublicLuxembourgMaltaCarda RepublicPortugalEstoniaRomaniaFranceSorbiaGermanySorbiaGermanySorbiaSordeneSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaGermanySorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroinaSorbiaSoroin	GAY MEN AND OTHER MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN			
Cacch RepublicFranceFranceEtoniaIdayHalyGermanyPolandHalyLatvaPolandHalyLituaniaPortugalHalyMontenegroMinied States of AmericaHalyNetherlandsHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalySerbiaHalyHalyMahaCach RepublicLatviaPortugalEtoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFranceHalySerbiaGreaceHalySerbiaSoveinaHalySerbiaSoveinaHalyKaraSoveinaHalySerbiaFranceHalyHungaryHalyHalyKerberlandsSoveinaHalySoveinaSoveinaHalySoveinaSoveinaHalySoveinaSoveinaSoveinaSoveinaFranceHalyLatvaEtoniaHalySoveinaSoveinaSoveinaSoveinaSoveinaHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHalySoveinaHalyHaly	Canada			
EsoniaItalyItalyGermanyNorwayLatwiaPolandLatwiaPolagLatwaPortugalLutwanibourgSoveniaMontenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlands-Serbia-Serbia-Sweden-Switzerlands-Switzerlands-Switzerlands-SerbiaEdepublicSwitzerland-Switzerland-SwitzerlandCacch RepublicMathaCacch RepublicRomaniaFinandaSerbiaFinanceSerbiaFinanceSerbiaSoveriaMathaCacch RepublicMontaniaGerearceVerterlandsSwedenSerbiaFinanceSerbiaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSerbiaGerearceHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSerbiaEroniaRomaniaSerdenComaniaGerearceSerbiaEroniaSerbiaEroniaSerbiaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveriaSoveria <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
GermanyNerwayNerwayLatviaPolandPolandLithuaniaPortugalPortugalLithuaniaSolveniaPortugalMontenegroUnited States of AmericaPortugalNetherlandsPortugalPortugalRomaniaPortugalPortugalSpainPortugalPortugalSwedenPortugalCanadaSwedenPortugalCanadaNatterlandsPortugalCanadaMaltaCacela RepublicLuxembourgPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSorbiaFrancePortugalRomaniaSilveniaSwedenSerbiaFrancePortugalRomaniaSolveniaSwedenSorbiaFrancePortugalRomaniaSolveniaSwedenSorbiaFrancePortugalRomaniaSolveniaSwedenSorbiaFrancePortugalLithuaniaSwedenPortugalRomaniaSolveniaSolveniaSolveniaSolveniaPortugalLithuaniaSolveniaPortugalLatviaStorainSolveniaSolveniaSolveniaPortugalSolveniaGreecePortugalSorbiaGreecePortugalSorbiaGreecePortugalSorbiaGreecePortugalSorbiaGreecePortugalSorbiaSolveniaSolvenia	Czech Republic	France		
LatviaPolandPolandLithuaniaPortugalLuxembourgSloveniaMontenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlandsPolandSerbiaPolandSpainaPolandSwedenPolenceSwedenPolenceSwedenLatviaMattaBulgariaCanadaLatviaMattaScheholucMattaSerbiaMattaScheholucMattaSerbiaSerbiaFranceSerbiaFranceSerbiaFranceGerearyLithuaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSerbiaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSolovaniaSol	Estonia	Italy		
LithuaniaPortugalSloveniaLuxembourgSloveniaSloveniaMontenegroUnited States of AmericaSloveniaNetherlandaSloveniaSloveniaSorebiaSloveniaSloveniaSwitzerlandSloveniaSloveniaSwitzerlandCanadaSudeanSloveniaLatviaMaltaCacch RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceSloveniaBulgariaGreaceSloveniaBulgariaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandSloveniaSloveniaSovetandFinandaSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaStoreiaFinanceSloveniaSerbiaFinanceSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaCaceh RepublicSerbiaFinanceSloveniaStoreiaGreaceSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaGreaceSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSerbiaFinanceSloveniaSovetandaGreaceSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaSloveniaSloveniaSovetandaGreaceSloveniaSovetandaGreaceSlovenia	Germany	Norway		
LuxembourgSloveniaSloveniaMottenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlandsUnited States of AmericaRomaniaSectiaSectiaSectiaSpainSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaSwedenSectiaMaltaCzech RepublicMattaSechaPortugalEstoniaRomaniaFinlandSerbiaGereaceHungarySeclenSerbiaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSerbiaFinlandRomaniaFinlandSerbiaGreeceHungarySoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSerbiaFinanceSerbiaFinanceSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSerbiaGermanyGreeceSoveniaSerbiaGermanyGreeceSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaGermanySerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSe	Latvia	Poland		
MontenegroUnited States of AmericaNetherlandsRomaniaSerbiaSayainSwedenSwedenSwitzerlandContropeFOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGSItalyBulgariaMaltaCanadaMaltaEstoniaSorbiaEstoniaSerbiaFranceGermanySwedenGereaHungaryHungaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSoveniaSloveniaSoveniaSloveniaSoveniaCardaSoveniaSloveniaSoveniaGermanyCreaceHungaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSloveniaSoveniaGermanyGreeceCarda CardaHungaryCarda CardaLithuaniaFranceGreeceCarda CardaForaceGermanyGreeceCarda CardaSoveniaGermanyGreeceCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda CardaSoveniaCarda Carda CardaSoveniaCarda Carda CardaSoveniaCarda Carda	Lithuania	Portugal		
NetherlandsKetherlandsRomaniaKetherlandsSerbiaKetherlandsSwedenKetherlandsSwitzerlandKetherlandsSwitzerlandCzech RepublicLatviaCzech RepublicMaltaCzech RepublicPortugalEstoniaRomaniaFinlandSerbiaGerearenGreeceHungaryLithuaniaSwedenSwitzerlandSovieniaSwitzerlandSovieniaSwitzerlandSovieniaSwitzerlandSovieniaSwitzerlandCzech RepublicLatviaSurgeriaRomaniaSerbiaSerbiaFranceGreeceHungaryLatviaSovieniaSwitzerlandSuitzerlandUnited States of AmericaSerbiaSerbiaGereannySerbiaGereannySerbiaBulgariaRomaniaSeraceSerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaSerbiaSerbiaBulgariaSerbia <tr< td=""><td>Luxembourg</td><td>Slovenia</td><td></td></tr<>	Luxembourg	Slovenia		
Romania SechaImage: secha SechaImage: secha SechaSwedenSwedenSwitzerlandSwedenSwitzerlandSugariaCanadaCanadaMataCzech RepublicPortugalEstoniaRomaniaSindandSechiaFranceGreeceHungaryHungarySwedenSwitzerlandSwedenSwitzerlandSwedenSechiaFranceGreeceHungaryLithuaniaSwedenSwitzerlandSwitzerlandSwitzerlandSwitzerlandSwitzerlandGreenceSwitzerlandGeremanySerbiaEstoniaRomaniaSoweniaSwitzerlandSuitzerlandSwitzerlandGeremanySwitzerlandGeremanySerbiaGeremanySerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaGermanySerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSerbiaSulfariaSe	Montenegro	United States of America		
Serbia Spain Sweden Switzerland  FEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS  Terrer FEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS  Terrer FEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS  Tavia Matha Caceh Republic Caceh R	Netherlands			
Spain SwitzerlandImage: Spain SwitzerlandImage: Spain SwitzerlandFEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGSItalyBulgariaCanadaMaltaCzech RepublicLatviaMaltaCzech RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinanceSwedenSerbiaGreeceHungaryLitunariaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSwitzerlandInited States of AmericaFEMALE SEX WORKERSLatviaEstoniaCzech RepublicSerbiaGreeceSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaGreeceSoveniaSoveniaGreeceSoveniaSerbiaGreeceCzech RepublicSerbiaGreeceCzech RepublicSerbiaGreeceCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaBulgariaSoveniaSerbiaSoveniaSoveniaSerbi	Romania			
Sweden       FCOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS         Italy       Bulgaria       Canada         Malta       Czech Republic       Latvia         Portugal       Estonia       Luxembourg         Romania       Finland       Sweden         Serbia       France       Sweden         Ithunana       Gereanyu       Greace         Hungary       Lithuania       Sweden         Serbia       Solvenia       Solvenia         Solvenia       Solvenia       Solvenia         Solvenia       Solvenia       Czech Republic         Latvia       Stonia       Bulgaria         Romania       France       Solvenia         Solvenia       Solvenia       Solvenia         Solvenia       Greace       Solvenia	Serbia			
SwitzerlandFOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGSItalyBulgariaCanadaMaltaCaech RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceHungaryGereacyHungaryHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaSolveniaSolveniaSolveniaHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaHungaryLithuaniaSolveniaHungarySolveniaSolveniaHungaryLatviaSolveniaHungaryComaniaSolveniaHungaryLatviaSolveniaHungaryLatviaGreaceHungarySerbiaGermanyCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaSolveniaSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaSultariaFanceSerbiaSultariaFanceSerbiaSultariaFanceSerbiaSultariaFanceSe	Spain			
PEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGSItalyBulgariaCanadaMaltaCzech RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceGermanyGreeceHungaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSwitzerlandJointed States of AmericaSulgariaLatviaEstoniaSulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicJointed States of AmericaSulgariaLatviaEstoniaSulgariaSerbiaGermanyCzech RepublicSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugalMALE SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaSerbiaFranceSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbia	Sweden			
ItalyBulgariaCanadaMaltaCzech RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceFranceGermanyGreeceHungaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSloveniaSovitzerlandUnited States of AmericaLatviaGreeceLatviaBulgariaRomaniaEstoniaSerbiaGermanyGreeceHurgaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSloveniaSovitzerlandUnited States of AmericaLatviaEstoniaRomaniaFranceSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugalPortugalCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugalPortugalCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaBulgariaSerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaGermanySerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaGermanySerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbia <td< td=""><td>Switzerland</td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Switzerland			
MataCzeck RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceFranceGerenanyGreeceHungaryLithuaniaNetherlandsSoveniaSoveniaSoveniaFranceLatviaNetherlandsSoveniaSovitzerlandUnited States of AmericaLatviaEstoniaScele RepublicRomaniaFranceSoveniaSerbiaGereanyCzech RepublicLatviaEstoniaBulgariaRomaniaGreeceFortugalSerbiaGereanyCzech RepublicSerbiaGereanyCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaBulgariaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerb	PEOPLE WHO INJECT DRUGS			
MataCach RepublicLatviaPortugalEstoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinandSwedenSerbiaFranceHungaryGreeceHungaryHungaryLithuaniaSoveniaHungarySoveriaSoveriaHungaryLithuariaSoveriaHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaHungaryLithuaniaSoveriaHungarySoveriaSoveriaHungaryLithuaSoveriaHungaryLithuaSoveriaHungarySoveriaGermanySoveriaSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugalHungaryHungarySerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaBulgariaSoveriaSerbiaBulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSoveriaSoveriaSerbiaGermanySoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgariaSoveriaSerbiaSulgaria </td <td>Italy</td> <td>Bulgaria</td> <td>Canada</td>	Italy	Bulgaria	Canada	
PortugalExtoniaLuxembourgRomaniaFinandSwedenSerbiaFranceSwedenGreeceHungarySwedenHungaryLithuaniaSwedenRoteriandsSoveniaSoveniaSovizerlandSwizerlandSwizerlandIntel States of AmericaSulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGereanyScenanyLatviaStoniaSulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGereanyStore Store Sto	Malta		Latvia	
RomaniaFinlandSwedenSerbiaFranceHernanyGereceHungaryHernanyLithuaniaHernanyHernanyNetherlandsSoveniaHernanySoveniaSoveniaHernanyVerterlandHernanyHernanyLithua States of AmericaHernanyLatviaFranceCzech RepublicRomaniaGermanyGereceSerbiaGermanyCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaHernanySerbiaBulgariaHernanySerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaSerbiaGermanySerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaBulgariaFranceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaFanceSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbiaSerbia<	Portugal	Estonia	Luxembourg	
Germany Greece Hungary Lithuania Netherlands Slovenia Solvenia United States of America		Finland		
Greece       Hungary         Lithuania       Netherlands         Slovenia       Sovenia         Svitzerland       United States of America         Latvia       Estonia         Romania       France         Serbia       Germany         Greece       Czech Republic         Portugal       Fance         Serbia       Bulgaria         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France	Serbia	France		
Greece       Hungary         Lithuania       Netherlands         Slovenia       Sovenia         Svitzerland       United States of America         Latvia       Estonia         Romania       France         Serbia       Germany         Greece       Czech Republic         Portugal       Fance         Serbia       Bulgaria         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France         Serbia       Bulgaria         Germany       Czech Republic         Greece       Portugal         Exterior       France		Germany		
Hungary Lithuania Netherlands Slovenia Svitzerland United States of AmericaHungary Lithuania Netherlands Slovenia Svitzerland United States of AmericaLatvia Romania SerbiaEstonia France Germany Greece PortugalBulgaria Czech Republic Hunder Greece PortugalSerbiaBulgaria Germany Greece PortugalCzech Republic France Gzech RepublicSerbiaBulgaria Germany Greece PortugalCzech Republic France France Gzech Republic				
LithuaniaLithuaniaNetherlandsSloveniaSloveniaSloveniaSwitzerlandUnited States of AmericaUnited States of AmericaEstoniaLatviaEstoniaRomaniaFranceGermanyGreecePortugalFortugalHALE SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaGreeceFortugalConstructionFortugalFUEL SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicGermanyCzech RepublicFortugalFranceConstructionFortugalSerbiaBulgariaGermanyCzech RepublicFinaceFrance				
Netherlands Slovenia Suvitzerland United States of AmericaHermite Subject Dited States of AmericaLatvia Romania SerbiaEstonia France Germany Greece PortugalBulgaria Czech Republic Cierch Republic Cierch RepublicSerbiaBulgaria Greece PortugalCzech Republic Cierch Republic Cierc				
Slovenia Switzerland United States of AmericaSloveniaLatviaEstoniaBulgariaRomania SerbiaFranceZech RepublicGermany OrtugalGreeceHereiceDetermineDetermineHereiceSerbiaBulgariaFranceGreece PortugalEstoniaFranceCech RepublicFranceFranceCech RepublicFranceFranceCech RepublicFranceFranceFranceFranceFranceSerbiaGermany GermanyFranceSerbiaBulgaria GermanyFranceSerbiaFunceFrance		Netherlands		
Switzerland United States of AmericaSerbiaLatviaEstoniaBulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGermanyFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaGermanyFortugalSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaBulgariaFortugalSerbiaSe				
United States of AmericaFEMALE SEX WORKERSLatviaEstoniaBulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugalMALE SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicSerbiaGermany-GermanyFaraceSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicGermanyFarace				
FEMALE SEX WORKERSLatviaEstoniaBulgariaRomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGermanyGreecePortugal				
RomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGermany-GreecePortugalMALE SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicGermanyGermany-France	FEMALE SEX WORKERS			
RomaniaFranceCzech RepublicSerbiaGermany-GreecePortugalMALE SEX WORKERSSerbiaBulgariaCzech RepublicGermanyGermany-France	Latvia		Bulgaria	
SerbiaGermany Greece PortugalImage: SerbiaSerbiaBulgaria GermanyCzech Republic Romania France	Romania			
Greece     Portugal       Bulgaria     Czech Republic       Germany     Romania       France     France				
Portugal     Image: Constraint of the sector o				
MALE SEX WORKERS         Serbia       Bulgaria       Czech Republic         Germany       Romania         France				
Serbia Bulgaria Czech Republic Germany Grmania France				
Germany Romania France	Serbia		Czech Republic	
France				
		,		
Portugal				

Source: 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting.

Evidence suggests that diagnoses of HIV infection are often made several years after infection. Nearly half of all people diagnosed with HIV in western and central Europe in 2014 had a CD4 count below 350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, and 27% had advanced HIV infection (CD4 count below 200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>). CD4 counts below 350 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> at diagnosis were more common among people who inject drugs (61%) and less common among gay men and other men who have sex with men (37%).

The median CD4 count at diagnosis in western and central Europe has improved over time among gay men and other men who have sex with men and among people who acquired HIV through heterosexual contact, but the average CD4 count at diagnosis among people who inject drugs has fluctuated *(2)*.

In the United States the median CD4 count at presentation for care for the years 2010–2012 was 341 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, while in Canada it was 285 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> (*16*). There are indications that CD4 counts at initiation of treatment are increasing in the United States: in New York state the median initial CD4 count at diagnosis rose from 315 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> in 2006 to 378 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> in 2013 (*17*).

Of the 24 countries in the western and central Europe and North American region with available data, the percentage of gay men and other men who have sex with men who reported taking an HIV test and receiving the results between 2011 and 2015 was more than half in only 9 countries. In the United States a survey of gay men and other men who have sex with men found that 75% of respondents living with HIV were aware of their HIV status, compared with 71% of HIV-negative respondents (*18*). Across the region, levels of testing were lowest among gay men and other men who have sex with men, at 41% in 2015.

#### **Opportunities**

#### HIV Care Continuum Initiative and Affordable Care Act in the United States

In the United States the HIV Care Continuum Initiative was launched in 2013 to accelerate improvements in HIV prevention and care by enhancing capacity in all states of the United States to systematically identify and re-engage people living with HIV. Key priorities for improving outcomes along the care continuum include expanding the workforce by engaging and training non-traditional providers and expanding proven models of team-based, patient-centred approaches that facilitate ongoing engagement in care. The initiative was later incorporated into the National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States.

At the same time, thousands of additional people living with HIV in the United States have been enrolled in comprehensive health insurance through the implementation of the Affordable Care Act (20). Early studies of the Affordable Care Act's effect on the health care of people living with HIV in the United States suggest that many people have used the systems established under the Act to find more affordable and comprehensive health insurance coverage (21).

#### Harm reduction in western and central Europe

Decriminalization and de-penalization of drugs for personal consumption, similar to Portugal and Czech Republic, would reduce the pressures on people who

inject drugs to avoid engaging with HIV prevention and treatment services. This would also create opportunities to expand needle-syringe programmes, which should occur regardless of the legal status of drug consumption. Similarly, decriminalization of sex work could empower women and men engaged in commercial sex work to seek and utilize HIV prevention and treatment services.

#### **Innovative engagement strategies**

The widespread use of mobile dating apps among gay men and other men who have sex with men offers opportunities for collaboration to engage with men, to inform users of the locations of HIV testing or prevention services.

#### **Reduction of legislative barriers**

Increasing levels of official recognition of same sex marriages and other steps toward improved integration of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people community needs can reduce stigma and discrimination of community members, aiding access to needed HIV services.

#### Eastern and southern Africa

- 1. UNAIDS special analysis 2016.
- South African Health Monitoring Survey (SAHMS): an integrated biological and behavioural survey among female sex workers, South Africa 2013–2014—final report. Pretoria: Department of Health Republic of South Africa; 2014 (http:// globalhealthsciences.ucsf.edu/sites/default/files/content/gsi/survey-female-sexworkers-south-africa-2013-2014.pdf).
- 3. Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- 4. Population-based surveys conducted between 2000–2008 and 2009–2015.
- Synthesis report of the rapid assessment of adolescent and HIV programme in five countries: Botswana, Cameroon, Jamaica, Swaziland and Zimbabwe. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2015 (http://www.childrenandaids.org/publication/synthesisreport-rapid-assessment-adolescent-and-hiv-programme-context-five-countries).
- Ministerial Commitment on comprehensive sexuality education and sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents and young people in Eastern and Southern African (ESA); 2013 (http://youngpeopletoday.net/wp-content/ uploads/2014/08/ESA-Commitment-FINAL-Affirmed-on-7th-December.pdf).
- Kenya AIDS response progress report 2014: progress towards zero. Nairobi: Kenya National AIDS Control Council; 2014 (http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/ country/documents/KEN\_narrative\_report\_2014.pdf).
- 8. Population-based surveys, 2009-2015.
- 9. Condom gap assessment: improving condom market visibility. Boston, MA: Clinton Health Access Initiative; 2015.
- 10. Condom push meeting: re-invigorating condom programming in eastern and southern Africa within the context of the fast track approach. 22–23 October 2015.
- 11. Demographic and Health Surveys, 2008-2015.
- Regional workshop to Fast-Track HIV testing services in ESA region. Johannesburg: World Health Organization and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. November 2015.
- Executive summary: consolidated ARV guidelines 2013. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/arv2013/intro/ executivesummary/en/).
- 2015 Africa scorecard on underage/child and forced "marriage": implications for health, governance, population, economy and human right. Lagos: Afri-Dev; 2015 (http://www.afri-dev.info/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/2015-Africa-Scorecard-on-Underage\_Child\_Forced-Marriage-Fn.pdf).
- 15. Unpublished data. Johannesburg: UNAIDS Regional Support Team for Eastern and Southern Africa; 2015.
- 16. South African HIV and TB investment case. Pretoria: National Department of Health and South African National AIDS Council; 2015.
- 17. Report of the technical consultation on Fast Tracking the implementation of the HIV response within the Sustainable Development Goals at the country level. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- World Bank report on the high level retreat on the future of HIV financing. Ditchley Park, UK: HEARD and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 25–26 February 2016.
- 19. Mid-term project report. Humana People to People; 2015.
- 20. Mugalu M. Unique approach boosts fight against HIV in newborns. The Observer, 18 May 2016 (http://www.observer.ug/lifestyle/42-entertainment/44281-unique-approach-boosts-fight-against-hiv-in-newborns).
- 21. Client and provider satisfaction survey on integrated services in seven pilot health facilities in Namibia. Windhoek: Namibia Ministry of Health and Social Services, United Nations Population Fund, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and World Health Organization; 2016.
- 22. Client satisfaction survey in pilot health facilities implementing SRHR/HIV linkages project: final report. Gaborone: Ministry Of Health, Government of Botswana; 2015.

#### Western and central Africa

- Report S/2016/361. Report of the Secretary-General on conflict-related sexual violence. 20 April 2016. New York: United Nations; 2016 (http:// www.securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/s\_2016\_361.pdf).
- 2. UNAIDS special analysis 2016.
- 3. Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- The state of the world's children 2015. Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund; 2015 (http://www.data.unicef.org/resources/the-state-of-the-world-s-children-report-2015statistical-tables.html).
- 5. World population prospects: the 2015 revision. New York: United Nations Population Division; 2015 (https://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/).
- 6. Demographic and Health Surveys 2010-2014.
- Aginam E. Microsoft supports Accra Metropolitan Assembly, others with cloud computing. Vanguard, 26 May 2015 (http://www.vanguardngr.com/2015/05/microsoftsupports-accra-metropolitan-assembly-others-with-cloud-computing/).

#### Asia and the Pacific

- 1. Unpublished analysis of AIDS epidemic model results in Cambodia, Malaysia, Philippines and Thailand. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016.
- Dong Z, Xu J, Zhang H, Dou Z, Mi G et al. HIV incidence and risk factors in Chinese young men who have sex with men—a prospective cohort study. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(5).
- van Griensven F, Thienkrua W, McNicholl J et al. Evidence of an explosive epidemic of HIV infection in a cohort of men who have sex with men in Thailand. AIDS. 2013;27(5):825–832.
- 4. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, World Drug Report 2016 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.16.XI.7).
- Ministry of Justice and Human Rights. HIV and Syphilis Prevalence and Risk Behaviour Survey Among Prisoners in Prisons and Detention Centres in Indonesia. 2010. https:// www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids/HSPBS\_2010\_final-English.pdf [Accessed on 9 July 2016]
- 6. Country-submitted Spectrum files for GARPR 2016 HIV estimates.
- 7. Do no harm: health, human rights and people who use drugs. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016.
- 2011 integrated HIV behavioral and serologic surveillance (IHBSS). Philippines: Department of Health and National Epidemiology Center; 2013.
- 9. 2015 integrated HIV behavioral and serologic surveillance fact sheets. Philippines: Department of Health and National Epidemiology Center; 2015.
- Bi-regional expert consultation on advancing implementation research on HIV/AIDS in Asia. Manilla: WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific; 2016 (http://www. wpro.who.int/hiv/documents/types/reports/implementation\_research\_HIV\_AIDS/en/, accessed 5 July 2016).
- LoveYourself Platinum: What happens during HIV testing? In: LoveYourself [website]. Manilla: LoveYourself; c2016 (http://www.loveyourself.ph/2013/06/loveyourselfplatinum-what-happens.html, accessed 5 July 2016).

#### Latin America and the Caribbean

- 1. UNAIDS special analysis, 2016.
- Legislations and policies that affect the access of adolescents and young people to SRH & VIH services in Latin America. ONUSIDA, UNFPA and UNICEF; 2015 (http:// onusida-latina.org/images/2015/pdf/analisis-sobre-legislaciones-y-politicas.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Barreras legales en el acceso a servicios de VIH y SSR. In: ONUSIDA: cero discriminación [website] (http://cerodiscriminacion.onusida-latina.org/jovenes/ barreras-legales-en-el-acceso-a-servicios-de-vih-y-ssr.html, accessed 6 July 2016).

- 4. National Center for HIV and AIDS Prevention and Control (CENSIDA). Mexico; 2014.
- Hoagland B (presenter Grinsztejn B). Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) uptake and associated factors among MSM and TGW in the PrEP Brasil demonstration project. Eighth IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis, Treatment and Prevention (IAS 2015), Vancouver; 2015.
- Veloso VG, Mesquita F, Grinsztejn B. Pre-exposure prophylaxis for men and transgender women who have sex with men in Brazil: opportunities and challenges. Int AIDS Soc. 2015; 18(4Suppl 3):20010. doi: 10.7448/IAS.18.4.20010.
- 7. Carballo-Diéguez A et al. HIV testing practices among men who have sex with men in Buenos Aires, Argentina. AIDS Care. 2014;26(1):33-41.
- Brito AM et al. Factors associated with low levels of HIV testing among men who have sex with men (MSM) in Brazil. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0130445.
- Antiretroviral treatment in spotlight: a public health analysis of Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington, D.C.: Pan American Health Organization (PAHO); 2013 (http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com\_docman&task=doc\_ view&gid=23710&Itemid, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), WHO. Antiretroviral treatment in the spotlight: a public health analysis in Latin America and the Caribbean. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- Increasing access to HIV treatment in middle-income countries: key data on prices, regulatory status, tariffs and the intellectual property situation. Geneva: WHO; 2014 (http://www.who.int/phi/publications/WHO\_Increasing\_access\_to\_HIV\_treatment. pdf, accessed 22 May 2016).
- IAHCR publishes report on violence against lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, and intersex persons. In: Organization of American States [website]. 7 December 2015. Washington, D.C.: OAS; 2011 (http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media\_center/ PReleases/2015/143.asp, accessed 20 June 2016).
- An overview of violence against LGBTI persons in the Americas: a registry documenting acts of violence between January 1, 2013 and March 31, 2014. In: Organization of American States [website]. 17 December 2014. Washington D.C.: OAS; 2011 (http://www.oas.org/en/iachr/media\_center/PReleases/2014/153A.asp, accessed 20 June 2016).
- 30th March 2016: Trans Day of Visibility press release. In: Trans respect versus transphobia [website]. Transgender Europe (TGEU) and Carsten Balzer; c2016 (http:// transrespect.org/en/tdov-2016-tmm-update/, accessed 15 June 2016).
- 15. Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. Violencia contra personas lesbianas, gays, bisexuales, trans e intersex en América. CIDH; 2015.
- Sexual orientation laws in the world—overview. ILGA; June 2016 (http://ilga.org/ downloads/03\_ILGA\_WorldMap\_ENGLISH\_Overview\_May2016.pdf, accessed 15 June 2016).
- The people living with HIV stigma index: Belize. 2013 (http://www.stigmaindex.org/ sites/default/files/reports/HIV%20STIGMA%20INDEX%20BELIZE.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- República Dominicana: Estigma y discriminación en personas que Viven con el VIH. Santo Domingo, the Domincan Republic; 2009 (http://www.stigmaindex.org/sites/ default/files/reports/Dominican%20Republic%20People%20Living%20with%20 HIV%20Stigma%20Index%20Report%202009-%20Spanish.pdf, accessed 8 July 2016).
- The people living with HIV stigma index: Jamaica. Jamaica Network of Seropositives, UNAIDS and the Jamaican Ministry of Health; 2012 (http://www.stigmaindex.org/ sites/default/files/reports/Jamaica%20%20People%20living%20with%20HIV%20 Stigma%20Index%20report%202012pdf.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 20. UNAIDS/PEPFAR privacy, confidentiality and security assessment tool: protecting personal health information. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2016.
- Evaluation of the implementation of the Ministerial Declaration. From commitment to action; advances in Latin America and the Caribbean. New York and Mexico City: IPPF/WHR and Demysex; 2014 (http://apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/ images/Section\_9/9\_18/9.18\_partnership\_mesoamerican.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 22. Preventing child marriage in the Commonwealth: the role of education. London: Plan International and the Royal Commonwealth Society; 2015.
- 23. Under 18s and the law. In: Guyana Legal AIDS Clinic [website]. Georgetown (Guyana): Guyana Legal Aid Clinic (http://www.legalaid.org.gy/node/25, accessed 6 July 2016).
- 24. Ministry of Health of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago. National HIV testing and counselling policy (https://aidsfree.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/hts\_policy\_trin-and-tobago.pdf, accessed 6 July 2016).

- Self-testing: Anvisa sets rules for self-testing. In: Brazil Department of STD, AIDS and Viral Hepatitis [website]. 30 November 2015 (http://www.aids.gov.br/en/noticia/2015/ anvisa-sets-rules-hiv-self-testing, accessed 6 July 2016).
- A Hora é Agora: diretor do Departamento participa de avaliação do projeto, em Curitiba. In: Agéncia de Noticias da AIDS [website]. 14 May 2016. Agéncia de Noticias da AIDS; 2016 (http://agenciaaids.com.br/home/noticias/noticia\_detalhe/24846, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Call to Action: Second Latin American and Caribbean Forum on the Continuum of HIV Care: "enhancing combination HIV prevention to strengthen the continuum of prevention and care." 2015 (http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com\_ docman&task=doc\_download&gid=31482&Itemid=270, accessed 6 July 2016).
- IACHR welcomes Mexico's steps to remedy discriminatory discharge of soldiers with HIV. In: International Justice Resource Centre (IJRC). IJRC: 9 December 2015 (http://www.ijrcenter.org/2015/12/09/iachr-welcomes-mexicos-steps-to-remedydiscriminatory-discharge-of-soldiers-with-hiv, accessed 6 July 2016).
- Rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans and intersex persons. In: Organization of American States [website]. Washington, D.C.: OAS; 2011 (http://www.oas.org/en/ iachr/lgtbi/, accessed 6 July 2016).
- de Sousa Mascena Veras MA, Calazans GJ, de Almeida Ribeiro MC, de Freitas Oliveira CA, Giovanetti MR, Facchini R et al. High HIV prevalence among men who have sex with men in a time-location sampling survey, São Paulo, Brazil. AIDS Behav. 2015 Sep;19(9):1589–98. doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0944-3.
- 31. Renewing primary health care in the Americas. A position paper of the Pan American Health Organization/World Health Organization. Geneva: WHO; 2007.
- 32. 2014 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting

#### Middle East and North Africa

- Statement on HIV testing and counselling: WHO, UNAIDS re-affirm opposition to mandatory HIV testing. Press release, 28 November 2012. Geneva: World Health Organization and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2012 (http://www. who.int/hiv/events/2012/world\_aids\_day/hiv\_testing\_counselling/en/).
- 2. Setayesh H, Roudi-Fahimi F, el Feki S, Ashford LS. HIV and AIDS in the Middle East and North Africa. Washington, DC: Population Reference Bureau; 2014 (http://www. prb.org/pdf14/mena-hiv-aids-report.pdf).

#### Eastern Europe and central Asia

- 1. World drug report 2016. New York: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime; 2016 (https://www.unodc.org/doc/wdr2016/WORLD\_DRUG\_REPORT\_2016\_web.pdf).
- 2. Ganina LY, et al. Review of HIV epidemic in Kazakhstan in 2013–2015. Almaty: 2016.
- Harm Reduction International. (2014) Global State of Harm Reduction. London. http:// www.drugs.ie/resourcesfiles/ResearchDocs/Global/GlobalStateOfHarmReduction.pdf [Accessxed on 9 July 2016]
- 4. Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, World Health Organization and Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, "HIV testing and counselling in prisons and other closed settings: policy brief" (2009).
- 6. Population-based surveys 2010–2012.
- The People Living with HIV Stigma Index. Amsterdam: Global Network of People living with HIV/AIDS; 2015 (http://www.stigmaindex.org/).
- 8. State programme on HIV for 2012-2016, Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan. National AIDS Center.
- Optimizing investments in Kazakhstan's HIV response. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015 (http://optimamodel.com/pubs/kazakhstan-report.pdf).
- Optimizing investments in Moldova's HIV response. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015.
- 11. Optimizing HIV investments in Armenia. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015 (http:// www.optimamodel.com/pubs/armenia-report.pdf).
- 12. Optimizing investments in Belarus for the national HIV response. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015 (http://optimamodel.com/pubs/belarus-report2.pdf).
- 13. Optimizing investments in Georgia's HIV response. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015 (http://www.optimamodel.com/pubs/georgia-report.pdf).

- 14. Optimizing investments in the Kyrgyz Republic's HIV response. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2015 (http://www.optimamodel.com/pubs/kyrgyz-report.pdf).
- 15. Republic of Tajikistan. Modelling an optimized investment approach for Tajikistan.; 2014 (http://optimamodel.com/pubs/tajikistan-report-en.pdf).
- Country coordination mechanism of Belarus: HIV concept note. Geneva: Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 2015 (http://www.theglobalfund.org/ ProgramDocuments/BLR/ConceptNotes/2015/BLR-H\_ConceptNote\_0\_en.pdf).
- 17. Moldovan Ministry of Health order 1162. 18 October 2013. Related to the approval of the standard HIV testing and counselling performed by NGOs among vulnerable populations using the rapid tests. Chisinau: Moldovan Ministry of Health; 2013.

#### Western and central Europe and North America

- 1. UNAIDS 2016 estimates.
- HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2014. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2015 (http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/hiv-aids-surveillance-in-Europe-2014.pdf).
- HIV surveillance report: diagnoses of HIV infection in the United States and dependent areas, 2014, vol. 26. Atlanta, GA: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2015 (http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/reports/surveillance/cdchiv-surveillance-report-us.pdf).
- Hedrich D, Kalamara E, Sfetcu O, Pharris A, Noor A, Wiessing L, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus among people who inject drugs: is risk increasing in Europe? Euro Surveill. 2013;18:20648.
- 5. HIV and AIDS in Canada: surveillance report to December 31, 2014. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada; 2015.
- 6. Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting 2016. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2016.
- Baral SD, Poteat T, Strömdahl S, Wirtz AL, Guadamuz TE, Beyrer C. Worldwide burden of HIV in transgender women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013;13:214–222.
- 8. 2016 Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting
- Sexually transmitted infections in Europe 2013. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2015 (http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/ Publications/sexual-transmitted-infections-europe-surveillance-report-2013.pdf).
- Jones CM, Logan J, Gladden RM, Bohm MK. Vital signs: demographic and substance use trends among heroin users—United States, 2002–2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64;719–725.
- Smith DK, van Handel M, Wolitski RJ, Stryker JE, Hall HI, Prejean J, et al. Vital signs: estimated percentages and numbers of adults with indications for preexposure prophylaxis to prevent HIV acquisition—United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2015;64:1291–1295.
- As many as 185,000 new HIV infections in the U.S. could be prevented by expanding testing, treatment, PrEP. Press release, 24 February 2016. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (http://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/newsroom/2016/croipress-release-prevention.html).
- Health Canada issues notice of compliance for Gilead's Truvada for reducing the risk of sexually acquired HIV infection. Press release, 29 February 2016 (http://www. newswire.ca/news-releases/health-canada-issues-notice-of-compliance-for-gileadstruvada-for-reducing-the-risk-of-sexually-acquired-hiv-infection-570475811.html).
- First data on PrEP programme in France. London: Aidsmap; 2016 (http://www. aidsmap.com/Cost-is-biggest-barrier-to-PrEP-in-Europe-ECDC-declares/ page/3060924/).
- European demonstration projects and opinions on PrEP. London: Aidsmap; 2016 (http://www.aidsmap.com/Cost-is-biggest-barrier-to-PrEP-in-Europe-ECDC-declares/ page/3060924/).
- Althoff KN, Rebeiro PF, Hanna DB, Padgett D, Horberg MA, Grinsztejn B, et al. A picture is worth a thousand words: maps of HIV indicators to inform research, programs, and policy from NA-ACCORD and CCASAnet clinical cohorts. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19:20707.

- Ending the epidemic. New York: CUNY School of Public Health (http:// etedashboardny.org/measures/new-diagnoses-and-linkage/median-cd4-atdiagnosis/).
- HIV infection risk, prevention, and testing behaviors among men who have sex with men: national HIV behavioral surveillance—20 U.S. cities, 2014. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016 (http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/ reports/surveillance/cdc-hiv-hssr-nhbs-msm-2014.pdf).
- Lifetime risk of HIV diagnosis. Press release, 23 February 2016. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016 (http://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/ newsroom/2016/croi-press-release-risk.html).
- 20. National HIV/AIDS strategy for the United States: updated to 2020. Washington, DC: White House Office of National AIDS Policy; 2015 (https://www.aids.gov/federal-resources/national-hiv-aids-strategy/nhas-update.pdf).
- Kates J, Dawson L, Undem T, Perry K. Health insurance coverage for people with HIV under the Affordable Care Act: experiences in five states. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation; 2014 (http://kff.org/hivaids/issue-brief/health-insurancecoverage-for-people-with-hiv-under-the-affordable-care-act-experiences-in-fivestates/).
- 22. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Estimated HIV incidence among adults and adolescents in the United States, 2007–2010. HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report 2012;17(No. 4). United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/topics/surveillance/resources/reports/#supplemental
- Fakoya, I., Álvarez-Del Arco, D., Woode-Owusu, M., Monge, S., Rivero-Montesdeoca, Y., Delpech, V., et al. A Systematic Review of Post-Migration Acquisition of HIV among Migrants from Countries with Generalised HIV Epidemics Living in Europe: Mplica-tions for Effectively Managing HIV Prevention Programmes and Policy. BMC Public Health, 15, 561. 2015 http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1852-9

### CONCLUSION

Progress on preventing HIV infections among adults has stalled in recent years. The rates of new HIV infections among young women and girls and their male sexual partners in high-prevalence settings in Africa remains unacceptably high, and among key populations globally they have hardly changed since 2010. Antiretroviral therapy roll-out has led to a massive reduction in AIDS-related deaths, but viral suppression rates are still too low to realize the prevention dividend of treatment.

The United Nations General Assembly has agreed on an ambitious impact target: reducing new HIV infections to fewer than 500 000 globally by 2020. Enhanced treatment roll-out and greater progress on viral suppression will contribute to reaching this target. Fully closing the prevention gap will require intensive focus on five pillars delivered through a people-centred, combination approach:

- Combination prevention including comprehensive sexuality education, economic empowerment, and access to sexual and reproductive health services for young women and adolescent girls and their male partners in high-prevalence locations.
- Evidence-informed and human rights-based prevention programmes for key populations, including dedicated services and community mobilization and empowerment.
- 3. Strengthened national **condom programmes**, including procurement, distribution, social marketing, private-sector sales and demand creation.
- 4. **Voluntary medical male circumcision** in priority countries that have high levels of HIV prevalence and low levels of male circumcision, as part of wider sexual and reproductive health service provision for boys and men.
- 5. **Pre-exposure prophylaxis** for population groups at higher risk of HIV infection.

Evidence from a diversity of countries shows that a combination approach to prevention—comprehensive packages of behavioural, biomedical and structural components, tailored to priority population groups within their specific local contexts—produces the strongest results. Research in South Africa has shown that combining cash transfers with free education and psychosocial support interventions boosted reductions HIV risk behaviours among adolescents (1). In three countries of Central America, the combination of integrated prevention campaigns with biomedical and structural components improved condom use by sex workers with regular partners, in part by allowing sex workers to address deeper factors that influence their behaviours (2).

### Strategies for success

Translating evidence into policies and programmes and bringing HIV prevention programmes to scale requires strengthening prevention management capacity to oversee decentralized planning, and to ensure the procurement and supply of critical prevention commodities. The quality and effectiveness of prevention can be improved by using prevention demand-and-supply cascades to highlight bottlenecks. While prevention cascades are inherently more difficult to define and use than the HIV testing and treatment cascades, interest has grown, with several methods and country-specific cascades now under development, aiming to improve prevention management.

A location–population approach, with local-level actions based on local-level data, will be critical to addressing the heterogeneity of the epidemic, and to ensuring local ownership of the response. Further progress on prevention also requires re-thinking community outreach and service delivery models for key populations. More than ever an integrated approach is needed in which key populations are reached by a range of programmes that provide basic prevention services, such as access to condoms, injecting equipment, testing, PrEP and treatment, as well as a range of non-HIV specific services including social and legal support. But as long as most key population programmes to invest in services to these marginalized members of society, it will be difficult to further expand and systematize existing community-based outreach approaches and also provide community-based testing, PrEP and immediate access to treatment.

### Conceptualizing prevention demand-and-supply cascades for adolescent girls and young women



Of critical importance for the future of the prevention response will be the relationship between government and community actors. Renewed prevention activism and a new compact between government and civil society organizations are needed. This partnership must go beyond grass-roots advocacy for risk awareness and "staying HIV free". Country compacts should include strengthened and clearly defined civil society roles in prevention programme planning, implementation and joint monitoring of progress against ambitious targets. Experience from Australia, India, South Africa and several countries in western and central Europe and North America shows that while government commitment and funding provide the foundation of successful prevention responses, prevention programme implementation, especially with regards to key populations, should be carried out in collaboration with civil society and peer organizations that have the trust and ear of the populations at greatest need of services. Formal contractual arrangements between government and civil society organizations, including supervision and mentoring, and capacity building, should be put in place across countries.

Greater ambition can only be realized with greater investment. In late 2015, UNAIDS, launched a campaign to stimulate progress on prevention investments, the Quarter for prevention campaign, which calls on all countries to examine their investment portfolios, and for at least 25% of global HIV resources to be invested in effective primary prevention programmes. This call was taken up the United Nations General Assembly at the High Level Meeting on Ending AIDS. However, investments in effective HIV prevention in low- and middle-income countries remain inadequate and are too often dependent on international donors who themselves face constraints in their allocation of financial resources for prevention. Larger and more balanced investments in AIDS responses are needed, in line with commitments made within the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS.

### Pulling together for prevention: translating global commitments into country action

The targets and commitments in the 2016 Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS establish the basis for action. Global targets need to be translated into national and sub-national implementation plans that focus on the populations and locations in greatest need, and address the legal, social and economic barriers to prevention service access and uptake at national and local levels.

Key partners must pull together for prevention and ensure that sufficient technical capacity and financial resources are made available. A key catalyst for country action will be global guidance on how to define service reach, access or coverage within each of the five pillars. With countries and communities at the centre, a re-doubling of effort on combination prevention will put the world on track to achieving fewer than 500 000 new infections by 2020, and to ending the AIDS epidemic by 2020.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Cluver, L, Orkin, M, Yakubovich, A, Sherr, L (2016). Combination social protection for reducing HIV-risk behaviour amongst adolescents in South Africa. JAIDS. 72: 96-104.
- J Rivas, S Lungo, S Ruether, et al. Are combination prevention interventions effective? The impact of combination prevention on increasing condom use among female sex workers in Central America. 20th International AIDS Conference. Melbourne, July 20-25 2014. Abstract ThAC0302.

#### For more information: aidsinfo.unaids.org

The data provided in this document are just a sample of the data available from

UNAIDS.

Additional data are available at aidsinfo.unaids.org, including:

- Additional Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting Indicators on prevention, mother-to-child transmission, 90–90–90 targets, stigma and discrimination
- A Key Population Atlas of maps on key populations, including the latest available data on key populations at increased risk of HIV infection.
- Estimates of new HIV infections, people living with HIV and AIDS-related deaths by different age groups, children (age 0–14 years), adolescents (age 10–19 years), young people (age 15–24 years), adults (age 15–49) older people (age 50 years and over), and by sex
- Subnational data for selected countries
- Data in different formats: spreadsheet, maps, graphics
- Comparable data over multiple years, and across countries, which can also be extracted to spreadsheets for further analysis.



# ANNEXES

KES

#### Part 1. HIV estimates in annex tables and in report

#### Introduction

UNAIDS annually provides revised global, regional and country-specific modelled estimates to track the HIV epidemic, using the best available epidemiological and programmatic data. Modelled estimates are required because it is impossible to count the exact number of people living with HIV, people who are newly infected with HIV or people who have died from AIDS-related causes in any country. Knowing this for certain requires testing every person for HIV regularly and investigating all deaths, which is logistically impossible and ethically problematic. Modelled estimates and the lower and upper bounds around these estimates provide a scientifically appropriate way to describe HIV epidemic levels and trends.

#### Partnerships in developing methods for UNAIDS estimates

Country teams use UNAIDS-supported software to develop estimates annually. The country teams comprise primarily epidemiologists, demographers, monitoring and evaluation specialists and technical partners.

The software used to produce the estimates is Spectrum—developed by Avenir Health (www.avenirhealth.org)—and the Estimates and Projections Package, which is developed by the East-West Center (www.eastwestcenter.org). The UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections provides technical guidance on the development of the HIV component of the software (www.epidem.org).

#### Brief description of methods used by UNAIDS to create estimates

For countries where HIV transmission is high enough to sustain an epidemic in the general population, available epidemiological data typically consist of HIV prevalence results from surveillance among pregnant women attending antenatal care clinics and from nationally representative population-based surveys. Because antenatal clinic surveillance is performed regularly, these data can be used to inform national prevalence trends, whereas data from population-based surveys—which are conducted less frequently but have broader geographical coverage and also include men—are more useful for informing national HIV prevalence levels. For a few countries in sub-Saharan Africa that have not conducted population-based surveys, HIV prevalence levels are adjusted based on comparisons of antenatal clinic surveillance and population-based survey data from other countries in the region. The HIV prevalence curves and numbers of people on antiretroviral therapy are then used to derive an estimate of HIV incidence trends.

Historically, countries with high HIV transmission have produced separate HIV prevalence and incidence trends for rural and urban areas when there are well established geographical differences in prevalence. To better describe and account for further geographical heterogeneity, an increasing number of countries have produced subnational estimates (such as at the province or state level) that, in some cases, also account for rural and urban differences. These subnational or rural-urban estimates and trends are then aggregated to obtain national estimates using Spectrum.

In countries with low-level HIV epidemics where HIV transmission occurs largely among key populations at higher risk of HIV infection (such as people who inject drugs, sex workers or gay men and other men who have sex with men), the data from repeated HIV prevalence studies—usually focused on key populations are most often used to inform national estimates and trends. Estimates of the size of key populations are increasingly derived empirically in each country or, when studies are not available, based on regional values and consensus among experts. Other data sources—including population-based surveys, surveillance among pregnant women and HIV case reporting data—are used to estimate the HIV prevalence in the general, low-risk population. The HIV prevalence curves and numbers of people on antiretroviral therapy are then used to derive national HIV incidence trends.

For many countries in western and central Europe and North America and in Latin America and the Caribbean that have insufficient HIV surveillance or survey data—but have strong vital registration and disease reporting systems—HIV case reporting and AIDS-related mortality data are used to directly inform trends and levels in national HIV prevalence and incidence. These methods also allow countries to take into account evidence of underreporting or reporting delays in HIV case report data, as well as the misclassification of deaths from AIDS-related causes.

In all countries where UNAIDS supports the development of estimates, assumptions about the effectiveness of HIV programme scale-up and patterns of HIV transmission and disease progression are used to obtain age- and sexspecific estimates of the number of people living with HIV, the number of people newly infected with HIV and the number of people dying from AIDs-related causes as well as other important indicators (including programme coverage statistics). These assumptions are based on systematic literature reviews and analyses of raw study data by scientific experts. Demographic population data, including fertility estimates, are derived from the latest revision of the United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects.

Selected inputs into the model—including the number of people on antiretroviral therapy and the number of women accessing services for preventing the mother-to-child transmission of HIV by type of regimen—are reviewed and validated in partnership with the World Health Organization (WHO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and other partners.

Final country-submitted files containing the modelled outputs are reviewed at UNAIDS to ensure that the results are comparable across regions and countries and over time.

#### **Uncertainty bounds around UNAIDS estimates**

The software calculates uncertainty bounds around each estimate that define the range within which the true value (if it could be measured) lies. Narrow bounds indicate that an estimate is precise, and wide bounds indicate greater uncertainty regarding the estimate.

In countries using HIV surveillance data, the quantity and source of the data available partly determine the precision of the estimates; countries with more HIV surveillance data have smaller ranges than countries with less surveillance data or smaller sample sizes. Countries in which a national population-based survey has been conducted generally have smaller ranges around estimates than countries where such surveys have not been conducted. In countries using HIV case reporting and AIDS-related mortality data, the number of years of data and the magnitude of the cases reported or AIDS-related deaths observed will contribute to determining the precision of the estimate.

The number of assumptions required to arrive at the estimate also contributes to the extent of the ranges around the estimates: in brief, the more assumptions, the wider the uncertainty range, since each assumption introduces additional uncertainties. For example, the ranges around the estimates of adult HIV prevalence are smaller than those around the estimates of HIV incidence among children because the latter is based on prevalence among pregnant women and the probability of mother-to-child HIV transmission.

UNAIDS is confident that the actual numbers of people living with HIV, people who are newly infected with HIV or people who have died from AIDS-related causes lie within the reported ranges. Over time, more and better data from countries will steadily reduce uncertainty.

#### Improvements to the 2016 UNAIDS estimates model

Country teams create new Spectrum files every year. The files may differ from one year to the next for two reasons. First, new surveillance and programme data are entered into the model; this can change HIV prevalence and incidence trends over time, including for past years. Second, improvements are incorporated into the model based on the latest available science and understanding of the epidemic. Because of these improvements to the model and the addition of new data to create the estimates for each year, the results from previous years cannot be compared with the results from this year. A full historical set of estimates has also been created for this year, enabling a description of trends over time.

Between the previous and 2016 rounds of estimates, the following changes were applied to the model under the guidance of the UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections and based on the latest scientific evidence.

- Updated demographic data from the United Nations Population Division's World Population Prospects, 2015 Revision were used as the basis for the demographic projections in the model.
- For countries with high-burden epidemics that model separate HIV prevalence and incidence trends for rural and urban areas, the distribution of the urban population was updated using the *World Urbanization Prospects* 2014 data set.
- In the adult estimation model, the probability of dying for those on antiretroviral therapy was updated based on data provided to UNAIDS by the IeDEA Consortium.
- The probabilities of HIV transmission during pregnancy, delivery and breastfeeding have been updated based on a comprehensive and recent review of published literature. Most importantly, the estimated transmission probability among women who seroconvert during pregnancy or breastfeeding was significantly lower than a previous review of the literature had found. As a result, the number of children estimated to have become infected was revised downward in the current model.
- The estimation model for children was modified to apply a probability of initiating antiretroviral therapy by the child's age, year and geographical region rather than assuming that antiretroviral therapy was initiated when the child became eligible for treatment. The new probabilities were based on special analyses done for UNAIDS by the IeDEA Consortium and provided region-specific probabilities. As a result of more accurately reflecting when children initiate antiretroviral therapy, the number of children estimated to have survived in previous years has been corrected downwards.
- Wider use was made of the AIDS Epidemic Model developed by the East-West Center and the case reporting and mortality fitting tools in Spectrum to construct national prevalence and incidence trends in countries with concentrated epidemics. This improved the overall accuracy of the estimates in these countries.
- For countries using HIV case reporting and mortality data as model inputs, uncertainty around the incidence curve has been integrated into the incidence fitting process. As a result, the uncertainty bounds for countries using this approach were narrower than in the previous year.

More detailed information on these revisions to the 2016 model can be found at www.epidem.org and in a collection of topical articles by the UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections to be published in a journal supplement to be released in December 2016.

#### Measuring antiretroviral therapy coverage

Since 2013, UNAIDS has provided the number and estimates of the proportion of adults and children living with HIV who are on antiretroviral therapy (rather than estimates of the proportion of adults and children eligible according to national

or international guidelines who are on antiretroviral therapy). This coverage reflects the WHO recommendations of starting antiretroviral therapy among everyone diagnosed as HIV-positive.

#### **Publication of country-specific estimates**

UNAIDS aims to publish estimates for all countries with populations of 250 000 or more. For the countries with populations of 250 000 or more that did not submit estimates, UNAIDS developed estimates using the Spectrum software that were based on published or otherwise available information. These estimates contributed to regional and global totals but were not included in our reports or website.

In countries with low-level epidemics, the number of pregnant women living with HIV is difficult to estimate. Many women living with HIV in these countries are sex workers, people who use drugs or sexual partners of people who use drugs or gay men or other men who have sex with men, and thus they are likely to have different fertility levels than the general population. UNAIDS does not present estimates of mother-to-child HIV transmission or estimates related to children infected with HIV through mother-to-child transmission in some countries with concentrated epidemics unless adequate data are available to validate these estimates.

With regard to reporting incidence trends, if there are not enough historical data to confidently state whether a decline in incidence has occurred, UNAIDS will not publish earlier data to avoid users making inaccurate inferences about trends. Specifically, incidence trends are not published if there are fewer than four data points for the key population or if there have been no data for the past four years.

Finally, in a few instances, UNAIDS will not publish country estimates when further data or analyses are needed to produce valid estimates. More information on the UNAIDS estimates and the individual Spectrum files for most countries can be found on the UNAIDS website (www.unaids.org)

### Methods for measuring progress against the 90–90–90 target

To measure progress against the 90–90–90 target worldwide and by region in 2015, UNAIDS analysed HIV surveillance, survey and programme data reported by 121 countries through the Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (GARPR) tool and other published and unpublished data provided to UNAIDS especially for this purpose. A description of the GARPR system and indicators is available in the Global AIDS response progress reporting 2016 guidelines. Data reported by countries through GARPR are available at http://aidsinfo.unaids.org/. Not all countries were able to report on all three measures of the target.

All progress measures in this report, unless otherwise stated, are based on UNAIDS global, regional and country-specific modelled estimates of the numbers of people living with HIV in 2015. Upper and lower uncertainty bounds around the measures were calculated from the range of estimated numbers of people living with HIV. More details about how UNAIDS derives estimates and uncertainty bounds can be found earlier in this section.

#### Knowledge of HIV status among people living with HIV

Global and regional measures of the number of people living with HIV who know their status were derived using the most recent HIV case-based surveillance and nationally-representative population-based survey data available for 87 countries. Where data were available separately for children (aged 0-14 years) and adults (aged 15 years and older), age-specific measures were calculated and then aggregated to produce a national measure.

For 66 countries, knowledge of status was taken as the cumulative number of people notified to the HIV surveillance system, minus deaths among people known to have been HIV-positive, divided by the estimate of people living with HIV. If the measure from the HIV surveillance system was lower than the UNAIDS estimate of antiretroviral therapy coverage in the country, the reported value from the surveillance system was excluded from the analysis.

A country's measure was included only if the case-based surveillance system had been in place since 2011 and was able to report on notifications and deaths. Countries with more recent systems may not have yet captured all people living with HIV who were diagnosed prior to 2011. Even in countries with long-standing HIV surveillance systems where data were included, biases may still exist. For example, a country's measure of the knowledge of status may be underestimated if not all people who are diagnosed are reported to the HIV surveillance system in a timely manner. On the other hand, the measure may be overestimated if people are notified to the system more than once, but these duplicate reports are not detected. Equally, if people die or emigrate but are not removed from the system, the percentage of people living with HIV who know their status will be overstated.

	Countries with available data	Percentage of people living with HIV represented in the reporting countries
Asia and Pacific	41% (16 of 39)	93%
Eastern and southern Africa	57% (12 of 21)	85%
Eastern Europe and central Asia	65% (11 of 17)	98%
Latin America and the Caribbean	45% (15 of 33)	76%
Middle East and North Africa	33% (7 of 21)	77%
West and Central Africa	48% (12 of 25)	73%
Western and central Europe and North America	83% (14 of 40)	83%
Global	44% (87 of 196)	84%

For 19 countries in sub-Saharan Africa and two countries in Latin America, knowledge of status was based on nationally representative population-based surveys conducted since 2010 and other care and treatment data reported through GARPR. In these countries, a mid-point value was calculated from the percentage of people living with HIV reporting to have ever been tested and the UNAIDS estimate of the country's antiretroviral therapy coverage or the percentage of people living with HIV reported to be in care, whichever was greater.

Knowledge of status based on survey data may tend to underestimate actual knowledge of status since the survey data provide a proxy of people who did not know their status at the time when the survey was conducted, while the estimate of the number of people living with HIV are from 2015. It may be the case that that people living with HIV who did not know their status in the earlier survey year have subsequently gone on to test and are now aware of their status in 2015.

#### Coverage of antiretroviral therapy among people living with HIV

Global and regional measures of antiretroviral therapy coverage are derived from country-reported programme data through GARPR and the UNAIDS-supported Spectrum software. For a small number of countries where reported numbers of people on treatment are not available— primarily in western and central Europe and North America—estimates of the number of people on treatment are developed either in consultation with the public health agency responsible for monitoring the national treatment programme or based on other published data sources.

UNAIDS— in partnership with the World Health Organization and the United Nations Children's Fund and other partners that support treatment service delivery in countries—reviews and validates treatment numbers reported through GARPR and Spectrum on an annual basis. UNAIDS staff also provide technical assistance and training to country public health and clinical officers to ensure the quality of the treatment data that are reported. Nevertheless, this measure may overestimate coverage if people who transfer from one facility to another are reported by both facilities. Similarly, coverage may be overestimated if people who have died, who have disengaged from care, or who have emigrated are not identified.

#### Viral suppression among people living with HIV

Progress towards reaching regional and global viral suppression targets was determined using HIV case-based surveillance and nationally representative population-based survey data available from 86 countries between 2013 and 2015. The measure was defined as the number of people with viral suppression (<1000 copies per ml) among people tested. This proportion was applied to the total number of people on antiretroviral therapy to obtain an estimate of the number and percentage of people on antiretroviral therapy who were virally suppressed.

#### Availability of data on viral load testing, global and by region

There are several limitations in the availability and quality of data on viral suppression that are important to note when using findings from this report. First, for many countries, viral load testing may not be universally available or may be episodic (i.e., to assess suspected treatment failure) rather than routine,
possibly leading to an underestimate of viral suppression. Second, viral load testing may be done only for people who have been on antiretroviral treatment for 12 months, which could lead to higher viral suppression levels in the testing population, especially if retention is low or the number newly initiating treatment is high. Finally, countries may be reporting according to different detection thresholds, ranging from an undetectable viral load (<50 copies) to the WHO-defined standard (<1000 copies), although there is no evidence to suggest that these differences will result in a severe bias in comparability.

While country reported data were reviewed to exclude small cohorts or episodic testing, the quality of this measure will vary within and across the regions.

	Countries with available data	Percentage of people on antiretroviral therapy who received a viral load test in the reporting period
Asia and Pacific	38% (15 of 39)	29%
Eastern and southern Africa	38% (8 of 21)	14%
Eastern Europe and central Asia	77% (11 of 17)	77%
Latin America and the Caribbean	65% (21 of 33)	77%
Middle East and North Africa	64% (8 of 21)	41%
West and Central Africa	38% (7 of 25)	2%
Western and central Europe and North America	28% (16 of 40)	44%
Global	40% (86 of 196)	22%

## Part 2. HIV incidence among young women ages 15–19 and 20-24 years in eastern and southern Africa

Subnational modelled estimates were used to calculate HIV incidence among young women aged 15–19 and 20–24 years for Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The values are based on Spectrum-derived estimates for provincial or district level areas. With the exception of Ethiopia and Uganda, sub-national estimates were produced in 2016 using data up until 2015. For Ethiopia and Uganda, files produced in 2015, with data updated up until 2014, were used as more recent subnational estimates files were not available. National modelled estimates were used to calculate HIV incidence for Lesotho and Swaziland.

Incidence was calculated for the respective age groups as the proportion of new HIV infections in 2015 (2014 for Ethiopia and Uganda) over the non-HIV-positive population in the previous year.

For Botswana and South Africa, the district level incidence calculations used alternative sources. The number of young women living with HIV for each age group was calculated based on the proportion of infections among young women, aged 15–19 years and 20–24 years respectively, to the total prevalence

among adults, aged 15–49 years. The relative proportion was then applied to the new adult infections in each district. The number of young women aged 15–19 and 20–24 years living with HIV was calculated using the same method. The population aged 15–19 and 20–24 years by district was pulled from census data. Incidence was then calculated using the method described above. For Botswana, the HIV prevalence data came from the 2012 Botswana AIDS Indicator Survey and the 2011 census. For South Africa, the district prevalence was calculated based on surveillance estimates and Statistics South Africa 2014 population data.

## Part 3. Distribution of new HIV infections by subpopulation

The distribution of new HIV infections by region was estimated based on data for 163 countries using five data sources.

For countries that model their HIV epidemic based on data from subpopulations, including key populations, the numbers of new infections were extracted from Spectrum 2015 files. This source provided data from 63 countries for sex workers, 36 countries for people who inject drugs, 57 countries for men who have sex with men and 11 countries–only in Latin America and Asia–for transgender people.

The second source was of mode of transmission studies conducted in countries between 2006 and 2012. The proportions of new infections estimated for each subpopulation, calculated by modes of transmission analyses, were multiplied by the number of total new adult (15–49) infections, by relevant gender, to derive an estimated number of new infections by subpopulation. This source provided data from 18 countries for sex workers, 23 countries for people who inject drugs and 22 countries for men who have sex with men.

New HIV infections for European countries with neither of the aforementioned data were derived from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) HIV Surveillance Report 2014. The proportions of new diagnoses for each region in Europe (West, central and East) were applied to UNAIDS estimates of new infections in each country for people who inject drugs and men who have sex with men. Data for sex workers were not available from the ECDC report. New HIV infections in China, Russia and the United States of America were taken from available national reports of new diagnoses.

New HIV infections among countries without a direct data source were calculated from regional benchmarks. The benchmarks were set by the median proportion of new infections in the specific subpopulation in all available countries in the same region. The majority of these countries were located in sub-Saharan Africa. There were 93 countries which used benchmark values for the sex work estimate, 63 countries for the people who inject drugs estimate, 66 countries for the men who have sex with men estimate and 44 countries for the transgender people estimate.

The calculated proportions of infections for each key population include the sex partners of members of key populations. New infections among sex partners of key populations were estimated using transmission probabilities from the literature.

#### Part 4. Estimating the cost of homophobia

The two studies considered in this report are aiming to compare the level of homophobia among countries and regions and then to estimate the corresponding economic cost. To do so requires analysis of variables that are available for most countries. We collected data on 171 countries and reduced the final sampling to 162 countries, corresponding to those with sufficient data to complete the Homophobic Climate Index (HCI).

Data on gay men and other men who have sex with men were obtained from AIDSinfo (http://aidsinfo.unaids.org), peer-reviewed articles and grey literature. Available data include population size estimations for gay men and other men who have sex with men.

Data on the level of institutionalised homophobia were obtained from the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA) 2016 report "State-sponsored homophobia: a world survey of laws—criminalisation, protection and recognition of same-sex love" (1). This report provides a global overview of lesbian, gay and bisexual legislations for all countries in the world.

Data on the human and economic development of United Nations countries were based on the United Nations Development Programme "Human development report 2015" *(2)*.

For all calculations, we used the latest data available, including gross domestic product values from the International Monetary Fund (3). Population estimates come from the Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Population Division (4). Country income categories refer to those published by the World Bank in July 2016. We used waves 4, 5 and 6 of the World Values Survey (http://www.worldvaluessurvey.org) as well as the European Values Survey (http:// www.europeanvaluesstudy.eu) for measuring social homophobia at the country level. Behavioural homophobia is measured with reported homophobic violence and internalised homophobia. The level of reported homophobic violence is measured by the share of the 93 000 individuals among 38 European countries in the framework of the EU LGBT survey conducted in 2012 (http://fra.europa.eu/ en/survey/2012/eu-lgbt-survey). We considered the data related to internalised homonegativity from the work of Ross and colleagues (5), who studied the data of more than 144 000 participants in the European MSM Internet Survey conducted in 2010 in 38 European countries (http://www.emis-project.eu/project.html). All statistical calculations were performed with Stata 14.

Homophobia, or homonegativity, includes negative responses to and prejudice against lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and intersex people. The study conducted by Lamontagne and colleagues (6) built an index of the level of homophobia based on three types of homophobic reactions, as developed by O'Donohue and Caselles (7); The index reflects i) institutional homophobia; ii) social homophobia; and iii) behavioural homophobia. The latter component has only been included in a subset of 38 European countries for which the corresponding variables are currently available. The set of variables describing each type of homophobia has been checked for internal consistency and collinearity, as we verified the collinearity among the three components themselves. See the study for more details (6).

The economic cost of homophobia is assessed through two key components, the productivity cost (PC) and the health-related cost (HC) for each country (i).

CHi = PCi + HCi (1)

For the productivity cost, we estimate the wage differential for each country based on its level of homophobia (Homophobic Climate Index, HCI):

 $PC_{t} = MSM_{i}^{e} \cdot 0.11\delta HCI \cdot GDPpc_{i}$  (2)

For each country (i) we use the level of homophobia given from the Homophobic Climate Index described above for 162 countries. We assume that for each country, the population of gay men and other men who have sex with men represents 1–3% of all 15- to 64-year-old males.

For health-related costs, let  $\beta$  i define the number of life-years lost due to homophobia for country i, adjusted for the country-specific level of homophobia and the life expectancy at age 15 years for the male population  $LE_i^{m15y}$ . The healthrelated economic cost can then be defined as follows, where  $MSM_i^e$  represents the number of gay men and other men who have sex with men as a share of the male 15–64 years population, with lower (1%) and an upper (3%) bound:

 $HC_{i} = MSM_{i}^{e} \cdot \beta_{i} \cdot \frac{GDPpc_{i}}{LE_{i}^{m15y}} \quad HC_{i} = MSM_{i}^{e} \quad (3)$ 

See the complete study for more details (8).

#### **Annex on Methods**

- Carrol A. State-Sponsored homophobia: a world survey of sexual orientation laws criminalisation, protection and recognition, 11th edition. Geneva: International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association; 2016 (http://ilga.org/ downloads/02\_ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2016\_ENG\_WEB\_150516.pdf).
- 2. Human development report 2015. New York: United Nations Development Programme; 2015 (http://report.hdr.undp.org/).
- World economic outlook: too slow for too long. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund; 2016 (http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2016/01/pdf/text. pdf).
- World population prospects: 2015 revision. New York: Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Population Division; 2015 (https://esa.un.org/ unpd/wpp/publications/files/key\_findings\_wpp\_2015.pdf).
- Ross MW, Berg RC, Schmidt AJ, Hospers HJ, Breveglieri M, Furegato, et al. Internalised homonegativity predicts HIV-associated risk behavior in European men who have sex with men in a 38-country cross-sectional study: some public health implications of homophobia. BMJ Open. 2013;3:e001928.
- Lamontagne E, D'Elbee M, Ross MW, Du Plessis A, Caroll A, Loures L. Fighting against discrimination: a new measure of the homophobic climate at country level. 2016, in press.
- O'Donohue W, Caselles CE. Homophobia: conceptual, definitional, and value issues. J Psychopathol Behavi Assess. 1993;15:177–195.
- 8. Lamontagne E, D'Elbee M, et al. The economic cost of homophobia: a model for all high, middle and low-income countries. 2016, in press.

		2010		2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Asia and the Pacific	310 000	270 000	360 000	300 000	240 000	380 000	
Afghanistan	<1000	<500	1400	<1000	<500	2700	
Australia	1100	1100	1200	1200	1200	1300	
Bangladesh	1400	1200	1500	1100	<1000	1100	
Bhutan <sup>a</sup>							
Brunei Darussalamª							
Cambodia	1700	1500	1800	<1000	<1000	<1000	
Chinaª							
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª							
Fijiª							
India <sup>b</sup>	100 000	82 000	130 000	86 000	67 000	110 000	
Indonesia	69 000	62 000	75 000	73 000	66 000	80 000	
Japanª							
Lao People's Democratic Republicª							
Malaysia	8500	7700	9300	5200	4700	5600	
Maldives <sup>a</sup>							
Mongolia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Myanmar	15 000	14 000	17 000	12 000	11 000	13 000	
Nepal	2300	2100	2600	1300	1200	1500	
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>							
Pakistan	11 000	7900	17 000	17 000	12 000	30 000	
Papua New Guinea	2400	2100	2600	2700	2300	3200	
Philippines	4200	3100	6300	6400	3400	34 000	
Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>							
Singaporeª							
Sri Lanka	<500	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	1100	
Thailand	12 000	10 000	13 000	6900	6300	7600	
Timor-Leste <sup>a</sup>							
Viet Nam	19 000	17 000	20 000	14 000	13 000	15 000	
Eastern and southern Africa	1 100 000	1 000 000	1 200 000	960 000	830 000	1 100 000	
Angola	28 000	19 000	41 000	26 000	16 000	41 000	
Botswana	12 000	11 000	13 000	9700	8200	11 000	
Eritrea	<500	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	<1000	
Ethiopiaª							
Kenya	83 000	67 000	100 000	78 000	57 000	110 000	
Lesotho	19 000	17 000	21 000	18 000	16 000	20 000	
Madagascar	3300	2700	4000	6300	4300	8700	
Malawi	56 000	47 000	68 000	33 000	24 000	44 000	
Mauritius	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<200	<500	
Mozambique	130 000	97 000	160 000	81 000	56 000	120 000	
Namibia	9200	7700	11 000	7800	6000	9500	
Rwanda	9000	7300	11 000	7500	5300	9800	
South Africa	350 000	310 000	400 000	380 000	330 000	430 000	
South Sudan	15 000	9200	21 000	15 000	6400	23 000	

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Swaziland	15 000	14 000	16 000	11 000	9700	14 000	
Uganda	130 000	110 000	140 000	83 000	63 000	110 000	
United Republic of Tanzania	82 000	72 000	92 000	54 000	45 000	64 000	
Zambia	73 000	65 000	81 000	60 000	52 000	69 000	
Zimbabwe	79 000	69 000	88 000	64 000	52 000	76 000	
Eastern Europe and central Asia	120 000	110 000	130 000	190 000	170 000	200 000	
Albaniaª					•••		
Armenia	<500	<200	<500	<500	<500	<1000	
Azerbaijan	<1000	<1000	1400	1200	<1000	1800	
Belarus	2600	2000	3300	5300	4100	6900	
Bosnia and Herzegovina <sup>a</sup>							
Georgia	<1000	<1000	1100	1100	<1000	1500	
Kazakhstan	1900	1600	2100	3700	2700	5000	
Kyrgyzstan	<1000	<1000	1100	<1000	<1000	1500	
Montenegro <sup>®</sup>							
Republic of Moldova	1800	1500	2300	1400	1100	1700	
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Tajikistan	1600	1300	2000	1600	1100	2400	
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Ukraine	9500	7000	12 000	16 000	12 000	21 00	
Uzbekistan	<1000	<500	1100	<500	<500	<1000	
Latin America and the Caribbean	100 000	86 000	120 000	100 000	86 000	120 000	
Argentina	5300	4500	5700	5100	4400	560	
Bahamas	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<100	
Barbados	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200	<20	
Belize	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200	<20	
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	1500	<1000	2200	1300	<1000	2000	
Brazil	43 000	31 000	58 000	44 000	32 000	59 00	
Chile	1700	<1000	2600	1800	<1000	3600	
Colombia	10 000	8800	11 000	11 000	9000	11 000	
Costa Rica	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	
Cuba	1700	1400	1800	3100	2500	3400	
Dominican Republic	2300	1500	3400	2000	1300	3300	
Ecuador	1500	1100	1900	1300	<1000	1700	
El Salvador	1100	<1000	1200	<1000	<500	<100	
Guatemala	3000	1700	5500	3700	1800	640	
Guyana	<500	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<50	
Haiti	3700	2700	5100	1500	1000	230	
Honduras	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<500	<100	
Jamaica	1600	1300	2100	1700	1300	210	
Mexico	10 000	9300	11 000	11 000	9800	12 00	
Nicaragua	<1000	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	1200	
Panama	<1000	<1000	1000	<1000	<1000	110	

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Paraguay	1200	<1000	2100	1100	<1000	1800
Peru	3100	2100	4400	2800	1800	4500
Suriname	<200	<200	<500	<200	<200	<500
Trinidad and Tobago	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<500
Uruguay	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<1000
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	6000	5500	6500	5600	5000	6100
Middle East and North Africa	20 000	15 000	29 000	21 000	12 000	37 000
Algeria	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<100	<1000
Djibouti	<1000	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	1000
Egypt	1000	<1000	1700	1500	<1000	2800
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	6600	4500	11 000	7100	4400	16 000
Lebanon	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200	<500
Morocco	1800	1400	2300	1200	<1000	1600
Omanª						
Somalia	2800	1900	3800	3000	1600	4400
Sudan	5400	3200	8100	5600	2000	11 000
Tunisia	<500	<200	<500	<500	<200	<500
Yemen	<1000	<500	1400	1000	<1000	2100
Western and central Africa	450 000	350 000	560 000	410 000	310 000	530 000
Benin	4400	3200	6000	4200	2900	6600
Burkina Faso	5000	3600	6700	4200	2300	6300
Burundi	3100	1600	4100	1200	<500	2200
Cameroon	45 000	40 000	49 000	44 000	35 000	51 000
Cape Verde	<200	<200	<500	<200	<200	<500
••••••	7700	6700	8700	7000	5700	
Central African Republic	••••••				•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	8900
Chad	11 000	7900	15 000	8300	5400	12 000
Congo <sup>a</sup>						
Côte d'Ivoire	26 000	19 000	32 000	25 000	18 000	33 000
Democratic Republic of the Congo	23 000	17 000	30 000	15 000	8800	21 000
Equatorial Guinea	2300	1900	2600	<500	<200	<1000
Gabon	2300	1700	2800	1500	<1000	2400
Gambia	1600	1200	2000	1400	1100	1900
Ghana	18 000	15 000	22 000	13 000	9800	16 000
Guinea	9400	7700	11 000	7600	5700	9800
Guinea-Bissau <sup>a</sup>						
Liberia	1700	1300	2100	1600	1100	2200
Mali	9700	7900	12 000	10 000	7500	15 000
Mauritania	<1000	<1000	1500	<1000	<500	1400
Niger	1900	1700	2200	2400	2100	2800
Nigeria	260 000	180 000	350 000	250 000	180 000	350 000
Senegal	1600	1100	2100	1600	<1000	2500
Sierra Leone	4000	3300	4700	2500	1700	3400

				2015		
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Western and central Europe and North America	92 000	89 000	97 000	91 000	89 000	97 000
Austriaª						
Belgiumª						
Bulgariaª						
Canadaª						
Croatiaª					•••	
Cyprusª						
Czech Republic <sup>a</sup>						
Denmark <sup>a</sup>						
Estoniaª						
Finland <sup>a</sup>						
France <sup>ª</sup>					••••	
Germany <sup>a</sup>			·····			
Greece	<1000	<1000	1000	<1000	<1000	1000
Hungary <sup>a</sup>			·····			
Iceland <sup>a</sup>			·····			
Irelandª			·····			
Israelª						
Italy	4700	4600	5000	4500	4400	4800
Latvia	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<500	<1000
Lithuaniaª						
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>						
Maltaª						
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>						
Norwayª						
Poland <sup>a</sup>				····		
Portugalª						
Romaniaª						
Serbiaª					•	
Slovakiaª						
Sloveniaª						
Spain	 3600			 3000		4000
Sweden <sup>a</sup>	5000	2300	4700	5000	2000	4000
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>						
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••						
Turkey <sup>a</sup>						
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup> United States of America <sup>a</sup>						
Global	2 200 000	2 000 000	2 500 000	2 100 000	1 800 000	2 400 000

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication. <sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.

### 2. Estimated number of children (0–14 years old) newly infected with HIV, 2000 and 2015

		2010			2015	
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Asia and the Pacific	26 000	21 000	29 000	19 000	16 000	21 000
Afghanistan	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<200
Australia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Bangladesh	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Bhutanª						
Brunei Darussalamª						
Cambodiad					•••	
Chinaª						
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª						
Fijiª						
India <sup>b</sup>						
Indonesia	3000	2300	3800	5000	3900	6100
Japanª						
Lao People's Democratic Republicª						
Malaysia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Maldives <sup>a</sup>						
Mongolia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Myanmar	1800	1300	2300	<1000	<1000	<1000
Nepal	<500	<500	<500	<200	<100	<200
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>						
Pakistan	<500	<500	<1000	<1000	<1000	1400
Papua New Guinea	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<500	<1000
Philippines	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<500
Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>						
Singapore <sup>a</sup>						
Sri Lanka	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Thailand	<500	<200	<500	<100	<100	<200
Timor-Leste <sup>a</sup>						
Viet Nam	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<500
Eastern and southern Africa	170 000	140 000	190 000	56 000	40 000	76 000
Angola	5700	3900	8200	4300	2300	7100
Botswana	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<200	<1000
Eritrea	<500	<200	<500	<200	<100	<500
Ethiopia®						
Kenya	12 000	9500	16 000	6600	4100	9800
Lesotho	2000	1700	2300	1300	<1000	1600
Madagascar	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000
Malawi	16 000	14 000	18 000	4800	3400	6500
Mauritius						
Mozambique	29 000	21 000	38 000	6600	2700	15 000
Namibia	1500	1200	1800	<500	<500	<1000
Rwanda	1700	1300	2100	<500	<200	<1000
South Africa	16 000	14 000	22 000	5100	4500	7900
South Sudan	2800	1800	3800	2000	<1000	3200

#### 2. Estimated number of children (0-14 years old) newly infected with HIV, 2000 and 2015

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Swaziland	1600	1400	1900	<500	<500	<1000	
Uganda	25 000	22 000	29 000	3500	1600	6500	
United Republic of Tanzania	14 000	11 000	18 000	6500	3800	9500	
Zambia	13 000	12 000	15 000	4700	3400	6100	
Zimbabwe	12 000	11 000	14 000	4900	3700	6300	
Eastern Europe and central Asiaª							
Albaniaª							
Armenia <sup>c</sup>							
Azerbaijan	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Belarus	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<200	
Bosnia and Herzegovinaª							
Georgia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Kazakhstan	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<200	
Kyrgyzstan <sup>d</sup>	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Montenegroª							
Republic of Moldova	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Tajikistan	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Ukraine	<500	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<100	
Uzbekistan	<100	<100	<500	<100	<100	<100	
Latin America and the Caribbean	4700	3500	6400	2100	1600	290	
Argentina	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Bahamas	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Barbados <sup>c</sup>							
Belize	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	<100	<100	<200	<100	<100	<10	
Brazil	<1000	<500	1900	<500	<500	<100	
Chile							
Colombia	<200	<100	<500	<200	<200	<500	
Costa Rica	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Cuba	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	
Dominican Republic	<500	<200	<1000	<100	<100	<50	
Ecuador	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
El Salvador	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Guatemala	<500	<200	<500	<500	<500	<100	
Guyana	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Haiti	1900	1400	2500	<500	<200	<50	
Honduras	<100	<100	<200	<100	<100	<10	
Jamaica	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10	
Mexico	<500	<500	<500	<200	<100	<200	
					••••••		

### 2. Estimated number of children (0–14 years old) newly infected with HIV, 2000 and 2015

		2010			2015	
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Panama	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Paraguay	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Peru	<200	<200	<500	<100	<100	<200
Suriname	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Trinidad and Tobago	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Uruguay	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500
Middle East and North Africa	2100	1700	2600	2100	1400	3200
Algeria	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Djibouti	<200	<200	<500	<100	<100	<200
Egypt	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<200
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	<500	<500	<1000	<500	<200	<1000
Lebanon <sup>c</sup>						
Morocco	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Omanª						
Somalia	<1000	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	<1000
Sudan	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	1300
Tunisiaª						
Yemen	<100	<100	<200	<200	<100	<200
Western and central Africa	96 000	75 000	120 000	66 000	47 000	87 000
Benin	<1000	<1000	1100	<1000	<500	<1000
Burkina Faso	1300	1000	1700	<500	<100	<1000
Burundi	1500	1100	1900	<500	<100	<1000
Cameroon	6500	5300	7800	4100	2800	5600
Cape Verde	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Central African Republic	1700	1500	2000	<1000	<1000	1200
Chad	3800	3000	4800	2000	1300	3000
Congoª						
Côte d'Ivoire	4800	3800	5900	3600	2600	4600
Democratic Republic of the Congo	8800	7100	11 000	3300	1900	4800
Equatorial Guinea	<1000	<500	<1000	<200	<200	<500
Gabon	<1000	<500	<1000	<200	<100	<500
Gambia	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500
Ghana	3700	2900	4500	2200	1600	2900
Guinea	1900	1600	2200	<500	<500	<500
Guinea-Bissauª				····	••••	
Liberia	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<500	<1000
Mali	2300	1900	2700	2100	1600	2700
Mauritania	<500	<200	<500	<200	<200	<500
Niger	<1000	<1000	1000	<1000	<1000	1000
Nigeria	50 000	35 000	67 000	41 000	28 000	57 000
Senegal	<1000	<1000	1000	<1000	<500	<1000
Sierra Leone	1200	1000	1400	<500	<200	<1000
Тодо	1800	1500	2200	<500	<200	<1000

#### 2. Estimated number of children (0–14 years old) newly infected with HIV, 2000 and 2015

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Western and central						
Europe and North Americaª						
Austriaª						
Belgiumª						
Bulgariaª						
Canadaª						
Croatiaª						
Cyprusª						
Czech Republic <sup>a</sup>						
Denmarkª						
Estonia <sup>a</sup>						
Finland <sup>a</sup>						
France <sup>a</sup>						
Germany <sup>a</sup>						
Greece	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10
Hungary <sup>a</sup>						
lcelandª	····					
Irelandª						
Israelª						
Italy	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200	<20
Latvia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10
Lithuaniaª						
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>						
Maltaª		•••				
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>						
Norwayª						
Polandª						
Portugalª						
Romaniaª						
Serbiaª						
Slovakiaª						
Sloveniaª						
Spain	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10
Swedenª						
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>						
Turkeyª	····					
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>	····					
United States of Americaª						
Global	290 000	250 000	350 000	150 000	110 000	190 00

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>c</sup> The estimates for children are not published because of small numbers.
<sup>d</sup> The estimates for children are not published.

		2010			2015	
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Asia and the Pacific	4 700 000	4 100 000	5 500 000	5 100 000	4 400 000	5 900 000
Afghanistan	4500	2800	8500	6900	3800	16 000
Australia	21 000	19 000	25 000	27 000	24 000	30 000
Bangladesh	8100	7100	9000	9600	8400	11 000
Bhutanª						
Brunei Darussalamª						
Cambodia	84 000	74 000	98 000	74 000	67 000	82 000
Chinaª						
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª						
Fijiª						
India <sup>b</sup>	2 200 000	1 800 000	2 700 000	2 100 000	1 700 000	2 600 000
Indonesia	500 000	440 000	560 000	690 000	600 000	790 000
Japanª						
Lao People's Democratic Republicª						
Malaysia	110 000	92 000	120 000	92 000	80 000	110 000
Maldives <sup>a</sup>						
Mongolia	<200	<200	<500	<500	<500	<1000
Myanmar	230 000	200 000	280 000	220 000	200 000	260 000
Nepal	46 000	39 000	53 000	39 000	34 000	46 000
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>						
Pakistan	48 000	36 000	74 000	100 000	77 000	160 000
Papua New Guinea	36 000	32 000	39 000	40 000	37 000	44 000
Philippines	16 000	13 000	21 000	42 000	30 000	120 000
Republic of Korea <sup>®</sup>						
Singapore <sup>a</sup>						
Sri Lanka	2500	1700	3600	4200	2800	6500
Thailand	480 000	420 000	560 000	440 000	400 000	490 000
Timor-Leste <sup>®</sup>						
Viet Nam	230 000	210 000	270 000	260 000	230 000	290 000
Eastern and southern Africa	17 200 000	16 100 000	18 500 000	19 000 000	17 700 000	20 500 000
Angola	260 000	190 000	350 000	320 000	220 000	440 000
Botswana	320 000	300 000	340 000	350 000	330 000	370 000
Eritrea	15 000	12 000	20 000	14 000	11 000	18 000
Ethiopia <sup>a</sup>						
Kenya	1 400 000	1 100 000	1 600 000	1 500 000	1 300 000	1 800 000
Lesotho	280 000	260 000	300 000	310 000	280 000	330 000
Madagascar	42 000	35 000	48 000	48 000	39 000	58 000
Malawi	960 000	880 000	1 000 000	980 000	900 000	1 100 000
Mauritius	9200	7700	10 000	8200	6800	9600
Mozambique	1 300 000	1 100 000	1 600 000	1 500 000	1 200 000	1 900 000
Namibia Provende	190 000	180 000	210 000	210 000	200 000	230 000
Rwanda	190 000	170 000	210 000	200 000	180 000	220 000
South Africa	6 400 000	6 000 000	6 800 000	7 000 000	6 700 000	7 400 000
South Sudan	160 000	110 000	210 000	180 000	110 000	240 000

				2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Swaziland	180 000	170 000	190 000	220 000	200 000	240 000	
Uganda	1 200 000	1 100 000	1 300 000	1 500 000	1 300 000	1 600 000	
United Republic of Tanzania	1 400 000	1 200 000	1 500 000	1 400 000	1 200 000	1 600 000	
Zambia	1 100 000	1 000 000	1 100 000	1 200 000	1 200 000	1 300 000	
Zimbabwe	1 200 000	1 100 000	1 300 000	1 400 000	1 300 000	1 500 000	
Eastern Europe and central Asia	1 000 000	950 000	1 100 000	1 500 000	1 400 000	1 700 000	
Albaniaª							
Armenia	3000	2200	3900	3600	2900	4900	
Azerbaijan	6800	4900	9700	11 000	7400	15 000	
Belarus	21 000	17 000	27 000	35 000	29 000	43 000	
Bosnia and Herzegovina <sup>a</sup>							
Georgia	6200	5000	7700	9600	7700	12 000	
Kazakhstan	13 000	12 000	14 000	23 000	20 000	27 000	
Kyrgyzstan	5700	4600	7100	8100	6400	10 000	
Montenegroª							
Republic of Moldova	15 000	13 000	19 000	18 000	15 000	21 000	
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Tajikistan	12 000	10 000	15 000	16 000	13 000	20 00	
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Ukraine	230 000	200 000	260 000	220 000	190 000	250 00	
Uzbekistan	49 000	35 000	72 000	33 000	24 000	47 000	
Latin America and the Caribbean	1 800 000	1 500 000	2 100 000	2 000 000	1 700 000	2 300 000	
Argentina	99 000	89 000	110 000	110 000	99 000	120 00	
Bahamas	7400	6700	8300	8100	7500	900	
Barbados	2100	2000	2300	2600	2500	290	
Belize	3300	2900	3800	3600	3200	400	
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	16 000	11 000	22 000	18 000	11 000	25 000	
Brazil	700 000	520 000	940 000	830 000	610 000	1 100 00	
Chile	26 000	20 000	33 000	32 000	22 000	45 000	
Colombia	110 000	100 000	130 000	150 000	130 000	160 000	
Costa Rica	8000	7200	8700	10 000	9000	11 000	
Cuba	11 000	9200	12 000	22 000	19 000	24 00	
Dominican Republic	80 000	59 000	120 000	68 000	53 000	92 00	
Ecuador	28 000	23 000	33 000	29 000	23 000	35 00	
El Salvador	20 000	18 000	22 000	20 000	18 000	22 00	
Guatemala	44 000	32 000	65 000	55 000	38 000	80 00	
Guyana	6800	6400	7600	7800	7200	870	
Haiti	180 000	150 000	230 000	130 000	110 000	160 00	
Honduras	24 000	20 000	29 000	20 000	17 000	24 00	
Jamaica	29 000	25 000	33 000	29 000	25 000	34 00	
Mexico	170 000	150 000	190 000	200 000	180 000	220 000	
Nicaragua	8900	6400	15 000	9900	7600	14 000	
Panama	15 000	13 000	16 000	17 000	16 000	19 000	

		2010			2015	
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Paraguay	16 000	11 000	26 000	17 000	12 000	27 000
Peru	61 000	51 000	73 000	66 000	56 000	79 000
Suriname	3800	3400	4200	3800	3300	4400
Trinidad and Tobago	10 000	9700	11 000	11 000	10 000	11 000
Uruguay	9800	8400	12 000	10 000	8700	12 000
Venezuela (Bolivarian	04.000	05.000	400.000	440.000	~~~~~	100.000
Republic of)	94 000	85 000	100 000	110 000	99 000	120 000
Middle East and North Africa	190 000	150 000	240 000	230 000	160 000	330 000
Algeria	6900	6200	7500	8800	6800	11 000
Djibouti	10 000	7100	15 000	9400	6600	13 000
Egypt	6700	4600	10 000	11 000	7200	19 000
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	60 000	44 000	82 000	73 000	50 000	130 000
Lebanon	1700	1500	1900	2400	2100	2700
Morocco	23 000	19 000	27 000	24 000	21 000	28 000
Omanª						
Somalia	29 000	22 000	38 000	30 000	21 000	41 000
Sudan	44 000	37 000	53 000	56 000	33 000	90 000
Tunisia	1600	1100	2500	2600	1700	3800
Yemen	6400	4400	9800	9200	5700	16 000
Western and central Africa	6 300 000	5 200 000	7 700 000	6 500 000	5 300 000	7 800 000
Benin	64 000	50 000	82 000	69 000	54 000	92 000
Burkina Faso	98 000	81 000	120 000	95 000	79 000	120 000
Burundi	93 000	77 000	110 000	77 000	61 000	92 000
Cameroon	580 000	520 000	640 000	620 000	550 000	690 000
Cape Verde	3300	2700	4000	3200	2700	3900
Central African Republic	130 000	120 000	150 000	120 000	100 000	130 000
Chad	180 000	150 000	210 000	170 000	130 000	210 000
Congoª						
Côte d'Ivoire	470 000	400 000	530 000	460 000	400 000	530 000
Democratic Republic of the Congo	450 000	360 000	550 000	370 000	290 000	460 000
Equatorial Guinea	29 000	28 000	31 000	27 000	25 000	30 000
Gabon	48 000	42 000	54 000	47 000	40 000	54 000
Gambia	19 000	16 000	23 000	21 000	17 000	25 000
Ghana	290 000	240 000	340 000	270 000	230 000	330 000
Guinea	100 000	89 000	120 000	120 000	100 000	140 000
Guinea-Bissauª						
Liberia	34 000	29 000	39 000	30 000	25 000	35 000
Mali	110 000	96 000	130 000	120 000	100 000	150 000
Mauritania	15 000	12 000	20 000	14 000	8800	21 000
Niger	58 000	51 000	67 000	49 000	43 000	55 000
Nigeria	3 200 000	2 400 000	4 200 000	3 500 000	2 600 000	4 500 000
Senegal	50 000	43 000	59 000	46 000	38 000	56 000
Sierra Leone	53 000	47 000	58 000	51 000	44 000	58 000
Тодо	120 000	99 000	140 000	110 000	92 000	120 000
	120 000	000 / /	1-10 000	. 10 000	/2 000	120 000

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Western and central Europe and North America	2 100 000	1 900 000	2 300 000	2 400 000	2 200 000	2 700 000
Austriaª						
Belgiumª						
Bulgariaª						
Canadaª						
Croatiaª						
Cyprusª						
Czech Republicª						
Denmark <sup>a</sup>						
Estoniaª					•••	
Finland <sup>a</sup>						
France <sup>a</sup>						
Germany <sup>a</sup>						
Greece	14 000	13 000	15 000	16 000	15 000	18 000
Hungary <sup>a</sup>						
Iceland <sup>a</sup>						
Irelandª						
Israelª						
Italy	120 000	110 000	130 000	140 000	120 000	150 000
Latvia	6800	6000	7700	6800	6100	7700
Lithuaniaª						
Luxembourg <sup>®</sup>						
Maltaª						
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>			·····			
Norwayª						
Poland <sup>a</sup>						
Portugalª						
Romaniaª						
Serbiaª						
Slovakiaª	••••			····		
Sloveniaª						
Spain	150 000	120 000	170 000	150 000	130 000	180 000
Sweden <sup>a</sup>		120 000				
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>						
Turkey <sup>a</sup>						
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>						
United States of America <sup>a</sup>						
Global	33 300 000	30 800 000	36 100 000	36 700 000	34 000 000	39 800 000

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication. <sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.

		2010		2015				
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Asia and the Pacific	240 000	200 000	270 000	180 000	150 000	220 000		
Afghanistan	<500	<200	<500	<500	<200	<1000		
Australia	<500	<500	<500	<200	<200	<500		
Bangladesh	<1000	<500	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000		
Bhutanª								
Brunei Darussalamª								
Cambodia	3200	2100	4500	2000	1500	3300		
Chinaª								
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª								
Fijiª								
India <sup>b</sup>	120 000	86 000	200 000	68 000	47 000	99 000		
Indonesia	18 000	14 000	21 000	35 000	31 000	40 000		
Japanª								
Lao People's Democratic Republicª								
Malaysia	8000	7200	8900	7200	6400	8100		
Maldivesª								
Mongolia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
Myanmar	16 000	14 000	18 000	9700	7600	12 000		
Nepal	2600	2200	2900	2300	1900	2700		
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>								
Pakistan	1500	<1000	2600	3600	2300	6100		
Papua New Guinea	1500	1200	1700	<1000	<1000	1100		
Philippines	<500	<200	<500	<1000	<500	1200		
Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>								
Singapore <sup>a</sup>								
Sri Lanka	<100	<100	<200	<200	<100	<500		
Thailand	19 000	12 000	29 000	14 000	11 000	21 000		
Timor-Lesteª								
Viet Nam	7700	6400	9000	8900	7400	11 000		
Eastern and southern Africa	760 000	670 000	860 000	470 000	390 000	560 000		
Angola	12 000	8100	18 000	12 000	6900	19 000		
Botswana	5300	4500	6000	3200	2800	3600		
Eritrea	<1000	<1000	1100	<500	<500	<1000		
Ethiopiaª								
Kenya	51 000	40 000	63 000	36 000	26 000	47 000		
Lesotho	9100	7700	10 000	9900	8700	11 000		
Madagascar	3600	3000	4300	3200	2800	3800		
Malawi	47 000	41 000	52 000	27 000	22 000	31 000		
Mauritius	<1000	<1000	<1000	<500	<500	<500		
Mozambique	54 000	39 000	73 000	39 000	26 000	56 000		
Namibia	4900	4000	5800	3100	2500	3900		
				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	****			
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	5000	3900	6200	2900	2300	3500		
Rwanda South Africa	5000 320 000	3900 280 000	6200 370 000	2900 180 000	2300 150 000	3500 220 000		

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Swaziland	5400	4800	6000	3800	3300	4200		
Uganda	50 000	43 000	59 000	28 000	22 000	35 000		
United Republic of		50.000	74.000	24 222		40.000		
Tanzania	66 000	58 000	74 000	36 000	29 000	42 000		
Zambia	29 000	24 000	34 000	20 000	16 000	24 000		
Zimbabwe	52 000	46 000	56 000	29 000	25 000	34 000		
Eastern Europe and central Asia	38 000	33 000	45 000	47 000	39 000	55 000		
Albaniaª								
Armenia	<200	<100	<500	<200	<100	<200		
Azerbaijan	<500	<200	<500	<500	<200	<1000		
Belarus	<1000	<1000	1200	<1000	<1000	1400		
Bosnia and Herzegovinaª								
Georgia	<200	<200	<500	<500	<200	<500		
Kazakhstan	<500	<500	<1000	<1000	<500	<1000		
Kyrgyzstan	<200	<200	<500	<500	<200	<50		
Montenegroª								
Republic of Moldova	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	110		
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>								
Tajikistan	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<100		
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª								
Ukraine	14 000	12 000	17 000	7900	6000	10 000		
Uzbekistan	3700	2700	5300	2600	1600	4200		
Latin America and the Caribbean	60 000	51 000	70 000	50 000	41 000	59 000		
Argentina	2200	1900	2500	2300	2000	260		
Bahamas	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<50		
Barbados	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<10		
Belize	<200	<100	<200	<200	<100	<20		
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	<1000	<1000	1200	<1000	<500	120		
Brazil	15 000	11 000	21 000	15 000	11 000	21 00		
Chile	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<100		
Colombia	4600	4000	5300	2300	1800	2700		
Costa Rica	<200	<200	<500	<500	<200	<500		
Cuba	<200	<200	<500	<500	<200	<50		
Dominican Republic	5000	3300	7700	3100	1800	5500		
Ecuador	1000	<1000	1400	<1000	<1000	130		
El Salvador	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<100		
Guatemala	<1000	<500	1400	1700	<1000	290		
Guyana	<200	<100	<200	<200	<100	<20		
Haiti	14 000	11 000	18 000	8000	5500	11 00		
Honduras	1500	1100	1900	1000	<1000	140		
Jamaica	1400	1100	1700	1200	<1000	160		
Mexico	5200	4400	5900	4000	3200	4500		
Nicaragua	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<1000		

		2010		2015				
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Panama	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<1000		
Paraguay	<1000	<500	1100	<1000	<500	1300		
Peru	2000	1600	2600	1600	1100	2300		
Suriname	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200	<200		
Trinidad and Tobago	<500	<500	<500	<500	<200	<500		
Jruguay	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<200	<500		
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	1700	1500	2000	3300	2900	3700		
Middle East and North Africa	9500	7400	12 000	12 000	8700	16 000		
Algeria	<200	<200	<200	<200	<100	<200		
Djibouti	<1000	<1000	1100	<1000	<500	<1000		
Egypt	<500	<200	<500	<500	<200	<1000		
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	3200	2400	4300	4000	2700	6000		
Lebanon	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
Morocco	<1000	<1000	1300	<1000	<1000	1300		
Omanª								
Somalia	2100	1600	2800	2000	1500	2700		
Sudan	1800	1200	2300	3000	2100	4300		
Tunisia	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100	<200		
<b>í</b> emen	<500	<200	<500	<500	<200	<1000		
Western and central Africa	370 000	290 000	470 000	330 000	250 000	430 000		
Benin	2400	1700	3500	2800	1900	4100		
Burkina Faso	5200	3600	6900	3600	2500	4900		
Burundi	6100	5100	7100	3000	1800	4000		
Cameroon	28 000	26 000	31 000	33 000	30 000	36 000		
Cape Verde	<200	<200	<500	<200	<100	<200		
Central African Republic	9500	8700	10 000	7800	7000	8600		
Chad	8400	6600	11 000	8500	6400	11 000		
Congoª								
Côte d'Ivoire	22 000	18 000	26 000	25 000	20 000	30 000		
Democratic Republic of the Congo	33 000	27 000	41 000	22 000	16 000	28 000		
Equatorial Guinea	1300	1100	1600	1100	<1000	1200		
Gabon	2500	2000	3000	1300	<1000	1600		
Gambia	1100	<1000	1400	1000	<1000	1300		
Ghana	19 000	16 000	22 000	13 000	10 000	16 000		
Guinea	4700	3800	5600	4600	3700	5600		
Guinea-Bissauª								
_iberia	2600	2300	2900	1900	1600	2300		
Vlali	5100	4300	6100	6500	5400	7800		
Vauritania	<1000	<1000	1100	<1000	<1000	1300		
Niger	4200	3500	5000	3600	3100	4200		
Vigeria	190 000	130 000	270 000	180 000	120 000	250 000		
Senegal	1800	1300	2400	2200	1800	2800		
Sierra Leone	2600	2100	3200	2500	2100	2900		
Годо	7900	6600	9500	5100	4000	6500		
- 5-			,	0.00				

					2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Western and central Europe and North America	29 000	27 000	31 000	22 000	20 000	24 00		
Austriaª								
Belgiumª								
Bulgariaª				•••				
Canadaª								
Croatiaª								
Cyprus <sup>a</sup>								
Czech Republic <sup>a</sup>								
Denmark <sup>a</sup>								
Estonia <sup>a</sup>								
Finlandª								
France <sup>a</sup>								
Germany <sup>a</sup>								
Greece	<1000	<500	<1000	<500	<500	<50		
Hungary <sup>a</sup>								
Icelandª								
Irelandª								
Israelª								
Italy	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<1000	<100		
Latvia	<500	<500	<500	<500	<500	<50		
Lithuaniaª								
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>								
Maltaª								
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>								
Norwayª	•••••							
Poland <sup>a</sup>								
Portugalª	•••••				••••			
Romaniaª								
Serbiaª	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••••	••••		••••			
Slovakiaª								
Sloveniaª								
Spain	1300	1100	1500	1200	1000	140		
Sweden <sup>a</sup>				····				
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>								
Turkey <sup>a</sup>								
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>			····					
United States of America <sup>a</sup>	····					-		
Global	1 500 000	1 300 000	1 700 000	1 100 000	940 000	1 300 00		

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication. <sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.

## 5. Estimated percentage of pregnant women living with HIV who received effective antiretroviral medicines to prevent the mother-to-child transmission of HIV, 2015

	Number of pregnant women receiving antiretroviral medicines	Estimated numbe	r of pregnant wome	n living with HIV		Estimated coverage	(%)
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Asia and the Pacific	29 600	77 000	67 000	87 000	39	34	44
Afghanistan	7	<200	<200	<500	4	2	8
Australia	119	<200	<200	<200	>95	95	>95
Bangladesh	20	<200	<200	<200	14	11	16
Bhutanª							
Brunei Darussalamª							
Cambodia <sup>d</sup>							
Chinaª							
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª							
Fijiª							
India <sup>b</sup>	13 511	35 000	29 000	44 000	38	31	47
Indonesia	1466	16 000	13 000	18 000	9	8	
Japan <sup>a</sup>							
Lao People's Democratic Republicª							
Malaysia	320	<500	<500	<500	80	75	87
Maldives <sup>a</sup>							
Mongolia	2	<100	<100	<100	>95	50	>95
Myanmar	3923	5100	4500	5700	77	68	88
Nepal	145	<500	<500	<500	35	30	41
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>						···	
Pakistan	103 497	2400 1500	1800 1400	3700 1700	4 33	3 29	7 36
Papua New Guinea Philippines	32	<500	<500	<1000	10		22
Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>	J2	<500	< 300	<1000	10	/	
Singapore <sup>a</sup>							
Sri Lanka	 16	 <100	 <100	<200	 24	 17	 36
Thailand	4280	4500	3800	5200	>95		>95
Timor-Leste <sup>a</sup>							
Viet Nam	1692	2900	2500	3300	58	49	65
Eastern and southern Africa	861 600	960 000	880 000	1 000 000	90	82	>95
Angola	8398	21 000	15 000	29 000	40	29	57
Botswana	11 899	13 000	12 000	14 000	92	86	>95
Eritrea	300	<1000	<1000	<1000	45	35	59
Ethiopia <sup>a</sup>							
Kenya	59 024	79 000	67 000	92 000	74	63	86
Lesotho	8061	12 000	10 000	13 000	70	64	77
Madagascar	54	1800	1500	2200	3	2	4
Malawi	44 023	55 000	50 000	61 000	80	73	89
Mauritius <sup>c</sup>	90						
Mozambique	99 823	110 000	82 000	130 000	95	74	>95
Namibia	8641	9100	8300	10 000	>95	87	>95
Rwanda	9604	10 000	9200	11 000	93	82	>95
South Africa	257 456	250 000	230 000	270 000	>95	94	>95

## 5. Estimated percentage of pregnant women living with HIV who received effective antiretroviral medicines to prevent the mother-to-child transmission of HIV, 2015

	Number of pregnant women receiving antiretroviral medicines	Estimated numbe	er of pregnant wome	n living with HIV		Estimated coverage	(%)
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
South Sudan	3879	9500	6100	13 000	41	26	57
Swaziland	10 830	11 000	11 000	12 000	95	87	>95
Uganda	117 887	120 000	110 000	130 000	>95	88	>95
United Republic of Tanzania	74 190	86 000	77 000	96 000	86	77	>95
Zambia	70 991	81 000	75 000	88 000	87	81	94
Zimbabwe	57 378	68 000	62 000	75 000	84	77	92
Eastern Europe and Central Asia <sup>a</sup>							
Albaniaª							
Armenia <sup>c</sup>	29						
Azerbaijan	56	<200	<100	<200	49	32	71
Belarus	270	<1000	<500	<1000	48	37	62
Bosnia and Herzegovinaª							
Georgia	57	<100	<100	<100	>95	81	>95
Kazakhstan	354	<500	<500	<1000	89	67	>95
Kyrgyzstan <sup>d</sup>	87	<100	<100	<200	89	74	>95
Montenegroª							
Republic of Moldova	175	<500	<200	<500	76	62	94
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Tajikistan	168	<500	<500	<500	58	48	71
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Ukraine	2698	2800	2200	3400	>95	78	>95
Uzbekistan	543	<500	<500	<500	>95	>95	>95
Latin America and the Caribbean	24 300	28 000	24 000	32 000	88	77	>95
Argentina	1481	1600	1500	1800	93	85	>95
Bahamas	52	<200	<100	<200	50	46	54
Barbados <sup>c</sup>	15						
Belize	54	<100	<100	<100	63	54	72
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	284	<500	<500	<1000	76	47	>95
Brazil	10 541	8500	6300	11 000	>95	91	>95
Chile <sup>c</sup>	232						
Colombia	805	1600	1500	1800	49	45	54
Costa Rica	41	<200	<100	<200	41	36	46
Cuba	157	<200	<200	<200	>95	>95	>95
Dominican Republic	894	1200	<1000	1700	72	57	>95
Ecuador	285	<500	<500	<1000	60	48	71
El Salvador	158	<500	<500	<500	55	51	60
Guatemala	214	1600	1100	2400	13	9	21
Guyana	167	<500	<200	<500	76	67	86
Haiti	4568	4800	3900	5700	>95	79	>95
Honduras	175	<500	<500	<500	53	45	63
Jamaica	414	<500	<500	<1000	>95	82	>95

## 5. Estimated percentage of pregnant women living with HIV who received effective antiretroviral medicines to prevent the mother-to-child transmission of HIV, 2015

	Number of pregnant women receiving antiretroviral medicines	Estimated numbe	r of pregnant wome	n living with HIV		Estimated coverage	stimated coverage (%)		
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Mexico	1395	1800	1700	2000	76	70	82		
Nicaragua	117	<200	<100	<200	>95	89	>95		
Panama	180	<500	<500	<500	78	71	85		
Paraguay	175	<500	<500	<500	56	41	87		
Peru	790	1000	<1000	1200	79	66	>95		
Suriname	122	<100	<100	<200	>95	>95	>95		
Trinidad and Tobago	113	<200	<200	<200	63	57	68		
Uruguay	155	<200	<100	<200	>95	>95	>95		
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	761	1800	1600	2000	43	39	47		
Middle East and North Africa	900	7000	4900	10 000	12	9	18		
Algeria	112	<500	<500	<500	34	28	38		
Djibouti	114	<500	<500	<500	37	26	53		
Egypt	27	<500	<200	<500	10	6	16		
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	186	<1000	<1000	1600	20	14	34		
Lebanon <sup>c</sup>	3								
Morocco	171	<500	<500	<500	46	39	53		
Oman <sup>a</sup> Somalia		 1800	 1200	 2400					
Sudan	114	2600	1200	4000	4	2	6		
Tunisia <sup>c</sup>	18		1400			۷			
Yemen		<500	<500	<1000			 15		
Western and central Africa	162 900	340 000	280 000	410 000	48	40	58		
Benin	2031	3600	2800	4700	57	45	75		
Burkina Faso	4731	5300	4500	6300	89	75	>95		
Burundi	3885	4400	3300	5300	89	67	>95		
Cameroon	26 678	33 000	29 000	36 000	82	73	91		
Cape Verde	73	<100	<100	<100	>95	79	>95		
Central African Republic	2721	4800	4200	5500	56	49	64		
Chad	4671	10 000	8000	13 000	46	36	60		
Congoª									
Côte d'Ivoire	17 711	22 000	19 000	26 000	79	67	91		
Democratic Republic of the Congo	14 476	22 000	17 000	27 000	67	53	82		
Equatorial Guinea	1010	1300	1200	1500	75	68	84		
Gabon	1665	2100	1800	2500	78	66	91		
Gambia	874	1400	1100	1600	64	52	76		
Ghana	7813	12 000	10 000	15 000	63	53	74		
Guinea	5437	6400	5400	7500	85	72	>95		
Guinea-Bissau <sup>a</sup>									
Liberia	1358	2000	1600	2300	70	57	84		
Mali	2628	7900	6700	9500	33	28	40		
Mauritania	80	<1000	<500	1000	12	7	18		
Niger	981	3500	3200	4000	28	25	31		
Nigeria	52 711	180 000	140 000	230 000	30	23	39		

#### 5. Estimated percentage of pregnant women living with HIV who received effective antiretroviral medicines to prevent the mother-to-child transmission of HIV, 2015

	Number of pregnant women receiving antiretroviral medicines			Estimated coverage (%)			
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Senegal	1143	3200	2700	3800	36	31	43
Sierra Leone	3212	3900	3300	4500	83	70	>95
Тодо	4642	4900	4200	5600	>95	82	>95
Western and central Europe and North Americaª							
Austriaª							
Belgiumª							
Bulgariaª							
Canadaª							
Croatiaª							
Cyprusª							
Czech Republicª							
Denmarkª							
Estoniaª							
Finlandª							
Franceª		····					
Germanyª							
Greece	72	<100	<100	<100	>95	92	>95
Hungaryª							
lcelandª							
Irelandª							
Israelª							
Italy	382	1200	1100	1300	31	29	34
Latvia	64	<100	<100	<100	>95	86	>95
Lithuaniaª							
Luxembourg®							
Maltaª							
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>							
Norwayª							
Polandª							
Portugalª		····					
Romaniaª							
Serbiaª							
Slovakiaª							
Sloveniaª						····	
Spain	544	<1000	<500	<1000	>95		>95
Swedenª							
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>							
Turkeyª							
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>							
United States of Americaª							
Global	1 110 000	1 400 000	1 300 000	1 600 000		69	86

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>c</sup> The estimates for children are not published because of small numbers.
<sup>d</sup> The estimates for children are not published.

# 6. Estimated percentage of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

Afghanistan8.8864703340001500015311Australia241502700032000300009001010151171Bhutan'Bhutan'		Number of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	Adults (age	15+ years) living wit	h HIV, 2015		Estimated coverage	(%)
Afghanistan8.8864703340001500015311Australia241502700032000300009001010151171Bhutan'Bhutan'			Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Australia24 19027 00024 00030 000909092Bangladsh179990810011000151317Bhutari1718Bruel Darusslam*18	Asia and the Pacific	1 991 000	4 900 000	4 200 000	5 700 000	41	35	47
Bangladesh19309300810011000151317Bhutar'Brune Darcusslam'Cambodia5168200006400078000730736483Democratic Popule'sRepublic of Korea'Republic of Korea'Inda'288162000001 %0000250000700000986100100093	Afghanistan	338	6700	3600	15 000	5	3	11
Bhrtan'Brunei Darusslam'11 <td< th=""><th>Australia</th><td>24 150</td><td>27 000</td><td>24 000</td><td>30 000</td><td>90</td><td>82</td><td>&gt;95</td></td<>	Australia	24 150	27 000	24 000	30 000	90	82	>95
Brunei Darussalam*Cambodia510870006410078000736681China*Broubic of Korea*India*68816520000014000002500000445055India*6881652000001400000780000445055Japar*Leo Pooplo's9Madiyai2521391400600001100002827330Madiyai25233914006000011000028464630Madiyai11079380003300024000028464646Negolia1107938000330004400046474646Palua New Guinea20083310001210003044464646Singapore*1333 <th>Bangladesh</th> <td>1393</td> <td>9300</td> <td>8100</td> <td>11 000</td> <td>15</td> <td>13</td> <td>17</td>	Bangladesh	1393	9300	8100	11 000	15	13	17
Cambodia51088790006400078000736681Chins'Republic of Kores'Republic of Kores'India'888 165200000<	Bhutanª							
China*Democriti? People's Republic of Korea*Fijr253Fida*88 86520000001600000250000044India*88 865200000016000002500000India*88 86520000001000002500000India*88 8652000000	Brunei Darussalam <sup>a</sup>							
Democratic People's Republic Property	Cambodia	51 088	70 000	64 000	78 000	73	66	81
Republic of Koria*··················Fijr2581.400002.500000<	Chinaª							
India*668 1652 000.0001 400 0002 500 0004465855Indonesia60 388640 000590 000780 00096810Japar*Demoratic Republic*3657Malaysia25 213 <th>Republic of Korea<sup>a</sup></th> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>							
Indonesia60 35860000790 0009810Japan'<	Fijiª							
Japan'Lao People's Democratic Republic'36579100080000110000282532Malaysia252139100080000110000282532Maldives'9Mongolia140200009100002603646036Newal110203800044000292535New Zealand'Palakisan443330000750016000065100Papua New Guinea20283000120000301981Republic of Korea*Singapore*1533Thaland2783243000400004400064977-Singapore*15150000016/000014/000053<	India <sup>b</sup>							
Lao People's Democratic Republic3657Malaysia25 2139100080000110000260<		60 358	680 000	590 000	780 000	9	8	10
Democritic Republic2607311111Malaysia25,2139100080000110000282.53.2Maldives'9Mongolia1474.5004.5004.4004.004.504.604.61Myamar97.404220.000110000250.0004.464.005.613.61New Zealand'Pakistan4.0330.00075.0014.0004.6Papua New Guinea20.02637.00012.00004.6Singapor'15.33Singapor'15.33<	•••••							
Maldives'91Mongolia147 <t< th=""><th>Democratic Republic<sup>a</sup></th><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Democratic Republic <sup>a</sup>							
Mongolia1102<500	Malaysia		91 000	80 000	110 000	28		32
Myanmar99.404220.000190.000259.000464.05.1New Zealand*Pakistan46.33100.00075.000160.000Pakistan46.33100.00075.000160.000Pakistan46.33100.00075.000160.000 </th <th>Maldives<sup>a</sup></th> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Maldives <sup>a</sup>							
Nepal1102938 00033 00044 000292535New Zealand*Pakistan6433100 00075 000160 000.65.10Papua New Guinea20 02837 00033 00041 00054.49.60Philippines12 49242 00030 00012 0000Republic of Korea*Singapore*1533					••••••		•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
New Zealand* </th <th>Myanmar</th> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>••••••</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Myanmar				••••••			
Pakistan6433100000750001600006510Papua New Guinea20.02837.00033.00041.000544.496.0Philippines12.49242.00030.00012.0000301.98.1Republic of Korea*Singapore*1533Sin Lanka76841002200046000640Timor-Leste*Viet Nam101 508250000220.000280.00041ArricaAngola84.172290.000200.000410.00029Arrica				33 000	44 000			35
Papapa New Guinea20.02837.00033.00041.000544960Philippines12.44242.00030.00012.0000301981Republic of Korea*Singapore*1533Sri Lanka7684100280064001913Timor-Leste*Viet Nam101 508250 000220 000280 0004136Betswana264 482240 00016 700 00019 400 00029Betswana264 482240 000200 00010 400 00029Kenya826 0771 400 0001 200 0016 0006249Madagascar121 661290 000270 000320 00041					••••••			
Philippines12 49242 00030 00012 0000301981Republic of Korea*Singapore*1533Sri Lanka768410028006400191329Thailand278 322430 000440 000480 000645972Timor-Leste*Viet Nam101 508250 000220 000280 0004136460Angola84 172290 000200 000410 000292020Angola84 172290 000200 000410 000292041Betswana264 482340 000320 000360 000787383Eritrea796113 0001 200 0001 700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 000360 00054 000323366Mauritius2514810067009600312636<								
Republic of Korea* <th< th=""><th></th><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>								
Singapore*1533 <th></th> <td>12 472</td> <td>42 000</td> <td>000</td> <td>120 000</td> <td>30</td> <td>17</td> <td>01</td>		12 472	42 000	000	120 000	30	17	01
Sri Lanka     768     4100     2800     6400     19     13     29       Thailand     278 322     430 000     400 000     480 000     640     59     72       Timor-Leste* <t< th=""><th>•</th><td> 1533</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	•	 1533						
Thailand     278 322     430 000     400 000     480 000     64     59     72       Timor-Leste*		•••••••						
Timor-Leste* <t< th=""><th>Thailand</th><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>••••••</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Thailand				••••••			
Viet Nam     101 508     250 000     220 000     280 000     41     36     46       Eastern and southern Africa     9 594 000     18 000 000     16 700 000     19 400 000     53     50     57       Angola     84 172     290 000     200 000     410 000     29     20     41       Botswana     264 482     340 000     320 000     360 000     78     73     83       Eritrea     7961     13 000     10 000     16 000     62     49     80       Ethiopia*     364 114	Timor-Leste <sup>a</sup>							
Eastern and southern Africa9 594 00018 000 00016 700 00019 400 000535057Angola84 172290 000200 000410 000292041Botswana264 482340 000320 000360 000787383Eritrea796113 00010 00016 000624980Ethiopia*364 114Kenya826 0971 400 0001 200 0001 700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000620 000970 000615666Mozambique738 3861 400 0001 100 0001 700 000534365Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000210 000797087	Viet Nam	101 508	250 000	220 000	280 000	41		46
Angola84 172290 000200 000410 000292041Botswana264 482340 000320 000360 000787383Eritrea796113 00010 00016 000624980Ethiopia*364 114Kenya826 0971400 000120 0001700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000820 000970 000615666Mozambique738 3861400 0001100 0001700 000534365Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000797087	Eastern and southern Africa							
Botswana264 482340 000320 000360 000787383Eritrea796113 00010 00016 000624980Ethiopia*364 114Kenya826 0971 400 0001 200 0001 700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000820 000970 000615666Mauritius2514810067009600312636Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000210 000797087	Angola	84 172	290 000	200 000	410 000	29	20	41
Ethiopia*364 114Kenya826 0971 400 0001 200 0001 700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000820 000970 000615666Mauritius2514810067009600312636Mozambique738 3861 400 0001 100 0001 700 000534365Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000797087	Botswana	264 482	340 000	320 000	360 000	78	73	83
Kenya826 0971 400 0001 200 0001 700 000584968Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000820 000970 000615666Mauritius2514810067009600312636Mozambique738 3861 400 0001 100 0001 700 000534365Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000210 000797087	Eritrea	7961	13 000	10 000	16 000	62	49	80
Lesotho121 661290 000270 000320 000413745Madagascar121844 00036 00054 000323Malawi543 699890 000820 000970 000615666Mauritius2514810067009600312636Mozambique738 3861 400 0001 100 0001 700 000534365Namibia134 486200 000190 000220 000676273Rwanda150 462190 000170 000210 000797087	Ethiopiaª	364 114						
Madagascar     1218     44 000     36 000     54 000     3     2     3       Malawi     543 699     890 000     820 000     970 000     61     56     66       Mauritius     2514     8100     6700     9600     31     26     36       Mozambique     738 386     1 400 000     1 100 000     1 700 000     53     43     65       Namibia     134 486     200 000     190 000     220 000     67     62     73       Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Kenya	826 097	1 400 000	1 200 000	1 700 000	58	49	68
Malawi     543 699     890 000     820 000     970 000     61     56     66       Mauritius     2514     8100     6700     9600     31     26     36       Mozambique     738 386     1 400 000     1 100 000     1 700 000     53     43     65       Namibia     134 486     200 000     190 000     220 000     67     62     73       Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Lesotho	121 661	290 000	270 000	320 000	41	37	45
Mauritius     2514     8100     6700     9600     31     26     36       Mozambique     738 386     1 400 000     1 100 000     1 700 000     53     43     65       Namibia     134 486     200 000     190 000     220 000     67     62     73       Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Madagascar	1218	44 000	36 000	54 000	3	2	3
Mozambique     738 386     1 400 000     1 100 000     1 700 000     53     43     65       Namibia     134 486     200 000     190 000     220 000     67     62     73       Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Malawi	543 699	890 000	820 000	970 000	61	56	66
Namibia     134 486     200 000     190 000     220 000     67     62     73       Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Mauritius	2514	8100	6700	9600	31	26	36
Rwanda     150 462     190 000     170 000     210 000     79     70     87	Mozambique	738 386	1 400 000	1 100 000	1 700 000	53	43	65
	Namibia	134 486	200 000	190 000	220 000	67	62	73
South Africa     3 209 270     6 700 000     6 400 000     7 200 000     48     45     51	Rwanda	150 462	190 000	170 000	210 000	79	70	87
	South Africa	3 209 270	6 700 000	6 400 000	7 200 000	48	45	51

## 6. Estimated percentage of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

Swazland1.97 21210.0001190.00230.0056.76.86.8Uganda77.9821.000001120.000150.0006.36.76.8Zambia706.7431.000001120.000120.0006.306.76.8Zambia706.7431.000001120.000120.0006.86.86.8Zambia706.7431.000001120.000120.0006.86.86.8Zambia707.741.500.0001.420.0006.86.86.86.8Albania*70770070070070070070700 </th <th></th> <th>Number of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy</th> <th>Adults (age</th> <th>15+ years) living wit</th> <th>h HIV, 2015</th> <th></th> <th>Estimated coverage</th> <th>(%)</th>		Number of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	Adults (age	15+ years) living wit	h HIV, 2015		Estimated coverage	(%)
Swazland197 211210 000190 000190 0004074.04.0Uganda774 804.0000190 000190 000190 0004.04.0Unicel Republic of Tanzania706 /43100 0001100 000120 0004.34.74.0Zambia706 /431100 0001100 000120 0004.34.74.04.0Zambia706 /43150 0001100 00120 0004.34.74.04.0Zamba of Eastern Akai707150 000140 000140 0002.11.04.0Almania707150 002.0004.00007.01.01.02.0Banas7.77150 002.0001.0007.01.01.02.0Banas7.771.0007.707.01.01.02.02.0Georgia7.949.0007.707.001.02.02.02.0Kragsytan1.729.0007.701.0001.02.01.02.0Kragstra7.729.0007.707.07.07.07.07.07.0Republic of Macedona'1.01.01.02.01.02.07.0 </th <th></th> <th></th> <th>Estimate</th> <th>Lower estimate</th> <th>Upper estimate</th> <th>Estimate</th> <th>Lower estimate</th> <th>Upper estimate</th>			Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Ugands774902140000130000150000505262United Republic of Tanzania48.8041300001100001100004340Zmbai76.9783110000110000120000434940Zimbabwo87.879130000120000120000445040Zimbabwo87.270150000140000140000445040Zimbabwo87.27012000014000044505050Abania'407Armenia9773800220048000284938Bearas774580077001200282938Bearas and Reregovina125Georgia294940077001200021292939Kragstarta17022300077002100021292939Kragstarta1702100010002100021292939Kragstarta172290001000210002112292929Kragstarta172012000100020000171329 <td>South Sudan</td> <td>18 825</td> <td>170 000</td> <td>110 000</td> <td>220 000</td> <td>11</td> <td>7</td> <td>15</td>	South Sudan	18 825	170 000	110 000	220 000	11	7	15
Ugands774 902140000130000150000576.286.28Taxania787 8311000001200001500006.306.796.79Zundsa917 970300001400001400006.106.106.79Eatern Laks917 970300001400001400006.116.106.79Albaia'077Arrenia017 90100002000040002.002.002.00Belarus7174250002.70004.30002.011.802.00Belarus7174250002.70004.30002.011.802.00Belarus71742.50002.70004.30002.002.002.002.002.00Belarus71742.5002.70007.0007.00007.00002.0000 <t< td=""><td>Swaziland</td><td>139 211</td><td>210 000</td><td>190 000</td><td>230 000</td><td>67</td><td>62</td><td>72</td></t<>	Swaziland	139 211	210 000	190 000	230 000	67	62	72
Tancania'ControlT. AUGUUT. AUGUUUT. AUGUUUT. AUGUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUU	Uganda	774 902	1 400 000	1 300 000	1 500 000	57	52	62
Zimbabwe817 3771 200001 200001 60000615566Eastern Laki entral Aki312 7001 5000001 4000001 40000211922Abania*407 <td></td> <td>688 604</td> <td>1 300 000</td> <td>1 200 000</td> <td>1 500 000</td> <td>53</td> <td>47</td> <td>60</td>		688 604	1 300 000	1 200 000	1 500 000	53	47	60
Eastern Europe and central Alaa112 0001400 0001400 000211922Abaha's007Armenia9172000200044000280.93335 <td>Zambia</td> <td>706 743</td> <td>1 100 000</td> <td>1 100 000</td> <td>1 200 000</td> <td>63</td> <td>59</td> <td>67</td>	Zambia	706 743	1 100 000	1 100 000	1 200 000	63	59	67
central Adais130 000130 000140 000120 000211922Albanis'40Albanis'970200020004000220702807038Bears717435 0022 0043 0021162837Bears7172370027 002026273837Bears27904900700027 0020262738Karshktan576027 00027 0002020213839Kyrzystan17228000430010 00022073839Kyrzystan172280001100022 00021313239Rasian Federation'Te former YogolavRasian Federation'<	Zimbabwe	817 397	1 300 000	1 200 000	1 500 000	61	55	66
Amenia917360029004600202035Acerbaijan290011000720015000281938Belars717430002900043000211624Berzegovina'125111111Georgia29094002700022602230Kyrgystan17226000430010000221778Montenegro'90111111Republic of Moldova374011111Rissin Federation'1111111Tajkistan263160001300020000171320The former Yugoslav Rupublic of Moldova583822000019000220000272333Uzbektan6611220001900022000023244040Carbbaan10720022000019000230000554746Bahamas2431000940011000063404040Boiria efficienciand the Corbbaan1100011000055417446Boiria efficienciand the Corbbaan1100011000064404040Boiria efficienciand4147220000110000654174Boiria efficienciand15492000011000064 </td <td></td> <td>312 700</td> <td>1 500 000</td> <td>1 400 000</td> <td>1 600 000</td> <td>21</td> <td>19</td> <td>22</td>		312 700	1 500 000	1 400 000	1 600 000	21	19	22
Aerbaijan296011000730015000281938Balarus774350002700043000211628Bonia and herzegovina/123Georgia299196007700120003125Kazakhstan59062000Kyrgystan11226000Republic of Moldova37441600Riskian Federation*TigiktanUtraineUtraineBahanesBelizeBahanes<	Albaniaª	407						
Belarus717435 00029 00043 000211624Borsia and Berzegovina'125	Armenia	917	3600	2800	4900	26	20	35
Bennia and Herzegovina*12511111Georgia2991960077001200032623Kazakhstan905622 000640010000221728Mortenegro*90Republic of Moldova37441800015 00021 000182525Republic of Macdonia*Tajkistan263816 00013 0020 000171328The former VigoslavRupublic of Macedonia*1072002000001700202320202331Ucraine58 38220 000170000230000025474444Republic of Macedonia*1072002000001700002300000554744Mareica and the Caribbaen107200200000170000230000354044Bahanas24338100700020000454047Baliza45922982000024000110000454047Baliza45922982000040000110000454047Baliza4592298200040000110000464646Colombia*-100001000046464646Colombia*10503 <td>Azerbaijan</td> <td>2960</td> <td>11 000</td> <td>7300</td> <td>15 000</td> <td>28</td> <td>19</td> <td>38</td>	Azerbaijan	2960	11 000	7300	15 000	28	19	38
Herzegovina'123Goorgia2991960020000210002362333Kzakhstan9702300020000210002662233Montenegro'90Republic of Moldova374418000150002100021Republic of Macdonia'Tiglistan288360001100022000027Verbeistan86113200011000022000027Urbeistan8613220000110000220000Bahamas29431100091000230000Belize11312600 <td>Belarus</td> <td>7174</td> <td>35 000</td> <td>29 000</td> <td>43 000</td> <td>21</td> <td>16</td> <td>24</td>	Belarus	7174	35 000	29 000	43 000	21	16	24
Kazakhstan59062300022000270002217380Kyrgyzstan117228000630010000221738Montenegro*90Republic of Moldova37441800015000210002118Russian Federation*The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia*<		125						
Kygyzstan172280006.60010.000221788Montenegro*90Republic of Moldova37.4418.00015.00021.0002118Russian Federation*Tajikistan26.3816.00013.00020.0001713The former Yugoslav <td< td=""><td>Georgia</td><td>2991</td><td>9600</td><td>7700</td><td>12 000</td><td>31</td><td>25</td><td>39</td></td<>	Georgia	2991	9600	7700	12 000	31	25	39
Nortenegrof90Republic of Moldova374418 00015 00021 000211825Russian Federation*Tajikstan263816 00013 00020 0001713.00The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia*Ukraine58 338220 000190 000250 00027.23Ukraine58 338220 0001700 000230 000Latin America and the Carlbbean1072 000200 0000120 000<	Kazakhstan	5906	23 000	20 000	27 000	26	22	30
Republic of Moldova374418 00015 00021 000211825Russian Federation*Tajkistan263816 00013 00020 000171320The former YugoslavRussian Federation*The former Yugoslav	Kyrgyzstan	1722	8000	6300	10 000	22	17	28
Russian Federation*Tajkistan2638160001300020000171320The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia*Ubraine58.338220.000190.000250.0002720Ubraine58.338220.000190.000250.0002720Ubraine58.338220.000190.000250.0002720Ubraine68.933110.00098.000120.00063Bahamas2943810.0070008900370Bahamas1131260024002900	Montenegro <sup>a</sup>	90						
Tajkistan2638160001300020000171320Republic of Macedonia?Ukraine58.338220000190000250000272331Uzbekistan8611320002400046000272039Latin America and the Caribbean107200020000001700002300006357Bahamas2943810098000120006357Bahamas294381007400880037Bolivia (Plurinational State of)151126002400046000Brazil4522982000640000110000255Colombia*14000013000016000 <td>Republic of Moldova</td> <td>3744</td> <td>18 000</td> <td>15 000</td> <td>21 000</td> <td>21</td> <td>18</td> <td>25</td>	Republic of Moldova	3744	18 000	15 000	21 000	21	18	25
The former Yugoslav Republic of MacedonialIII	Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Republic of Macedonia*nn <th< td=""><td>Tajikistan</td><td>2638</td><td>16 000</td><td>13 000</td><td>20 000</td><td>17</td><td>13</td><td>20</td></th<>	Tajikistan	2638	16 000	13 000	20 000	17	13	20
Uzbekistan861132 00024 00046 000272039Latin America and the Caribbean1072 0002 000 0001700 0002 300 000554764Argentina68 933110 00098 000120 000635769Bahamas2943810074008800373440Barbados1131260024002900434047Belize1549340031003900454051Bolivia (Plurinational State of)510118 00011 000291839Brazil452 229820 000600 0001 100 000554174Colombia*140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51264 00052 00090 000463663El salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 00292143Haiti65 984120 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514465								
Latin America and the Caribbean1 072 0002 000 0001 700 0002 300 000554764Argentina68 933110 00098 000120 000635769Bahamas2943810074008900373440Berbados1131260024002900434047Belize1549340031003900454051Bolivia (Plurinational State of)510118 00011 000554174Colombia*452 229620 000600 00011 00 000554174Colombia*140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663El salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 00292143Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514465	Ukraine	58 338	220 000	190 000	250 000	27	23	31
Caribbean10/20020000010000200000534764Argentina68 933110 00098 000120 000635769Bahamas2943810074008900373440Barbados1131260024002900434047Belize1549340031003900454051Bolivia (Plurinational State of)510118 00011 00024 000291839Brazil452 22982 000600 0001100 000554174Chile27 93832 00022 00045 0008759>95Colombia*140 000130 000160 000Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000534464Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514464	Uzbekistan	8611	32 000	24 000	46 000	27	20	39
Bahamas     2943     8100     7400     8900     37     34     400       Barbados     1131     2600     2400     2900     43     40     47       Belize     1549     3400     3100     3900     45     40     51       Bolivia (Plurinational State of)     5101     18 000     11 000     24 000     29     18     39       Brazil     452 229     820 000     600 000     1 10 000     55     41     74       Chile     27 938     32 000     22 000     45 000     87     59     >95       Colombia <sup>c</sup> 140 000     130 000     160 000           Costa Rica     5558     9900     8900     11000     56     50     62       Cuba     15 054     22 000     19 000     24 000     69     59     75       Dominican Republic     30 512     66 000     52 000     90 000     44     36     33		1 072 000	2 000 000	1 700 000	2 300 000	55	47	64
Barbados     1131     2600     2400     2900     43     40     47       Belize     1549     3400     3100     3900     45     40     51       Bolivia (Plurinational State of)     5101     18 000     11 000     24 000     29     18     39       Brazil     452 229     820 000     600 000     1 100 000     55     41     74       Chile     27 938     32 000     20 000     450 000     87     59     >95       Colombia <sup>c</sup> 140 000     130 000     160 000           Costa Rica     5558     9900     8900     11 000     56     50     62       Cuba     15 054     22 000     19 000     24 000     69     59     75       Dominican Republic     30 512     66 000     52 000     90 000     46     36     63       Euador     10 530     19 000     18 000     21 000     54     49     59	Argentina	68 933	110 000	98 000	120 000	63	57	69
Belize     1549     3400     3100     3900     45     40     51       Bolivia (Plurinational State of)     5101     18 000     11 000     24 000     29     18     39       Brazil     452 229     820 000     600 000     1 100 000     55     41     74       Chile     27 938     32 000     22 000     45 000     87     59     >95       Colombia <sup>c</sup> 140 000     130 000     160 000 <td>Bahamas</td> <td>2943</td> <td>8100</td> <td>7400</td> <td>8900</td> <td>37</td> <td>34</td> <td>40</td>	Bahamas	2943	8100	7400	8900	37	34	40
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)510118 00011 00024 000291839Brazil452 229820 000600 0001 100 000554174Chile27 93832 00022 00045 0008759>95Colombia*140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guyana4394760071008500534464Haiti65 984120 000160 000150 000514461	Barbados	1131	2600	2400	2900	43	40	47
State of)1001000100024000291839Brazil452 229820 000600 0001100 000554174Chile27 93832 00022 00045 0008759>95Colombia*140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Guyana4394760071008500585364Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000514461	Belize	1549	3400	3100	3900	45	40	51
Chile27 93832 00022 00045 0008759>95Colombiac140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000585364Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514461		5101	18 000	11 000	24 000	29	18	39
Colombias140 000130 000160 000Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514464	Brazil	452 229	820 000	600 000	1 100 000	55	41	74
Costa Rica55589900890011 000565062Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514464	Chile	27 938	32 000	22 000	45 000	87	59	>95
Cuba15 05422 00019 00024 000695975Dominican Republic30 51266 00052 00090 000463663Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Guyana43947600710085005364Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514461	Colombia <sup>c</sup>		140 000	130 000	160 000			
Dominican Republic     30 512     66 000     52 000     90 000     46     36     63       Ecuador     14 972     29 000     23 000     34 000     52     41     63       El Salvador     10 530     19 000     18 000     21 000     54     49     59       Guatemala     15 459     53 000     37 000     77 000     29     21     43       Haiti     65 984     120 000     100 000     150 000     53     44     64       Honduras     9884     19 000     16 000     23 000     51     44     61	Costa Rica	5558	9900	8900	11 000	56	50	62
Ecuador14 97229 00023 00034 000524163El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Guyana4394760071008500585364Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514461	Cuba	15 054	22 000	19 000	24 000	69	59	75
El Salvador10 53019 00018 00021 000544959Guatemala15 45953 00037 00077 000292143Guyana4394760071008500585364Haiti65 984120 000100 000150 000534464Honduras988419 00016 00023 000514461	Dominican Republic	30 512	66 000	52 000	90 000	46	36	63
Guatemala     15 459     53 000     37 000     77 000     29     21     43       Guyana     4394     7600     7100     8500     58     53     64       Haiti     65 984     120 000     100 000     150 000     53     44     64       Honduras     9884     19 000     16 000     23 000     51     44     61	Ecuador	14 972	29 000	23 000	34 000	52	41	63
Guyana     4394     7600     7100     8500     58     53     64       Haiti     65 984     120 000     100 000     150 000     53     44     64       Honduras     9884     19 000     16 000     23 000     51     44     61	El Salvador	10 530	19 000	18 000	21 000	54	49	59
Haiti     65 984     120 000     100 000     150 000     53     44     64       Honduras     9884     19 000     16 000     23 000     51     44     61	Guatemala	15 459	53 000	37 000	77 000	29	21	43
Honduras     9884     19 000     16 000     23 000     51     44     61	Guyana	4394	7600	7100	8500	58	53	64
	Haiti	65 984	120 000	100 000	150 000	53	44	64
Jamaica 9098 29 000 25 000 33 000 32 27 37	Honduras	9884	19 000	16 000	23 000	51	44	61
	Jamaica	9098	29 000	25 000	33 000	32	27	37

# 6. Estimated percentage of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	Adults (age	15+ years) living wit		Estimated coverage (%)			
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Mexico	115 671	200 000	180 000	210 000	59	54	64	
Nicaragua	3228	9700	7400	14 000	33	25	47	
Panama	10 065	17 000	15 000	18 000	59	54	65	
Paraguay	5324	17 000	12 000	27 000	31	22	48	
Peru	36 313	65 000	55 000	78 000	56	47	67	
Suriname	2002	3700	3300	4300	54	47	62	
Trinidad and Tobago	6589	11 000	10 000	11 000	61	58	65	
Uruguay	6000	10 000	8600	12 000	59	51	69	
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	62 183	110 000	97 000	110 000	59	54	64	
Middle East and North Africa	36 000	220 000	150 000	320 000	16	12	24	
Algeria	7333	8600	6600	10 000	86	66	>95	
Djibouti	1871	8500	5900	12 000	22	15	31	
Egypt	2074	11 000	7000	19 000	18	11	31	
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	6251	71 000	49 000	120 000	9	6	15	
Lebanon	885	2400	2100	2700	37	32	42	
Morocco	8437	24 000	20 000	28 000	35	30	41	
Omanª	1067							
Somalia	2198	27 000	18 000	37 000	8	5	11	
Sudan	3994	52 000	30 000	85 000	8	4	12	
Tunisia	714	2600	1700	3700	28	19	40	
Yemen	1215	8800	5400	15 000	14	9	24	
Western and central Africa	1 731 000	6 000 000	4 900 000	7 300 000	29	24	35	
Benin	31 757	64 000	51 000	85 000	49	39	65	
Burkina Faso	49 955	88 000	72 000	110 000	57	47	69	
Burundi	39 515	68 000	53 000	82 000	58	45	70	
Cameroon	161 153	580 000	520 000	650 000	28	25	31	
Cape Verde	1290	3100	2600	3800	42	35	51	
Central African Republic	25 900	110 000	95 000	120 000	24	21	27	
Chad	55 784	150 000	120 000	190 000	38	30	48	
Congoª								
Côte d'Ivoire	154 228	440 000	370 000	500 000	35	30	41	
Democratic Republic of the Congo	113 083	330 000	260 000	410 000	34	27	42	
Equatorial Guinea	8264	25 000	23 000	27 000	33	30	36	
Gabon	25 662	44 000	37 000	51 000	58	49	68	
Gambia	4584	19 000	15 000	22 000	25	20	29	
Ghana	89 113	260 000	210 000	300 000	35	29	41	
Guinea	31 993	110 000	93 000	130 000	29	25	34	
Guinea-Bissau <sup>ª</sup>								
Liberia	7002	26 000	22 000	31 000	27	22	32	
Mali	32 309	110 000	94 000	140 000	29	24	35	
Mauritania	2301	12 000	7600	19 000	19	11	28	
Niger	11 965	43 000	38 000	49 000	28	24	32	

#### 6. Estimated percentage of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	Adults (age 15+ years) living with HIV, 2015			Estimated coverage (%)		
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Nigeria	785 212	3 200 000	2 400 000	4 200 000	25	19	32
Senegal	17 192	41 000	34 000	50 000	42	35	52
Sierra Leone	13 466	47 000	40 000	54 000	29	24	33
Тодо	40 545	97 000	84 000	110 000	42	36	49
Western and central Europe and North America	1 414 000	2 400 000	2 200 000	2 700 000	59	54	66
Austriaª							
Belgiumª							
Bulgariaª	819						
Canadaª							
Croatiaª	921						
Cyprusª							
Czech Republicª							
Denmarkª							
Estoniaª							
Finland®				····			
Franceª							
Germanyª							
Greece		16 000	15 000	18 000			
Hungaryª				····			
lcelandª							
Irelandª							
Israelª							
Italy <sup>c</sup>		140 000	120 000	150 000			
Latvia	1352	6800	6100	7700	20	18	22
Lithuaniaª	561						
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>	698						
Maltaª							
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>			•••••	·····	•••	·····	
Norwayª					····		
Poland <sup>a</sup>					····		
Portugalª							
Romaniaª	10 308						
Serbiaª	1389						
Slovakiaª							
Sloveniaª							
Spain	109 600	150 000	130 000	180 000	74	62	87
' Sweden <sup>a</sup>							
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>							
Turkey <sup>a</sup>							
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>							
United States of America <sup>a</sup>							
Global	16 200 000	34 900 000	32 400 000	37 900 000		43	50

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>c</sup> The estimates for children are not published because of small numbers.

# 7. Estimated percentage of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	14 years) living HV receiving Children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV, 2015			Estimated coverage (%)		
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Asia and the Pacific	78 700	190 000	140 000	250 000	41	30	52
Afghanistan	26	<500	<200	<500	11	6	21
Australia	19	<100	<100	<100	90	73	>95
Bangladesh	90	<500	<500	<500	31	26	35
Bhutanª							
Brunei Darussalamª							
Cambodia <sup>₄</sup>							
Chinaª							
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª							
Fijiª	4						
India <sup>b</sup>	50 976						
Indonesia	2708	17 000	14 000	20 000	16	13	18
Japan <sup>a</sup>							
Lao People's Democratic Republic <sup>a</sup>	222						
Malaysia	487	<500	<500	<1000	>95	91	>95
Maldives <sup>a</sup>	0						
Mongolia	0	<100	<100	<100	0	0	0
Myanmar	7086	9500	8000	11 000	75	63	86
Nepal	893	1600	1300	1800	58	49	67
New Zealand <sup>a</sup> Pakistan	 131	 2500	 1900	 3900	 5		 8
Papua New Guinea	1170	3300	3000	3700	36		39
Philippines	41	<500	<500	<1000	10		16
Republic of Korea <sup>a</sup>							
Singapore <sup>a</sup>	0						
Sri Lanka	36	<100	<100	<200	46	32	66
Thailand	3813	4100	3500	4800	>95	89	>95
Timor-Leste <sup>a</sup>		•••	••••		•••	·····	••••
Viet Nam	4865	4900	3900	6100	>95	80	>95
Eastern and southern Africa	658 200	1 000 000	930 000	1 200 000	63	56	71
Angola	6032	25 000	17 000	37 000	24	16	34
Botswana	8490	8500	7300	10 000	>95	85	>95
Eritrea	470	1400	<1000	1800	35	25	47
Ethiopiaª	22 009						
Kenya	71 547	98 000	81 000	120 000	73	60	88
Lesotho	7466	13 000	12 000	14 000	56	51	61
Madagascar	16	3800	3300	4400	0	0	0
Malawi	51 487	84 000	75 000	92 000	61	55	68
Mauritius	23						
Mozambique	64 273	110 000	81 000	160 000	57	41	80
Namibia	10 010	10 000	9400	11 000	>95		>95
Rwanda	8266	11 000	9200	13 000	74	61	86
South Africa	174 891	240 000	210 000	260 000	74	68	82

## 7. Estimated percentage of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	Children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV, 2015			Estimated coverage (%)		
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
South Sudan	728	14 000	9200	19 000	5	3	7
Swaziland	8063	10 000	9700	11 000	78	74	84
Uganda	60 029	96 000	84 000	110 000	63	55	71
United Republic of Tanzania	51 474	91 000	77 000	110 000	56	47	65
Zambia	51 903	85 000	77 000	94 000	61	55	67
Zimbabwe	61 064	77 000	68 000	86 000	80	70	89
Eastern Europe and central Asiaª							
Albaniaª	16						
Armenia <sup>c</sup>	24		••••	••••			
Azerbaijan	73	<100	<100	<200	83	52	>95
Belarus	218	<500	<100	<500	94	34	>95
Bosnia and							
Herzegovinaª				••••			
Georgia	53	<100	<100	<100	>95	>95	>95
Kazakhstan	379	<500	<200	<500	>95	>95	>95
Kyrgyzstan <sup>d</sup>	387	<200	<200	<200	>95	>95	>95
Montenegro	2						
Republic of Moldova	106	<200	<100	<500	75	52	>95
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
Tajikistan	501	<500	<500	<500	>95	>95	>95
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Ukraine	2415	3200	2600	4000	75	61	93
Uzbekistan	4575	<1000	<500	1000	>95	>95	>95
Latin America and the Caribbean	20 400	32 000	27 000	38 000	64	54	76
Argentina	1597	<1000	<1000	<1000	>95	>95	>95
Bahamas	49	<100	<100	<100	89	78	>95
Barbadosª	8						
Belize	90	<200	<100	<200	80	62	>95
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	173	<500	<500	<1000	48	29	72
Brazil	5657	7500	6000	11 000	76	61	>95
Chile <sup>c</sup>	144						
Colombiaª		1400	1300	1600			
Costa Rica	65	<200	<200	<200	53	48	59
Cuba	29	<100	<100	<100	>95	83	>95
Dominican Republic	809	2100	1400	3300	39	27	61
Ecuador	670	<500	<500	<1000	>95	>95	>95
El Salvador	273	<500	<500	<500	78	70	84
Guatemala	856	2000	1400	2900	44	32	64
Guyana	157	<200	<200	<500	>95	85	>95
Haiti	2865	9500	7600	12 000	30	24	37
Honduras	573	<1000	<1000	<1000	74	59	91
Jamaica	666	<500	<500	<500	>95	>95	>95
Mexico	1960	1800	1600	2100	>95	95	>95

# 7. Estimated percentage of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy			Estimated coverage (%)			
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Nicaragua	122	<200	<200	<500	69	47	>95
Panama	162	<200	<200	<500	92	75	>95
Paraguay	175	<500	<200	<1000	58	35	>95
Peru	888	1100	<1000	1400	84	62	>95
Suriname	74	<100	<100	<100	>95	89	>95
Trinidad and Tobago	131	<100	<100	<100	>95	>95	>95
Uruguay	113	<100	<100	<100	>95	>95	>95
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	1145	2100	1900	2300	55	50	61
Middle East and North Africa	2200	11 000	8600	14 000	20	16	25
Algeria	582	<500	<200	<500	>95	>95	>95
Djibouti	74	<1000	<1000	1300	8	6	12
Egypt	73	<500	<200	<500	27	18	43
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	233	1900	1400	2800	12	9	18
Lebanon <sup>c</sup>	5						
Morocco	489	<500	<500	<1000	>95	82	>95
Omanª	31				•••		
Somalia	112	3100	2400	4000	4	3	5
Sudan	394	3500	2800	4500	11	9	15
Tunisiaª	20						
Yemen	140	<500	<500	<1000	32	21	50
Western and central Africa	99 300	500 000	400 000	630 000	20	16	25
Benin	1845	4800	3500	6400	39	29	52
Burkina Faso	2349	7700	6000	9600	31	24	38
Burundi	2654	9100	7400	11 000	29	24	34
Cameroon	7096	39 000	34 000	44 000	18	16	21
Cape Verde	65	<200	<200	<200	47	38	62
Central African Republic	2403	9400	8500	10 000	25	23	28
Chad	3838	18 000	14 000	22 000	22		27
Congoª							
Côte d'Ivoire Democratic Republic of	6945 9185	29 000 42 000	24 000 34 000	34 000 51 000	24 22	20	28
the Congo							
Equatorial Guinea	245	2400	2200	2600	10	9	11
Gabon	1375	2600	2200	3100	52	44	60
Gambia	438	1800	1500	2300	24		30
Ghana	4934	19 000	15 000	22 000	27	22	32
Guinea	1532	7000	6000	8000	22	19	25
Guinea-Bissau <sup>a</sup>							····
Liberia	389	3900	3400	4400	10	9	11 
Mali	2665	12 000	9900	14 000	23	19	27
Mauritania	157	1300	<1000	1600	13	10	16
Niger	922	260,000	190,000	6800	16	13	18
Nigeria	43 655	260 000	190 000	360 000	17	12	23
Senegal	1183	4800	4000	5700	25	21	30

#### 7. Estimated percentage of children (age 0-14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy, 2015

	Number of children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy	living Children (age 0–14 years) living with HIV, 2015			Estimated coverage (%)		
		Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate
Sierra Leone	575	4400	3800	5000	13	11	15
Тодо	3058	9000	7600	11 000	34	29	41
Western and central Europe and North Americaª							
Austriaª							
Belgiumª					····		
Bulgariaª	5						
Canadaª							
Croatiaª	3				····		
Cyprusª							
Czech Republic <sup>a</sup>							
Denmark <sup>a</sup>							
Estoniaª							
Finland <sup>a</sup>		•••					
France <sup>a</sup>					·····		
Germany <sup>a</sup>							
Greece		<100	<100	<100	•••		
Hungary <sup>a</sup>							
Iceland <sup>a</sup>	····						
Ireland <sup>a</sup>							
Israelª							
Italy <sup>e</sup>		 1400		 1600			
Latvia	 36	<100	<100	<100	 >95		 >95
Lithuaniaª	5						
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>	2				•••		
Malta <sup>a</sup>							
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>							
Norway <sup>a</sup>	•••			••••	•••		
Polanda							
Portugalª							
Romaniaª	243						
Serbia <sup>a</sup>	11						
Slovakiaª					•••		
Sloveniaª							
Spain	400	<100	<100	<100	>95	>95	>95
Swedenª							
Switzerland®							
Turkeyª							
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>							
United States of Americaª							
Global	872 500	1 800 000	1 500 000	2 000 000	49	42	55

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>c</sup> The estimates for children are not published because of small numbers.
<sup>d</sup> The estimates for children are not published.
<sup>e</sup> Antiretroviral therapy data were not available at the time of publication.

## 8. Estimated percentage of women and men (15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy

	2010			2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Asia and the Pacific	47	41	54	37	32	44	
Afghanistan	5	3	13	5	3	11	
Australia	90	81	>95	90	82	>95	
Bangladesh	18	15	20	14	12	16	
Bhutanª							
Brunei Darussalamª							
Cambodia	75	69	83	70	64	78	
Chinaª							
Democratic People's Republic of Koreaª							
Fijiª							
India⁵	51	42	62	39	32	49	
Indonesia	9	8	10	9	8	10	
Japanª							
Lao People's Democratic Republicª							
Malaysia	56	51	62	23	20	27	
Maldives <sup>a</sup>							
Mongolia	39	30	48	35	27	44	
Myanmar	59	52	68	39	34	45	
Nepal	41	36	47	22	19	26	
New Zealand <sup>a</sup>							
Pakistan	6	5	10	6	5	10	
Papua New Guinea	57	51	63	51	46	56	
Philippines	9	7	23	32	23	94	
Republic of Korea <sup>®</sup>							
Singapore <sup>a</sup>							
Sri Lanka	21	15	33	18	12	28	
Thailand	74	68	81	57	53	63	
Timor-Leste <sup>ª</sup>							
Viet Nam	45	41	51	38	34	43	
Eastern and southern Africa	59	55	64	44	41	48	
Angola	33	23	45	24	17	33	
Botswana	85	80	91	67	63	72	
Eritrea	55	44	72	75	60	>95	
Ethiopiaª							
Kenya	68	57	79	44	37	52	
Lesotho	45	41	49	36	33	39	
Madagascar	4	3	4	2	2	3	
Malawi	67	62	72	52	48	57	
Mauritius	26	22	31	32	27	38	
Mozambique	63	51	76	39	31	47	
Namibia	71	66	78	61	56	66	
Rwanda	84	74	93	71	63	79	
South Africa	53	50	57	40	38	42	
South Sudan	14	9	19	7	5	10	

## 8. Estimated percentage of women and men (15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy

	2010			2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Swaziland	74	69	80	56	52	6	
Jganda	65	60	71	45	42	4	
United Republic of Tanzania	62	55	69	40	36	4	
Zambia	67	63	72	56	54	6	
Zimbabwe	65	59	70	54	49	5	
Eastern Europe and central Asia	26	24	28	18	17	1	
Albaniaª							
Armenia	47	38	63	20	16	2	
Azerbaijan	27	19	37	28	20	3	
Belarus	21	17	26	19	16	2	
Bosnia and Herzegovinaª							
Georgia	46	37	57	27	22	3	
Kazakhstan	35	30	42	21	18	2	
(yrgyzstan	30	24	39	17	14	2	
Montenegro <sup>a</sup>							
Republic of Moldova	33	28	39	15	13	1	
Russian Federation <sup>a</sup>							
<b>Tajikistan</b>	23	19	29	13	10	1	
The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedoniaª							
Jkraine	29	25	34	25	22	2	
Jzbekistan	51	38	70	17	12	2	
atin America and the Caribbean	58	49	68	54	46	é	
Argentina	76	71	83	57	52	é	
Bahamas	42	39	45	34	31	3	
Barbados	60	55	65	36	33	3	
Belize	47	42	53	43	38	2	
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	33	21	45	26	16	3	
Brazil	58	43	77	54	40	7	
Chile	>95	>95	>95	75	51	>9	
Colombiaª							
Costa Rica	36	33	39	64	57	7	
Cuba	56	50	62	73	62	8	
Dominican Republic	53	43	71	40	31	Ę	
Ecuador	66	53	80	46	36	Ę	
El Salvador	60	55	65	51	46	Ę	
Guatemala	32	22	47	28	20	2	
Guyana	63	58	71	52	48	Ę	
Haiti	57	48	69	47	40	Ę	
Honduras	59	51	68	45	38	Ę	
lamaica	43	37	49	24	21	2	
Vexico	58	54	63	59	54	έ	
Nicaragua	47	36	68	28	22	ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ	
Panama	59	55	63	60	55		

## 8. Estimated percentage of women and men (15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy

	2010			2015			
	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	
Paraguay	37	27	57	29	20	44	
Peru	69	58	83	50	43	60	
Suriname	52	46	61	55	48	64	
Trinidad and Tobago	66	62	70	57	54	60	
Uruguay	78	67	92	53	45	62	
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	40	37	43	69	64	75	
Middle East and North Africa	18	13	26	15	11	23	
Algeria	>95	75	>95	77	59	93	
Djibouti	21	15	30	23	16	33	
Egypt	16	10	26	20	12	33	
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	7	5	12	10	7	17	
Lebanon	32	29	36	38	33	43	
Morocco	52	45	60	26	22	30	
Omanª							
Somalia	9	6	13	7	4	9	
Sudan	7	4	12	8	4	13	
Tunisia	38	26	55	23	16	34	
Yemen	13	8	23	14	9	25	
Western and central Africa	34	28	42	22	18	26	
Benin	49	39	65	50	39	66	
Burkina Faso	66	55	81	42	35	51	
Burundi	65	51	78	48	37	58	
Cameroon	33	30	37	20	18	22	
Cape Verde	43	36	52	40	34	49	
Central African Republic	23	20	26	25	22	28	
Chad	40	33	51	34	27	44	
Congoª							
Côte d'Ivoire	44	38	50	23	20	27	
Democratic Republic of the Congo	40	31	49	25	20	31	
Equatorial Guinea	45	41	49	17	16	19	
Gabon	57	48	68	60	51	70	
Gambia	30	25	36	16	13	20	
Ghana	39	33	46	29	24	34	
Guinea	32	27	38	24	20	28	
Guinea-Bissauª							
Liberia	30	25	36	21	17	25	
Mali	34	29	41	21	18	26	
Mauritania	19	12	29	18	11	28	
Niger	35	31	39	20	18	23	
Nigeria	30	22	39	17	13	23	
Senegal	45	38	55	36	30	45	
Sierra Leone	34	29	39	20	17	23	
Тодо	49	42	57	31	27	36	
#### 8. Estimated percentage of women and men (15+ years) living with HIV receiving antiretroviral therapy

	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate	Estimate	Lower estimate	Upper estimate		
Western and central Europe and North America	61	55	69	59	53	65		
Austriaª								
Belgiumª								
Bulgariaª								
Canadaª								
Croatiaª								
Cyprusª								
Czech Republic <sup>a</sup>								
Denmark <sup>a</sup>				···				
Estonia <sup>a</sup>								
Finland <sup>a</sup>								
France <sup>a</sup>		•••••						
Germany <sup>a</sup>								
Greece		••••						
Hungary <sup>a</sup>			·····					
Iceland <sup>a</sup>		•••••						
Irelandª								
Israelª								
Italy <sup>c</sup>								
Latvia	20		22	20	18	2		
Lithuaniaª								
Luxembourg <sup>a</sup>								
Malta <sup>a</sup>								
Netherlands <sup>a</sup>								
Norway <sup>a</sup>								
Poland <sup>a</sup>								
Portugal <sup>a</sup>								
Romaniaª								
Serbiaª	••••••	••••••						
Slovakiaª								
Sloveniaª								
Spain			 89	 74				
Sweden <sup>a</sup>	/+	01	07	/4	02	U		
Switzerland <sup>a</sup>								
Turkey <sup>a</sup>								
United Kingdom <sup>a</sup>								
United States of Americaª								
Global	52	48	57	40	37	4		

<sup>a</sup> Estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>b</sup> Some estimates were unavailable at the time of publication.
<sup>c</sup> The estimates for children are not published because of small numbers.

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Asia and the Pacific							
	Global Fund	2 148 734	1 462 669	2 185 368	2 055 495	1 988 748	120 285
Afghanistan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
, ignoristan	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 791 728	4 454 982	4 550 199	2 380 094	2 183 508	b
	Global Fund	10 828 843	13 454 642	6 278 255	15 533 268	12 617 234	9 281 275
Bangladesh	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	16 486 926	20 461 079	12 097 445	20 656 403	16 813 541	b
	Global Fund	15 188 097	38 011 480	7 168 485	19 896 780	24 399 178	14 472 482
Cambodia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	11 376 758	13 715 250
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	41 618 606	66 703 078	30 317 409	35 583 522	40 941 761	b
	Global Fund	5 226 659	27 494 678	65 850 097	b	b	b
China	PEPFAR	а	a	a	а	1 343 978	2 326 965
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	58 038 337	83 949 932	84 298 511	19 102 425	4 998 066	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Fiji	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
,	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	583 941	727 836	1 524 504	1 051 897	485 790	b
	Global Fund	114 688 269	126 025 279	144 437 206	168 643 823	54 063 937	139 034 722
India	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	24 545 854	21 047 803
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	225 831 542	312 572 610	202 335 515	249 245 652	100 941 701	b
	Global Fund	25 881 085	32 066 012	19 726 545	38 594 494	18 369 789	18 070 601
Indonesia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	8 638 353	7 568 393
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	43 635 341	58 454 293	59 749 467	66 228 653	46 858 908	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Kiribati	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	6476	b	b
	Global Fund	3 149 970	7 712 314	3 576 231	6 422 269	4 652 176	2 416 390
Lao People's Democratic Republic	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 395 375	10 954 882	5 965 593	9 193 335	7 534 799	b
	Global Fund		1 333 367	1 421 411	2 049 553	2 739 557	1 110 397
Malaysia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
•	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	64 201	1 374 442	1 544 143	5 447 609	2 776 044	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Marshall Islands	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	984 000	b

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Micronesia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
(Federated States of)	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	17 680	b
	Global Fund	1 867 235	661 581	1 323 685	826 295	845 708	2 081 375
Mongolia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 239 746	873 274	1 346 514	860 820	906 945	b
	Global Fund	15 281 620	6 642 873	21 951 886	46 483 647	35 120 662	21 122 035
Myanmar	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	3 571 642	4 833 024
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	25 985 231	23 287 006	30 278 059	56 846 793	40 613 012	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Nauru	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	3 436 598	5 900 232	10 872 417	10 588 046	6 400 232	9 672 103
Nepal	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
F	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	17 300 476	22 880 248	21 729 231	26 658 307	20 923 940	b
	Global Fund	b	2 820 559	3 470 399	6 131 242	3 080 328	8 982 268
Pakistan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 657 788	15 633 815	5 845 002	4 768 943	8 132 736	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Palau	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	b	b	6 357 282	6 854 227	2 513 803	1 781 634
Papua New Guinea	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	5 069 390	4 134 699
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	39 282 829	47 205 714	71 625 772	75 385 653	81 944 956	b
	Global Fund	3 987 421	1 100 816	5 713 849	1 174 069	1 783 496	2 408 266
Philippines	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
FF **	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	5 559 520	2 980 175	7 822 513	2 108 555	3 183 817	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Samoa	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	2095	75 521	b	b	44 790	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Solomon Islands	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	54 936	b	45 592	b	200 000	b

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	355 522	1 087 445	1 462 623	2 016 229	1 063 445	1 021 467
	PEPFAR	333 322 a	a 1007	a 1402 023	2 010 227 a	1 003 443 b	b
Sri Lanka	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 178 416	4 134 917	2 333 556	4 600 454	1 229 795	b
	Global Fund	30 784 549	35 727 916	16 813 436	31 309 001	23 318 693	17 911 402
Thailand	PEPFAR	а	а	а	a	9 566 163	12 810 056
manara	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	41 723 751	48 809 500	24 142 415	38 105 395	25 700 573	b
	Global Fund	1 403 905	1 587 672	2 914 706	1 450 924	3 136 373	620 909
Timor-Leste	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 571 565	1 592 562	3 230 105	1 740 822	3 561 806	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Tonga	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Tuvalu	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	Ь	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Vanuatu	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	461 207	2 519 003	2 717 418	3 416 005	673 952	b
	Global Fund	3 767 635	21 003 681	17 825 251	27 477 324	10 697 000	16 886 080
Viet Nam	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	55 184 197	54 439 507
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	90 094 243	124 252 938	88 843 058	90 791 042	63 147 051	b
Eastern and southern Africa							
	Global Fund	12 562 039	3 787 437	3 272 516	11 408 657		2 547 131
Angola	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	24 882 818	21 823 335	21 082 779	33 379 283	15 705 810	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Botswana	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	53 580 483	52 284 175
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	73 920 684	71 936 054	60 403 897	72 552 802	52 615 657	b
	Global Fund	416 854	904 555	716 258	339 961	505 131	300 098
Comoros	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	466 649	969 687	705 625	510 453	624 540	b
	Global Fund	16 581 281	6 862 092	17 629 496	11 148 902	18 876 114	3 190 836
Eritrea	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	19 492 980	8 298 453	18 106 707	11 749 080	19 200 793	b

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	215 714 813	132 686 767	48 194 656	128 167 098	83 080 302	89 667 925
Ethiopia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	176 534 730	172 380 546
Lunopia	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	467 600 139	389 278 246	305 394 339	370 239 973	284 659 309	b
	Global Fund	24 888 872	5 924 903	58 860 080	72 296 655	61 114 348	96 966 592
Kenya	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	440 328 935	452 443 970
····· <b>y</b> -	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	404 062 935	458 674 403	572 802 760	626 132 472	510 108 030	b
	Global Fund	21 183 169	19 318 443	20 481 647	22 194 600	11 724 007	17 240 397
Lesotho	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	31 143 203	30 024 410
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	56 101 111	61 821 432	68 454 862	58 153 452	46 691 978	b
	Global Fund	4 101 619	860 398	2 236 364	2 701 830	2 657 223	2 401 661
Madagascar	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	11 141 296	8 680 674	7 933 867	7 150 274	3 849 822	b
	Global Fund	44 326 129	55 055 304	67 566 143	58 452 885	72 347 383	94 860 201
Malawi	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	72 668 869	76 418 564
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	125 948 922	140 113 794	163 048 374	149 833 676	156 758 733	b
	Global Fund	2 157 350	1 305 621	1 809 891	1 692 696	1 741 557	336 738
Mauritius	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	2 133 202	1 520 317	1 771 809	1 738 892	1 848 567	b
	Global Fund	53 247 835	3 726 604	42 099 041	9 489 862	56 321 398	73 839 562
Mozambique	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	297 968 209	265 707 269
·	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	251 163 910	247 333 703	259 673 425	259 070 540	312 735 693	b
	Global Fund	28 283 249	6 659 406	30 448 548	13 847 781	12 241 871	7 785 182
Namibia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	58 168 020	49 788 008
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	123 307 253	89 836 254	118 117 013	92 003 459	78 772 186	b
	Global Fund	105 057 292	99 578 064	110 640 732	77 211 192	109 916 064	83 081 276
Rwanda	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	106 705 116	89 468 785
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	202 815 055	208 874 084	198 935 526	147 456 704	190 398 891	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Seychelles	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	31 340		243			b
	Global Fund	43 645 114	19 014 188	101 829 264	88 530 866	91 156 196	99 374 402
South Africa	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	420 974 849	390 487 953
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	572 817 195	591 367 076	602 325 601	559 771 968	590 150 248	b

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	3 341 546	3 854 008	4 896 512	5 612 274	7 042 265	16 531 406
South Sudan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	8 299 805	9 827 135
iwaziland Jganda Jnited Republic of Fanzania Zambia	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	11 146 615	20 281 975	29 468 933	16 071 039	b
	Global Fund	34 301 715	12 289 970	3 135 203	18 463 565	1 210 157	7 176 776
Swaziland	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	39 572 162	39 795 064
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	57 983 371	60 780 625	46 707 641	57 679 553	45 471 929	b
	Global Fund	24 294 101	16 550 863	55 083 867	30 347 253	34 532 073	79 830 305
Uganda	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	281 812 819	262 609 562
-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	261 252 845	282 933 013	322 399 137	348 214 053	324 739 271	b
	Global Fund	90 956 378	48 001 671	63 101 776	158 644 650	134 537 812	89 311 491
United Republic of	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	314 822 878	276 527 338
Ianzania	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	365 161 467	366 800 254	384 756 518	479 223 984	444 195 347	b
	Global Fund	37 366 179	88 285 317	63 359 492	153 110 575	68 808 573	25 854 905
Zambia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	246 173 444	233 395 902
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	220 144 112	299 819 914	288 448 574	277 060 632	309 290 099	b
	Global Fund	47 216 789	26 820 573	130 481 599	97 238 291	100 570 822	183 534 746
Zimbabwe	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	90 377 038	101 837 712
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	109 433 259	93 623 661	211 346 999	163 531 078	182 143 055	b
Eastern Europe and central Asia							
	Global Fund	678 581	492 117	216 371	180 595	192 107	b
Albania	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	799 841	533 864	283 338	243 451	255 664	b
	Global Fund	1 221 346	3 416 111	4 468 956	3 251 611	3 411 031	1 039 721
Armenia	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	2 364 375	4 571 804	4 567 778	3 899 989	3 503 587	b
	Global Fund	4 764 455	8 060 295	1 814 375	5 007 607	6 830 019	2 389 838
Azerbaijan	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 841 565	8 379 378	2 099 516	5 298 481	6 875 131	b
	Global Fund	5 861 402	8 040 884	6 646 196	6 982 976	4 738 897	4 769 193
Belarus	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 413 576	8 525 019	6 925 481	7 571 547	5 044 354	b
	Global Fund	6 311 692	5 742 682	3 153 132	7 834 022	4 580 935	3 105 366
Bosnia and Herzegovina	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 587 904	5 981 250	2 922 774	7 978 904	4 593 745	b

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	7 068 997	7 128 610	3 480 858	1 588 912	4 345 631	2 526 171
Bulgaria	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
5	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Estonia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	6 128 146	6 521 849	8 440 540	10 332 111	5 470 762	7 476 707
Georgia	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	b	b
•	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	7 268 734	9 229 376	8 702 631	11 389 784	6 861 238	b
	Global Fund	2 992 093	5 692 218	7 411 779	5 105 512	299 652	3 594 040
Kazakhstan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	2 660 159	4 149 083
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 111 187	7 356 548	8 733 448	6 164 557	693 727	b
	Global Fund	5 449 518	7 370 614	5 559 589	7 157 157	5 359 960	5 667 648
Kyrgyzstan	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	4 818 270	2 801 132
, .,	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	7 752 375	9 009 428	6 645 416	8 054 923	6 356 566	b
	Global Fund	1 371 826	1 517 821	861 849	857 485	818 732	b
Montenegro	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
5	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 314 188	1 555 812	821 000	857 485	818 732	b
	Global Fund	10 072 219	4 724 277	5 349 508	6 378 626	8 393 141	686 624
Republic of Moldova	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	10 263 923	5 250 920	5 778 957	6 615 829	8 464 787	b
	Global Fund	910 457	b	b	b	b	b
Romania	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	29 990 820	10 827 432	2 244 665	8 065 329	3 288 070	3 629 518
Russian Federation <sup>d</sup>	PEPFAR	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	3 926 085	3 856 674	3 640 999	3 890 594	1 217 362	b
Serbia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	3 952 775	3 981 848	3 681 935	4 162 546	1 322 808	b
	Global Fund	9 291 100	4 429 234	11 923 348	8 047 459	4 687 168	4 414 531
Tajikistan		9 291 100 a	4 429 234 a	11 923 348 a	8 047 459 a	4 687 168 4 361 656	4 414 531 2 977 627

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	1 514 506	3 966 878	1 564 231	2 474 129	1 207 267	2 998 601
The former Yugoslav	PEPFAR	a	а	а	а	b	b
Republic of Macedonia	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 489 009	3 915 082	1 592 006	2 474 129	1 207 295	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Turkey	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	153 907	31 827	b	b	12 048	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Turkmenistan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	30 662	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	32 047 425	37 207 617	54 985 981	44 710 266	32 352 908	47 972 450
Ukraine	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	11 735 752	17 193 846
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	44 185 758	50 246 169	67 878 644	63 216 025	52 567 007	b
	Global Fund	1 868 251	6 983 392	18 117 218	2 144 023	7 381 095	3 663 479
Uzbekistan	PEPFAR	a	а	а	а	310 320	140 925
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 552 320	9 099 057	19 276 467	3 402 582	7 814 539	b
Latin America and the Caribbean							
	Global Fund	b	1 524 599	503 631	1 488 035	b	b
Argentina	PEPFAR						
-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	645 290	2 362 323	1 734 711	2 345 447	208 494	b
	Global Fund	944 471	356 980	1 543 941	1 450 840	100 000	2 839 718
Belize	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	1 059 922	1 035 022
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 151 562	811 832	1 642 965	1 610 373	184 342	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
3olivia Plurinational State of)	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
(Fiurinational State Of)	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	5 522 699	7 091 420	2 154 876	9 542 872	3 252 256	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Brazil	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	7 565 073	5 112 205	5 057 630	3 754 811	2 484 837	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Chiled	PEPFAR	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	359 964	260 145	124 180	126 583	b	b
	Global Fund	b	11 055 251	1 884 395	13 942 010	3 403 505	6 070 693
Colombia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	752 498	11 397 656	2 536 680	14 950 854	3 967 819	b

	Donor			2012	2013		
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	933 088
Costa Rica	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	960 167	989 597
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	179 338	196 134	91 075	79 571	36 827	b
	Global Fund	9 425 384	8 133 543	8 147 427	8 720 617	1 987 824	6 827 772
Cuba	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	9 707 699	8 583 640	8 270 000	9 422 039	2 162 660	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Dominica	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	852 382	369 002
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	14 201 973	12 521 662	8 855 439	15 089 509	11 008 145	4 566 014
Dominican Republic	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	15 195 075	12 245 528
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	24 831 117	26 068 604	29 308 525	33 495 106	25 725 514	b
	Global Fund	1 398 364	3 114 302	1 223 859	4 960 881	4 783 821	2 611 274
Ecuador	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	5 384 684	4 316 276	1 974 522	5 984 961	5 315 663	b
	Global Fund	7 758 232	5 185 392	5 143 657	13 460 707	1 050 360	7 028 602
El Salvador	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	2 119 072	2 470 504
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	9 736 353	6 694 285	6 528 376	10 180 865	1 242 908	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Grenada	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	469 605	216 448
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	3931	5904	7206		b	b
	Global Fund	6 520 131	15 199 667	10 265 179	11 388 651	9 725 198	10 517 286
Guatemala	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	4 279 183	3 749 015
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	11 201 262	20 405 683	13 766 005	14 680 735	11 169 281	b
	Global Fund	2 553 738	4 707 845	763 594	2 198 871	1 977 247	1 971 299
Guyana	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	7 522 489	6 759 435
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	19 952 103	18 019 123	12 748 680	10 239 428	8 852 650	b
	Global Fund	12 118 386	15 911 930	14 711 119	14 607 121	16 924 653	11 255 989
Haiti	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	117 771 589	110 549 082
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	118 094 007	119 174 870	107 863 493	114 349 096	127 346 608	b
	Global Fund	7 277 702	9 765 403	8 430 701	8 425 195	2 281 131	1 077 634
Honduras	PEPFAR	a	а	а	а	3 932 495	4 172 935
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	13 668 005	18 584 627	16 486 045	16 313 148	7 115 065	b

	Donor			2012	2013		
	Global Fund	11 686 451	8 870 742	3 211 112	8 409 518	b	3 246 622
Jamaica	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	7 544 813	6 029 087
Mexico licaragua anama	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	14 509 613	16 439 946	8 399 136	13 871 482	5 249 379	b
	Global Fund	3 387 683	9 964 718	11 311 799	11 448 986	b	b
Mexico	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 300 832	12 319 608	14 239 043	12 496 260	654 037	b
	Global Fund	7 526 489	2 764 944	8 815 274	4 203 718	3 637 567	3 957 020
Nicaragua	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	2 230 403	2 403 508
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	11 990 514	6 228 332	11 407 586	6 399 117	5 725 131	b
	Global Fund	b	b	1 503 322	1 857 295	937 207	1 927 284
Panama	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	1 932 814	1 850 767
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	643 046	435 722	1 902 795	2 131 562	968 107	b
	Global Fund	4 098 277	2 634 380	2 608 915	2 753 991	3 072 621	2 708 913
Paraguay	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 163 168	3 924 322	4 443 447	4 884 556	4 070 305	b
	Global Fund	8 356 240	2 904 093	3 903 342	496 689	2 834 260	b
Peru	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	12 380 832	5 763 999	6 191 797	2 470 605	3 708 815	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Saint Lucia	PEPFAR	а	a	а	а	777 176	218 282
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Saint Vincent and the	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	458 576	368 661
Grenadines	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	16 317	b	b	714		b
	Global Fund	839 112	870 357	143 036	243 551	b	1 176 504
Suriname	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	713 638	565 608
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	997 226	1 105 246	164 031	405 444	9084	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Trinidad and Tobago <sup>c</sup>	PEPFAR	b	b	b	b	1 311 510	1 141 316
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	420 082	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	b	b	2 151 170	1 048 753	369 689	b
Uruguay <sup>d</sup>	PEPFAR	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	228 647	94 313	2 192 697	1 099 181	429 276	b

	Donor			2012	2013		
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Venezuela (Bolivarian	PEPFAR	b	b	b	b	b	b
Republic of) <sup>e</sup>	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	408 811	502 461	638 735	430 159	214 313	b
Middle East and North Africa							
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Algeria	PEPFAR	а	а	a	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 146 469	1 002 875	309 680	310 436	123 384	b
	Global Fund	987 472	2 387 338	877 968	3 208 807	416 791	b
Djibouti	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
•	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 953 809	2 927 393	1 549 567	5 196 206	2 666 820	b
	Global Fund	1 413 280		1 833 391	771 460		211 476
Egypt	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	3 819 928	1 372 925	2 591 588	1 760 203	471 504	b
	Global Fund	3 078 579	6 323 375	5 602 799	3 988 763	6 646 279	5 743 976
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	3 716 918	7 238 290	6 487 266	4 841 928	7 090 241	b
	Global Fund	544 583	769 573	629 607	b	8450	32 950
Jordan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	634 674	780 362	630 000	70 229	72 450	b
	Global Fund	b	b	b	b	b	b
Lebanon	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	311 349	307 180	222 412	1690	168 167	b
	Global Fund	5 862 988	7 062 370	6 163 402	3 487 662	8 022 786	1 176 342
Morocco	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	7 241 217	8 403 619	7 085 706	4 301 183	8 536 829	b
	Global Fund	11 764 000	11 719 451	6 218 112	9 284 707	5 643 730	5 776 906
Somalia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	12 486 246	12 579 160	6 840 058	10 274 725	6 185 732	b
	Global Fund	20 804 263	19 875 794	9 656 856	14 808 996	10 040 575	4 759 590
Sudan	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	45 000 365	29 685 185	20 346 838	18 446 566	12 022 483	b
	Global Fund	b	b	457 301	297 472	1 246 730	b
Syrian Arab Republic	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
Syrian Arab Republic	Total bilateral and						

	Donor	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	Global Fund	4 037 197	1 160 011	1 382 024	1 846 015	1 135 547	474 350
Tunisia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	4 058 801	1 486 144	1 454 317	1 960 409	1 276 474	b
	Global Fund	4 554 899	b	321 546	495 529	217 725	390 249
Yemen	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	5 390 953	282 107	601 182	933 950	685 051	b
Western and Central Africa							
	Global Fund	21 333 967	16 364 873	2 293 658	8 046 445	13 763 590	10 638 542
Benin	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	30 365 666	26 618 560	9 833 507	10 240 707	15 884 009	b
	Global Fund	14 318 645	7 196 930	13 191 511	26 275 144	5 620 443	14 548 838
Burkina Faso	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	41 531 910	18 245 695	25 732 578	40 982 393	13 331 787	b
	Global Fund	6 002 968	13 309 111	13 177 356	12 164 557	10 845 679	6 303 255
Burundi	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	11 788 765	15 661 306
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	19 354 300	25 046 775	21 157 979	19 717 618	18 900 450	b
	Global Fund	8 893 822	7 081 726	15 863 396	26 913 809	9 128 195	16 347 617
Cameroon	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	18 510 202	24 571 641
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	18 174 862	15 846 038	29 853 265	45 606 785	35 505 709	b
	Global Fund	1 973 998	2 283 820	271 956	2 965 528	1 282 849	1 613 688
Cabo Verde	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 976 373	2 358 820	272 000	2 966 277	1 304 972	b
	Global Fund	6 112 689	5 575 151	604 960	4 992 177	4 692 168	3 317 505
Central African Republic	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
Керирік	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	10 897 251	8 565 293	5 059 702	7 425 558	6 050 391	b
	Global Fund	9 607 716	10 744 715	2 223 686	9 979 297	9 025 689	5 677 982
Chad	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	14 216 563	20 357 482	8 791 606	16 160 359	10 995 099	b
	Global Fund	8 573 601	8 769 052	3 140 658	6 623 467	2 849 951	1 190 244
Congo	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	12 700 803	11 210 190	4 754 622	8 009 654	3 533 060	b
	Global Fund	3 869 762	6 089 125	4 425 420	13 824 869	19 961 796	13 477 500
Côte d'Ivoire	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	108 348 645	100 684 466
Côte d'Ivoire	Total bilateral and	91 521 424	75 900 354	81 487 250	87 404 428	111 916 912	b

	Donor			2012	2013		
	Global Fund	35 866 198	25 559 566	73 612 559	45 805 912	14 728 985	37 547 490
Democratic Republic of	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	39 456 622	40 699 672
the Congo	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	72 049 235	64 824 273	117 393 018	97 636 366	58 283 727	b
	Global Fund	1 420 187	607 483	b	b	b	b
Equatorial Guinea	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	1 552 638	614 633	56 151	9221	25 174	b
	Global Fund	1 338 199	907 263	b	748 873	b	b
Gabon	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	2 222 431	2 237 491	1 578 502	1 992 292	984 234	b
	Global Fund	6 238 502	6 785 081	5 329 616	9 479 594	3 710 404	1 891 695
Gambia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 473 200	6 680 815	5 174 251	10 836 258	6 929 353	b
	Global Fund	20 629 791	34 425 214	21 889 738	38 380 447	8 357 408	27 724 999
Ghana	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	9 634 465	6 214 229
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	33 712 568	56 839 348	46 336 646	57 964 684	24 154 220	b
	Global Fund	1 509 558	5 903 927	1 151 871	7 847 766	8 043 852	11 374 331
Guinea	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	7 272 932	10 578 592	7 051 515	14 256 747	11 386 846	b
	Global Fund	5 930 028	3 807 332	1 443 139	12 991 148	1 867 462	4 134 432
Guinea-Bissau	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 848 591	5 089 296	1 705 825	372 649	2 277 836	b
	Global Fund	9 963 258	11 577 441	8 118 208	12 069 290	3 636 418	4 984 087
Liberia	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	15 275 187	16 709 545	14 819 936	19 057 597	7 286 414	b
	Global Fund	6 217 393	10 130 370	24 583 100	2 929 594	23 998 363	11 193 131
Mali	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	19 235 548	18 879 198	33 998 506	12 708 876	32 264 388	b
	Global Fund	b	b	1 039 512	2 718 517	944 771	1 269 045
Mauritania	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	244 685	727 141	2 643 262	3 229 197	1 314 156	b
	Global Fund	1 376 802	5 157 922	3 520 769	4 726 398	2 564 775	4 879 866
Niger	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	6 452 977	13 837 217	8 338 522	11 757 972	5 930 662	b

The table contains the international financial assistance for the AIDS response in US dollars provided annually to low- and middle-income countries as reported by bilateral and multilateral entities. International assistance reported by the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and the United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) are presented separately. Total disbursements by bilateral and multilateral entities are the amounts they reported to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) under two AIDS categories. These totals may omit disbursements for HIV-related services within grants that cover broader health and development work. Discrepancies between the disbursements reported by different sources may be due to variation in financial years and the underlying reporting methods and standards.

	Donor			2012	2013		
	Global Fund	24 430 509	56 318 978	73 771 207	137 864 355	71 677 320	61 621 279
Nigeria	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	402 033 019	380 420 716
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	416 803 014	384 253 533	441 549 677	580 314 429	442 063 154	b
	Global Fund	b	421 721	164 617	571 733	426 709	313 634
Sao Tome and Principe	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	b	b	b	b	b	b
	Global Fund	16 843 641	21 467 639	12 527 816	15 007 238	9 530 458	10 818 583
Senegal	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
<b>j</b>	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	24 954 904	29 527 409	17 833 499	22 070 480	15 311 616	b
	Global Fund	15 295 127	9 569 576	11 478 396	8 045 006	16 361 920	5 124 179
Sierra Leone	PEPFAR	а	а	а	а	b	b
	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	21 659 750	16 117 239	16 531 816	11 010 148	17 743 364	b
	Global Fund	9 608 627	8 718 163	4 745 285	10 567 421	10 364 619	7 971 533
Тодо	PEPFAR	а	а	а	a	b	b
3-	Total bilateral and multilateral disbursements	11 342 210	12 090 257	7 342 613	13 271 163	12 462 101	b

Sources: OECD creditor reporting system online reports (accessed May 2016); PEPFAR expenditure analysis; Global Fund disbursement reports (https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=CRS1, accessed May 2016).

a The time series for expenditure from PEPFAR expenditure analysis reports starts from 2014.

b Data not available. c Classified by the World Bank as a high-income country before 2013.

d Classified by the World Bank as a high-income country since July 2013.

e Classified by the World Bank as a high-income country since July 2015.

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Asia and the Pacific							
	International	4 237 825	8 002 074	9 028 297	5 067 479	4 077 138	b
Afghanistan	Domestic public	200 000	a	24 250	245 000	104 000	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	NASA	Other	NASA	b
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Australia	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	а	а	а	а
	International	13 912 481	17 900 906	11 499 100	17 673 105	16 533 877	b
Bangladesh	Domestic public	1 202 508	746 225	984 252	3 470 437	2 871 845	b
Dangiadesin	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	NASA	Other	b
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Bhutan	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Brunei Darussalam	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	а	а	а	а
	International	55 571 098	46 569 946	44 713 950	а	а	а
Cambodia	Domestic public	2 436 832	5 300 117	5 212 931	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	86 317 453	59 997 523	76 621 435	36 775 945	8 866 450	b
China	Domestic public	497 309 402	529 376 006	554 007 385	714 079 592	977 788 274	b
China	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	Other	Other	Other	b
	International	5000	75 000	а	a	а	а
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	Domestic public	1 009 600	1 070 420	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	a	а	а
	International	а	а	a	a	62 554	b
	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	150 833	b
Fiji	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	NASA	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	WHO Health Accounts	b
	International	а	а	а	a	a	b
India	Domestic public	225 715 496	275 000 076	205 808 366	144 554 317	164 330 065	b
muld	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	а
	International	41 224 115	42 815 648	50 150 781	b	b	а
Indonesia	Domestic public	27 577 082	29 727 973	36 851 913	b	b	а
indonesia	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	b	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Japan	Domestic public	73 455 936	67 907 854	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	а	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	429 800	258 888	339 277	а	377 217	b
Kiribati	Domestic public	а	а	a	а	292 161	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	Other	a
	International	7 752 050	10 916 446	а	а	а	а
Lao People's	Domestic public	827 689	827 689	а	а	а	а
Democratic Republic	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	561 880	2 396 941	1 665 338	2 105 998	2 538 989	b
Malaysia	Domestic public	31 383 249	36 168 067	54 088 511	55 220 508	49 775 178	b
ividiaysia	Resource tracking method	NASA	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	190 906	134 208	371 142	431 765	594 774	b
	Domestic public	200 027	40 000	75 000	85 000	85 000	b
Marshall Islands	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	NASA	NASA	NASA	Other	a
	International	a	а	а	а	a	а
NA LIT	Domestic public	ā	а	а	а	a	а
Maldives	Resource tracking method	a	а	а	а	a	a
	International	521 806	473 469	446 688	519 360	344 004	а
Micronesia	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
(Federated States of)	Resource tracking	WHO Health	WHO Health	WHO Health	WHO Health		
	method	Accounts	Accounts	Accounts	Accounts	а	а
	International	2 550 191	2 562 338	a	2 165 745	1 166 608	а
Mongolia	Domestic public	950 996	1 169 128	a	1 329 438	1 619 212	а
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	Other	Other	а
	International	37 904 167	42 349 184	37 310 502	47 950 309	b	b
Myanmar	Domestic public	2 596 875	3 944 294	726 157	4 131 753	b	b
-	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	а	а	a	а	a	а
Nauru	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Nepal	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
New Zealand	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	8 163 974	2 181 908	6 992 470	6 361 662	a	b
Pakistan	Domestic public	4 768 321	3 027 839	3 457 681	3 631 968	a	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	Other	Other	Other	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	588 166	650 636	а	373 641	30 032	b
Palau	Domestic public	394 323	394 323	а	35 400	а	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	Other	Other	а
	International	38 821 670	34 509 487	29 533 509	а	а	a
Papua New Guinea	Domestic public	12 077 392	11 835 240	6 385 677	а	а	а
. <b>.</b>	Resource tracking method	NASA	Other	Other	a	a	а
	International	5 002 720	3 872 142	4 964 855	5 778 805	b	b
Philippines	Domestic public	3 372 467	4 181 055	4 654 505	4 522 803	b	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Republic of Korea	Domestic public	11 161 000	11 171 000	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	183 334	134 637	а	843 852	а	а
Samoa	Domestic public	161 694	172 845	а	60 000	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Singapore	Domestic public	16 486 429	23 091 270	23 746 298	23 739 323	23 202 747	а
51	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	а				
	International	654 294	756 680	а	а	а	а
Solomon Islands	Domestic public	150 032	151 749	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	а	а	а
	International	2 034 477	а	a	555 795	а	а
Sri Lanka	Domestic public	2 277 906	а	а	671 143	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	а	а
	International	35 926 668	46 643 421	28 969 017	30 516 721	а	а
Thailand	Domestic public	200 251 009	269 161 586	253 666 819	256 685 666	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Timor-Leste	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	a	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	79 715	b
Tonga	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	55 676	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	а	Other	а
	International	47 641	156 916	а	24 455	а	а
Tuvalu	Domestic public	12 000	20 180	а	10 000	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	NASA	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	1 625 013	1 847 008	328 089	805 583	а	а
Vanuatu	Domestic public	36 510	36 482	а	61 703	а	а
Vallata	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	NASA	а	а
	International	102 221 779	73 756 583	65 119 393	а	а	а
Viet Nam	Domestic public	21 431 087	26 088 343	30 327 094	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
Eastern and southern Africa							
	International	18 187 724	12 014 753	а	а	а	b
Angola	Domestic public	15 877 187	21 462 786	а	а	а	b
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	а	а	b
	International	100 669 402	91 393 937	а	а	a	а
Botswana	Domestic public	262 400 227	299 022 611	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	a	a	a	а
	International	а	а	1 353 302	462 275	780 581	b
Comoros	Domestic public	169 643	936 323	174 303	230 686	271 568	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	b
	International	а	а	a	а	а	а
Eritrea	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	348 861 208	а	а	а	b
Ethiopia	Domestic public	а	54 448 264	а	а	а	b
	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	а	а	а	b
	International	591 376 323	601 390 268	551 245 316	583 989 611	a	а
Kenya	Domestic public	134 682 271	133 150 448	141 044 502	153 454 537	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	a	a
	International	а	а	а	68 266 451	b	а
Lesotho	Domestic public	а	а	а	25 900 622	b	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	NASA	а	а
	International	4 938 015	7 849 887	5 565 185	2 592 546	3 066 078	b
Madagascar	Domestic public	4 473 518	6 005 101	4 250 295	4 051 608	2 636 728	b
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	65 560 000	148 891 014	133 575 811	а	а	b
Malawi	Domestic public	а	2 666 009	11 827 301	а	а	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	NASA	NASA	а	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	2 363 920	а	а	а	а	а
Mauritius	Domestic public	4 894 627	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	a	а
	International	203 113 942	246 656 413	246 658 915	332 640 878	339 379 364	b
Mozambique	Domestic public	10 136 250	13 393 157	8 635 144	16 870 748	12 217 622	b
•	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	Other	Other	Other	а
	International	110 213 091	а	87 408 615	74 283 368	а	а
Namibia	Domestic public	168 791 097	а	111 050 386	136 620 606	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	a	216 864 731	223 721 213	а	а	а
Rwanda	Domestic public	a	17 748 631	19 946 470	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	57 495	66 215	408 110	53 378	36 177	b
Seychelles	Domestic public	2 297 113	2 104 150	4 278 262	2 847 408	3 497 367	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а
	International	а	а	а	а	388 000 000	b
South Africa	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	1492 672 908	b
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	NASA	а
	International	а	29 353 055	21 852 538	а	а	b
South Sudan	Domestic public	а	1 885 823	2 302 076	а	а	b
	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	а	55 863 617	56 115 914	63 776 395	а	а
Swaziland	Domestic public	а	30 877 575	26 452 555	33 155 127	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	Other	Other	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Uganda	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
United Republic of	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
Tanzania	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	b	263 305 968	а	а	а
Zambia	Domestic public	а	b	15 829 478	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	NASA	а	а	а
	International	164 119 186	171 866 911	220 722 218	219 131 824	а	а
Zimbabwe	Domestic public	20 833 554	28 642 838	34 570 495	34 347 820	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	Other	а	а
	••••••			••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Eastern Europe and central Asia							
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Albania	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	3 084 750	3 501 166	4 238 978	3 927 672	4 985 553	b
Armenia	Domestic public	1 961 038	2 079 270	1 090 732	1 072 918	1 823 256	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	b
	International	1 378 711	5 992 295	а	5 221 578	6 411 468	b
Azerbaijan	Domestic public	6 857 540	8 563 409	а	13 390 123	14 215 892	b
	Resource tracking method	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	а	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	Other	b
	International	6 476 941	10 195 678	7 314 821	6 869 816	6 470 149	а
Belarus	Domestic public	13 246 041	9 668 805	12 471 166	11 712 470	15 975 774	a
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а
	International	а	а	b	а	а	а
Bosnia and Herzegovina	Domestic public	а	а	b	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	b	а	а	а
	International	5 640 456	6 754 982	3 921 623	3 072 407	b	а
Bulgaria	Domestic public	4 252 150	6 961 911	6 759 210	8 734 044	b	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	b	а
	International	а	а	29 802	1 763	а	а
Croatia	Domestic public	а	а	11 248 515	14 362 023	a	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	Other	Other	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Cyprus	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Czech Republic	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Estonia	Domestic public	16 353 142	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	а	а	а	а	а
	International	6 832 963	8 521 914	11 064 342	9 137 970	7 021 656	b
Georgia	Domestic public	4 260 499	4 478 054	4 716 172	5 361 536	8 166 782	b
-	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	b				

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Hungary	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	6 540 161	7 457 644	6 926 144	2 373 667	b
Kazakhstan	Domestic public	а	30 346 857	30 352 251	30 876 471	40 667 500	b
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	Other	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	Other	а
	International	9 827 360	4 279 280	9 512 763	13 417 113	9 037 888	b
Kyrgyzstan	Domestic public	1 407 901	1 441 565	3 886 526	4 192 877	а	b
	Resource tracking method	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	WHO Health Accounts	Other	Other	а
	International	172 558	а	а	а	77 372	b
Latvia	Domestic public	5 996 109	267 460	619 656	9 452 207	8 686 036	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а
	International	а	68 390	а	а	а	а
Lithuania	Domestic public	а	3 601 011	2 496 551	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	Other	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Malta	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Montenegro	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	14 862	12 661	15 588	а	а	а
Poland	Domestic public	66 971 268	74 411 053	83 243 881	90 199 774	83 684 559	а
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	Other	а
	International	6 103 215	8 516 841	6 709 992	5 503 307	6 817 600	b
Republic of Moldova	Domestic public	4 617 721	5 124 220	2 381 695	2 459 879	2 332 684	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	Other	Other	а
	International	3 995 755	5 677 124	199 177	а	0	b
Romania	Domestic public	91 512 275	102 458 472	34 383 944	а	98 535 201	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	Other	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Russian Federation	Domestic public	а	а	а	546 296 296	512 676 056	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	Other	Other	а
	International	а	а	4 288 028	4 864 726	а	а
Serbia	Domestic public	а	а	9 071 059	11 468 548	a	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	Other	Other	а	а

**Domestic public and international expenditure reported by countries to UNAIDS (2010–2015)** The table contains the annual AIDS response expenditure (in US dollars) of domestic public resources and total international resources provided by bilateral and multilateral donors, private foundations and other international partners, as reported by countries through the Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting system.

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Slovakia	Domestic public	a	а	а	а	a	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	a	a	a	а	а	а
Slovenia	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	13 514 154	13 032 202	9 803 764	10 364 317	а	а
Tajikistan	Domestic public	1 718 968	2 269 834	2 569 872	3 363 876	а	а
•	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	2 356 682	а	а	а	а	а
The former Yugoslav Popublic of Macadonia	Domestic public	2 366 290	a	а	a	а	а
Republic of Macedonia	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	0	а	а	а
Turkey	Domestic public	а	а	12 291 905	а	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	а	а	Other	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Turkmenistan	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	33 877 730	36 438 190	41 506 392	b	b	а
Ukraine	Domestic public	38 054 198	60 423 675	71 777 758	b	b	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	6 678 413	6 513 177	10 771 819	9 396 131	7 481 521	b
Uzbekistan	Domestic public	16 985 205	12 636 531	13 334 449	11 919 410	11 631 595	b
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	NASA	NASA	а
Latin America and the Caribbean							
	International	1 061 081	290 466	689 549	1 064 377	а	b
Antigua and Barbuda	Domestic public	300 777	326 796	297 612	355 037	а	b
-	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	WHO Health Accounts	а	b
	International	377 261	4 793 171	137 252	а	а	а
Argentina	Domestic public	105 790 678	168 869 560	178 870 021	а	a	а
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Aruba	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	a	а	а	а	а	а
Bahamas	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	a	а	а	а
	International	а	3 246 554	2 164 578	10 492 579	a	а
Barbados	Domestic public	7 390 301	4 831 821	6 207 005	5 478 563	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	1 412 896	а	1 886 377	а	а	а
Belize	Domestic public	1 134 649	а	832 345	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	NASA	а	а	а
	International	а	6 975 047	4 869 735	а	a	а
Bolivia (Plurinational State of)	Domestic public	a	2 276 663	4 786 726	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	9 171 381	9 743 606	9 258 557	а	0	а
Brazil	Domestic public	725 071 213	802 860 939	685 482 920	а	804 365 939	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	Other	а
	International	468 527	438 142	227 585	а	а	а
Chile	Domestic public	119 224 642	123 180 023	136 781 489	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	275 591	а	176 131	306 020	а	b
Colombia	Domestic public	86 962 224	62 819 944	99 335 154	84 674 170	а	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	Other	а	b
	International	2 178 897	а	1 701 913	а	а	b
Costa Rica	Domestic public	24 765 744	а	18 402 940	а	a	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	NASA	а	а	b
	International	8 261 407	9 321 423	9 053 819	5 927 082	а	а
Cuba	Domestic public	58 593 535	61 245 963	62 992 629	63 807 290	а	а
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	а	а	160 000	а	а	а
Dominica	Domestic public	223 664	223 664	176 411	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	a	b	20 711 558	b	b	b
Dominican Republic	Domestic public	а	b	9 262 504	b	b	b
•	Resource tracking method	а	b	NASA	b	b	b
	International	2 975 540	а	а	а	6 584 696	а
Ecuador	Domestic public	24 270 868	а	а	а	6 645 825	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	NASA	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	11 455 432	а	13 976 689	13 764 792	14 771 149	b
El Salvador	Domestic public	37 297 450	а	41 243 741	46 595 135	45 120 439	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	NASA	NASA	NASA	b
	International	87 980	7 435	120 141	39 398	а	а
Grenada	Domestic public	5 521	а	а	155 431	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	12 885 696	14 967 041	20 625 980	14 788 915	b	а
Guatemala	Domestic public	28 765 245	26 885 645	27 225 413	32 791 651	b	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	b	а
	International	а	18 053 225	17 431 482	а	а	а
Guyana	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	164 523 917	207 401 048	114 921 741	127 522 213	а	а
Haiti	Domestic public	1 608 233	1 608 233	884 655	352 174	а	а
	Resource tracking method	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	Other	Other	а	а
	International	15 716 346	15 691 183	17 981 687	17 236 972	а	а
Honduras	Domestic public	16 025 455	15 999 798	16 466 390	15 784 431	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	10 771 906	а	а	а	а	а
Jamaica	Domestic public	3 848 958	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	12 168 390	а	а	а	а
Mexico	Domestic public	а	483 415 094	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	14 061 971	a	а	а	а	а
Nicaragua	Domestic public	9 682 304	а	а	а	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	а	а
	International	1 527 635	а	3 411 932	а	а	а
Panama	Domestic public	15 702 066	а	19 286 886	а	a	a
	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	NASA	а	а	а
	International	6 767 336	5 094 780	2 515 630	2 966 599	а	а
Paraguay	Domestic public	2 677 348	2 507 935	9 521 067	10 841 743	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	Other	Other	а	а
	International	12 474 168	а	а	4 505 007	а	b
Peru	Domestic public	15 445 506	а	а	70 356 265	78 148 248	b

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	83 625	16 000	а	а	а	а
Saint Kitts and Nevis	Domestic public	67 548	77 349	82 440	85 110	а	а
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
Saint Lucia	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Domestic public	а	а	а	a	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	1 482 535	1 568 710	821 178	а	а	а
Saint Vincent and the	Domestic public	2 508 745	1 267 636	615 427	а	а	а
Grenadines	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а	а
	International	4 105 985	2 343 104	a	а	а	а
Suriname	Domestic public	1 939 620	2 249 605	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Trinidad and Tobago	Domestic public	а	а	а	a	а	а
J	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Turks and Caicos Islands	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Uruguay	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	626 411	133 327	702 563	817 796	b	b
Venezuela (Reliveries Resublic ef)	Domestic public	109 037 329	80 352 294	65 915 889	71 785 912	b	b
(Bolivarian Republic of)	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
North Africa and the Middle East							
	International	438 044	805 358	799 949	433 411	389 311	b
Algeria	Domestic public	5 320 965	5 508 774	5 973 758	12 022 798	16 879 342	b
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	WHO Health Accounts	b
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Bahrain	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	a	a	a	а	а	а
	International	4 418 725	3 696 788	2 961 380	а	2 609 339	а
Djibouti	Domestic public	627 309	596 705	867 075	а	274 426	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	NASA	а	NASA	а
	International	а	а	а	b	b	b
Egypt	Domestic public	а	а	а	b	b	b
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	b	b	b

Iran (Islamic Republic of methodInternationalaa2 972 133aDomestic publicaa69 420 049aResource tracking methodaaOthera	b	
Resource tracking		а
Resource tracking	а	а
	а	а
International a a a a	а	а
Iraq Domestic public a a a a	а	а
· Resource tracking a a a a a method	а	а
International 723 768 433 831 968 903 79 616	а	а
Jordan Domestic public 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000	а	а
Resource tracking Other Other NASA NASA method	а	а
International 0 a 0 0	0	а
Kuwait     Domestic public     56 791 069     a     59 515 455     5 952 004     22 365	5 503	а
Resource tracking Other a Other C method	Dther	а
International 850 000 850 000 a 2 036 622	а	а
Lebanon Domestic public 1 570 000 1 570 000 a 3 154 875	а	а
Resource tracking Other Other a Other method	а	а
International a a a a	а	а
Libya Domestic public a a a a	а	а
Resource tracking a a a a method	a	а
International 7 099 104 6 389 275 10 290 706 10 355 925	а	b
Morocco     Domestic public     6 357 832     6 728 697     8 021 984     9 943 419	а	b
Resource tracking Other Other Other Other Other	а	а
International a 175 040 103 261 57 000 17	1 390	b
Oman     Domestic public     a     4 528 882     5 318 814     3 833 134     4 313	3 471	b
Resource tracking a Other Other C method	Dther	а
International a a a a	а	а
Qatar Domestic public a a a a	а	а
Resource tracking a a a a method	а	а
International a a a a	а	а
Saudi Arabia Domestic public a a a a	а	а
Resource tracking method a a a a	а	а
International a a a a	а	а
Somalia Domestic public a a a a	а	а
Resource tracking a a a a method	а	а
International a 14 477 993 12 345 112 9 052 243	а	а
Sudan     Domestic public     a     6 558 053     4 698 522     3 717 832	а	а
Resource tracking a NASA NASA NASA	а	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	а	189 850	а	а	а	а
Syrian Arab Republic	Domestic public	а	620 000	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	а	а	а	а
	International	2 928 100	2 625 149	а	а	а	b
Tunisia	Domestic public	110 040	117 400	а	а	а	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
United Arab Emirates	Domestic public	25 480 829	30 630 854	32 476 417	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	1 768 765	1 146 525	а	а	а	а
Yemen	Domestic public	442 233	467 395	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	а	а	а	а
Western and central Africa							
	International	11 259 886	19 280 694	18 740 206	18 819 303	16 408 412	b
Benin	Domestic public	6 937 649	7 796 210	11 709 193	3 173 027	3 936 233	b
201111	Resource tracking method	Other	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	b
	International	38 914 497	28 775 307	20 793 731	41 177 658	b	а
Burkina Faso	Domestic public	11 118 728	7 214 347	28 122 266	7 780 061	b	a
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	b	а
	International	39 908 205	23 408 823	36 476 780	39 481 263	16 026 325	b
Burundi	Domestic public	1 774 303	2 034 615	2 132 874	1 841 735	289 800	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	Other	NASA	Other	Other	b
	International	40 916 286	34 159 215	30 513 008	43 997 798	а	а
Cameroon	Domestic public	14 395 254	9 170 306	15 726 635	14 805 716	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	2 045 844	3 073 161	16 761	3 095 629	1 375 173	а
Cabo Verde	Domestic public	499 368	522 275	17 194	1 814 407	2 343 480	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	WHO Health Accounts	NASA	а
	International	13 024 181	13 892 462	а	а	а	а
Central African Republic	Domestic public	1 873 217	1 892 102	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	7 929 254	15 164 149	9 884 338	12 886 293	а	а
Chad	Domestic public	3 862 235	2 610 372	6 343 779	4 622 591	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а
	International	8 368 357	a	а	а	а	а
Congo	Domestic public	8 104 228	а	а	а	а	а
Congo	Resource tracking method	NASA	a	а	а	а	а
	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••					•••••	

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	106 998 408	87 632 863	111 893 979	91 192 629	а	b
Côte d'Ivoire	Domestic public	4 654 699	11 721 794	14 095 682	14 025 624	а	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	b
	International	102 437 817	101 268 276	139 843 066	b	b	b
Democratic Republic of	Domestic public	2 759 539	1 765 235	2 710 269	b	b	b
the Congo	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	b	b	b
	International	а	a	459 534	611 672	а	а
Equatorial Guinea	Domestic public	а	а	1 686 984	7 844 051	а	а
-4	Resource tracking method	а	а	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	Other	а	а
	International	2 356 058	3 510 777	2 009 292	750 861	454 441	а
Gabon	Domestic public	5 679 337	6 423 890	12 280 214	10 121 784	4 808 085	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	Other	а
	International	а	а	а	а	0	а
Gambia	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	3 850 001	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	Other	а
	International	48 015 481	60 807 945	87 433 712	40 457 844	а	b
Ghana	Domestic public	8 087 144	14 854 634	4 524 557	6 830 808	а	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	b
	International	11 106 795	14 139 106	9 486 461	11 834 280	10 753 092	b
Guinea	Domestic public	317 576	638 185	2 302 175	2 579 555	3 339 108	b
	Resource tracking method	NASA	Other	UNAIDS/ UNFPA/NIDI	NASA	NASA	b
	International	4 647 063	a	а	а	a	а
Guinea-Bissau	Domestic public	611 774	2 401 970	3 347 064	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	28 274 595	30 933 572	а	а	а	а
Liberia	Domestic public	83 100	190 000	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	а	а	а	а
	International	30 015 865	17 896 310	15 450 592	b	а	а
Mali	Domestic public	6 502 189	5 988 081	6 136 480	b	а	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	247 500	361 557	3 317 575	2 731 148	b	b
Mauritania	Domestic public	698 854	3 720 945	616 666	а	b	b
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	WHO Health Accounts	а	а
	International	14 111 145	13 635 812	10 760 854	а	a	а
Niger	Domestic public	69 420	424 986	4 786 972	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	NASA	NASA	а	a	а

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
	International	370 927 337	409 348 953	442 069 265	b	b	а
Nigeria	Domestic public	125 139 587	88 875 936	122 964 880	b	b	а
	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а	а
	International	597 949	768 219	422 726	761 127	695 603	а
Sao Tome and Principe	Domestic public	7803	112 650	15 664	60 573	30 800	а
	Resource tracking method	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	WHO Health Accounts	NASA	NASA	а
	International	а	19 809 176	b	b	а	а
Senegal	Domestic public	а	2 709 561	b	b	а	а
, seriegui	Resource tracking method	а	NASA	а	а	а	а
	International	а	20 696 274	а	а	а	a
Sierra Leone	Domestic public	а	168 584	а	a	a	а
	Resource tracking method	a	NASA	а	а	а	a
	International	13 512 726	16 113 033	12 328 341	15 845 876	15 356 578	s
ogo	Domestic public	8 878 290	4 225 730	6 300 102	3 757 204	2 197 218	а
090	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а
Vestern and central Europe and North America							
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Andorra	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
, aldonia	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	â
	International	а	а	а	а	а	a
Austria	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Belgium	Domestic public	159 087 442	а	а	а	а	а
-	Resource tracking method	NASA	а	а	а	а	ā
	International	а	a	а	а	а	a
anada	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	ā
	International	а	а	а	а	а	a
enmark	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
inland	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	a
rance	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	6
			•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••••••	

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Germany	International	а	a	a	а	а	a
	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
Greece	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	a
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Iceland	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	a	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Ireland	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	a	a	a	а	a	a
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Israel	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	a	a	a	а
	International	а	0	а	а	а	а
Italy	Domestic public	а	508 145 475	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	Other	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	a	а	a	a
Liechtenstein	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	a
Luxembourg	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	a	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	a
Monaco	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Netherlands	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Norway	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
· · · ·	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Portugal	Domestic public	175 446 308	201 374 452	10 356 197	274 577 668	а	а
<u></u>	Resource tracking method	NASA	NASA	NASA	NASA	а	а

multilateral donors, private foundations and other international partners, as reported by countries through the Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting system.

	Source of expenditure and resource tracking method	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
San Marino	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	а	а	а	а
	International	а	14 410 597	969 363 395	623 286	а	b
Spain	Domestic public	980 914 000	1065 927 534	8 339 679	918 865 056	а	b
opuni	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	Other	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Sweden	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
Switzerland	Domestic public	3 067 779	3 608 480	3 411 878	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	Other	Other	Other	а	а	а
	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
United Kingdom	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	а	а	а	а	а
United States of America	International	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Domestic public	а	а	а	а	а	а
	Resource tracking method	а	a	a	а	a	а

a Country either did not report expenditure or reported that the data were not availabile. b Expenditure reported in 2016 but not yet validated. These data are expected to be available on AIDSinfo by September 2016.

NASA: national AIDS spending assessment. NIDI: Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute.

# Е Я Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland +41 22 791 3666

unaids.org